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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL B AGENDA 
March 25, 2024 at 6:30 PM 

Wilsonville City Hall & Remote Video Conferencing 

PARTICIPANTS MAY ATTEND THE MEETING AT: 
City Hall, 29799 SW Town Center Loop East, Wilsonville, Oregon 

Zoom: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81495007189  
 

TO PROVIDE PUBLIC TESTIMONY: 
Individuals must submit a testimony card online: 

https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/DRB-SpeakerCard 
and email testimony regarding Resolution No. 431 

to Georgia McAlister, Associate Planner at  
gmcalister@ci.wilsonville.or.us 
by 2:00 PM on March 25, 2024. 

CALL TO ORDER 

CHAIR'S REMARKS 

ROLL CALL 

John Andrews               Rachelle Barrett   
Megan Chuinard           Alice Galloway     
Kamran Mesbah 

CITIZEN INPUT 

This is an opportunity for visitors to address the Development Review Board on items not on the 
agenda.  Staff and the Board will make every effort to respond to questions raised during citizens input 
before tonight's meeting ends or as quickly as possible thereafter. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Approval of minutes of the February 26, 2024 DRB Panel B meeting 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Resolution No. 431.  Citycounty Insurance Services (CIS) Oregon Collaboration Center.  The 
applicant is requesting approval of a Stage 2 Final Plan Modification, Site Design Review, Type 
C Tree Removal Plan, Class 3 Sign Permit and Waiver for development of a single story, 15,744 
square foot, office building and associated site development on the southwest corner of 
Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road.  
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Case Files: 
DB23-0015  CIS Oregon Collaboration Center 
-Stage 2 Final Plan Modification (STG223-0008) 
-Site Design Review (SDR23-0010) 
-Type C Tree Removal Plan (TPLN23-0005)      
-Class 3 Sign Permit (SIGN23-0014) 
-Waiver Request (WAIV23-0006) 

BOARD MEMBER COMMUNICATIONS 

3. Results of the March 11, 2024 DRB Panel A meeting 

4. Recent City Council Action Minutes 

STAFF COMMUNICATIONS 

ADJOURN 

The City will endeavor to provide the following services, without cost, if requested at least 48 hours prior 
to the meeting by contacting Shelley White, Administrative Assistant at 503-682-4960: assistive listening 
devices (ALD), sign language interpreter, and/or bilingual interpreter. Those who need accessibility 
assistance can contact the City by phone through the Federal Information Relay Service at 1-800-877-
8339 for TTY/Voice communication. 

Habrá intérpretes disponibles para aquéllas personas que no hablan Inglés, previo acuerdo. 
Comuníquese al 503-682-4960. 
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, MARCH 25, 2024 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Consent Agenda: 

1. Approval of minutes from the February 26, 2024 
DRB Panel B meeting  
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL B  

MEETING MINUTES 
February 26, 2024 at 6:30 PM 

City Hall Council Chambers & Remote Video Conferencing 

CALL TO ORDER 
A regular meeting of the Development Review Board Panel B was held at City Hall beginning at 6:30 p.m. 
on Monday, February 26, 2024. Chair Rachelle Barrett called the meeting to order at 6:32 p.m., followed 
by roll call.  

CHAIR'S REMARKS 
The Conduct of Hearing and Statement of Public Notice were read into the record. 

ROLL CALL 
Present for roll call were:   Rachelle Barrett, Alice Galloway, John Andrews, and Kamran Mesbah. 

Megan Chuinard was absent. 
  
Staff present:                       Daniel Pauly, Stephanie Davidson, Amy Pepper, Kimberly Rybold, Amanda 

Guile-Hinman, Miranda Bateschell, Georgia McAlister, Cindy Luxhoj, and 
Shelley White 

CITIZEN INPUT   
This is an opportunity for visitors to address the Development Review Board (DRB) on items not on the 
agenda. There were no comments. 

CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Approval of minutes of January 22, 2024 DRB Panel B meeting 

Alice Galloway made a motion to approve the January 22, 2024 DRB Panel B meeting minutes as 
presented. John Andrews seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

2. Resolution No. 428.  PGE Memorial Substation.  The applicant is requesting approval of a 
Conditional Use Permit and Site Design Review for development of the PGE Memorial 
Substation adjacent to SW Parkway Avenue and the I-5 Freeway. 

Case Files: 
DB23-0012 PGE Memorial Substation 
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-Site Design Review (SDR23-0005) 
-Conditional Use Permit (CUP23-0001) 

 
Chair Barrett called the public hearing to order at 6:37 p.m. and read the conduct of hearing format 
into the record. All Board members declared for the record that they had visited the site. No board 
member, however, declared a conflict of interest, bias, or conclusion from a site visit. No board 
member participation was challenged by any member of the audience. 
 
Georgia McAlister, Associate Planner, announced that the criteria applicable to the application were 
stated starting on page 2 of the Staff report, which was entered into the record. Copies of the report 
were made available to the side of the room and on the City’s website. 
 
Ms. McAlister presented the Staff report on the PGE Memorial Substation via PowerPoint, briefly 
noting the site's location and surrounding features, and reviewing the requested applications with 
these key comments: 
• Currently a green field with a public sidewalk, the site also contained the Failmezger Heritage Tree, 

located along the east property line. The site was designated Industrial in the Comprehensive Plan 
and the proposed use was compatible with the PDI Zone and Comprehensive Plan designation. 
(Slide 2) 

• Proper noticing was followed for this application. On February 6, 2024, notice was mailed to all 
property owners within 250ft of the subject property, published in the newspaper, and placed on 
the site and on the City's website. 
• No public comments were received during the comment period for the project. 

• There were two requests before the DRB tonight for the PGE Memorial Substation application. The 
first request was objective in nature as it involved verification of compliance with Code standards. 
The other request for a Conditional Use Permit involved discretionary review. 

• For the Site Design, the Applicant had used appropriate professional services to design the 
proposed substation and associated landscaping. The proposed structure would be screened from 
surrounding uses with landscaping and fencing. Plants selected for screening included a 
combination of cascara trees, large and small evergreen shrubs, and ground cover. The chosen 
species were selected to provide a variety of heights and sizes that would not be bare in winter. 
Landscape screening was proposed along the north, east, and south perimeter of the fence. 
Landscaping was also incorporated on the boundaries of the site and would provide shade, 
stormwater mitigation, and aesthetic value. (Slide 5) 
• Condition of Approval PDB 7 would require that landscape screenings installed along the 

western perimeter facing I-5 be substantially similar to the screening proposed on the north, 
east, and south perimeters. The site would be configured to allow for efficient use as well as for 
repairs and regular maintenance.  

• Conditional use permits were intended for uses that might not be compatible with the surrounding 
uses, and therefore, certain uses were only permitted through Conditional Use Permits. (Slide 6) 
• Substations were only permitted through a Conditional Use Permit, and as such, were not an 

outright allowed use in any zone. The purpose of permitting substations solely through a 
Conditional Use Permit was to ensure the proposal was consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan, Chapter 4, of the Wilsonville Development Code, the characteristics of the site were 
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suitable for the proposed use, all required public facilities and services adequately met the 
needs of the proposed use, and that the proposed use would not alter the character of the 
surrounding area. 

• There was no evidence that the substation would alter the industrial character of the 
surrounding area as there was already an existing substation located just a few parcels south of 
the subject property. The immediate surrounding uses, such as the commercial use to the south 
and church to the north of the property, were not traditional uses within the PDI Zone. The 
substation fit well as a more static use that would not bring daily customers or traffic. 

• The substation would fortify and enhance the performance of the electrical grid within Wilsonville, 
and benefit existing industrial users, and therefore it would not negatively impact the surrounding 
uses. 

• To address potential noise impact, the PGE transformers would be the only equipment that would 
emit a consistent sound within the facility. The technical specifications set maximum sound levels 
for the transformers and the manufacturer would provide test data to confirm the actual values 
prior to the equipment leaving the factory. 
• It was anticipated that at its loudest, the decibel level would only be 10 decibels above a normal 

conversational level, and sound tests would be completed during the factory acceptance 
testing. Overall, it was anticipated that only a low level of noise would be produced by the 
substation. 

• The project proposed high screen landscaping to mitigate any potential noise impacts on adjacent 
properties. Additionally, the site and its neighboring properties were directly adjacent to the 
consistent high level of noise from I-5. It was unlikely any sound emitted from the substation would 
impact adjacent properties greater than current conditions. 
• To mitigate the visual impact of the substation, the Applicant proposed landscaping that met 

the high screen standard on three sides of the substation, including along SW Parkway Ave 
where it was not in conflict with the Heritage Tree, along the boundary of the church property 
to the north, and along the boundary with the Garden Center to the south. 

• A partially-sight-obscuring fence 8 ft in height surrounded the development. Only storm water 
facilities and an access drive were proposed between the fence and the high screen landscape 
of the adjacent properties. Condition of Approval PDB 7 required that the High Screen Standard 
be met along the west property line that abutted I-5 as well. 

• Additionally, PGE designed all its new facilities with Dark Sky fixtures in an attempt to minimize 
light pollution as much as possible. 

• The 100-year-old Failmezger Heritage Tree on the west property line of the site was an impressive 
White oak with a 42-inch DBH and had held the honor of Heritage Tree Designation since 2009. 
• The tree had been preserved through the construction of Parkway Ave as well as the sidewalk 

that looped to the east of the tree, and the tree's unique history was memorialized with a 
fencepost from the original Failmezger family farm which was melded into the trunk of the oak 
tree. Aside from that construction, the site had been largely undisturbed, and the tree had 
thrived to the best of its ability in the urban environment that had grown around it. 

• The installation of the substation would be a notable disruption in the long undisturbed parcel 
where the tree grew. Careful consideration had been taken to ensure the installation of the 
substation and associated underground lines would not negatively impact the Heritage Tree. 
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The tree protection radius would extend 45 ft from the center of the trunk and 90 ft parallel to 
SW Parkway Ave. 

• A tree protection easement was proposed and would ensure that care of the Heritage Tree 
continued after construction.  

 
Chair Barrett noted it was clear the Applicant had taken a number of protections into consideration 
and asked about fire mitigation. 
 
Ms. McAlister replied she had not looked into that but understood TVF&R had been involved and 
deferred to the Applicant for further information. 
 
Chair Barrett confirmed there were no further questions from the Board and called for the Applicant’s 
presentation. 
 
Jordan Messinger, PGE, 121 SW Salmon St, Portland, OR, 97204 thanked Ms. McAlister for her 
accurate portrayal of the project and provided some extra context with the following comments: 
• The subject project, along with the existing substation to the south of the site, would benefit the 

City by bolstering Wilsonville's growth and would allow PGE to continue to provide more reliable 
power into the future and to accommodate that growth. 

• Additionally, it was anticipated that the substation to the south would only be operational for 
approximately another decade, and the new facility would have the capacity for both future 
growth and to take over the load currently provided by the older substation. 

• There was no space on the site of the existing substation to expand and bring the substation up to 
modern standards, which was why the Applicant had selected the site to the north. 

 
John Andrews asked when construction would begin and approximately how long the project would 
take. 
 
Mr. Messinger responded PGE’s goal was to start in May or June provided that the Applicant could get 
through the permitting process before then. Total duration should be about six months. 
 
Chair Barrett asked what steps had been taken to mitigate fire. 
 
Mr. Messinger replied that PGE designed all substations by regulatory requirements from the FPRC 
and other electrical code requirements, such as no flammable materials inside the substation and 
transformers filled with a mineral oil. In addition, the facilities around it were designed to contain it 
should there be a leak. PGE also coordinated with local fire jurisdictions for mitigation efforts if there 
was an event. 
 
Mr. Andrews noted that years ago, when walking under the overhead power lines on Canyon Creek 
Rd, he had heard a loud hum and his hair had moved around. He asked if PGE had used overhead 
grounding wires for the proposed substation to prevent that from happening. 
 
Mr. Messinger answered no. He explained that the proposed facility would be converting 115 KV 
power down to 12.5 KV, the voltage distributed to homes and businesses. The aforementioned Canyon 
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Creek Rd line was likely 230 or 500 KV, a higher voltage which could generate some sound and 
induction. Although the proposed transformers themselves could hum at times, specifically during hot 
weather when there was higher usage, a standard had been set for maximum sound level. Additionally, 
because it was next to I-5, it would be unlikely that any noise would be heard above the freeway noise. 

 
Chair Barrett called for public testimony regarding the application. 
 
Kerry Gillespie, Owner, Gillespie Properties, noted his company was directly east of the subject 
property. He asked if any overhead power lines would flow east of the substation, as he was concerned 
about hums, buzzing, and possible interference with power equipment in his business. He asked if any 
shielding would be in place to mitigate those issues. 
• He noted the proposal had stated that the grading was relatively flat; however, Mentor had 

increased the grading approximately 15 feet approaching I-5. He asked if the Applicant would bring 
that back to street level. 

 
Chair Barrett confirmed with Staff that no one else present at City Hall or on Zoom wanted to testify. 
She called for the Applicant’s rebuttal. 
 
Mr. Messinger responded that onsite grading would be done to remove the fill that had accumulated 
over the years to pull that grading back down, noting that when PGE was finished, the grading would 
be lower than it was currently. He confirmed that new overhead power lines would go into the site to 
feed the substation for the higher voltage, but they would come from the west, across I-5, via an 
existing 115 KV line on Boones Ferry Rd. Ultimately, there would be two new, short taps that crossed 
the freeway directly into the substation site but nothing going east. 
 
Ms. McAlister noted there had been a question about noise and shielding across the site and whether 
it would be noticeable across the street to the east. 
 
Mr. Messinger reiterated that noise levels would be low, and no interference should extend beyond 
the boundary of the fence around the subject property. 
 
Mr. Andrews noted that a lot of high-powered transformers contained fluorinated hydro-carbonated 
liquids and asked if the proposed transformers would contain any such material. 
 
Mr. Messinger explained that although Mr. Andrews was correct regarding older transformers, PGE 
had shifted over to mineral oil for new ones. 
 
Mr. Andrews understood that immature trees and shrubbery would be planted that would grow to 
eventually screen the facility from the roadway. 
 
Mr. Pauly received confirmation from Mr. Messinger in the audience that Mr. Andrews was correct. 
 
Chair Barrett confirmed there were no additional questions or discussion and closed the public hearing 
at 7:02 pm. 
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Alice Galloway moved to adopt the Staff report as presented. Kamran Mesbah seconded the motion, 
which passed unanimously. 
 
John Andrews moved to adopt Resolution No. 428. The motion was seconded by Alice Galloway and 
passed unanimously. 
 
Chair Barrett read the rules of appeal into the record. 

 
3. Resolution No. 429.  Appeal of Administrative Decision. The Applicant is appealing the 

Planning Director's Determination of non-conformance in Case File ADMN23-0029. 

Case File: 
DB24-0002 Appeal of Administrative Decision 

 
Chair Barrett called the public hearing to order at 7:05 p.m. and read the conduct of hearing format 
into the record. Alice Galloway and John Andrews declared for the record that they had visited the site. 
No board member, however, declared a conflict of interest, bias, or conclusion from a site visit. No 
board member participation was challenged by any member of the audience. 
 
Kamran Mesbah noted for the record that he was on the Planning Commission when the Town Center 
Plan was adopted.  
 
Cindy Luxhoj, AICP, Associate Planner, announced that the criteria applicable to the application were 
stated starting on page 2 of the Staff report, which was entered into the record. Copies of the report 
were made available to the side of the room and on the City’s website. 
 
The following exhibit was entered into the record: 
• Exhibit C1:  Written comments received from the Home Building Association (HBA) after publication 

of the DRB B February 26, 2024 meeting packet. 

Presentation references Staff’s Appeal of Administrative Decision PowerPoint (Exhibit A2) 

[Verbatim transcript begins] 

Ms. Luxhoj: The property subject to the appeal is located at 29400 SW Town Center Loop West 
referred to as the "Location" in my presentation and outlined in red in the aerial photograph on 
the left of this slide. The existing development on the property is shown in the photograph on 
the right. The Comprehensive Plan designation is Town Center, and the property is zoned Town 
Center and located in three sub districts: Commercial Mixed-Use, Mixed-Use, and Main Street 
District. (Slide 2, Exhibit A2) 

On October 30, 2023, the City received an application for Class 1 Review to confirm the status 
of an existing non-conforming use and structure at the Location, which was previously occupied 
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by Fry's Electronics, an electronics retail store, and has been vacant since 2021. The City 
deemed the application complete on November 29, 2023, and processed the request as a Class 
1 Planning Director Determination per Subsection 4.030(.01)A7 of the Development Code.  
• On December 28th, 2023, the City's Planning Director issued a notice of Planning Director 

Determination, which provided the Planning Director's decision on the Class 1 Review 
application. The Appellant submitted a notice of appeal of the Planning Director's decision 
on January 10th, 2024. The Planning director has the authority under Section 4.030(.01)A of 
the Development Code to deal with non-discretionary matters including Class 1 Review 
applications, and to process these applications as a ministerial action without public notice 
or public hearing.   

Per Section 4.030(.01)A7, a determination that an existing use or structure is a non-conforming 
use or non-conforming structure is to be processed as a Class 1 Review, except, however, that 
the Planning Director may, in cases where there is any uncertainty as to the history of the 
property, choose to process such determinations as a Class 2 Review. Appeal of a decision on 
an administrative action by the Planning Director, such as the Class 1 review application in this 
case, is to be heard by the Development Review Board. Only the Applicant has standing to 
appeal a Class 1 decision.  

The appeal of the Class 1 Review application ADMN23-0029 currently before the DRB is a de 
novo review under Subsection 4.022(.01) of the Development Code. De Novo is Latin for from 
the beginning. This means that that the DRB must review the Class 1 Review application as if 
the action had not been previously heard, and as if no decision had been rendered by the 
Planning Director. The DRB should base its decision on the testimony, evidence, and other 
materials submitted by the Applicant to the City in the Class 1 Review application, as stated in 
Subsection 4.022(.07)B of the Development Code. Further, the DRB must, by order, affirm, 
reverse or modify in whole or part a decision that is under review.  

In this proceeding, the decision under review is the Planning Director's decision in Case File 
Number ADMN23-00 29. For the purpose of applying the applicable 120-day time limit, a final 
decision on the Class 1 Review application, including any appeals must be rendered by March 
28th, 2024. Staff notes that the City is currently processing a separate but related Class 2 Review 
application per Subsection 4.030(.01)B3 of the Development Code filed by the Applicant on 
December 15th, 2023. That case file number is AR23-0031. Any issues that are subject to the 
Class 2 Review, such as the scope of what non-conforming use may be continued at the 
location, are beyond the scope of this appeal proceeding.  

Staff further notes that the findings related to General Submission Requirements on Pages 13 
to 14 of the DRB staff report for tonight's public hearing include a list of documents and/or 
testimony contained within the Appellant’s Exhibit B1 that are deemed rejected or excluded 
from the record. This is because the materials are beyond the scope of and/or not relevant to 
the Class 1 Review. Staff respectfully requests that the DRB keep this in mind during tonight's 
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public hearing as testimony is presented. If this raises any questions related to the scope of 
review, please feel free to ask Staff what is relevant to tonight's proceedings.  

The applicable legal standards related to non-conformance are discussed in detail in the DRB 
Staff report. However, Staff thought it would be helpful to briefly summarize some key points of 
case law as follows:  
• Before use can be deemed non-conforming, it must be impermissible under a current land 

use ordinance. Generally, a non-conforming use is understood to be one that is contrary to 
a land use ordinance, but that, nonetheless, is allowed to continue because the use lawfully 
existed prior to the enactment of the ordinance. Non-conforming uses are not favored 
because by definition, they detract from the effectiveness of a comprehensive zoning plan. 
Accordingly, provisions for the continuation of non-conforming uses are strictly construed 
against continuation of the use, and conversely, provisions for limiting non-conforming uses 
are liberally construed to prevent the continuation or expansion of non-conforming uses as 
much as possible. Once the use is determined to be impermissible under a current land use 
ordinance, the question becomes, may the use continue because it is legally protectable as 
non-conforming? The purpose of a local government proceeding to determine the existence 
of a non-conforming use is to determine what use existed on the date restrictive regulations 
were applied.  

As stated in the DRB staff report, City Staff believed that the Applicant in the Class 1 Review 
application requests an answer to the following questions: One, is the location a non-
conforming use? Two, does the location contain a non-conforming structure? And three, does 
the location contain non-conforming site conditions? Considering that tonight's public hearing 
is a de novo review of the Class 1 Review application, the DRB should address all three 
questions listed on this slide. However, the Notice of Appeal does not challenge the Planning 
Director's decision on the second and third questions. Accordingly, City Staff believe that there 
is no disagreement between the Applicant and the City with respect to those points. The main 
point of disagreement between the Applicant and the City is the Planning Director's decision 
regarding the first question of non-conforming use. (Slide 8) 

The Staff report addresses each question in order outlining the legal standard that applies to 
the question, then highlighting facts that Staff believe are relevant to the question and finally 
quoting the determination of the question as stated in the Planning Director's decision. I'll 
briefly summarize this information. However, DRB has requested to refer to the detailed 
findings in the Staff report as the basis for tonight's deliberation and decision. 

Before a use can be deemed non-conforming, it must be impermissible under a current land 
use ordinance. Generally, a non-conforming use is understood to be one that is contrary to a 
land use ordinance, but that nonetheless is allowed to continue because the use lawfully 
existed prior to the enactment of the ordinance. As stated earlier in this presentation, the 
Location is currently in the Town Center (TC) Zone. The ordinance implementing the Town 
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Center zoning became effective on June 5th, 2019. Permitted uses include retail sales and 
service of retail products under a footprint of 30,000 sq ft per use, office, personal and 
professional services. The Commercial Mixed-Use subject strict of the TC zoning applies to 
roughly two-thirds of the Location, which also allows single-user commercial or retail such as a 
grocery store or retail establishment that may exceed 30,000 sq ft if located on more than one 
story of a multi-story building, provided the footprint of the building does not exceed 30,000 sq 
ft.  

The existing structure at the location has a footprint of 124,215 sq ft in a single-story with a 
partial mezzanine, which exceeds the footprint of 30,000 sq ft per retail user and footprint 
limitation that is allowed in the TC Zone. As of June 5th, 2019, the actual use at the location was 
a Fry's Electronics store, an electronics retail store with a total interior square footage of 
159,400 sq ft and a footprint of 124,215 sq ft. Therefore, the Planning Director's decision 
addressed the non-conforming use inquiry as follows: the use is a legally established non-
conforming use in the TC Zone.  

The structure as it currently exists does not conform to many of the design and development 
standards in Subsection 4.132(.06), such as building placement and frontage requirements, 
location of parking in relation to the building, building setbacks, height and number of stories, 
facade design, and architectural materials and treatments. A waiver to these standards for the 
existing structure has not been applied for nor has a waiver been granted. The Planning 
Director's decision addressed the non-conforming structure inquiry as follows: the structure is a 
legally established non-conforming structure in the Town Center Zone.  

The existing site conditions do not comply with at least two City Code sections including 
Subsection 4.132(.04)A, which requires that all development in the Town Center Zone be 
consistent with the street network and multimodal network, and Subsection 4.132(.05)A, which 
requires that all development be consistent with the open space network. Other site 
improvement standards of the TC Zone address such features as walkway connection to 
building entrances, parking location, landscape design and plaza areas. Existing site conditions 
do not comply with these applicable standards. The Planning Director's decision addressed the 
non-conforming site conditions inquiry as follows: the existing site conditions are legally 
established non-conforming site conditions in the TC Zone.  

Staff recommends that the Development Review Board affirm the Planning Director 
Determination of non-conformance in ADMN23-0029, determining that there is a legally 
established non-conforming use at the location, specifically that the protected use is a 159,400 
sq ft electronics related retail store. Two, there is — that there is a legally established non-
conforming structure at the location and that there are legally established non-conforming site 
conditions at the location.  

This concludes my presentation. Tonight, the Applicant is participating in the hearing and is 
prepared to make a presentation when invited by the Development Review Board. I'm happy to 
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take the next few minutes to answer any questions you may have for Staff before moving on to 
the Applicant's presentation. Additional questions can be asked of Staff after the Applicant's 
presentation. Thank you. 

Chair Barrett: Do we have any questions right now or should we wait? 

John Andrews: No questions now. 

Kamran Mesbah: None for me. 

Chair Barrett: All right. We are going to – will the Applicant please come to the podium with the 
microphone or commence your presentation when unmuted on Zoom. State your name and 
address and present any testimony you'd like to present to the Development Review Board. 

Daniel Pauly, Planning Manager: Something that’d be helpful if you would, for the record, is who all is 
here as part of the Applicant's team to be clear. 

Presentation references the Appellant’s Resolution No. 429 Appeal of Administrative Decision 
PowerPoint  

Keenan Ordon-Bakalian, Schwabe Williamson & Wyatt: Absolutely. One second here guys, I’m sorry. 
There is a lot of things on this view point. Okay. Can everyone see that on their screens? 
Awesome. For the record, my name is Keenan Ordon-Bakalian with the law firm Schwabe 
Williamson and Wyatt. I'm here on behalf of the Applicant/Appellant, Home Depot. My 
corporate address is 1211 Southwest Fifth Avenue, Suite 1900, Portland, Oregon 97204. With 
me today is Barry Simmons, representing Home Depot, as well as another member of our 
project team, Dan Zoldak with Lars Anderson. If you'd like, they can provide their addresses as 
well.  

Barry Simmons: Barry Simmons with Home Depot. Address is 2455, Paces Ferry Road, Atlanta, Georgia 
30339. 

 Daniel Zoldak: Dan Zoldak, Lars Anderson Associates. Address is 4694 West Jacqueline, Fresno, 
California 93722. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Before I get into the substance of our appeal, I'd just like to take a moment to 
thank you guys, members of the Development Review Board for your time tonight. It's very 
much appreciated. I'd also like to thank Cindy and the rest of Staff for their work on this project.  

I was going to start off with a brief background here, but I did want to address one preliminary 
matter. Turns out that apparently a comment has been received after the Development Review 
packet was submitted. We haven't been provided that comment. I haven't been able to read it, 
so because of that, we'd request that the record be held open for written testimony after this 
hearing.  
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So, moving on to my presentation. First, I'm going to provide a brief background of the 
procedural history for this appeal. I'm also going to address the findings of the Planning 
Director's Determination.  

Mr. Pauly: It was on the side of the room. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Thank you. So, I'm not going to read this whole comment right now and develop 
thoughts to it. Again, my request to have the record remain open stands. Unfortunately, we 
weren't provided that via email. I understand it was in the room, but I wasn't aware. So, moving 
back to the procedural history, on October 30, 2023, Home Depot applied for a Class 1 Review 
to confirm the non-conforming use status of the existing use and structure at the property. 
Within this application, Home Depot indicated that its intention was to operate a Home Depot 
within the existing structure at the property once the property's non-conforming use status was 
confirmed.  

On November 28, 2023, the City emailed the Appellant, Home Depot, stating that the 
Appellant’s request for confirmation that Home Depot could continue operating at the property 
under the scope of the non-conforming use required an interpretation of the City's 
Development Code under the City's Class 2 procedures.  

The City provided the Appellant with several options including an option where Staff proceeds 
with the Class 1 Review and in addition, Home Depot applies for a Class 2 Review, requesting a 
written interpretation regarding the classification and scope of the non-conforming use of the 
property. This email is in the record as well as your Staff packet, and Home Depot did choose to 
proceed with the option I just detailed to submit a Class 2 application. Home Depot submitted 
the Class 2 application on December 15th, 2023. The application was deemed complete on 
January 12th, 2024. On December 28th, 2023, the City issued its decision for the Class 1 
decision—for the Class 1 application. That's the decision before you on appeal today. 

So, there's a lot of text on this slide. (Slide 2, Applicant’s/Appellant’s Appellant’s Resolution No. 
429 Appeal of Administrative Decision PowerPoint) It's the only slide with a lot of text. I do 
apologize, but I wanted to capture the City's findings pretty accurately here. They're also 
contained in our notice of appeal. The City's decision for a Class 1 application approved the 
non-conforming use of the property, but it contained several findings that we take issue with. 
Some of these findings are that it is a 150,940 sq ft electronics retail store; a large format, 
single-story with partial mezzanine, single-user electronics retail store, or that it's a Fry's 
Electronics. In fact, the City's decision or Staff's decision is inconsistent, because at some points, 
it finds that the non-conforming use is a Fry's Electronics, where at other points, it finds that 
the non-conforming use is a single-user electronics retail store. Those are two very different 
things. Although Fry's Electronics is an electronics retail store, the scope of the use is much 
different for those two purposes. Regardless, we disagree with both of those conclusions within 
the Staff decision.  
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The City's findings around the nature of the non-conforming use of the property are entirely 
unsupported within their decision. They don't cite to any evidence for coming to these 
conclusions; they just effectively find that the non-conforming use is what they say it is. 
Moreover, Staff's packet for tonight's appeal hearing is also inconsistent because it contains a 
draft resolution that would have the DRB find that non- conforming use of the property as a 
159,400 sq ft electronics related retail store, whereas the Staff report request the DRB affirm 
the Planning Director's decision, that the non-conforming use is a Fry's Electronics. Those again 
are two very different things.  

What should be controlling in this appeal is what was determined in 1991, when the original 
use was approved of the subject property. The 1991 Decision is attached to our notice of 
appeal, as well as the application. It's certainly within the record, and it contains findings that 
conflict with Staff's findings in terms of the Planning Director Determination. The 1991 Decision 
was prepared on the basis of an anonymous company. Fry's Electronics is not within the 
decision whatsoever, so the fact that the non-conforming use could be a Fry's Electronics is 
inconsistent with the controlling document which approved the underlying use, the 1991 
Decision.  

Specifically, if you look at the request for the 1991 Decision, it is seeking approval of a 159,400 
sq ft retail commercial building, not a single-user electronics retail store. The Staff report was 
adopted by a resolution as findings and conditions of approval for the 1991 Decision, so it is, in 
effect, the decision.  

Throughout the decision—throughout Staff report for the decision, which was adopted as part 
of the City's approval, the use as being approved is repeatedly being stated as a commercial 
retail use and conclude a couple other findings for your review. Here, they detail the building 
use. (Slide 4) You have office, warehouse, manufacturing and service and retail. There is some 
comments in the Staff report that these relate to parking standards, but if you actually look at 
the decision itself, which is on page 3, there is no reference to parking standards whatsoever. 
This is the use of the building, which is the use of the property. At this point, we're talking 
about a commercial retail use.   

There are some other findings and comments within the Staff report, which again, were 
adopted as the decision, where it stated that the use is a commercial retail use. It is apparent 
the remaining undeveloped property has become very desirable as reflected by this application 
for a 159,400 sq ft commercial retail store. That's on page 3 of the 1991 Decision. It's also a 
conclusionary finding that it is a retail commercial center. There are other statements 
throughout the record and the application materials for the 1991 Decision talking about a retail 
anchor store—or a commercial retail anchor store. Sections 4.130 to 4.140 were the findings 
within the 1991 Decision related to zoning consistency, whether the use is allowed in 
underlying zone, which at the time was Planned Development Commercial, if I'm not mistaken. 
In this finding, there's a statement that the proposed commercial office units—uses are 
permitted in the overlay zones as part of the Town Center Master Plan. So, there's no reference 
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to a single user electronic retail store. There's certainly no reference to Fry's Electronics. That's 
nowhere in the decision. So, this is really where we take issue with the Planning Director's 
Determination.  

Moving forward, we obviously respectfully disagree with the Planning Director's Determination 
of the nature of the non-conforming use of the property. We believe it is a commercial retail 
use because as detailed, that is controlled by the 1991 Decision. Frankly, we were a little 
surprised that the Planning Director's Determination contained interpretations of use because 
we were under the impression, based on the November 28 email, that this would be addressed 
in the Class 2 proceeding. When we received the Class 1 Determination that found non-
conforming use, but then went as far as to find what the nature and scope of the use was, we 
were effectively forced to appeal to preserve our rights here.  

We believe the City's interpretation of the non-conforming use is wrong. It's neither a single-
user electronics retail store or Fry's Electronics because that is an impermissibly narrow 
interpretation of what was approved in the 1991 Decision. It's also certainly not in accordance 
with any of the findings that were adopted.  

In addition, I'd like to note, just for the record, that the City's interpretation of a prior decision 
is not afforded any deference were there to be an appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals. 
The case regarding that is Gould v. Deschutes County. There are several of them. This is the one 
detailed on the screen here. (Slide 7) This is important because, generally, local jurisdictions 
may have deference in interpreting their land use code, but because this is a decision and not 
the land use code, it would be reviewed effectively as a clean slate before the Land Use Board 
of Appeals.  

The DRB has the responsibility of reviewing the 1991 Decision in the first instance, as noted by 
this de novo hearing procedure. From the unambiguous request statement in the 1991 
Decision, where it references a commercial retail use to the numerous references of the use 
being reviewed and approved, it's absolutely clear that the use approved within the 1991 
Decision is commercial retail. Due to the City's adoption of the Town Center Plan, which 
Commissioner Mesbah noted he was on the Planning Commission for, the commercial retail use 
has been rendered non-conforming. Staff did a very good job of detailing why those—why it 
conflicts with the current zoning designation for the subject property. 

We're not disputing that there's a non-conforming use here, just effectively what the nature of 
that use is. We believe that the commercial retail use was lawfully established, and this is, 
again, why we've appealed the Planning Director's Determination narrowing the non-
conforming use to a single user electronics retail store or even a Fry's Electronics.  

In short, Staff may dislike the idea of a Home Depot at the subject property. We acknowledge 
that. We understand the Staff may believe a Home Depot is inconsistent with the City's Town 
Center Plan that was adopted in 2019; however, Staff's position is inconsistent with the legal 
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authorization and non-conforming use law in the State of Oregon, and certainly, Home Depot 
has the right to continue its lawfully established commercial retail non-conforming use of the 
property.  

That said, we're not talking about a traditional big box retail use of the property. Because of 
this, and the fact that the Home Depot's Class 2 application will likely be before the DRB in the 
near future, we briefly want to show Home Depot's vision at the site in which we believe is 
consistent with the vision and goals for the City's Town Center Plan.  

With me tonight to do so is Mr. Barry Simmons with Home Depot. Barry, I will turn it over to 
you.  

Mr. Simmons: Thank you. I appreciate the chance to speak to you guys tonight. As you see here, we 
did pull out —we have reviewed the Town Center Plan, and we actually believe, as we've said 
earlier, we're actually in alignment with the Plan, and we hope to further the Plan and with the 
– in partnership with the City of Wilsonville—town of Wilsonville.  

So, in the Table 3.1 here, that was that was pulled from the Town Center Plan, the commercial 
square footage, the 300,000 existing square footage, clearly, this was adopted back in 2019. 
(Slide 9) Obviously, at the time, you guys had no way of knowing that Fry's would no longer be 
operating as of 2021. But, certainly, today Home Depot would like to reoccupy, re-energize, and 
make use of the existing 125,000 sq ft for our purpose.  

We also have a vision that, again, that closely aligns with the Town Center Plan for multifamily 
use in the area. We believe, based off of the size of our out-parcels around that store, that we 
could put another 250 to 300 housing units around our store. So based off of this table, I think 
that, you know, the Home Depot use, again, that's a – we may be getting a little further down 
the road, but, at least, to communicate the vision that that Home Depot could bring back 
125,000 sq ft of commercial retail as well as up to 300 housing units towards the—this future 
town home center or a future Town Center vision. 

I will highlight there, in the right corner, that, one, this is over a 40-year plan. And the note, the 
first sentence there says that this will take time; there will be many steps. And we believe that 
this partnership or this future partnership with Wilsonville and Home Depot could be one of 
those steps to further that vision. Next slide.  

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Sure. 

Mr. Simmons: So, the Town Center Future Scenario. (Slide 10) As you can see on the left, is your Phase 
1, directly from your Town Center Plan, that indicates the existing 125,000 sq ft building with 
the purple indicating some infill of new housing, new street-level retail, etcetera. On the right 
side of that plan is effectively our site plan, is what we envision, and within the four or five 
acres of out lots that we would—we would identify them as out lots. We believe that we can 
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get those 200 to 300 additional housing units with multifamily housing and street-level retail. 
So, we have a couple of slides here, and, again, these are high level representations, I guess, or 
renderings, but we have a couple of pictures that we can show you what we think this might 
look like in the future.   

Go ahead and go to the next slide. (Slide 11) These are just a couple of aerial shots of what we 
think that our store, kind of tucked in behind multifamily residences here in the Town Center, 
again, might look like within this 15-acre property. Click the next slide. (Slide 12) So, just a 
couple of pictures there to give that picture and image of how we can kind of walk along for this 
Town Center Plan together. Now, the question may be asked, you may be thinking like, “No one 
really wants to live next to a Home Depot.”  

We don't believe that's true. In several places around the country, we have several examples 
that are exactly like this, where Home Depot's have found themselves in the middle of kind of 
play – live-play-work communities. And we can—we can show you a couple of examples of 
those. This is Atlanta, Georgia. This is the Buckhead store. (Slide 13) This is a very high 
performing store for us. As you can see, there's multifamily—large complex and multifamily 
both in front and behind the store. In front of the store, before you get to the main road, 
there's some street-level retail. Again, we fit right in with this community. Again, this is a high 
performing store for Home Depot.    

The next one is Surrey, Canada. (Slide 14) Now, this is a rendering of residential in front of our 
store. The next slide, and this is what it looks like in real life. (Slide 15) These are Google Earth 
images of a Home Depot store tucked in behind as a part of a larger development of multifamily 
housing units. And the last I have is Lynnwood Washington, which is not too far up the road 
here, where you see a couple of shots here. (Slide 16) The Atlanta store was—I think that was 
built in 2006, and the housing was finished about 2008. The Lynnwood Washington site here 
was built in 2021 and finished—and the housing was finished in about 2022. So these are 
relatively recent developments that Home Depot was involved in, that included multifamily, 
street-level retail, all the things that we believe closely align with what you guys are expecting 
with your Town Center Plan.   

So again, I appreciate you having us here, allowing us to, kind of, share our thoughts with you 
guys. But we do believe that there's a benefit, potentially, for everyone to, kind of, walk hand-
in-hand with this Town Center Plan, and I think we're—like I said, I think we're more in 
alignment than opposed to it. Thank you. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Thank you, Barry. I'm just going to move back to one slide here. So, just kind of 
put the requested relief up here in terms of what we're looking for. (Slide 8) To wrap up, again, 
this appeal proceeding is only necessary because of the Planning Director Determination, which 
we think impermissibly narrowed the scope of the approval in the 1991 Decision, which is 
controlling for the property.  
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Like Barry noted, we want to be a collaborative partner with the City. We don't intend for this 
to be an adversarial process. At the same time, based on the findings of the decision, we were 
obligated to file this appeal. We certainly disagree with the scope and nature of the non-
conforming use determination within the Director's Determination.  

We respectfully request the DRB find that the legally established non-conforming use of the 
subject property is a commercial retail use as approved in the ‘91 Decision, not a Fry's 
Electronics, not a single-user electronics retail store. And again, I'd like to request the record 
remain open, not only so we can respond to the comment, which was received earlier tonight, 
but also to provide additional written testimony. We'd also like to thank you again for your time 
and request that we have the opportunity to provide rebuttal or final argument should Staff 
have any additional testimony. At this point, happy to take any questions or wait till the end. 

Chair Barrett: Well, do we have any questions? 

John Andrews: 1991 seems like a long time ago. The community here has changed a lot, and Fry's has 
kind of abandoned ship. So why should—why do we need to continue with that? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Very good question, Commissioner Andrews. So, we can certainly detail this more 
in writing in our written response as well, but Oregon non-conforming use law allows certain 
uses that may no longer be consistent with the underlying zoning of a property to continue. The 
1991 Decision approved a commercial retail use. So, although Fry's may be gone and bankrupt, 
a commercial retail use is still allowed at the subject property. We believe, based on what Barry 
detailed, that Home Depot would be a willing and able partner to achieve both the City's vision 
under the Town Center Plan while also providing an anchor commercial retail use at the 
property stepping into Fry's shoes. 

Mr. Andrews: One more thing. So, the proposal for all the residential things around that, I mean, that 
just kind of came up. Is there—I mean, has there been any formal proposal or anything like that 
that involves that? Or is that something that may happen later if you decide to do that, instead 
of layout more parking?  

Mr. Simmons: We have not marketed those spots yet. Yeah, I mean, we can't go that far yet. We 
haven't even built a store yet. But certainly, it's our plan, as we have done at other locations, is 
to market the excess property or what we would consider excess property; those out parcels—
out lots to multifamily home builders to get that work done. So yes, we would—if it is in 
alignment with the vision of the Town Center Plan, we could more specifically look at targeting 
that type of use for that land if we were to get a store at this location.   

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Just to follow on Barry's comments here, I mean, again, Home Depot is trying to 
approach this as a collaborative partner with the City. We've had some initial discussions with, 
kind of, what our vision is for the site. That said, I think it's everyone's understanding at this 
point that until we sort out the issue with the non-conforming use, those discussions are kind of 
on hold. From a certainty perspective, both for the City and also for Home Depot, trying to pull 
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the cart before the horse, if you will, doesn't really benefit anyone here. So again, we are willing 
and open to have those discussions. I think we just need to kind of get alignment together as 
partners. 

Mr. Andrews: Okay, thank you. 

Chair Barrett: I have a question, but maybe I don't know who can answer it. It might be any lawyer in 
the room. What is an effective date for non-conforming use, like, when does that go into 
effect? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: I'm happy to answer first unless—so, effectively, a use becomes non- conforming 
when it is prohibited by the underlying zoning district. This may be a kind of oversimplification 
of the Oregon case law at this point. But, the use only became non-conforming when the Town 
Center Zone was adopted for the subject property, which has that 30,000 sq ft maximum and 
several other standards that, in full disclosure, the subject property nor the structure do not 
comply with. However, uses that were lawfully established prior to the change of the zoning are 
allowed to continue. And so in this case, it is our position the commercial retail use that was 
approved in 1991 was lawfully established. It was approved by the City. It has never been 
abandoned. Your Code actually has provision for abandonment, which we detail in our 
application, and I think both the City and us believe is met. I don't want to speak for them, 
however.  

So, because the use was established in 1991, it may continue. The effective date for its non- 
conformance was when the zoning designation changed, and I believe that was in 2019 with the 
adoption of the Town Center Plan. 

Stephanie Davidson, Assistant City Attorney: City Staff agree with that. The effective date of that 
zoning regulation was June 5th of 2019.  

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Thank you, Stephanie. 

Chair Barrett: So, what was the use? It was the Fry's retail store in 2019. 

Ms. Davidson: The legal standard, this is outlined in the Staff report, one of the key cases here is the 
Nehoda LUBA case. I'm going to read from it right now. "The purpose of the local government 
proceeding to determine the existence of a non-conforming use is to determine what use 
existed on the date the restrictive regulations were applied." So, essentially, the question is, 
what was the actual use of the property as of June of 2019? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: And in our position, the use was commercial retail. In the Planning Director 
Determination, they've narrowed it to a Fry's Electronics; in some instances, maybe a single-
user electronic retail store. Again, the stuff I showed you on the presentation is directly pulled 
from the 1991 Decision. It is clear in 1991, the use approved was a commercial retail use. 
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Electronic stores, including Fry's, fall within that subset of uses, but I don't think the ‘91 
Decision intended to narrow such a use to that level. 

Chair Barrett: Okay. One last question. Fry's went out of business—sorry, the retail store went out of 
business in 2021. So, how is it being used since? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: So that's actually a very good question and kind of a unique facet of Wilsonville's 
Code here. So, the property itself has been vacant since Fry's went out of business. But for the 
purposes of the City's non-conforming use standards, the use has continued. It has not been 
abandoned. I can, again, respond more detailed—in more detail in writing. However, I believe 
the standards for continuance of a non-conforming use include continuing to pay utilities, 
taxes, and other facets of continuing to employ the site. The current owner of the site has done 
so. There's no evidence that they have stopped doing any of those things. So, it is our position, 
and, again, I believe Staff's position as well, just based on the findings in the Planning Director 
Determination, that there is a non-conforming use there. It has not been abandoned. The 
question just is what is the nature of that use.   

Chief Barrett: Thank you. Any other questions? Yeah, okay. 

Mr. Mesbah: You mentioned in your presentation that you were essentially forced to appeal the 
decision of the Planning Director. Could you explain why that is?  

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: I think "compelled" might be a better word than forced. Certainly, we could have 
chosen not to appeal the decision. However, again, this all kind of goes back to the November 
28th email, which is in the record for this appeal proceeding. We requested confirmation there 
was a non- conforming use of the property. Within that, we did state our intention to operate a 
Home Depot at the site. In response, Staff responded and stated that that second part of our 
request required a Planning Director interpretation, which should be processed under a Class 2 
application. So, we believed the Class 1 would just be, effectively, a stamp that said, this is 
either a non-conforming use or it's not; it's non-conforming structure, it's not. However, when 
we received the Planning Director Determination, the Director determined that the non-
conforming use, the nature of the use, was a Fry's Electronics or a single-user electronic retail 
store. That would mean if that decision was not appealed, that would be the only use allowed 
at the site under its non-conforming use rights. We're not denying Home Depot is not a single-
user electronic retail store or a Fry's, so we were obligated to appeal because we believe that 
‘91 Decision, again, approved a commercial retail use; not something as narrow as was in the 
determination. 

Mr. Mesbah: So, I guess my second question is if a Class 2 Review, which is going to be coming in front 
of us, is going to be dealing with that specific question? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Yes.  
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Mr. Mesbah: What's the difference? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: The difference is if we hadn't appealed the decision within the allotted appeal 
timeline, the decision would become final. And the decision in the Class 1 Determination which, 
again, we think may be outside the scope of what should have been decided, is that the use is a 
Fry's Electronics or a commercial—or a single-user electronic retail store. So, in effect, the Class 
2 decision had already been made, even though it wasn't our understanding that was supposed 
to occur. If we let that decision stand, there's a decision that hangs out there that says the non-
conforming use is a Fry's Electronics. And so, the Class 2 process effectively would be moot. 
There's no reason for us to proceed at that point. 

Mr. Mesbah: As a person who needs to figure out the complexity of this, I don't feel there is enough 
information, other than your say so, for me to determine whether or not this is conforming or 
not. In other words, there's a continuation of use or not. I’d rather wait until a Class 2 Review 
with a thorough kind of evaluation of that, and so I don't know if there's an option of 
withdrawing your application for Class 1 so that we can go forward with Class 2 with an open 
slate or something like that, instead of prejudicing it, as you're worried it will happen. That's the 
nature of my questioning is— 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: It makes perfect sense. I think that's very astute observation there. I think, you 
know, again, we are open to discussing potential solutions with the City in terms of what we 
can do to kind of focus this process before the DRB, so we don't have two different processes 
proceeding at once. That said, like you noted, we were, maybe not, forced to, but we were 
obligated to appeal based on the substance of the determination in the Class 1 decision. You 
know— 

 

Ms. Davidson: Yeah, I'd just like to chime in here. There have been negotiations with the Applicant. 
Even late on Friday afternoon, there was some talk about potentially withdrawing the Class 1 
application, but the Applicant has to agree. I think the document that I saw circulated said—one 
of the resolutions within that document said that, you know, as part of this withdrawal, the 
Planning Director would modify her letter dated December 28th of 2023, to say that no 
determination of non-conformance is made. So that's something that the Applicant would have 
to agree to, but City Staff agree that the record is a little confused between the Class 1 and the 
Class 2 applications proceeding at the same time.  

Mr. Mesbah: So, it is—it is possible— 

Ms. Davidson: It is possible. 

Mr. Mesbah: —to have a clean slate for a Class 2? 

Ms. Davidson: But the Applicant has to agree.  
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Mr. Mesbah: Yes. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Yeah, and I think just to kind of flush that out a little bit more. I also saw the same 
correspondence, and I believe we also corresponded with Amanda this morning on that. We 
would have to have an agreement between the City and us, Home Depot, that the DRB would 
adopt a new resolution, effectively cleaning the slate from the Planning Director's 
Determination before we dismissed our appeal. Because if we dismiss or appeal prior to that, 
we would have a decision which is inconsistent with what we agree with, so we would need 
some certainty there. I think that, maybe, there's a benefit to having the open record period 
here because we may be allowed to continue to have these discussions proceeding from this. I 
mean, I don't know if you're interested in kind of exploring that option a little bit more, but I do 
understand the DRB's concerns here. 

Ms. Davidson: Absolutely. And we have heard your request to keep the record open, so that is going to 
happen. 

Mr. Mesbah: Do we have another DRB meeting – do we need to have another DRB meeting if you 
continue this kind of negotiation and leaving the record open? DRB, essentially at the end, will 
need to adopt some resolution, right? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Yes. 

Ms. Davidson: Yes.  

Mr. Pauly: And we may have to do a special meeting to do that, so—  

Mr. Mesbah: Because March 28th is before the next meeting or after the next meeting or what?  

Mr. Pauly: No, but there's also—Stephanie, do you want to cover it? 

Ms. Davidson: I think we —  

Mr. Mesbah: The deadline, I understand, is March 28th. 

Ms. Davidson: Given the timelines at play here, I think we need to discuss your availability on March 
5th, but also March 21st. 

Mr. Mesbah: I'm not here on the 21st, I can tell you that.  

Ms. Davidson: Okay. 

Mr. Mesbah: But there's others. I mean, you can have a quorum. 

Alice Galloway: I'm not here on the 5th. 
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Ms. Davidson: Chair Barrett? 

Chair Barrett: I am here all of those days. 

Paula Pinyerd, Scribe, ABC Transcription Services, LLC: Mr. Andrews? Can you speak into the mic so 
we can record that?  

Mr. Andrews: Oh, I just said I will be here. My current plans are to be here both those days, and the 
rest was nonsense. 

Ms. Galloway: Sorry— 

Ms. Pinyerd: —for clarity of the record.  

Ms. Galloway: I am going to be here on the 5th. It's the end of the month that I'm not going to be here. 
I'm here on March 5th. 

Miranda Bateschell, Planning Director: Good evening, Board. Miranda Bateschell, Planning Director for 
the City of Wilsonville. I'm just coming up because I want to try to do a raise of hands inventory 
for each of the days that week. So first of all, just given that we're going to leave the record 
open for seven days. Please show me your hands if you're available on March 5. 

Mr. Pauly: We did talk that Chair Barrett isn't available till later, till 7:30— 

Ms. Bateschell: 7 p.m. or later. 

Mr. Pauly: And, I have the same conflict. 

Ms. Bateschell: That's fine. We can have it as—whatever time is needed. Okay, so we have at least 
three on the 5th. So now, I'm going to go through the whole week of March 18th, one by one. So, 
Monday, March 18th?  

[Multiple responses off-mic] 

Ms. Bateschell: Yeah, okay, so four on the 18th. How about the 19th? Four? Okay. 20th? Four. 21st? 
Three. Okay. Thank you very much. 

Chair Barrett: Do we have to have a motion to continue that? 

Ms. Davidson: I think that should come later.  

Chair Barrett: Later?  

Ms. Davidson: Yes. 

Chair Barrett: Okay. 
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Mr. Pauly: We'd still—I mean, we do have a public hearing still open so we’d— 

Chair Barrett: So let’s gather as much as we can. 

Mr. Pauly:—still want to take testimony from others that may be here as well. 

Chair Barrett: Okay. I have one further question just for clarity. What is the difference between a Class 
1 and a Class 2 Review? 

Mr. Pauly: I can take that one for starters. So for the record, Class 1—both of them are administrative 
decisions by the Planning Director or the designee. Class 1 is a—what we call a ministerial or 
administrative decision where there's no discretion. It's—and there's no notice to surrounding 
property owners. The only person noticed of the application is the applicant. A Class 2 is also 
administrative with the difference being is that the DRB receives notice where they can call it 
up as well as surrounding properties receive notice of a Class 2. And, as well as a—the Planning 
Director can actually refer a Class 2 to the Development Review Board. So more notice, more 
process for a Class 2; where the Class 1 —essentially some Class 1s we essentially issue over the 
counter.  

Chair Barrett: Are the questions different? 

Mr. Pauly: There's more discretion, really, allowed under a Class 2. 

Kimberly Rybold, Senior Planner: And are you speaking specifically to as it pertains to the two 
applications that are in from this Applicant in terms of the questions that they have posed?  

Chair Barrett: Would the question they would pose be different for a Class 1 versus a Class 2?  

Ms. Rybold: Yes. So, the Class 1 application that they submitted is the determination of non-
conforming status related to the Location, so that would be the use site conditions and 
structure. The Class 2 is a Planning Director's interpretation of essentially, the question that is 
posed is related to the two, the Fry's Electronics and the Home Depot, and whether or not that 
is a continuation of use. So that really gets to the bigger question about, you know, use and, 
you know, whether or not in our Code, that would be a continuation, and so that is what 
requires an interpretation of the standards within the Development Code. 

Chair Barrett: And who interprets? 

Ms. Rybold: So that would be a Planning Director's interpretation. So, that's the nature of the 
difference. They're both decisions issued by the Planning Director. It's just that one really is just 
a determination of status, versus the second piece, which is making an interpretation as to 
whether or not those two retail users would constitute a continuation of use. And so, again, 
that's why in Cindy's presentation tonight, as she's highlighted, really any testimony, any 
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conversation related to the proposed user in this case is tied more to the Class 2 Review than it 
is the current Class 1 Review. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Respectfully, I would just like to add one thing. Although we agree in premise 
with what Ms. Rybold just said, ORS 197.979 - excuse me, ORS 197.797 says that, "For a quasi-
judicial hearing, to the extent there's argument or evidence that the Appellant believes is 
relevant, we are allowed to offer that." So, I think like you noted, because these two 
proceedings have gotten so intertwined, there are things that we feel obligated we must raise 
during this hearing to preserve them going forward. Whether or not they are deemed relevant 
is effectively up to you guys, not the City and not us.  

Chair Barrett: Okay. Lots of testimony, but I think we need to give an opportunity for the public to 
continue.  

[Break in verbatim transcript] 
 
Chair Barrett called for public testimony regarding the application and confirmed with Staff that no 
one was present at City Hall to testify and no one on Zoom indicated they wanted to testify. 

 [Verbatim transcript resumes] 

Chair Barrett: Okay. Well, that was simpler than I expected. Does the Applicant have any rebuttal or 
responsive testimony that the Applicant wishes to present? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Point of clarification, will we also be able to respond any Staff testimony?  

Amanda Guile-Hinman, City Attorney: You need to come before the microphone. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Oh, excuse me. For the record, Keenan Ordon-Bakalian on behalf of the 
Applicant. Would we have the opportunity to rebut any Staff testimony that comes after us, or is this 
our final time to speak?  

Chair Barrett: We will just be asking questions now, so you can stay there and answer.  

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Absolutely. And if you'll permit me, I do have an answer to Commissioner 
Mesbah's earlier question about non-conforming use standards for whether a use is continued. 
That was detailed in our application because that was application criteria. That's Exhibit 429 of 
the City's Staff report and packet. Wilsonville Development Code (WDC) 4.189(.01) says, "A 
non-conforming use may be continued subject to the requirements of this Section." One of the 
requirements of this section is to determine whether the use has been abandoned, that is WDC 
4.189(.03). That says, "If a non-conforming use is abandoned for a period of 18 consecutive 
months, the use shall not be reestablished without fully complying with the use requirements 
of the zone." That would be the TC Zone. "Mere vacancy of a site or building while it is being 
marketed, or other plans for its use are being readied, does not constitute abandonment. In 
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order for it to be considered abandoned, a site must not be receiving city utilities, must not be 
actively marketed for rent, lease, or sale. These standards concerning abandonment do not 
affect the City's process for abating nuisances...” That part is, in our opinion, likely not relevant 
to this proceeding. However, what is relevant is whether the property was receiving City 
utilities, whether it was marketed for rent, lease, or sale. Both of those are true. There's 
evidence in the record demonstrating as much. That is the City's standard for abandonment. 
We believe the use has not been abandoned because the City—the site is receiving utilities, and 
it was currently being—is currently being marketed for rent, sale, or lease.  

So again, we believe the use, the commercial retail use that was approved in 1991 has not been 
abandoned and has continued. To our knowledge, based on the Planning Director's 
Determination, the Staff report for this appeal, the City does not appear to dispute that, but 
again, I do not want to speak for the City on that point. 

Mr. Mesbah: To be clear, the kind of line of questions that I had for you was not that I was confused 
about your position. I was very clear about what you're saying. I read the Staff analysis and your 
submittal. It was that the Staff doesn't necessarily agree with all of what your positions are, and 
my understanding is that during a Class 2 Review, because we are expanding the scope of 
analysis and all of that, that may become clearer to those of us who are sitting on this side of 
the dais, and I was, I guess, kind of raising that into  — beg the question, if this becomes clearer 
later, why do we rush it now? I think we got to that answer is that yeah, really there isn't any 
reason to rush it now, if there is some understanding that can be engineered here. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Absolutely. 

Chair Barrett: All right. Do we have any further questions of Staff or Applicant or the other members of 
the audience? 

Mr. Andrews: I guess I have one question. The 2019 date that you mentioned, is that really the 
effective date for when the use of the property becomes defined? 

Ms. Davidson: Well, June 5th 2019, that is the date that the Town Center Plan became effective, and 
based on the content of the Town Center Plan, the proposed use would not be allowed. So 
that's the date of the more restrictive land use regulation.  

Mr. Pauly: Because, yeah, per current City Code, even though it's Planned Unit Development, that that 
is now non-conforming Planned Unit Development because the zoning did change. 

Ms. Galloway: So, we're here this evening to affirm or reject a Planning Director's decision, and I think 
that's our focus for this evening. So, I don't know if this is the right time to do this, but I'd like to 
move to reject from the record certain information from the Applicant. 

Ms. Davidson: Oh, Alice?  
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Ms. Galloway: Uh-huh? 

Ms. Davidson: Because the Applicant has requested to keep the record open for seven days, we will 
not do anything with the record tonight. We'll just leave it open, and we will talk about when 
you will reconvene to make a decision on this application.  

Ms. Galloway: All right. Thank you.  

Ms. Davidson: Thank you. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Respectfully, we would formally object, based ORS 197.797 and the standards 
that allow us to make argument in evidence in a quasi-judicial setting, so just for the record. 

Mr. Davidson: I'm sorry, what are you objecting to? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: The future excludence of testimony and evidence in the record that was 
intimated by Commissioner Galloway. 

Ms. Davidson: Okay. And I want to add something before the public hearing is closed tonight. So, the 
plan would be to close the public hearing tonight, but leave the record open for seven days. So, 
before we close the public hearing, I just wanted to comment on the legal standard that was 
presented by the Applicant. I think the slide that this information was on was Slide Number 7. 
So, I just want to add into the record that City Staff reviewed the case that was cited, which is 
Gould v. Deschutes County 79 or LUBA 561. It's a 2019 case. That case does not cite – does not 
cite the statute ORS 197.829, which is what the slide says it does. I just want to encourage that 
the legal standard is outlined in the Staff report, which you've reviewed. 

Chief Barrett: Can I get that ORS standard one more time?  

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Which one? 

Chief Barrett: The one you cited?  

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Yes. So, ORS 197.797 sub 9. 

Chief Barrett: Hold on, 197? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: 797.  

Chief Barrett: 797, thank you. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Sub 9. And that is the procedure for local quasi-judicial land use proceedings or 
hearings. It details both hearing process as well as notice requirements. Subsection 9 of that —  
statute says that arguing evidence constitutes — and I mean, I can read through the entire 
thing here, "Argument means assertions and analysis regarding the satisfaction or violation of 
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legal standards or policy believed to be relevant by a proponent to a decision. Evidence means 
facts, documents, data or other information offered to demonstrate compliance or non-
compliance with the standards believed to be relevant by the proponent."  

In this case, we believe that all the information we've entered into the record is relevant for the 
decision before the DRB.  

Chief Barrett: Okay. And that was in Gould? 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: No, that was not in Gould. That was the other standard. 

Chief Barrett: I'm sorry. I'm trying to make sure I get it all straight. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: So, again, we can follow up more in writing because the record will be open on 
this. However, the Gould decision, what we believe it stands for is that a local government's 
interpretation of a prior land use decision, in this case, the 1991 Decision, is not afforded the 
same level of deference before the Land Use Board of Appeals that the City would be afforded 
if they were interpreting their Development Code. That's called Sapporan deference and the 
City is generally afforded deference when it's interpreting its own code. But in this case, 
because you are interpreting the 1991 Decision, and the nature of the use that is allowed to 
continue at the property, that would not be afforded any sort of special deference. It's more of 
just some context for the decision before the Board here. 

Chair Barrett: Thank you. Oh, I see testimony. 

Ms. Guile-Hinman: Thank you, Chair. Amanda Guile-Hinman, City Attorney. I just want to keep the 
record very clear about it because there was something left out of that definition. It ends with 
"argument does not include facts." And then "Evidence means facts, documents, data or other 
information offered to demonstrate compliance or non-compliance with the standards believed 
by the proponent to be relevant to the decision." So, I just want to make sure that we're clear 
about that argument and evidence are different and they're discussed differently in ORS 
197.797. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: I would agree with that, Sub A and Sub B.  

Chair Barrett: Okay, argument versus evidence. Okay, do we have all of the evidence and testimony 
that we want submitted in this record? 

Ms. Rybold: I would add one clarification just as it pertains to uses and the new zoning and what's 
applying. I just want to clarify that from our perspective of how—when the Planning Director is 
making determinations or interpretations, I just want to be clear that our standards from—for 
the uses that are allowed are agnostic of a specific business or user. So, just to be clear that 
there are no preferences being expressed in terms of a specific business, either being preferred 
or not preferred by Staff. Staff in making these determinations is doing so based on uses and 
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interpretations of uses and looking at things like prior decisions or legal case law to determine 
how to define those uses, not businesses. 

Chair Barrett: Does a business name have to go into a use? 

Ms. Davidson: The DRB has discretion to decide the nature and the extent of the use in the Class 2 
proceedings.  

Chair Barrett: Thank you. Okay. Do we have any other testimony? Any other questions? What kind of 
motion should we make in order to make sure that we maintain the record? 

Mr. Pauly: First, we'd want to close the hearing 

Chair Barrett: Okay. Hearing no further discussion, I'm prepared to close the hearing. Once the hearing 
is closed, there cannot be any other discussion, comment, or questions except among board 
members. The Board may ask Staff specific procedural questions confirming there's no 
additional discussion at this point and no further questions of Staff or any party. Okay. I declare 
this public hearing closed at 8:18 p.m. 

Ms. Bateschell: So, before I give you additional instruction, I know we talked about a few dates that 
might work for you all for reconvening. I think all of you were available March 18th, March 19th, 
and March 20th. Are there any preferences? Shall we shoot for March 18th? 

Chair Barrett: That would be my preference.  

Ms. Bateschell: March 18th? 

Chair Barrett: March 18th.  

Ms. Bateschell: Do you have a time preference? 6:30?  

Chair Barrett: Yeah. 

Ms. Rybold: I believe that is during a City Council meeting.  

Mr. Pauly: So we'd have to — 

Ms. Bateschell: Yeah, if I may, I think what we're going to have to do is get back to you on the specific 
day. And at this point hold March 5th and March 19th. We have to work internally on 
determining what other meetings are happening in this building and how we can shift people 
around. And then also, we'll determine if the seven days—the seven days maybe all we need 
for the additional argument. But if for some reason somebody who else who has been on the 
record submits anything, then the Applicant has an opportunity for additional time in order to 
respond to that.  
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So, I think the plan would be hopefully to move forward with this next week. But if additional 
information is submitted, they are granted additional time to respond to that other argument, 
in which case, we would then be looking at March 19th. So, Staff will confirm once we're able to 
confirm with the rest of the calendars in the building. Unfortunately, many boards and 
commissions meet in this room. 

Mr. Mesbah: Amanda, day and time you're going to confirm, so we're keeping the whole day open? 

Ms. Bateschell: Most of our meetings of this nature are held in the evening, in order to provide— 

Mr. Mesbah: So, six-ish? 

Ms. Bateschell: Most likely, yes. And so, we will confirm the time but at this point in time, I would say 
hold the evenings. And if you, for example, are only available after a certain point on one of 
those evenings that we've discussed, please communicate that as soon as possible to Mr. Pauly. 

Ms. Davidson: So, in the meantime, you should—someone should move to keep the written record 
open for seven days until March 4th, 2024 at 5:00 p.m. That's the date that the record will close 
and we will have to separately determine the date of the—date when you reconvene. So that's 
a motion to keep the written record open for seven days until March 4th, 2024 at 5:00p.m. 

 
Mr. Andrews: So moved. 

Ms. Galloway: So, I move that we keep the record written record open until 7:00 p.m. on March 4th, 
2024 at 5:00 p.m. 

Mr. Pauly: Seven or five? You said both. Five? 

Ms. Galloway: That's what she said, 5:00 p.m. 

Ms. Davidson: 5:00 p.m. Yeah. 

Mr. Pauly: Just making sure the record is clear on that. 

Chair Barrett: So, the motion was for March 4th, 2024 at 5:00p.m.  

Ms. Galloway: Right. 

Mr. Ordon-Bakalian: Understood.  

Chair Barrett: Do I hear a second? 

Mr. Mesbah: Second. 

Chair Barrett: Okay. All in favor of leaving the written record open until March 4th, 2024 until 5pm? 
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ALL: Aye. 

Chair Barrett: Okay. The motion carries, four to zero. 

[End of Verbatim Excerpt] 

BOARD MEMBER COMMUNICATIONS 

1. Results of the February 12, 2024 DRB Panel A meeting 
2. Recent City Council Action Minutes 

There were no comments. 

STAFF COMMUNICATION 

There were no comments. 

ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting adjourned at 8:23 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Paula Pinyerd, ABC Transcription Services, LLC. for  
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, MARCH 25, 2024 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Hearing: 
2. Resolution No. 431.  Citycounty Insurance 

Services (CIS) Oregon Collaboration Center.  The 
applicant is requesting approval of a Stage 2 Final 
Plan Modification, Site Design Review, Type C Tree 
Removal Plan, Class 3 Sign Permit and Waiver 
for development of a single story, 15,744 square 
foot, office building and associated site 
development on the southwest corner of 
Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road.  
 
Case Files: 
DB23-0015  CIS Oregon Collaboration Center 
-Stage 2 Final Plan Modification (STG223-0008) 
-Site Design Review (SDR23-0010) 
-Type C Tree Removal Plan (TPLN23-0005)      
-Class 3 Sign Permit (SIGN23-0014) 
-Waiver Request (WAIV23-0006) 
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
RESOLUTION NO. 431 

 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL, APPROVING 
A STAGE 2 FINAL PLAN MODIFICATION, SITE DESIGN REVIEW, TYPE C TREE REMOVAL 
PLAN, CLASS THREE SIGN PERMIT AND WAIVER FOR DEVELOPMENT OF A 15,700 
SQAURE FOOT OFFICE BUILDING AT THE INTERSECTION OF WILSONVILLE ROAD AND 
KINSMAN ROAD. 
 
 WHEREAS, an application, together with planning exhibits for the above-captioned 
development, has been submitted by Patrick Priest with CityCounty Insurance, Applicant, in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008 of the Wilsonville Code, and 
 

 WHEREAS, the subject site is located at 30125 SW Kinsman Road, Taxlot 00100, Section 23B, 
Township 3 South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, Clackamas County, Oregon, and 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Staff has prepared the staff report on the above-captioned subject 
dated March 18, 2024, and 
 

 WHEREAS, said planning exhibits and staff report were duly considered by the Development 
Review Board Panel B at a scheduled meeting conducted on March 25, 2024, at which time exhibits, 
together with findings and public testimony were entered into the public record, and  
 

 WHEREAS, the Development Review Board considered the subject and the recommendations 
contained in the staff report, and 
 

 WHEREAS, interested parties, if any, have had an opportunity to be heard on the subject. 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Development Review Board of the City of 
Wilsonville does hereby adopt the staff report dated March 18, 2024, attached hereto as Exhibit A1, 
with findings and recommendations contained therein, approving the requests with conditions, and 
authorizes the Planning Director to issue permits consistent with the Development Review Board 
approval for: 
 

The CIS Collaboration Center Development (DB23-0015):  Stage 2 Final Plan Modification 
(STG223-0008), Site Deigns Review (SDR23-0010), Class 3 Sign Permit (SIGN23-0014), and Type C 
Tree Removal Plan (TPLN23-0005), Waiver (WAIV23-0006).  
 

ADOPTED by the Development Review Board of the City of Wilsonville at a regular meeting 
thereof this 25th day of March, 2024, and filed with the Planning Administrative Assistant on 
_______________.  This resolution is final on the 15th calendar day after the postmarked date of the 
written notice of decision per WC Sec 4.022(.09) unless appealed per WC Sec 4.022(.02) or called up 
for review by the Council in accordance with WC Sec 4.022(.03). 
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          _____,  
      Rachelle Barrett, Acting Chair - Panel B 
      Wilsonville Development Review Board 
Attest: 
 
       
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 
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Exhibit A1 

Staff Report 
Wilsonville Planning Division 

CIS Oregon Collaboration Center 

Development Review Board Panel ‘B’ 
Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing 

 

Hearing Date: March 25, 2024 
Date of Report: March 18, 2024 
Application No.: DB23-0015 CIS Oregon Collaboration Center  
  

Request/Summary:  The requests before the Development Review Board include a Stage 
2 Final Plan Modification, Site Design Review, Type C Tree Plan, 
Class 3 Sign Permit, and Waiver Request.   

 

Location:  30125 SW Kinsman Road, Tax Lot 00100, Section 23B, Township 3 
South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, Clackamas County, 
Oregon 

 

Owner/Applicant: CIS Trust (Patrick Priest) 
 

Authorized 
Representative:  Sid Hariharan Godt (Mackenzie) 
 
Comprehensive Plan  
Designation:  Industrial 
 

Zone Map Classification:   PDI (Planned Development Industrial) 
 

Staff Reviewers: Georgia McAlister, Associate Planner 
 Amy Pepper, Development Engineering Manager 
   
  

Staff Recommendation: Approve with conditions the requested Stage 1 Master Plan, Stage 2 
Final Plan, Site Design Review, Type C Tree Plan, and Tentative Partition Plat.

 
Page 1 of 62
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Applicable Review Criteria: 
 

Development Code:  
Section 4.001 Definitions 
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 
Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 
Section 4.010 How to Apply 
Section 4.011 How Applications are Processed 
Section 4.014 Burden of Proof 
Section 4.031 Authority of the Development Review Board 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) Site Development Permit Application 
Subsection 4.035 (.05) Complete Submittal Requirement 
Section 4.110 Zones 
Section 4.117 Standards Applying to Industrial Development in All 

Zones 
Section 4.118 Standards Applying to Planned Development Zones 
Section 4.135 Planned Development Industrial (PDI) Zone 
Section 4.140 Planned Development Regulations 
Section 4.154 On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
Section 4.155 Parking, Loading, and Bicycle Parking 
Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress 
Section 4.171 Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources 
Section 4.175 Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
Section 4.176 Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
Section 4.179 Mixed Solid Waste and Recycling 
Sections 4.199.20 through 4.199.60 Outdoor Lighting 
Sections 4.200 through 4.290 Land Divisions 
Sections 4.300 through 4.320 Underground Utilities 
Sections 4.400 through 4.440 as 
applicable 

Site Design Review 

Sections 4.600 through 4.640.20 Tree Preservation and Protection 
Other Planning Documents:  
Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan  
Previous Land Use Approvals  
Transportation System Plan   
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Vicinity Map: 
 

 
 

Background: 
 

CityCounty Insurance Services (CIS) requests the approval of a 15,700 square foot office in a 
prominent location along Wilsonville road. The site of the proposed project is a part of a prior 
approval for an industrial office park approved in 2009 under Case Files DB09-47 through DB09-
0053. The prior approval included two phases of development, the first of which is constructed. 
The second phase will move forward following the approval of this request. At the time of the 
first approval the tenant had yet to be determined. This proposal modifies the prior Stage 2 Final 
Plan approval to accommodate the design proposed by CIS for their needs. Among the proposed 
modifications is a one-story building opposed to the previously approved two-story building. 
The Stage 2 Final Plan Modification requires the site to be designed to current City standards.  
 

Summary: 
 
Stage 2 Final Plan Modification  
 

Project Site  
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The Stage 2 Final Plan Modification includes an approximately 15,700 square foot office and 
associated improvements. The proposed uses of the development are consistent with the Planned 
Development Industrial (PDI) Zone and underlying Stage 1 approval which allocated 21,700 
square feet of office space on the development site. All services are available for the site or will 
be with conditions of approval. The site includes parking, circulation areas, pedestrian 
connection, and landscaping meeting or exceeding City standards. 
 

Site Design Review  
 

The applicant used appropriate professional services to design the proposed office headquarters 
building using quality materials and design. The proposed building will be highly visible as it is 
located along Wilsonville Road and has been designed with the prominent location in mind, with 
a modern design using interesting angles to contrast the grey pallet and including ample glazing 
on all facades. The configuration of the site will allow for efficient employee and visitor parking 
while also creating safe pedestrian access throughout the parking area. The close proximity to the 
Significant Resource Overlay zone provides the opportunity for a diverse and lush planting on 
the south potion of the site. In addition to the native mitigation planting, landscaping is 
incorporated throughout the site providing shade, stormwater mitigation and aesthetic value.  
 
Type C Tree Removal Plan  
 

The applicant proposes the removal of two (2) trees and the preservation of one (1) tree on the 
proposed development site. The tree species on site are a mix of native and non-native trees 
including Oregon white oak, ponderosa pine, red alder, Douglas fir, Western red cedar, red 
maple, Norway maple, and magnolia. The trees proposed for removal are ponderosa pines of 
good quality.  However, removal is necessary for the development of the site. The applicant 
proposes replanting eleven (11) trees within the parking area, eleven (11) trees along the north 
property line and twenty-four (24) trees within the SROZ mitigation area on the subject property, 
which is in excess of the 1:1 mitigation ratio as required by the development code.  
 

Class 3 Sign Permit  
 

The original approval for Wilsonville Road Business Park included a Master Sign Plan. The 
Master Sign Plan provides guidance on location, size, materials, colors and finishes of the future 
signs in compliance with the Development Code. The applicant proposes changes to the Master 
Sign Plan including the eliminating the monument sign. 
 

Waiver 
 

The applicant requests to waive the 30 required setback along the north and east frontages. The 
setbacks were set in the code with more traditional industrial development in mind. The 2009 
approval of the Wilsonville Road Business Park dedicated this site as office commercial in the 
Stage 1 and Stage 2 Final Plan approvals. The Planned Development Commercial Zone does not 
have setback requirements and therefore a 30-foot setback is significant for the proposed use. The 
triangular shape of the lot and unique right-of-way easement would result in challenges with the 
placement of the building on the lot or a less than ideal design. The reduction in setback is greatest 
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at the northeast corner where the proposed setback is 10 feet with the 30 feet setback either 
slightly reduced or met for much of the building with a 22 foot setback along the north frontage 
and a 28 foot setback at the southeast corner. The right-of-way also creates additional buffer 
between the building and the road. The requested setback reduction will allow for better use of 
the site, a more pleasing design and be more in line with other Commercial developments in the 
City.  
 

Public Comments and Responses: 
 

No public comments were received during the comment period for the project. 
 

Discussion Points – Verifying Compliance with Standards: 
 

This section provides a discussion of key clear and objective development standards that apply 
to the proposed applications. The Development Review Board will verify compliance of the 
proposed applications with these standards. The ability of the proposed applications to meet 
these standards may be impacted by the Development Review Board’s consideration of 
discretionary review items as noted in the next section of this report. 
 
Office Use in the PDI Zone 
 

A wide range of uses are permitted in the Planned Development Industrial (PDI) Zone. The Stage 
1 Preliminary Plan approval confirms that proposed uses in a development are compatible with 
the zone in which they are proposed, approving the uses, their location, and the proportion of the 
development allocated to the use. The Stage 1 Preliminary Plan for this project was approved in 
2009 as a part of DB09-47 through DB09-0053 and was vested when substantial development of 
Phase 1 on the other side of Kinsman Road occurred. The Wilsonville Road Business Park 
development includes the approval of industrial, office, and commercial use over two parcels to 
be constructed in two phases.  The proposed use of the 15,700 square foot office is consistent with 
the original approval and Stage 1 Plan which includes the approval of 70,731 square feet of 
industrial use, 8,814 square feet of service/retail use and 31,990 square feet of office use. Phase 1 
of the approval includes 10,290 square feet of the allocated office use with the subject Phase 2 
allocated 21,700 square feet of office use totaling 28.7% of the total development, falling within 
the 30% allowance for office space in the PDI zone as is permitted according to Code Section 
4.135(.03). 
 

Modifications to Wilsonville Road Business Park Approval  
 
Wilsonville Road Business Park, Phase 1 and 2, was approved in 2009 with Phase 1 including 
four buildings with a mix of industrial, commercial, and office use and Phase 2 including one 
21,700 square foot two story office building.  As with all Planned Developments within the City 
of Wilsonville, the Stage 2 Final Plan approval expires within two-years of the Development 
Review Board’s decision unless substantial development occurs or an extension is granted.  
Construction of Phase 1 of the project occurred in 2010, thus substantial development occurred 
and the Stage 2 Final Plan is vested.  
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Since the original land use approval in 2009 there have been shifts in the development based on 
both the market and the needs of businesses. CityCounty Insurance Services has identified the 
project site as the location for their new office. The proposed use of the 15,700 square foot office 
is consistent with the original approval and Stage 1 Plan which includes the approval of 70,731 
square feet of industrial use, 8814 square feet of service/retail use and 31,990 square feet of office 
use in accordance with Code Section 4.135(.03). Phase 1 of the approval includes 10,290 square 
feet of the allocated office use with Phase 2 allocated 21,700 square feet of office use.  The 
placement of the office building approved in 2009 is the general location of the office building 
currently proposed for development. Additionally, the site design and parking area is similar to 
the original approval. However, it is not necessary or desired by the applicant for the office 
building to be a two-story development. Instead, a single story 15,700 square foot office 
building has been designed to meet the needs of CIS. Converting the two-story office to a 
single-story building results in the footprint of the building expanding. The expansion of the 
footprint impacts the parking lot design and therefore the site design general. These changes 
trigger a Stage 2 Final Plan Modification and Development Review Board review. The proposed 
modification is reviewed under current City standards such as changes to the storm water 
requirements. The modification results in a design meeting current City standards.   
 
Natural Resources Impact and Mitigation  
 

The western property line of the proposed development site is delineated by the Seely Ditch 
where Coffee Lake Creek runs. The ditch and creek is a wetland area protected by the City of 
Wilsonville’s Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ). The SROZ extends 50’ on to the 
property. While no development is to occur within the SROZ a portion of the parking area will 
be constructed within the SROZ Impact Area. The impact on natural resources is carefully 
considered in the site design and the importance of the wetland area is acknowledged by the 
applicant. To mitigate any impacts on the natural resources and SROZ the applicant has worked 
with the City’s Natural Resources team to development a mitigation planting of a variety of 
native species. The native plantings are to be installed to the west of the parking area and will 
buffer the development to the east from the wetland to the west. The planting includes a diverse 
mix of native trees, shrubs, and ground cover for a complete and complex restoration area 
including vine maples, cascara, oceanspray, Indian plum, pacific ninebark, red flowering 
current, western spirea, salal, Oregon grape, western sword fern, and snowbell.   
 
Traffic 
 
The addition of a new 15,700 square foot office building along Wilsonville Road will impact 
traffic along Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road. The Traffic Impact Analysis (See Exhibit B1) 
performed by the City’s traffic consultant, DKS Associates, calculates that the proposed office 
building will generate 232 new daily trips in relation to the operation of the site including 
employees and visitors with 36 trips at the PM peak hour. While these new daily trips will 
result in an increase in use of the surrounding roadways and intersections, the predicted 
increase in PM peak hour trips is less than the predicted 86 PM peak hour trips approved with 
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the 2009 decision. Traffic operations at the two intersections studied as part of the traffic impact 
analysis, Wilsonville Road/Kinsman Road and Kinsman Road/ Ore Pac Ave, are shown to meet 
the minimum acceptable level of service, LOS D, with Wilsonville Road/Kinsman Road 
operating at LOS C and Kinsman Road/Ore Pac Ave operating at LOS A/B.  No improvements 
to Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road are required, other than the restoration of 
improvements impacted during construction, as the roads are improved to current standards 
and the level of service remains sufficient for operation. 
 

Parking 
 

Pursuant to Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660-012-0440 parking mandates, or the 
minimum vehicle parking requirements in Table 5, are not applicable due to the site being 
within 1/2 mile of SMART Route 4, among the City’s most frequent transit routes. With no 
minimum vehicle parking requirements, the number of total vehicle parking spaces is at the 
complete discretion of the applicant, so long as the total number of spaces does not exceed the 
maximum and other non-parking requirements are still met.  
 
The applicant proposes 65 parking spaces. The maximum parking allowed in Table 5 for the site 
is 64 parking spaces. Condition of Approval PDA 2 requires the number of parking spaces to be 
reduced by one space to ensure no more than 64 parking spaces are constructed. The reduction 
of parking by one space is minimal and not anticipated to negatively impact the proposed use 
of function of the development. 
 
Discussion Points – Discretionary Review: 
 

This section provides a discussion of discretionary review requests that are included as part of 
the proposed applications. The Development Review Board may approve or deny items in this 
section based upon a review of evidence submitted by the applicant.  
 
Setback Waiver 
 

The applicant requests a waiver to the 30 foot setback required within the Planned Development 
Industrial zone. The review of this waiver request a will be discretionary. Waiving the setbacks 
will allow for the best use of a triangular shaped parcel with portions of the property in the 
Significant Resource Overlay zone, allowing for a one story 15,700 square foot office building and 
parking area with supporting site improvements.  
 
There are several unique factors of the development site that necessitate the setback reduction. 
The first factor being the existing property line along Wilsonville Road and at the intersection of 
Kinsman and Wilsonville Road are well behind the existing sidewalk. The right-of-way located 
at the intersection of Kinsman and Wilsonville Road provides approximately 30 feet of separation 
from the edge of the curb to the parcels property line. To meet the PDI setback requirements the 
proposed building would need to be setback an additional 30 feet from the property line placing 
the building a full 60 feet away from the intersection. The requested setback reduction for the 
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northeast corner of the building places the proposed building 40 feet from the intersection, a more 
appropriate distance for an active intersection. Along the north frontage there is an 18-foot right-
of-way that includes the sidewalk and street trees. The requested setback reduction is for eight 
feet, placing the north façade of the building 22 feet from the property line and 40 feet from 
Wilsonville Road.  A reasonable buffer between the street and the building is provided on all 
frontages, even with requested reducations mitigating the impact of the setback reduction. 
 
Understanding the constraints of the northeast corner, it is also important to examine challenges 
posed by the western portion of the site. The west property line abuts a wetland area with the 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone extending 50 feet on to the property. With a large portion of 
the property in a protected area the portion of the site available for development is limited. To 
shift the building to the west in order to meet the 30-foot setback would result in either poor site 
design or an odd shaped building. The SROZ along the western property line provides a natural 
buffer between the proposed building and any future uses to the southwest. To the north and 
east are Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road which are already buffered by the previously 
described right-of-ways which include street trees and pedestrian infrastructure.  
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Conclusion and Conditions of Approval: 
 

Staff reviewed the Applicant’s analysis of compliance with the applicable criteria.  The Staff 
report adopts the applicant’s responses as Findings of Fact except as noted in the Findings. Based 
on the Findings of Fact and information included in this Staff Report, and information received 
from a duly advertised public hearing, Staff recommends that the Development Review Board 
approve the proposed application (DB23-0015) with the following conditions: 
 

Planning Division Conditions: 
Request A: Stage 2 Final Plan Modification (STG223-0008) 

Request B: Site Design Review (SDR23-0010) 

PDA 1. General: The approved modified final plan shall control the issuance of all 
building permits and shall restrict the nature, location and design of all uses.   
Minor revisions may be approved by the Planning Director through 
administrative review pursuant to Section 4.030. All other modifications shall be 
processed in the same manner as the original application and shall be subject to 
the same procedural requirements. See Finding A13. 

PDA 2. Prior to Non-Grading Building Permit Issuance: One parking space is to be 
removed from the proposed parking area making the total parking spaces 64 to 
not exceed the maximum parking allowance. See Finding A30 

PDA 3. Prior to Final Occupancy: All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and 
utility equipment shall be screened from ground level off-site view from adjacent 
streets or properties. 

PDB 1. General: Construction, site development, and landscaping shall be carried out in 
substantial accord with the Development Review Board approved plans, drawings, 
sketches, and other documents. Minor revisions may be approved by the Planning 
Director through administrative review pursuant to Section 4.030. See Finding B15. 

PDB 2. Prior to Temporary Occupancy: All landscaping required and approved by the 
Board shall be installed prior to issuance of any occupancy permits, unless security 
equal to one hundred and ten percent (110%) of the cost of the landscaping as 
determined by the Planning Director is filed with the City assuring such installation 
within six (6) months of occupancy.  "Security" is cash, certified check, time 
certificates of deposit, assignment of a savings account or such other assurance of 
completion as shall meet with the approval of the City Attorney.  In such cases the 
developer shall also provide written authorization, to the satisfaction of the City 
Attorney, for the City or its designees to enter the property and complete the 
landscaping as approved.  If the installation of the landscaping is not completed 
within the six-month period, or within an extension of time authorized by the 
Board, the security may be used by the City to complete the installation.  Upon 
completion of the installation, any portion of the remaining security deposited with 
the City will be returned to the applicant. See Finding B36. 
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PDB 3. Ongoing: The approved landscape plan is binding upon the applicant/owner.  
Substitution of plant materials, irrigation systems, or other aspects of an approved 
landscape plan shall not be made without official action of the Planning Director or 
Development Review Board, pursuant to the applicable sections of Wilsonville’s 
Development Code. See Finding B37. 

PDB 4. Ongoing: All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary 
watering, weeding, pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as 
originally approved by the Board, unless altered as allowed by Wilsonville’s 
Development Code. See Findings B38 and B39. 

PDB 5. Prior to Temporary Occupancy: The following requirements for planting of shrubs 
and ground cover shall be met: 
• Non-horticultural plastic sheeting or other impermeable surface shall not be 

placed under landscaping mulch. 
• Native topsoil shall be preserved and reused to the extent feasible. 
• Surface mulch or bark dust shall be fully raked into soil of appropriate depth, 

sufficient to control erosion, and shall be confined to areas around plantings.   
• All shrubs shall be well branched and typical of their type as described in 

current AAN Standards and shall be equal to or better than 2-gallon containers 
and 10” to 12” spread.  

• Shrubs shall reach their designed size for screening within three (3) years of 
planting. 

• Ground cover shall be equal to or better than the following depending on the 
type of plant materials used:  gallon containers  spaced at 4 feet on center 
minimum, 4" pot spaced 2 feet on center minimum, 2-1/4" pots spaced at 18 inch 
on center minimum. 

• No bare root planting shall be permitted. 
• Ground cover shall be sufficient to cover at least 80% of the bare soil in required 

landscape areas within three (3) years of planting.   
• Appropriate plant materials shall be installed beneath the canopies of trees and 

large shrubs to avoid the appearance of bare ground in those locations. 
• Compost-amended topsoil shall be integrated in all areas to be landscaped, 

including lawns. See Finding B40. 
PDB 6. Prior to Temporary Occupancy: Plant materials shall be installed to current 

industry standards and be properly staked to ensure survival. Plants that die shall 
be replaced in kind, within one growing season, unless appropriate substitute 
species are approved by the City. See Finding B43. 

PDB 7. Prior to Non-Grading Building Permit Issuance: Mounting height of all lighting 
fixtures must be confirmed to be in compliance with Table 8. See Finding B51 
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Request C: Type C Tree Plan (TPLN23-0005) 

Request D: Class 3 Sign Permit (SIGN23-0014) 

 
The following Conditions of Approval are provided by the Engineering, Natural Resources, or 
Building Divisions of the City’s Community Development Department or Tualatin Valley Fire 
and Rescue, all of which have authority over development approval. A number of these 
Conditions of Approval are not related to land use regulations under the authority of the 
Development Review Board or Planning Director. Only those Conditions of Approval related to 

PDC 1. General: This approval for removal applies only to the 3 trees identified in the 
applicant’s submitted materials. All other trees on the property shall be maintained 
unless removal is approved through separate application. 

PDC 2. Prior to Grading Permit Issuance: The Applicant shall submit an application for a 
Type ‘C’ Tree Removal Permit on the Planning Division’s Development Permit 
Application form, together with the applicable fee. In addition to the application 
form and fee, the applicant shall provide the City’s Planning Division an accounting 
of trees to be removed within the project site, corresponding to the approval of the 
Development Review Board. The applicant shall not remove any trees from the 
project site until the tree removal permit, including the final tree removal plan, have 
been approved by the Planning Division staff. 

PDC 3. Prior to Temporary Occupancy / Ongoing: The permit grantee or the grantee’s 
successors-in-interest shall cause the replacement trees to be staked, fertilized and 
mulched, and shall guarantee the trees for two (2) years after the planting date. A 
“guaranteed” tree that dies or becomes diseased during the two (2) years after 
planting shall be replaced. 

PDC 4. Prior to Commencing Site Grading: Prior to site grading or other site work that 
could damage trees, the applicant/owner shall install 6-foot-tall chain-link fencing 
around the drip line of preserved trees. Removal of the fencing around the 
identified trees shall only occur if it is determined the trees are not feasible to retain. 
The fencing shall comply with Wilsonville Public Works Standards Detail Drawing 
RD-1230. Protective fencing shall not be moved or access granted within the 
protected zone without arborist supervision and notice of the City of the purpose 
of proposed movement of fencing or access. See Finding C13. 

PDD 1. Ongoing: The approved sign shall be installed in a manner substantially similar to 
the plans approved by the DRB and stamped plans approved by the Planning 
Division. 

PDD 2. Ongoing: The Applicant/Owner of the property shall obtain all necessary building 
and electrical permits for the approved sign prior to its installation, and shall ensure 
that the sign is maintained in a commonly-accepted, professional manner. 

PDD 3. Ongoing: This action modifies original Site Design Approval approved by the DRB 
in Case File DB09-0047 et al. Unless expressly modified by this action all findings 
and conditions related to the sign from the previous approvals shall continue to 
apply. 
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criteria in Chapter 4 of Wilsonville Code and the Comprehensive Plan, including but not limited 
to those related to traffic level of service, site vision clearance, recording of plats, and concurrency, 
are subject to the Land Use review and appeal process defined in Wilsonville Code and Oregon 
Revised Statutes and Administrative Rules. Other Conditions of Approval are based on City Code 
chapters other than Chapter 4, state law, federal law, or other agency rules and regulations. 
Questions or requests about the applicability, appeal, exemption or non-compliance related to 
these other Conditions of Approval should be directed to the City Department, Division, or non-
City agency with authority over the relevant portion of the development approval.  
 
Engineering Division Conditions: 
Request: DB23-0015    Stage 2 Final Plan Modification 
PF 1. Public Works Plans and Public Improvements shall conform to the “Public Works Plan 

Submittal Requirements and Other Engineering Requirements” in Exhibit C1. 
PF 2. The Traffic Impact Study for the project (DKS, December 2023) found that all 

intersections impacted with the proposed development would operate above the 
City’s acceptable the level of service (LOS) D.  The driveway aisle length is less than 
the required 100 feet, however, there are no on-site circulation or safety concerns with 
the proposed 60-foot driveway aisle length.   

PF 3. Prior to the Issuance of the Public Works Permit:  Applicant shall apply for City of 
Wilsonville Erosion Control, Grading and Building Permits.  Erosion control measures 
shall be installed, inspected and approved prior to any onsite work occurring. 

PF 4. Prior to Issuance of the Public Works Permit: Submit site plans to Engineering 
showing street improvements including pavement restoration, curb, planter strip, 
street tree along Wilsonville Road; and pavement, sidewalk and driveway restoration, 
curb, planter strip, and water service connections along SW Kinsman Road.  All street 
improvements shall be constructed, inspected and approved by the City. 

PF 5. With the land use application, the stormwater report was reviewed for general 
conformance with the City standards.  Prior to the Issuance of Public Works Permit: 
A final stormwater report shall be submitted for technical review and approval.  The 
stormwater report shall include information and calculations to demonstrate how the 
proposed development meets the City’s stormwater requirements.  Prior to Final 
Approval of Issuance of Any Occupancy Permits:  Storm facilities shall be 
constructed, inspected and approved by the City.  The applicant shall record 
Stormwater Maintenance and Access Easements all the storm facilities. 

PF 6. With the Public Works Permit application:  Submit construction plans to Engineering 
showing the closure of the existing driveway onto SW Wilsonville Road.  Restore 
concrete curb and gutter and install new street tree in planter strip.  The development 
shall take access via an existing driveway approach on SW Kinsman Road. 

PF 7. With the Public Works Permit application:  Submit construction plans to Engineering 
showing vehicle access to the existing water valves located in the northwest corner of 
property from the new parking lot.  Prior to the Issuance of Any Occupancy Permits: 
Dedicate a new access easement, as necessary, over the parking lot drive aisle as 
necessary to provide that access. 
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PF 8. Prior to issuance of any occupancy Permits: The applicant shall provide a site 
distance certification by an Oregon Registered Professional Engineer for the new 
driveway per the Traffic Impact Study.   

PF 9. Prior to Issuance of Any Occupancy permits:  All public improvements shall be 
constructed, inspected, approved and accepted by the City. 

PF 10. Prior to Final Approval of the Public Works Permit:  The applicant shall vacate all 
unused public easements. 

 
Engineering Division Conditions: 
Request: DB23-0015     
NR 1.        Natural Resource Division Requirements and Advisories listed in Exhibit C2 apply to 

the proposed development. 
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Master Exhibit List: 

The entry of the following exhibits into the public record by the Development Review Board 
confirms its consideration of the application as submitted. The exhibit list below includes exhibits 
for Planning Case File DB23-0015. The exhibit list below reflects the electronic record posted on 
the City’s website and retained as part of the City’s permanent electronic record. Any 
inconsistencies between printed or other electronic versions of the same Exhibits are inadvertent 
and the version on the City’s website and retained as part of the City’s permanent electronic 
record shall be controlling for all purposes. 

Planning Staff Materials 

A1. Staff report and findings (this document) 
A2. Staff’s Presentation Slides for Public Hearing (to be presented at Public Hearing) 

Materials from Applicant - Under Separate Cover 

B1. Development Application Form  
Land Use Narrative 
Tax Map and Title Report 
Arborist Report 
Wetland Delineation Report  
Geotechnical Report 
Storm water Report 
Waste and Recycle Hauler Letter 
TVFR Service Provider Letter 

B2. Land Use Plans and Materials Perspective 
B3. Transportation Impact Study 
B4. Color Materials Boards 

Development Review Team Correspondence 

C1. Engineering Division Conditions 
C2. Natural Resource Findings, Conditions, and Requirements for Proposed Development 

Procedural Statements and Background Information: 

1. The statutory 120-day time limit applies to this application. The applicant first submitted the
application for Stage 2 Final Plan Modification, Site Design Review, Type C Tree Plan, Class
3 Sign Plan, and Waiver on December 7, 2023. Staff conducted a completeness review within
the statutorily allowed 30-day review period and deemed the application complete on
January 5, 2024. The City must render a final decision for the request, including any appeals,
by May 4, 2024.

2. Surrounding land uses are as follows:
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Compass Direction Zone: Existing Use: 

North:  PDI ProGrass Home and Landscape 
Services 

East:  PDI  Wilsonville Road Business Park    
South:  FDAHI      Agriculture/Nursery Stock  
West:  R Agriculture/Residential 

 

3. Previous Planning Approvals:  
 

98CE12– Code Enforcement   
99AR02 – Grading, Tree Removal and Replacement  
DB09-0047 – Zone Map Amendment  
DB09-0048 – Stage I Development Plan  
DB09-0049 – Stage II Final Development Plan 
DB09-0050 – Class 3 Site Design Review (Phase I)   
DB09-0051– Master Sign Plan   
DB09-0052 – Partition  
DB09-0053 – Class 3 Waiver to Setback Requirements  
DB10-0001– Class 3 Waiver to Sign Requirements   

 
4. The applicant has complied with Sections 4.013-4.031 of the Wilsonville Code, said sections 

pertaining to review procedures and submittal requirements. The required public notices 
have been sent and all proper notification procedures have been satisfied. 
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Findings: 
 

NOTE: Pursuant to Section 4.014 the burden of proving that the necessary findings of fact can be 
made for approval of any land use or development application rests with the applicant in the 
case. 
 

General Information 
 

Application Procedures-In General 
Section 4.008 
 

The processing of the application is in accordance with the applicable general procedures of this 
Section. 
 

Initiating Application 
Section 4.009 
 

The application has the signature of Patrick Priest, an authorized signer for the property owner, 
Countycity Insurance Services Trust . 
 

Pre-Application Conference 
Subsection 4.010 (.02) 
 

The City held a Pre-application conference on October 12, 2023 (PRE23-0014) in accordance with 
this subsection. 
 

Lien Payment before Approval 
Subsection 4.011 (.02) B. 
 

No applicable liens exist for the subject property. The application can thus move forward. 
 
General Submission Requirements 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) A. 
 

The applicant has provided all of the applicable general submission requirements. 
 

Zoning-Generally 
Section 4.110 
 

This proposed development is in conformity with the applicable zoning district and City review 
uses the general development regulations listed in Sections 4.150 through 4.199. 
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Request A: Stage 2 Final Plan (STG223-0008) 
 

As described in the Findings below, the request meets the applicable criteria or will by Conditions 
of Approval. 
 
Planned Development Regulations-Generally 
 

Planned Development Purpose & Lot Qualifications 
Subsection 4.140 (.01) and (.02) 
 

A1. The proposed Stage 2 Final Plan Modification for development of the subject property is 
consistent with the Planned Development Regulations purpose statement.  

 

Ownership Requirements 
Subsection 4.140 (.03) 
 

A2. All the land subject to change under the proposal is under a single ownership of CityCounty 
Insurance (CIS) Trust, and the application has been signed by Patrick Priest who is 
authorized to sign on behalf of CIS Trust. 

  
Professional Design Team 
Subsection 4.140 (.04) 
 

A3. The applicant has utilized a professional design team from Mackenzie in accordance with 
this subsection. The project architect is Jeff Humphreys, AIA, the project landscape architect 
is Nicole Ferrieria, PLA, the project planners are Sid Hariharan Godt and Gabriela Frask, 
and the project civil engineer is Greg Mino, PE. 

 

Stage 2 Final Plan Submission Requirements and Process 
 
Submission Timing in Relation to Stage 1 Approval.  
Subsection 4.140 (.09) A. 
 

A4. With the Stage 1 Plan approved as a part of DB09-47 et al. vested, the applicant is requesting 
approval of a Stage 2 Final Modification Approval, together with Site Design Review, as 
part of this application. The final plan provides sufficient information regarding 
conformance with both the preliminary development plan and Site Design Review.  

 

Development Review Board Role 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) B. 
 

A5. The Development Review Board review considers all applicable permit criteria set forth in 
the Planning and Land Development Code and staff recommends the Development Review 
Board approve the application with conditions of approval. 

 

Stage 1 Conformance, Submission Requirements 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) C. 
 

A6. The Stage 2 plans conforms to the Stage 1 Master Plan which approved a 21,700 square foot 
office at the proposed development site as a part of the larger Wilsonville Road Business 
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Park development, DB09-0047 et al. The proposed 15,700 square foot office building is 
allowed based on the allocations in the 2009 Stage 1 approval which includes the approval 
of 70,731 square feet of industrial use, 8814 square feet of service/retail use and 31,990 
square feet of office use in accordance with Code Section 4.135(.03). The applicant’s 
submitted drawings and other documents show all the additional information required by 
this subsection. 

 

Stage 2 Final Plan Detail 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) D. 
 

A7. The applicant’s submitted materials provide sufficiently detailed information to indicate 
fully the ultimate operation and appearance of the development, including a detailed site 
plan, landscape plans, and elevation drawings. 

 

Submission of Legal Documents 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) E. 
 

A8. The Development Review Board does not require any additional legal documentation for 
dedication or reservation of public facilities. 

 

Expiration of Approval 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) I. and Section 4.023 
 

A9. The Stage 2 Approval, along with other associated applications, will expire two (2) years 
after approval, absent the granting of an extension in accordance with these subsections. 

 

Consistency with Plans 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 1. 
 

A10. The site’s zoning, Planned Development Industrial, is consistent with the Industrial 
designation in the Comprehensive Plan. The Wilsonville Rd and Kinsman Rd frontages are 
already improved and conform with the Transportation Systems Plan.  

 
Traffic Concurrency 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 2. 
 

A11. The City’s traffic consultant, DKS Associates, calculates that the proposed 15,700 square 
foot office building will generate 232 new daily trips with 36 PM peak hour trips (6 in, 30 
out). It will generate 5 new trips through the I-5/Wilsonville Road Interchange area, and 20 
new trips through the I-5 Elligsen Road Interchange Area. The Stage 2 Final Plan, approved 
as a part of DB09-0047 et al, included a traffic analysis asserting that the proposed 
development will result in an increase of 86 PM peak hour trips. The predicted 36 PM peak 
hour trips calculated with the 15,700 square foot office proposal reduces the previously 
approved trips by 50. Thus, the proposed Stage 2 Final Plan modification will reduce 
anticipated traffic. 

 

Traffic operations at the two intersections studied as part of the traffic impact analysis, 
Wilsonville Road/Kinsman Road and Kinsman Road/ Ore Pac Ave, are shown to operate 
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well within the minimum acceptable level of service, LOS D, with Wilsonville 
Road/Kinsman Road operating at LOS C and Kinsman Road/Ore Pac Ave operating at 
LOS A/B.  No improvements to Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road are required, other 
what is necessary to restore improvements impacted curing construction, as the roads are 
improved to current standards and the level of service remains sufficient for operation. 

 
Facilities and Services Concurrency 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 3. 
 

A12. Facilities and services, including utilities in SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Rd, are 
available and sufficient or will be with conditions of approval to serve the proposed 
development. A new water meter and backflow device is proposed along Kinsman Rd to 
serve the building.  

 

The new development will have frontage along SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman 
Road, taking access from SW Kinsman. Both streets are improved to urban standards in 
accordance with the City’s Public Works Standards and Transportation System Plan and 
will be sufficient for the proposed development.  

 

Adherence to Approved Plans 
Subsection 4.140 (.10) A. 
 

A13. Condition of Approval PDB 1 ensures adherence to approved plans except for minor 
revisions by the Planning Director. 

 
Standards Applying in All Planned Development Zones 
 

Underground Utilities 
Subsection 4.118 (.02) 
 

A14. The applicant’s plans show all utilities underground.  
 

Waivers 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) 
 

A15. The applicant requests the Board waives the 30-foot setbacks required in the PDI zone from 
the north and east property lines. Waiving the 30-foot setback will allow for better site 
design as well as keep the building foot print adequately separated from the SROZ. The 
applicant requests that the front and side setbacks be reduced for the placement of the 
proposed development with a minimum setback of 22 feet from the property line along 
Wilsonville Road, a minimum setback of 14 feet from the property line along Kinsman Road 
and 10 feet from the property line at the sites northeast corner. See Request E. for details 
regarding the waiver request.   

 

Other Requirements or Restrictions 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) E. 
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A16. Staff does not recommend any additional requirements or restrictions pursuant to this 
subsection. 

 
Impact on Development Cost 
Subsection 4.118 (.04) 
 

A17. Implementation of standards and imposing conditions beyond minimum standards and 
requirements does not unnecessarily increase the cost of development.  
 

Requiring Tract Dedications or Easements for Recreation Facilities, Open Space, 
Public Utilities 
Subsection 4.118 (.05) 
 

A18. Staff does not recommend any additional tract dedication for recreational facilities, open 
space, or easements for orderly extension of public utilities consistent with this subsection.  

 

Habitat Friendly Development Practices 
Subsection 4.118 (.09) 
 

A19. The applicant will implement habitat-friendly development practices to the extent 
practicable. Grading will be limited to that needed for the proposed improvements, native 
vegetation and trees are proposed to be retained where possible, the City’s stormwater 
standards will be met, thus limiting adverse hydrological impacts on water resources, and 
no impacts on wildlife corridors or fish passages have been identified.  Additional habitat 
friendly practices to be incorporated by the applicant during and after construction include 
locating native landscaping adjacent to the SROZ, use of multi-functional open drainage 
systems, and reduction of light spill-off into SROZ area.  

 

Planned Development Industrial (PDI) Zone 
 

Purpose of PDI Zone 
Subsection 4.135 (.01) 
 

A20. The stated purpose of the PDI zone is to provide opportunities for a variety of industrial 
operations and associated uses. The proposed development includes an office building 
approved as a part of the larger Wilsonville Road Business Park Development, DB09-47 et 
all, and is consistent with the purpose stated in this subsection.  

 

Typically Permitted Uses 
Subsection 4.135 (.03) 
 

A21. Wilsonville Road Business Park, Phase 1 and 2, was approved in 2009 with Phase 1 
including four buildings with a mix of industrial, commercial, and office use and Phase 2 
including one 21,700 square foot two story office building found to be consistent with the 
PDI Zone.  The uses proposed in the Stage 2 Final Plan are consistent with the Stage 1 
Master Plan approved in 2009. The proposed development consists of a 15,700 square foot 
office building consistent with the Stage I approval.  
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Block and Access Standards 
Subsections 4.135(.04) and 4.131 (.03) 
 

A22. With both Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road improved to urban standards, access 
standards are met including pedestrian connections, and bike paths along both streets 
adjacent to the future development.  

 

Industrial Performance Standards 
 
Industrial Performance Standards 
Subsection 4.135 (.05) 
 

A23. The proposed project meets the performance standards of this subsection as follows: 
• Pursuant to standard A (enclosure of uses and activities), all non-parking activities 

and uses will be completely enclosed.  
• Pursuant to standard B (vibrations), there is no indication that the proposed 

development will produce vibrations detectable off site without instruments.  
• Pursuant to standard C (emissions), there is no indication the proposed use would 

produce the odorous gas or other odorous matter. 
• Pursuant to standard D (open storage), outdoor storage of mixed solid waste and 

recycling is proposed and will be enclosed within a trash. 
• Pursuant to standard E (night operations and residential areas), the proposed use is 

proposed further than 100 feet from any residential area.   
• Pursuant to standard F (heat and glare), the applicant proposes no exterior 

operations creating heat and glare. 
• Pursuant to standard G (dangerous substances), there are no prohibited dangerous 

substances expected on the development site.  
• Pursuant to standard H (liquid and solid wastes), staff has no evidence that the 

operations would violated standards defined for liquid and solid waste. 
• Pursuant to standard I (noise), staff has no evidence that noise generated from the 

proposed operations would violate the City’s Noise Ordinance and noises produced 
in violation of the Noise Ordinance would be subject to the enforcement procedures 
established in WC Chapter 6 for such violations. 

• Pursuant to standard J (electrical disturbances), staff has no evidence that the 
proposed use would have any prohibited electrical disturbances. 

• Pursuant to standard K (discharge of air pollutants), staff has no evidence that the 
proposed use would produce any prohibited discharge. 

• Pursuant to standard L (open burning), the applicant proposes no open burning. 
• Pursuant to standard M (outdoor storage), the applicant does not propose outdoor 

storage beyond the outdoor trash enclosure located on the west side of the parking 
lot.  

• Pursuant to standard N (unused area landscaping), no unused areas will be bare. 
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On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
 

Continuous Pathway System 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 1.  
 

A24.  As shown on the applicant’s site plan in Exhibit B2 Sheet C1.10, the existing pedestrian 
pathway system (sidewalks) will provide pedestrian access to the new development along 
Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road. Pathways extend from the sidewalk along Kinsman 
Road west connecting the sidewalk directly to the new building. Sidewalks are proposed 
on the west, south, and east sides of the building connecting to the parking area and existing 
sidewalks, providing safe access for employees and visitors.  
 

Safe, Direct, Convenient Pathways 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 2.  
 

A25. Proposed pedestrian pathways are flat, paved, ADA compliant sidewalks. The pathways 
provide direct access to the building from the parking area on all sides of the site. Pathways 
connect to all primary (and secondary) building entrances.  
 

Vehicle/Pathway Separation-Vertical or Horizontal 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 3.  
 

A26. The proposed design of pedestrian pathways provide for vertical separation from vehicle 
circulation areas.  

 

Crosswalks Clearly Marked 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 4.  
 

A27. No cross walks are proposed with this development.  
 

Pathways Width and Surface-5 Foot Wide, Durable Surface 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 5.  
 

A28. The applicant proposes concrete sidewalks along the east, south, and west sides of the 
building adjacent to the parking area with connections to the parking area and the existing 
sidewalks along Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road. Review at time of building permit 
will confirm all pathways are a minimum of five feet wide.  

 

Parking and Loading 
 
Parking Design Standards 
Section 4.155 (.02) and (.03)  
 

A29. The applicable parking designs standards are met as follows: 
 

Standard Met Explanation 
Subsection 4.155 (.02) General Standards 
B. All spaces accessible and usable for 

Parking 
☒ The applicant proposes standard parking 

spaces that are at least 9’ by 18’ and compact 
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spaces that are at least 7.5’ by 15’, and 24’ wide 
drive aisles, meeting the Development Code’s 
standards.  

I. Sturdy bumper guards or curbs of at 
least 6 inches to prevent parked 
vehicles crossing property line or 
interfering with screening or 
sidewalks. 

☒ 

Curbs of at least 6 inches in width are 
provided where required to prevent 
interference with sidewalks, especially for the 
ADA spaces. 

J. Surfaced with asphalt, concrete or 
other approved material. 

☒ Surfaced with asphalt. 

Drainage meeting City standards 
☒ Drainage is professionally designed and being 

reviewed to meet City standards 
K. Lighting won’t shine into adjoining 

structures or into the eyes of passer-
bys. 

☒ 
Lighting is proposed to be fully shielded and 
meet the City’s Outdoor Lighting Standard 

N. No more than 40% of parking 
compact spaces. 

☒ 24 of the 65 parking spaces are compact, well 
below the maximum of 40%.  

O. Where vehicles overhang curb, 
planting areas at least 7 feet in depth. ☒ 

The narrowest planting area adjacent to 
parking spaces exceeds the 7 foot depth 
requirement.   

Subsection 4.155 (.03) General Standards 
A. Access and maneuvering areas 

adequate. ☒ 
Access drive and drive aisle are 24 feet or 
more, providing an adequate 12 foot travel 
lane each direction.  

A.1. Loading and delivery areas and 
circulation separate from 
customer/employee parking and 
pedestrian areas. 

☒ 

No loading area is proposed as regular 
deliveries are not anticipated with this 
development. Employee and visitor parking is 
located to the south of the building and 
separates pedestrian and vehicle traffic to the 
extent possible at the site. 

Circulation patterns clearly marked. 
☒ 

The proposed design is a typical office 
parking lot design and intuitive to a driver 
familiar with typical industrial parking lots. 

A.2. To the greatest extent possible, 
vehicle and pedestrian traffic 
separated. 

☒ 
The plans clearly delineate separate vehicle 
and pedestrian traffic areas and separate them 
to the extent possible.  

C. Safe and Convenient Access, meet 
ADA and ODOT Standards. 

☒ The proposed parking and access enable the 
meeting of ADA and ODOT standards.  

For parking areas with more than 10 
spaces, 1 ADA space for every 50 
spaces. 

☒ 
The proposal provides 3 ADA parking spaces 
for 65 parking spaces exceeding the required 
ADA spaces by 1.   

D. Where possible, parking areas 
connect to adjacent sites. 

☒ The site is isolated in such a way connecting 
the parking to adjacent sites is not possible.    

 
Page 23 of 62

58

Item 2.



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘B’ Staff Report March 18, 2024 Exhibit A1 
DB23-0015 CIS Oregon Collaboration Center  Page 24 of 49 

Efficient on-site parking and 
circulation 

☒ 

The careful and professional design of the 
parking provides for safety and efficiency and 
is a typical design with standard parking 
space and drive aisle size and orientation. 

 

Minimum and Maximum Number of Parking Spaces 
Subsections 4.155 (.03) G., Table 5 
 

A30. Pursuant to Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660-012-0440 parking mandates, or the 
minimum vehicle parking requirements in Table 5, are not applicable due to the site being 
within 1/2 mile of SMART Route 4, among the City’s most frequent transit routes. With no 
minimum vehicle parking requirements, the minimum number of total vehicle parking 
spaces is at the complete discretion of the applicant. However, a maximum parking 
standard does still apply.. In addition, for any vehicle parking spaces provided, the 
applicable design standards as well percentage and similar requirements for certain types 
of spaces still apply. The applicant proposes 65 parking spaces. The maximum parking 
allowed for the site is 64 parking spaces. Condition of Approval PDA 2 requires one parking 
space to be removed or parking to otherwise be adjusted to ensure no more than 64 parking 
spaces. Based on an evaluation of the site plan provided by the applicant the development 
meets the other off-street parking requirements of the above subsections. The calculation of 
parking spaces is as follows: 

 
 

Use and 
Parking 

Standard 

 
 

Square 
Feet 

Maximum 
Off-street 
Spaces 
Allowed 

Proposed 
Off-

street 
Spaces 

Minimum 
Bicycle 
Parking 
Spaces 

Proposed 
Bicycle 
Parking 
Spaces 

Office or flex 
space (except 
medical and 
dental) 

15,700 sf 4.1 per 1,000 
= 64 

(rounded 
down from 

64.37) 

-- 1.0 per 
5,000 (min 

2) = 4 

-- 

Total   15,700 sf 64 65 4 4 
 

Parking Area Landscaping 
 

Minimizing Visual Dominance of Parking 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 
 

A31. The applicant proposes landscaping throughout the parking area helping to minimize the 
visual dominance of the paved parking area.  
 

10% Parking Area Landscape Requirement 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 1. 
 

A32. According to the applicant’s narrative the parking area is 23,073 square feet. 5,213 square 
feet of the parking area is landscaped providing 22.6% of landscaped area. The landscape 
area provided is well in excess of the 10% requirement. 
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Landscape Screening of Parking 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 1. 
 

A33. The proposed design screens the parking area from adjacent properties and adjacent rights-
of-way by physical distance and proposed landscaping and vegetation. The low-screen 
standard is to be applied on the east and north edges of the parking area to screen parking 
from the adjacent right of ways.  

 
Tree Planting Area Dimensions 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 2. 
 

A34. The landscape plan shows 11 new trees planted in the parking lot areas. The proposed trees 
meet the dimensional requirements of the above section.   

 

Parking Area Tree Requirement 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 2. and 3  a  
 

A35. The proposed development will contain 64 surface parking spaces. One (1) tree is required 
for every ten (10) parking spaces. The tree planting requirement for the parking lot is 7 trees. 
The applicant proposes 11 new trees within the parking lot area, which exceeds the 
minimum requirement.  

 

Parking Area Tree Clearance 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 2.b. 
 

A36. The applicant will maintain all trees listed for planting in the parking area and expected to 
overhang the parking areas to provide a 7-foot vertical clearance. 

 

Parking Area Shading  
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 3.b. 
 

A37. The applicant’s landscape plan and narrative confirm 40% of the parking area will be 
shaded by the proposed parking area trees.  
 

Parking Area Internal Pedestrian Circulation 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 3.c.  
 

A38. Internal pedestrian walkways are provided throughout the parking area at a minimum of 
5ft in width with safe connections to the building meeting this standard. 

 
Parking Area Low-Screening 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 3.e.  
 

A39. The landscape plan shows landscape buffers of at least 12 feet in depth on the north and 
west perimeters of the parking area. These landscape buffers will be planted to meet the 
low screen standard to shield the parking from the adjacent right of way. 

 

Bicycle Parking 
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Required Bicycle Parking 
Section 4.155 (.04) A. 1. 
 

A40. Office uses require one bicycle parking space per 5,000 square feet or a minimum of two (2) 
bicycle parking spaces.  The minimum requirement for the proposed office use is four (4) 
bicycle parking spaces. The applicant has proposed to meet this standard by providing four 
(4) bicycle parking spaces.  

 

Bicycle Parking Standards 
Section 4.155 (.04) B. 
 

A41. The applicant’s plans show bicycle parking at the main entrance of the building and 
adjacent to the secondary entrance on the east side of the building. The applicant’s narrative 
states that the bicycle parking spaces will comply with the 2’ width and 6’ length 
requirement with 5 feet of maneuvering space behind each space.  
 

Other Parking Standards 
 

Minimum Off-Street Loading Requirements 
Subsection 4.155 (.05) 
 

A42. For the purpose of the off-street loading standards the proposed use is considered an office 
building. As an office building of less than 30,000 square feet, no loading berth is required 
and none are proposed.  

 

Other Development Standards 
 

Access, Ingress, and Egress 
Section 4.167 
 

A43. Site access is proposed in one locations with an access point from the southeast off of 
Kinsman road.   
 

Natural Features and Other Resources 
Section 4.171 
 

A44. The western property line of the proposed development site is delineated by the Seely Ditch 
where Coffee Lake Creek runs. The ditch and creek is a wetland area protected by the City 
of Wilsonville’s Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ). The SROZ extends 50 feet on 
to the property. While no development is to occur within the SROZ a portion of the parking 
area will be constructed within the SROZ Impact Area. The impact on natural resources is 
carefully considered in the site design and the importance of the wetland area is 
acknowledged by the applicant. To mitigate any impacts on the natural resources and 
SROZ the applicant has worked with the City’s Natural Resources team to development a 
mitigation planting of a variety of native species. The native plantings are to be installed to 
the west of the parking area and will buffer the development to the east from the wetland 
to the west. The planting includes a diverse mix of native trees, shrubs, and ground cover 
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for a complete and complex restoration area including vine maples, cascara, oceanspray, 
Indian plum, pacific ninebark, red flowering current, western spirea, salal, Oregon grape, 
western sword fern, and snowbell.   
 
The site development plan will achieve a balance between the purposes of the site’s 
Industrial Comprehensive Plan designation – notably, active industrial and commercial use 
for employment and economic development – and the site’s natural topography and 
resource constraints. The applicant’s proposed development plans include a Grading Plan 
(see Sheet C1.20 of in Exhibit B2) that provides on-site grading and slope conditions that 
comply with these requirements. As shown on Sheets C1.01 and C1.10 of Exhibit B2, minor 
grading is proposed within the eastern edge of the SROZ to accommodate a vegetated 
stormwater facility, following recommendations of the geotechnical report. 
 
The development plan prioritizes limiting impacts on the identified significant resource 
within the SROZ by concentrating development in the areas outside of it to the maximum 
extent feasible, consistent with full utilization of the portions of the property that do not 
contain significant resource areas. Following land use approval, as the project proceeds to 
development permitting, the applicant will be required to submit a detailed Erosion and 
Sediment Control (ESC) Plan with construction management practices to satisfy the 
requirements of subparagraphs B and C.1, -2 and -3. This standard can be met by imposition 
if a condition of approval requiring submittal of an Erosion and Sediment Control (ESC) 
Plan prior to issuance of a building construction permit. As described above, the applicant 
will follow development practices that align with the protection of natural features.   

 
Exemption for Restoration Work in the SROZ 
Section 4.139.04(.13) 
 

A45. The proposed work in the SROZ includes stormwater management and restoration work. 
Due to the current degraded nature of the riparian area, the placement and operation of a 
stormwater facility will provide a water quality and habitat benefit through the planting of 
stormwater facility vegetation and the installation of soil media and therefore is exempt.  
 

Private or Public Utilities in the SROZ 
Section 4.139.04(.18) 
 
A46. A sanitary line connection is necessary for providing service to the proposed development. 

The only location for the connection is within the SROZ and therefore is exempt.  
 

Abbreviated SRIR Requirements 
Section 4.139.06(.01)A-I 
 
A47. All requirements for SRIR review are met including a land use application including 

preliminary plans in conformance with the Planning and Land Development Ordinance, a 
description of Coffee Lake Creek and the results of a wetland delineation which identified 
a locally non-significant wetland, a tree inventory, plans showing the boundaries of the 
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SROZ and Impact Area, a delineation of the Metro Title 3 Water Quality Resource Area 
boundary, site photographs, potential impacts of proposed development and the mitigation 
plan. A slope analysis was not required for the review.  

 
Outdoor Lighting 
Sections 4.199.20 through 4.199.60 
 

A48. The outdoor lighting standards apply to the proposal is required to meet the Outdoor 
Lighting Standards. See Request B, Findings B46 through B51. 

 

Underground Installation of Utilities 
Sections 4.300-4.320 
 

A49. All utilities are required to be underground.  
 

Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
 

Design for Public Safety, Surveillance and Access 
Subsections 4.175 (.01) and (.03) 
 

A50. The proposed development is designed to a reasonable extent to deter crime and ensure 
public safety. The proposed development includes lighting throughout the parking area. 
The site has been designed in such a way that visibility is clear throughout the site.  

 

Addressing and Directional Signing 
Subsection 4.175 (.02) 
 

A51. Addressing will meet public safety standards. The building permit process will ensure 
conformance. 

 

Lighting to Discourage Crime 
Subsection 4.175 (.04) 
 

A52. Lighting design is in accordance with the City’s outdoor lighting standards, which will 
provide sufficient lighting to discourage crime. 

 

Landscaping Standards 
 

Landscaping Standards Purpose  
Subsection 4.176 (.01) 
 

A53. In complying with the various landscape standards in Section 4.176 the applicant has 
demonstrated the Stage 2 Final Plan is in compliance with the landscape purpose statement. 

 
Landscape Code Compliance 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) B. 
 

A54. The applicant requests no waivers or variances to landscape standards. All landscaping and 
screening must comply with standards of this section.  
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Intent and Required Materials 
Subsections 4.176 (.02) C. through I. 
 

A55. The applicant’s planting plan implements the landscaping standards and integrates general 
and low screen landscaping throughout the site, consistent with professional landscaping 
and design best practices. Plantings meeting the low screen standard will be utilized along 
the north and west perimeters of the parking areas.  

 

Landscape Area and Locations 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) 
 

A56. The proposed development will exceed the 15% landscaping requirement. The subject 
property is 89,235 square feet and provides 19,962 square feet of landscaping which is 22.3% 
of the site. Of the 23,073 square feet of parking area, 22.6% or 5,213 square feet will be 
landscaped. 20.6% of the site’s landscaping is within the parking area. The remaining 79.4% 
of landscaping is distributed throughout the site within stormwater swales, along all 
property lines, and to the west of the parking area as SROZ mitigation. Plantings are 
proposed along the entire frontage of SW Wilsonville Road to soften the appearance of the 
new building, as well as the parking areas of the site. The landscaping will include trees, 
shrubs, ground cover and grasses planted in parking areas, general landscape areas, and 
stormwater facilities. 

 

Buffering and Screening 
Subsection 4.176 (.04) 
 

A57. The subject property is zoned PDI and borders PDI zoning to the north, east, and south 
with FDA-H to the west. Low-screen standards will be met on the perimeter of the parking 
areas on the north and east property lines to shield the parking area from public view and 
the right of way.  

 

Landscape Plan Requirements 
Subsection 4.176 (.09) 
 

A58. The applicant’s submitted landscape plans are drawn to scale and show the type, 
installation size, number and placement of materials.  Plans include a plant material list 
identifying plants by both their scientific and common names. A note on the landscape plan 
indicates the irrigation method.  

 

Street Improvement Standards  
 
Development and Associated Improvement Standards  
Subsection 4.177 (.01) and 4.262 (.01) 
 
A59. Adjacent streets are fully developed to City standards and no additional street 

improvements are warranted.    
 
Transit Improvements  
Subsection 4.177 (.06)  
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A60. The proposed development will generate less than 36 pm peak hour trips and therefore no 
transit improvements are required or proposed.  

 
Access Drives and Driveway Approaches  
Subsection 4.177 (.08)  
 
A61. The design of the access drives provides clear travel lanes, free from obstructions. The 

design shows all drive aisles as asphalt.  
 
Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage 
 

DRB Review of Adequate Storage Area, Minimum Storage Area 
Subsections 4.179 (.01)  
 

A62. The proposed development includes one combined solid waste and recyclable storage area 
within the building. The enclosure is shown on Sheets C1.30 and in Exhibit B2.  The trash 
enclosure is 240 square feet. The minimum requirement for the site is 73 square feet based 
on the following calculations:  

Building Use Size Min. Storage 
CIS Collaboration 

Center 
Office 15,700 square 

feet 
73 square feet 

 

Review by Franchise Garbage Hauler 
Subsection 4.179 (.07). 
 

A63. The applicant’s Exhibit B1 contains a letter from Republic Services indicating coordination 
with the franchised hauler, and that the proposed storage area and site plan meets Republic 
Services requirements.  

 

Request B: Site Design Review (SDR23-0010) 
 

As described in the Findings below, the request meets the applicable criteria or will by Conditions 
of Approval. 
 

Site Design Review 
 
Excessive Uniformity, Inappropriateness Design 
Subsection 4.400 (.01) and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B1. Staff summarizes the compliance with this subsection as follows: 
Excessive Uniformity: The proposed development is unique to the particular development 
context and does not create excessive uniformity. 
Inappropriate or Poor Design of the Exterior Appearance of Structures: The applicant 
used appropriate professional services to design structures on the site using quality 
materials and design. Significant attention has been payed to the design of the building 
with Variation in materials, color, and articulation applied along the all facades of the 
structure.  
Inappropriate or Poor Design of Signs: Two building signs are proposed with the office 

 
Page 30 of 62

65

Item 2.



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘B’ Staff Report March 18, 2024 Exhibit A1 
DB23-0015 CIS Oregon Collaboration Center  Page 31 of 49 

building on the north and east elevations. The signs are clean and simple and include the 
company’s logo and building address. The signs are visible from offsite and clearly indicate 
the business location to the public. Architectural features are taken into consideration with 
the placement of the signs.  
Lack of Proper Attention to Site Development: The applicant employed the skills of the 
appropriate professional services to design the site, demonstrating appropriate attention to 
site development. The building placement and parking area respond adequately to the odd 
shape of the triangular lot and SROZ.  
Lack of Proper Attention to Landscaping: The applicant proposes landscaping exceeding 
the area requirements professionally designed by a landscape architect, incorporating a 
variety of plant materials, demonstrating appropriate attention to landscaping. A 
mitigation planting area comprised of a variety of native species is proposed to the west of 
the parking area buffering the development from Coffee Lake Creek and the wetland area.  

 

Objectives and Standards of Site Design Review 
 

Proper Functioning of the Site 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) A. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B2. The professionally designed site demonstrates significant thought to make the site 
functional and safe. A drive aisle wide enough for two-way traffic, standard size parking 
stalls, a complete pathway network, and access meeting City standards are among the site 
design features contributing to functionality and safety. 

 

High Quality Visual Environment 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) A. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B3. The project includes professionally designed building, landscaping and a professional, site 
specific, layout that supports a quality visual environment. The building is designed so each 
façade has unique points of interest drawing the eye without being overly distracting 
including glazing , a variety of colors and material, and variation in articulation. Ample 
landscaping is thoughtfully throughout the entire development site with trees and 
shrubbery heavily planted along the north and east frontages to both provide shade and 
enhance the visual environment. A mitigation planting is proposed along the west portion 
of the property abutting the SROZ. Strom water plantings are incorporated throughout.  
 

Encourage Originality, Flexibility, and Innovation 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) B. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B4. The applicant proposes buildings, landscaping, and other site elements professionally 
designed specifically for the site. Sufficient flexibility exists to fit the planned development 
within the site with the approval of the requested setback waivers. See Request E for details 
of the waiver request.  
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Discourage Inharmonious Development 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) C. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B5. As indicated in Findings B1, B3, and B8 the professional and unique design of the proposed 
office building, landscaping and site improvements create a high quality visual 
environment and thus prevent monotonous, drab, unsightly, dreary. While the design of 
the building is modern it relates to the existing buildings surrounding the Wilsonville Road 
and Kinsman Rd intersection with the use of neutral tones and large windows incorporated 
throughout. Use of long lasting materials as well as landscaping will make the site more 
harmonious with adjacent and nearby development. 

 

Proper Relationships with Site and Surroundings 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) D. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B6. The applicant prepared a professional site-specific design that carefully considers the 
relationship of the building, landscaping, and other improvements with other 
improvements on and adjacent to the site, existing and planned.  

 

Regard to Natural Aesthetics 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) D. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B7. The development site is currently in a semi-natural state with the SROZ on the western 
portion of the property undisturbed and the eastern portion of the property cleared of 
natural vegetation for the installation of the Willamette Water Supply pipeline that runs 
underneath the eastern portion of the property towards Wilsonville Road. The applicant 
proposes the retention of one high quality ponderosa tree within the SROZ as well as a 
comprehensive mitigation plan to amend any potential impact on the SROZ and natural 
resources in the area. The planting includes a diverse mix of native trees, shrubs, and 
ground cover for a complete and complex restoration area including vine maples, cascara, 
oceanspray, Indian plum, pacific ninebark, red flowering current, western spirea, salal, 
Oregon grape, western sword fern, and snowbell The enhanced natural features of the site 
show the applicants commitment to preserving the City’s natural beauty and assets.  
 

Attention to Exterior Appearances 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) D. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B8. The applicant used appropriate professional services to design the exterior of the building. 
Section 4.421 (.03) authorizes the Development Review Board to apply the objectives 
outlined in the purpose statement of Section 4.400 as additional criteria and standards for 
site design  review.  Significant amounts of glazing are provided on all facades of the 
building giving a lightness to the large building. An angular roof provides variation in 
height and interest creating a unique presence. The prominence of the proposed building 
along Wilsonville Road is carefully considered in the design on the building with a 
variation of material, articulation and ample glazing along the façade facing Wilsonville 
Road. Variations of grey and white are used throughout the façade with accents of cedar 
wood and black.  
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Material Board and Southeast Corner- Perspective A 

 
Northeast Corner View – Perspective B  
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Northwest Corner View – Perspective C 

 
Massing Study  
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Protect and Enhance City’s Appeal 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) E. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B9. The applicant is proposing a new office building. The proposed development will enhance 
the appeal of the city by creating job opportunities and utilizing available land within the 
City within a professionally design building.  

 

Stabilize Property Values/Prevent Blight 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) F. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B10. The applicant is developing an undeveloped site within the city, and thus prevents blight.  
 

Adequate Public Facilities 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) G. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B11. As found in the Stage 2 Final Plan Modification review, see Request A, adequate public 
facilities serve the site or will with conditions of approval. 

 
Pleasing Environments and Behavior 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) H. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B12. The proposed development provides a clearly defined layout and is designed in a 
configuration that meets defensible space guidelines such as the inclusion of clear sightlines 
that allow for surveillance and clearly identified structures.  
 

Civic Pride and Community Spirit 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) I. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B13. The proposed development will help foster civic pride and community spirit as it supports 
the City’s long standing successful industrial areas that are central to the City’s identity. 
The prominent building along Wilsonville Road will bring new employees and visitors to 
the City.  

 

Favorable Environment for Residents 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) J. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

B14. Adding a new office development with a quality design will create jobs, improve the 
surrounding area, and provide a favorable environment to residents and potential 
employees.   
 

Jurisdiction and Power of the DRB for Site Design Review 
 

Development Must Follow DRB Approved Plans 
Section 4.420 
 

B15. Condition of Approval PDB 1 ensures construction, site development, and landscaping are 
carried out in substantial accord with the Development Review Board approved plans, 
drawings, sketches, and other documents. The City will not issue any building permits for 
portions of the improvements requiring DRB review prior to DRB approval.  
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Design Standards 
 
Preservation of Landscaping 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) A. 
 

B16. The development will occupy the entirety of the site and thus natural features will not be 
retained. Due to the nature of the industrial building it is not practical to preserve the 
existing trees that will be in the path of the loading trucks. No substantial changes to the 
existing elevation are proposed.  

 

Harmony of Proposed Buildings to Environment 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) B. 
 

B17. The applicant used appropriate professional services to design the exterior of the building 
to ensure harmony with the environment. The area surrounding the subject property is a 
mix of industrial, commercial and undeveloped land. The applicant has utilized materials 
that relate to the existing surrounding buildings with a modern perspective. The neutral 
color pallet and ample glazing relates to the adjacent commercial and industrial buildings.   
The applicant has utilized materials that are typically employed in both commercial and 
industrial development, as well as a variety of colors, materials, and textures to add interest 
and create harmony with the adjacent environment. Landscaping is included around all 
structures to both enhance the appearance of the site and provide a buffer from the busy 
intersection. The building is placed on the northeast portion of the site to protect the natural 
resources located in the SROZ on the west portion of the site.  

 

Special Attention to Drives, Parking, and Circulation- Access Points 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) C. 
 

B18. All new access points are existing and will be conditioned to meet City standards. No 
changes are proposed to existing access points.  

 

Special Attention to Drives, Parking, and Circulation- Interior Circulation 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) C. 
 

B19. The interior circulation is at least 24 feet wide allowing for adequate space for pulling out 
of the individual spaces and for two-way traffic to pass. No loading area is proposed. 
 

Special Attention to Drives, Parking, and Circulation- Pedestrian and Vehicle 
Separation 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) C. 
 

B20. The design separates pedestrian and vehicle circulation where possible. Pedestrian 
connections are provided from the parking area to the building for safe access. 
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Special Attention to Drives, Parking, and Circulation- Safe and Convenient Parking 
Areas 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) C. 
 

B21. The applicant has worked with a professional design team to ensure the new parking area 
is safe and convenient. The parking area is conveniently located for access to the building. 
The parking space size and drive aisle with is a typical design allowing adequate area for 
safe maneuvering. 

 

Special Attention to Drives, Parking, and Circulation- Parking Detracting from Design 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) C. 
 

B22. The proposed development adequately separates vehicular and pedestrian traffic where 
possible. Drive aisles are clearly indicated. The proposed parking areas are convenient and 
designed to be screened from off-site view either through landscaping or by being located 
below grade.  

 

Special Attention to Surface Water Drainage 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) D. 
 

B23. The proposed development provides two water quality features consistent with City 
standards with one located in the center of the parking area and the other adjacent to the 
west side of the parking area. These features will help improve water quality throughout 
the property. The proposed improvements will not adversely affect neighboring properties 
through the storm drainage system.  

 

Indication of Sewage Disposal 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) E. 
 

B24. All sewage disposal will be via standard sewer connections to City sewer lines found to be 
adequate to serve the site as part of the Stage 2 Final Plan Modification. 

 

Advertising Features Do Not Detract 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) F. 
 

B25. The two signs proposed with the development are appropriate and will not detract from 
the surrounding area.  

 

Screening and Buffering of Special Features 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) G. 
 

B26. The applicant does not propose any special features requiring additional screening or 
buffering.  

 
Design Standards Apply to All Buildings, Structures, Signs, and Features 
Subsection 4.421 (.02) 
 

B27. The two wall signs proposed with the development meet the design standards required. 
See Request D are proposed with this development.  
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Conditions of Approval to Ensure Proper and Efficient Function 
Subsection 4.421 (.05) 
 

B28. Staff does not recommend any additional conditions of approval to ensure the proper and 
efficient functioning of the development. 

 
Color or Materials Requirements 
Subsection 4.421 (.06) 
 

B29. The colors and materials proposed by the applicant are appropriate. See finding B8 for 
details regarding color and materials.  

 

Standards for Mixed Solid Waste and Recycling Areas 
 

Mixed Solid Waste and Recycling Areas Colocation 
Subsection 4.430 (.02) A. 
 

B30. The proposal provides an exterior storage area for both solid waste and recyclables. 
 

Exterior vs Interior Storage, Fire Code, Number of Locations 
Subsections 4.430 (.02) C.-F. 
 

B31. The applicant proposes a single exterior location. Review of the Building Permit will ensure 
meeting of building and fire code.  

 
Collection Vehicle Access, Not Obstruct Traffic or Pedestrians 
Subsections 4.430 (.02) G. 
 

B32. The applicant has included a letter from Republic Services in Exhibit B1 which indicates the 
location and arrangement is accessible to collection vehicles. The location of the storage area 
does not impede sidewalks, parking area aisles, or public street right-of-way. 

 

Dimensions Adequate to Accommodate Planned Containers 
Subsections 4.430 (.03) A. 
 

B33. Pursuant to a letter from Republic Services in Exhibit B1, the dimensions are adequate to 
accommodate the planned containers. 

 

Site Design Review Submission Requirements 
 

Submission Requirements 
Section 4.440 
 

B34. The applicant submitted a site plan drawn to scale and a detailed landscape plan. 
 

Time Limit on Site Design Review Approvals 
 
Void after 2 Years 
Section 4.442 
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B35. The Applicant plans to develop the proposed project within two years and understands 
that the approval will expire after two years unless the City grants an extension. 

 
Installation of Landscaping 
 

Landscape Installation or Bonding 
Subsection 4.450 (.01) 
 

B36. Condition of Approval PDB 2 will assure installation or appropriate security. 
 

Approved Landscape Plan Binding 
Subsection 4.450 (.02) 
 

B37. Condition of Approval PDB 3 provides ongoing assurance approved landscaping is 
installed and maintained. 

 

Landscape Maintenance and Watering 
Subsection 4.450 (.03) 
 

B38. Condition of Approval PDB 4 will ensure continual maintenance of landscaping in a 
substantially similar manner as originally approved by the Board. 

 
Limitation to Modifications of Landscaping 
Subsection 4.450 (.04) 
 

B39. Condition of Approval PDB 4 provides ongoing assurance of conformance with this 
criterion by preventing modification or removal without the appropriate City review. 

 

Landscaping Standards 
 

Shrubs and Groundcover Materials Requirements 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) A. 
 

B40. Condition of Approval PDB 5 requires meeting the detailed requirements of this subsection. 
Of particular note, the applicant’s landscape plan, shows at least 2-gallon containers for 
shrubs and 1-gallon containers for groundcover.   

 

Plant Materials Requirements-Trees 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) B. 
 

B41. As stated on the applicant’s landscape plans, the plant material requirements for trees will 
be met as follows: 

• Trees are B&B (Balled and Burlapped) 
• Tree are 2” caliper. 

A mix of trees selected to be planted throughout the site in appropriate locations includes 
green vase zelkova, October glory red maple, Sterling silver linden, Eddie’s white wonder 
dogwood, cascara and vine maple.  
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Plant Species Requirements 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) E. 
 

B42. The applicant’s landscape plan provides sufficient information showing the proposed 
landscape design meets the standards of this subsection related to use of native vegetation 
and prohibited plant materials. 

 

Landscape Installation and Maintenance Standards 
Subsection 4.176 (.07) 
 

B43. The installation and maintenance standards are met or will be met by Condition of 
Approval PDB 6 as follows: 

• Plant materials are required to be installed to current industry standards and be 
properly staked to ensure survival. 

• Within one growing season, the applicant must replace in kind plants that die, 
unless the City approves appropriate substitute species. 

• Notes on the applicant’s landscape plans provides for an irrigation system. 
 

Landscape Plan Requirements 
Subsection 4.176 (.09) 
 

B44. The applicant’s landscape plan shows all existing and proposed landscape areas.  The to-
scale plans show the type, installation size, number and placement of materials.  Plans 
include a plant material list. Plants identification is by both their scientific and common 
names.  

 

Completion of Landscaping 
Subsection 4.176 (.10) 
 

B45. The applicant has not requested to defer installation and thus must install landscaping prior 
to occupancy.  

 

Outdoor Lighting 
 
Applicability of Outdoor Lighting Standards 
Sections 4.199.20 and 4.199.60 
 

B46. The proposed development will install new lighting throughout the parking area and site 
for safety and function thus the outdoor lighting standards apply. 
 

Outdoor Lighting Zones 
Section 4.199.30 
 

B47. The subject property is within LZ2. 
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Optional Lighting Compliance Methods 
Subsection 4.199.40 (.01) A. 
 

B48. The applicant has the option of the performance or prescriptive method. The applicant has 
selected to comply with the prescriptive method. 

 
Maximum Lamp Wattage and Shielding 
Subsection 4.199.40 (.01) B. , Table 7  
 

B49. The applicant has selected the prescriptive option for the project’s outdoor lighting design. 
The applicant’s narrative states that the proposed luminaires comply with the maximum 
wattage and shielding requirements within Table 7. The photometric diagram is included 
in Exhibit B2.   

 

Maximum Mounting Height 
Subsection 4.199.40 (.01) B and Table 8  
 

B50. Nothing in the applicant’s materials indicates the maximum mounting height will be 
surpassed. Mounting height in compliance with Table 8 will be confirmed at time of 
building plan review, see Condition of Approval PDB 7. 

 
Lighting Curfew 
Subsection 4.199.40 (.01) D. 
 

B51. The applicant proposes the standard LZ 2 curfew of 10 PM. 
 
 

Request C: Type C Tree Removal Plan (TPLN23-0005) 
 

Type C Tree Removal-General 
 

Tree Related Site Access 
Subsection 4.600.50 (.03) A. 
 

C1. It is understood the City has access to the property to verify information regarding trees. 
 
Review Authority 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.03) B. 
 

C2. The requested removal is connected to site plan review by the Development Review Board 
for new development. The tree removal is thus being reviewed by the Development Review 
Board. 

 
Conditions of Approval 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) A. 
 

C3. No additional conditions are recommended pursuant to this subsection.  
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Completion of Operation 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) B. 
 

C4. It is understood the tree removal will be completed prior to construction of the proposed 
building, which is a reasonable time frame for tree removal. 

 
Security for Permit Compliance 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) C. 
 

C5. No bond is anticipated to be required to ensure compliance with the tree removal plan as a 
bond is required for overall landscaping. 

 

Tree Removal Standards 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) 
 

C6. The standards of this subsection are met as follows: 
• Standard for the Significant Resource Overlay Zone: Two of the three trees proposed 

for removal are located in the SROZ.  The applicant has proposed a planting with a mix 
of native species within the SROZ to mitigate the loss of the native vegetation.   

• Preservation and Conservation. The arborist report inventoried forty-two (42) trees 
located on the subject property.  Of the forty-two (42) trees inventoried, thirty (30) of 
the trees are less than 6 inches diameter at breast height and therefore are not regulated 
by the provisions in Section 4.600, Tree Preservation and Protection. Three (3) trees 
regulated under Section 4.600 are proposed for removal. One (1) ponderosa tree in the 
SROZ is proposed for retention. Twenty-two (22) trees on the perimeter of the property, 
some with DBH measurements below 6 inches, will be protected and retained during 
construction. The tree species on site are a mix of native and non-native trees including, 
Oregon white oak, ponderosa pine, red alder, Douglas fir, Western red cedar, red 
maple, Norway maple, and magnolia. The trees proposed for removal are ponderosa 
pines of good quality, however, removal is necessary for development. The applicant 
proposes replanting elven (11) trees within the parking area, eleven (11) trees along the 
north property line, and twenty-four (24) within the SROZ mitigation area on the 
subject property for a total of forty-six (46) trees to be planted far exceeding the 1:1 
mitigation ratio as required by the development code. Condition of approval PDD 4 
will ensure that protective fencing is placed around the drip line of preserved trees prior 
to site grading or other site work that could damage the trees.  

• Development Alternatives: The proposed tree removal has been minimized to the 
extent possible in order to redevelop the subject property.  

• Land Clearing: Land clearing and grading is proposed and will be limited to areas 
necessary for construction of the proposed building, structures, and other site 
improvements.  

• Compliance with Statutes and Ordinances: The necessary tree replacement and 
protection is planned according to the requirements of the tree preservation and 
protection ordinance. 
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• Limitation: Tree removal is limited to where it is necessary for construction (as 
discussed in Development Alternatives above) or to address nuisances or where the 
health of the trees warrants removal.  

• Additional Standards: A tree survey has been provided, and no utilities are proposed 
to be located where they would cause adverse environmental consequences. 

 
Review Process 
Subsection 4.610.40 (.01) 
 

C7. The plan is being reviewed concurrently with the Stage 2 Final Plan.  
 

Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Section 4.610.40 (.02) 
 

C8. The applicant has provided information on tree maintenance and protection in Exhibit B2 
sheet L0.03. The tree protection fencing shown indicates fencing around the trees preserved 
throughout the site.  
 

Replacement and Mitigation 
 

Tree Replacement Requirement 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.01) 
 

C9. The applicant proposes removing 3 trees and replanting 46 trees as mitigation on the project 
site, exceeding a one-to-one ratio and the requirements of this subsection. 

 

Basis for Determining Replacement and Replacement  
Subsection 4.620.00 (.02) and (.03) 
 

C10. Replacement trees will meet the minimum caliper and other replacement requirements. 
Tree species selected for replacement and landscape plantings include October glory red 
maple, Sterling silver linden, and Green vase zelkova. The tree species selected for the 
mitigation planting are all native species including dogwood, cascara, and vine maple. This 
mix of native and nonnative deciduous trees are compatible for the function of the site while 
maintaining a diversity of species.  

  

Replacement Tree Stock Requirements 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.04) 
 

C11. The planting notes on the applicant’s Sheet L0.01 in Exhibit B2 indicate the appropriate 
quality.  
 

Replacement Trees Locations 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.05) A. 
 

C12. The applicant proposes to mitigate for all removed trees on site and in the appropriate 
locations for the proposed development.  
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Protection of Preserved Trees 
 

Tree Protection During Construction 
Section 4.620.10 
 

C13. Condition of Approval PDC 4 ensures the applicable requirements of this section will be 
met. 

 
 

Request D: Class 3 Sign Permit (SIGN23-0014) 
 

As described in the Findings below, the request meets the applicable criteria or will by Conditions 
of Approval. 
 
Sign Review and Submission 
 

Class 3 Sign Permit DRB Review 
Subsection 4.031 (.01) M. and Subsection 4.156.02 (.03) 
 

D1. The proposed signs are associated with a new development and therefore requires a Class 
3 Sign Permit subject to Development Review Board review.   

 

Master Sign Plan Required 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.06) 
 

D2. Class 3 Sign Permits are required for signs associated with new development. The proposed 
signs are to be mounted on the new CIS Collaboration center and therefore must be 
reviewed as a Class 3 Sign permit.   

 

Class 3 Sign Permit Submission Requirements 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.06) A. 
 

D3. As indicated in the table below the applicant has satisfied the submission for Master Sign 
Plan, which includes the submission requirements for Class 2 sign and Class 3 sign permits: 
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Sign Drawings or 
Descriptions      

 

Documentation of 
Tenant Spaces Used in 
Calculating Max. Sign 
Area 

     

 

Drawings of Sign 
Placement  

      

Project Narrative       
Information on Any 
Requested Waivers or 
Variances 

     
 

 

Class 3 Sign Permit Review Criteria 
 

Class 3 Sign Permit Review Criteria: Generally and Site Design Review 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) F. 

 

D4. As indicated in Findings below, the proposed signs will satisfy the sign regulations for the 
applicable zoning district and the relevant Site Design Review criteria. 

 
Class 3 Sign Permit Review Criteria: Compatibility with Zone  
Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) F. 1. 
 

D5. The applicant is proposing two wall signs for the CIS Collaboration Center on the east and 
north elevations.  The previously approved master sign plan allocated square footage of 
signage for Phase 1 and Phase 2 , requires the signs are constructed of materials that are 
compatible with the buildings architectural character and materials, are placed in locations 
that fit with the buildings architectural features, and clearly represent the business of the 
tenant. The proposed signs fit within this criteria and are generally typical of, proportional 
to, and compatible with industrial development and industrial office buildings. No 
evidence has been presented nor testimony received demonstrating the subject signs would 
detract from the visual appearance of the surrounding area. 

 

Class 3 Sign Permit Review Criteria: Nuisance and Impact on Surrounding Properties 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) F. 2. 
 

D6. There is no evidence, and no testimony has been received, suggesting the proposed signs 
would create a nuisance or negatively impact the value of surrounding properties.  

 

Class 3 Sign Permit Review Criteria: Items for Special Attention 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) F. 3. 
 

D7. The proposed wall signage is to be installed in appropriate locations in relation to existing 
architectural elements of the building with the signs to be placed between the parapet and 
glazing.  
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Master Sign Plan Review Criteria: Consistent and Compatible Design 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) C. 
 

D8. The original approval, DB09-0047 ET AL, included a master sign plan for the overall 
development allocating square footage of signage to Phase 1 and Phase 2. This approval 
was under prior sign regulations. The applicant has elected to apply the current sign code 
through a Class III sign permit rather than comply with the prior Master Sign Plan.  

 

Sign Measurement 
 

Measurement of Cabinet Signs  
Subsection 4.156.03 (.01) A.   
 

D9. The sign measurements use single rectangles, as allowed. 
 

Freestanding and Ground Mounted Signs in the PDC, TC, PDI, and PF 
Zones  
 

General Allowance 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.01) A. 
 

D10. No ground mounted or freestanding signs are proposed.  
 

Building Signs in the PDC, TC, PDI, and PF Zones 
 
Establishing whether Building Facades are Eligible for Signs 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) A. 
 

D11. Three of the four facades of the proposed building are sign eligible as follows: 
 

Façade Sign Eligible Criteria making sign eligible 
North  Yes Frontage on a street 
East   Yes Frontage on a street, public 

entrance  
South  Yes Primary parking area, public 

entrance  
West  No N/A 

 

Building Sign Area Allowed 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) B.1 
 

D12. The two sign are proposed on the north and east building façades of the proposed building.  
The north façade of the building is 151’ allowing for 75.5’ square feet of sign area. The east 
façade of the building is 96’ allowing for 48 square feet of sign area. The signs proposed 
will not exceed the allowed square footage with the north wall sign to be 30 square feet and 
the east wall sign to be 28.25 square feet.  Prior to installation, a Class 1 Sign Permit must 
be submitted for approval to verify conformance with the Class 3 Sign permit approval.  
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Building Sign Length Not to Exceed 75 Percent of Façade Length 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) C. 
 

D13. The proposed building signs do not exceed 75% of the length of the façade. 
 

Building Sign Height Allowed 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) D. 
 

D14. The proposed building signs are within a definable architectural feature and have a 
definable space between the sign and the top and bottom of the architectural feature. 

 

Building Sign Types Allowed 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) E. 
 

D15. The proposed wall signs are fall within the allowed sign types for building signs.  
 

Site Design Review 
 
Excessive Uniformity, Inappropriate Design 
Subsection 4.400 (.01) 
 

D16. With quality materials and design, the proposed signs will not result in excessive 
uniformity, inappropriateness or poor design, and the proper attention has been paid to 
site development.  

 
Purpose and Objectives 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

D17. The sign allowances are scaled and designed appropriately related to the subject site and 
the appropriate amount of attention has been given to visual appearance. The signs include 
the building address and business logo providing local emergency responders and other 
individual’s reference for the location of this development.  

 

Design Standards 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) 
 

D18. The proposed location, design, materials, and size of the two proposed signs are provided 
in the applicant’s materials and will not detract from the design of the surrounding 
properties.  

 

Design Standards and Signs 
Subsection 4.421 (.02) 
 

D19. Design standards have been applied to the proposed signs, as applicable, see Findings D16-
D18 above. 
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Color or Materials Requirements 
Subsection 4.421 (.06) 
 

D20. The proposed signs are to be backlit powder coated steel in black. The logo will be blue and 
white matching the companies branding. The proposed signs relate to the architectural 
character and materials of the building.  
 

Site Design Review-Procedures and Submittal Requirements 
Section 4.440 
 

D21. The applicant has submitted a sign plan as required by this section. 
 

Request E: Waivers (WAIV23-0006) 
 

Waiver to Setback Standards   
 

Waivers to Development Standards 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) A. 
 

E1. Pursuant to this subsection, the DRB may waive typical development standards in order to 
implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140, Planned Development Regulations. 
The applicant proposes a waiver to the required building setbacks in the Planned 
Development Industrial Zone for the front and side setback.  
 
The applicant requests the Board waives the 30-foot setbacks required in the PDI zone from 
the north and east property lines with the front and side setbacks reduced for the placement 
of the proposed development with a minimum setback of 22 feet from the property line 
along Wilsonville Road, a minimum setback of 14 feet from the property line along 
Kinsman Road and 10 feet from the property line at the sites northeast corner. The reduction 
in setback is greatest at the northeast corner with the 30-foot setback either slightly reduced 
or met for much of the building. The applicant’s materials demonstrate how waiving the 
30-foot setbacks will allow the implementation of Planned Development Regulations.   
 

 

Purpose and Objectives of Planned Development Regulations 
Subsection 4.140 (.01) B. 
 

E2. Pursuant to Subsection 4.118 (.03) A., waivers must implement or better implement the 
purpose and objectives listed in this subsection. The applicant requests to waive the 30 
required setback along the north and east frontages. The setbacks were set in the code with 
more traditional industrial development in mind. Waiving the setbacks allows for the intent 
of the Planned Development Regulations to be met specifically in regards to flexibility.  The 
2009 approval of the Wilsonville Road Business Park dedicated this site as office 
commercial in the Stage 1 and Stage 2 Final Plan approvals. The Planned Development 
Commercial Zone does not have setback requirements and therefore a 30ft setback is 
significant for the proposed use. The triangular shape of the lot, SROZ on the west portion 
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of the lot, and large right-of-way would result in challenges with the placement of the 
building on the lot or a less than ideal design.  

 
The existing right-of-way includes street trees, sidewalks, a traffic signal, street lights, and 
other essential infrastructure. The right-of-way located at the intersection of Kinsman and 
Wilsonville Road provides approximately 30 feet of separation from the edge of the curb to 
the parcels property line. To meet the PDI setback requirements the proposed building 
would need to be setback an additional 30 feet from the property line placing the building 
a full 60 feet away from the intersection. The requested setback reduction for the northeast 
corner of the building places the proposed building 41 feet from the intersection, a more 
appropriate distance for an active intersection. Along the north frontage there is an 18-foot 
right-of-way that includes the sidewalk and street trees. The requested setback reduction 
places the north façade of the building 22 feet from the property line and 42 feet from 
Wilsonville Road.  A reasonable buffer between the street and the building is provided on 
all frontages, even with requested reeducations mitigating the impact of the setback 
reduction. 
 
Understanding the constraints of the northeast corner, it is also important to examine 
challenges posed by the western portion of the site. The west property line abuts a wetland 
area with the Significant Resource Overlay Zone extending 50 feet on to the property. With 
a large portion of the property in a protected area the portion of the site available for 
development is limited. To shift the building to the west in order to meet the 30-foot setback 
would result in either poor site design or an odd shaped building. The SROZ along the 
western property line provides a natural buffer between the proposed building and any 
future uses to the southwest. To the north and east are Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road 
which are already buffered by the previously described right-of-ways which include street 
trees and pedestrian infrastructure.  

 
Waving the 30-foot setback as described above allows for better site design as well as keep 
the building foot print adequately separated from the SROZ. The right-of-way also creates 
additional buffer between the building and the road. The requested setback reduction will 
allow for better use of the site, a more pleasing design and be more in line with other 
Commercial developments in the City. The applicant argues the reduced setbacks will 
provide a high-quality architectural and urban character that meets the goals of the project 
and the City’s Comprehensive Plan, while also meeting the purposes of the Planned 
Development Regulations and the Site Design Review.  
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Engineering Conditions and Requirements for Proposed Development 
 
From:  Amy Pepper, PE  Development Engineering Manager 
To:  Georgia McAlister, Associate Planner 
Date: March 6, 2024  
Proposal:  CIS Collaboration Center 
 
Engineering Division Conditions: 
 
Request: DB23-00015  Preliminary Development Plan 
PFA 1. Public Works Plans and Public Improvements shall conform to the “Public Works Plan 

Submittal Requirements and Other Engineering Requirements” in Exhibit C1. 
PFA 2. The Traffic Impact Study for the project (DKS, December 2023) found that all 

intersections impacted with the proposed development would operate above the 
City’s acceptable the level of service (LOS) D.  The driveway aisle length is less than 
the required 100 feet, however, there are no on-site circulation or safety concerns with 
the proposed 60-foot driveway aisle length.   

PFA 3. Prior to the Issuance of the Public Works Permit:  Applicant shall apply for City of 
Wilsonville Erosion Control, Grading and Building Permits.  Erosion control measures 
shall be installed, inspected and approved prior to any onsite work occurring. 

PFA 4. Prior to Issuance of the Public Works Permit: Submit site plans to Engineering 
showing street improvements including pavement restoration, curb, planter strip, 
street tree along Wilsonville Road; and pavement, sidewalk and driveway restoration, 
curb, planter strip, and water service connections along SW Kinsman Road.  All street 
improvements shall be constructed, inspected and approved by the City. 

PFA 5. With the land use application, the stormwater report was reviewed for general 
conformance with the City standards.  Prior to the Issuance of Public Works Permit: 
A final stormwater report shall be submitted for technical review and approval.  The 
stormwater report shall include information and calculations to demonstrate how the 
proposed development meets the City’s stormwater requirements.  Prior to Final 
Approval of Issuance of Any Occupancy Permits:  Storm facilities shall be 
constructed, inspected and approved by the City.  The applicant shall record 
Stormwater Maintenance and Access Easements all the storm facilities.  

PFA 6. With the Public Works Permit application:  Submit construction plans to Engineering 
showing the closure of the existing driveway onto SW Wilsonville Road.  Restore 
concrete curb and gutter and install new street tree in planter strip.  The development 
shall take access via an existing driveway approach on SW Kinsman Road. 

PFA 7. With the Public Works Permit application:  Submit construction plans to Engineering 
showing vehicle access to the existing water valves located in the northwest corner of 
property from the new parking lot.  Prior to the Issuance of Any Occupancy Permits: 
Dedicate a new access easement, as necessary, over the parking lot drive aisle as 
necessary to provide that access. 
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PFA 8. Prior to issuance of any occupancy Permits: The applicant shall provide a site distance 
certification by an Oregon Registered Professional Engineer for the new driveway per 
the Traffic Impact Study.   

PFA 9. Prior to Issuance of Any Occupancy permits:  All public improvements shall be 
constructed, inspected, approved and accepted by the City. 

PFA 10. Prior to Final Approval of the Public Works Permit:  The applicant shall vacate all 
unused public easements. 
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Exhibit C1 
Public Works Plan Submittal Requirements 

and Other Engineering Requirements 
 

 
1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance to the 

City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards - 2017. 

2. Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the following 
amounts: 

Coverage (Aggregate, accept where noted) Limit 
Commercial General Liability:  
 General Aggregate (per project)  $3,000,000 
 General Aggregate (per occurrence) $2,000,000 
 Fire Damage (any one fire) $50,000 
 Medical Expense (any one person) $10,000 

Business Automobile Liability Insurance:  
 Each Occurrence $1,000,000 
 Aggregate $2,000,000 

Workers Compensation Insurance $500,000 

3. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public utility/improvements 
will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, all fees have been paid, all necessary 
permits, right-of-way and easements have been obtained and Staff is notified a minimum of 
24 hours in advance. 

4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 22”x 34” 
format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville Public Work’s 
Standards. 

5. Plans submitted for review shall meet the following general criteria: 

a. Utility improvements that shall be maintained by the public and are not contained within 
a public right-of-way shall be provided a maintenance access acceptable to the City. The 
public utility improvements shall be centered in a minimum 15-ft. wide public easement 
for single utilities and a minimum 20-ft wide public easement for two parallel utilities and 
shall be conveyed to the City on its dedication forms. 

b. Design of any public utility improvements shall be approved at the time of the issuance 
of a Public Works Permit.  Private utility improvements are subject to review and 
approval by the City Building Department. 

c. In the plan set for the PW Permit, existing utilities and features, and proposed new private 
utilities shall be shown in a lighter, grey print.  Proposed public improvements shall be 
shown in bolder, black print. 
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d. All elevations on design plans and record drawings shall be based on NAVD 88 Datum.   
e. All proposed on and off-site public/private utility improvements shall comply with the 

State of Oregon and the City of Wilsonville requirements and any other applicable codes. 
f. Design plans shall identify locations for street lighting, gas service, power lines, telephone 

poles, cable television, mailboxes and any other public or private utility within the general 
construction area. 

g. As per City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 615, all new gas, telephone, cable, fiber-optic 
and electric improvements etc. shall be installed underground.  Existing overhead utilities 
shall be undergrounded wherever reasonably possible. 

h. Any final site landscaping and signing shall not impede any proposed or existing 
driveway or interior maneuvering sight distance. 

i. Erosion Control Plan that conforms to City of Wilsonville City Code Section 8.317. 
j. Existing/proposed right-of-way, easements and adjacent driveways shall be identified. 
k. All engineering plans shall be printed to PDF, combined to a single file, stamped and 

digitally signed by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon.  
l. All plans submitted for review shall be in sets of a digitally signed PDF and three printed 

sets.   

6. Submit plans in the following general format and order for all public works construction to 
be maintained by the City: 

a. Cover sheet 
b. City of Wilsonville construction note sheet 
c. Land Use Conditions of Approval sheet 
d. General construction note sheet 
e. Existing conditions plan. 
f. Erosion control and tree protection plan. 
g. Site plan.  Include property line boundaries, water quality pond boundaries, sidewalk 

improvements, right-of-way (existing/proposed), easements (existing/proposed), and 
sidewalk and road connections to adjoining properties. 

h. Grading plan, with 1-foot contours. 
i. Composite utility plan; identify storm, sanitary, and water lines; identify storm and 

sanitary manholes. 
j. Detailed plans; show plan view and either profile view or provide i.e.’s at all utility 

crossings; include laterals in profile view or provide table with i.e.’s at crossings; vertical 
scale 1”= 5’, horizontal scale 1”= 20’ or 1”= 30’. 

k. Street plans. 
l. Storm sewer/drainage plans; number all lines, manholes, catch basins, and cleanouts for 

easier reference. 
m. Stormwater LID facilities (Low Impact Development): provide plan and profile views of 

all LID facilities. 
n. Water and sanitary sewer plans; plan; number all lines, manholes, and cleanouts for easier 

reference. 
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o. Where depth of water mains are designed deeper than the 3-foot minimum (to clear other 
pipe lines or obstructions), the design engineer shall add the required depth information 
to the plan sheets. 

p. Detailed plan for water quality facility (both plan and profile views), including water 
quality orifice diameter and manhole rim elevations.  Provide detail of inlet structure and 
energy dissipation device. Provide details of drain inlets, structures, and piping for outfall 
structure.  Note that although storm water facilities are typically privately maintained 
they will be inspected by engineering, and the plans must be part of the Public Works 
Permit set. 

q. Composite franchise utility plan. 
r. City of Wilsonville detail drawings. 
s. Illumination plan. 
t. Striping and signage plan. 
u. Landscape plan. 

7. Design engineer shall coordinate with the City in numbering the sanitary and stormwater 
sewer systems to reflect the City’s numbering system.  Video testing and sanitary manhole 
testing will refer to City’s numbering system.   

8. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control measures in 
conformance with City Code Section 8.317 during the construction of any public/private 
utility and building improvements until such time as approved permanent vegetative 
materials have been installed. 

9. Applicant shall work with City Engineering before disturbing any soil on the respective site.  
If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant shall obtain a 1200-C permit from the 
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be 
disturbed a 1200-CN permit from the City of Wilsonville is required. 

10. The applicant shall be in conformance with all stormwater and flow control requirements for 
the proposed development per the Public Works Standards. 

11. The applicant shall be in conformance with all source control requirements for the proposed 
development per the Public Works Standards and Wilsonville City Code. 

12. A storm water analysis prepared by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon 
shall be submitted for review and approval by the City. 

13. The applicant shall be in conformance with all water quality requirements for the proposed 
development per the Public Works Standards.  If a mechanical water quality system is used, 
prior to City acceptance of the project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system 
manufacturer stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as 
designed. 
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14. Storm water quality facilities shall have approved landscape planted and approved by the 
City of Wilsonville prior to paving. 

15. The applicant shall contact the Oregon Water Resources Department and inform them of any 
existing wells located on the subject site. Any existing well shall be limited to irrigation 
purposes only.  Proper separation, in conformance with applicable State standards, shall be 
maintained between irrigation systems, public water systems, and public sanitary systems.  
Should the project abandon any existing wells, they shall be properly abandoned in 
conformance with State standards. 

16. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to disturbance within the 
construction area, or the construction of any off-site improvements shall be adequately 
referenced and protected prior to commencement of any construction activity.  If the survey 
monuments are disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a result of any construction, the 
project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a registered professional land surveyor in the 
State of Oregon to restore the monument to its original condition and file the necessary 
surveys as required by Oregon State law.  A copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted 
to Staff. 

17. Streetlights shall be in compliance with City dark sky, LED, and PGE Option B requirements. 

18. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in 
compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

19. No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed. 

20. The project shall connect to an existing manhole or install a manhole at each connection point 
to the public storm system and sanitary sewer system.  

21. A City approved energy dissipation device shall be installed at all proposed storm system 
outfalls.  Storm outfall facilities shall be designed and constructed in conformance with the 
Public Works Standards. 

22. The applicant shall provide a ‘stamped’ engineering plan and supporting information that 
shows the proposed street light locations meet the appropriate AASHTO lighting standards 
for all proposed streets and pedestrian alleyways. 

23. All required pavement markings, in conformance with the Transportation Systems Plan and 
the Bike and Pedestrian Master Plan, shall be completed in conjunction with any conditioned 
street improvements. 

24. Street and traffic signs shall have a hi-intensity prismatic finish meeting ASTM 4956 Spec 
Type 4 standards. 
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25. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways by driveway 
placement or vegetation control. Specific designs to be submitted and approved by the City 
Engineer. Coordinate and align proposed driveways with driveways on the opposite side of 
the proposed project site. 

26. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project street intersections, alley 
intersections and commercial driveways by properly designing intersection alignments, 
establishing set-backs, driveway placement and/or vegetation control. Coordinate and align 
proposed streets, alleys and commercial driveways with existing streets, alleys and 
commercial driveways located on the opposite side of the proposed project site existing 
roadways.  Specific designs shall be approved by a Professional Engineer registered in the 
State of Oregon.  As part of project acceptance by the City the Applicant shall have the sight 
distance at all project intersections, alley intersections and commercial driveways verified and 
approved by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon, with the approval(s) 
submitted to the City (on City approved forms). 

27. Access requirements, including sight distance, shall conform to the City's Transportation 
Systems Plan (TSP) or as approved by the City Engineer. Landscaping plantings shall be low 
enough to provide adequate sight distance at all street intersections and alley/street 
intersections. 

28. Applicant shall design interior streets and alleys to meet specifications of Tualatin Valley Fire 
& Rescue and Republic Services for access and use of their vehicles. 

29. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access Easement 
Agreement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the storm system 
to be privately maintained.  Applicant shall provide City with a map exhibit showing the 
location of all stormwater facilities which will be maintained by the Applicant or designee.  
Stormwater LID facilities may be located within the public right-of-way upon approval of the 
City Engineer.  Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water components and private 
conventional storm water facilities; maintenance shall transfer to the respective homeowners 
association when it is formed.  

30. The applicant shall “loop” proposed waterlines by connecting to the existing City waterlines 
where applicable. 

31. Applicant shall provide a minimum 6-foot Public Utility Easement on lot frontages to all 
public right-of-ways. An 8-foot PUE shall be provided along Collectors. A 10-ft PUE shall be 
provided along Minor and Major Arterials. 

32. For any new public easements created with the project the Applicant shall be required to 
produce the specific survey exhibits establishing the easement and shall provide the City with 
the appropriate  Easement document (on City approved forms). 

33. Mylar Record Drawings:  
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At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, and before a 
'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a record survey. Said survey 
shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record drawings' which will serve as the physical 
record of those changes made to the plans and/or specifications, originally approved by Staff, 
that occurred during construction. Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate 
changes will be made to the construction plans and/or specifications and a complete revised 
'set' shall be submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings in an electronic copy in AutoCAD, 
current version, and a digitally signed PDF. 
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Natural Resource Findings, Conditions, and Requirements for Proposed 
Development 
 
From: Kerry Rappold, Natural Resources Manager 
To: Georgia McAlister, Associate Planner 
Date: March 11, 2024 
Proposal: CIS Collaboration Center 
 
 
Natural Resources Division Conditions: 
 
All Requests 
NR 1. Natural Resource Division Requirements and Advisories listed in Exhibit C2 

apply to the proposed development. 
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Exhibit C2 
Natural Resources Findings & Requirements 

 

 
Findings of Fact: 
 
1. Pursuant to Section 4.139.05 (Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map Verification), the map 

verification requirements shall be met at the time an applicant requests a land use decision. 
The applicant conducted a detailed site analysis consistent with code requirements, which the 
Natural Resources Manager reviewed and approved.  
 

2. Coffee Lake Creek and its riparian area is located within the western portion of the 
development site (Site ID Number 4.06). The riparian corridor includes the western edge of a 
non-significant wetland that’s 768 square feet and located within a small depression.  
 

3. Except for a scattering of Ponderosa pine, red alder and western red cedar, the riparian corridor 
is primarily comprised of non-native plant species, such as Himalayan blackberry, reed canary 
grass, and scotch broom.  

 
4. The Significant Resource Overlay Zone ordinance prescribes regulations for development 

within the SROZ and its associated 25-foot Impact Area. Setbacks from significant natural 
resources implement the requirements of Metro Title 3 Water Quality Resource Areas, Metro 
Title 13 Nature in Neighborhoods, and Statewide Planning Goal 5. All significant natural 
resources have an Impact Area. Development or other alteration activities may be permitted 
within the SROZ and its associated Impact Area through the review of a Significant Resource 
Impact Report (SRIR). The primary purpose of the Impact Area is to insure that development 
does not encroach into the SROZ.  

 
5. Pursuant to the city’s SROZ ordinance, development is only allowed within the Area of 

Limited Conflicting Use (ALCU). The ALCU is located between the riparian corridor 
boundary, riparian impact area or the Metro Title 3 Water Quality Resource Area boundary, 
whichever is furthest from the wetland or stream, and the outside edge of the SROZ, or an 
isolated significant wildlife habitat (upland forest) resource site. 

 
6. The applicant’s submittal delineated specific resource boundaries and analyzed the impacts of 

exempt development within the SROZ. The applicant’s submittal contained the required 
information, including an analysis and development recommendations for mitigating impacts.  
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Description of Request: 
The applicant is requesting approval of proposed exempt development that is located within the 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone and its associated Impact Area.  
 
Summary of Issues/Background: 
The proposed exempt development will encroach into the Significant Resource Overlay Zone and 
its associated Impact Area. The impacts to the SROZ are necessary for site improvements.  
 
Proposed exempt development in the SROZ and its associated Impact Area include the 
following: 
 

1) A stormwater facility in the riparian area; and 
2) A sanitary line connection.   
 

 

Section 4.139.04 Use and Activities Exempt from These Regulations 
  
Proposed exempt development in the SROZ and its associated Impact Area comply with 
the following exemptions: 

 
(.13) Enhancement of the riparian corridor or wetlands for water quality or quantity 

benefits, fish, or wildlife habitat as approved by the City and appropriate regulatory 
agencies. 

 
2. Due to the current degraded nature of the riparian area, the placement and operation of a 

stormwater facility will provide a water quality and habitat benefit through the planting of 
stormwater facility vegetation and the installation of soil media.   

 
(.18) Private or public service connection laterals and service utility extensions. 
 

3. The sanitary line connection is necessary for providing service to the proposed development.  
 

Section 4.139.06.03 SRIR Review Criteria (Exempt Development): 

Abbreviated SRIR Requirements. It is the intent of this subsection to provide a user-
friendly process for the applicant. Only the materials necessary for the application review 
are required. At the discretion of the Planning Director, an abbreviated SRIR may be 
submitted for certain small-scale developments such as single family dwellings, additions 
to single family dwellings, minor additions and accessory structures [and exempt 
development]. The following requirements shall be prepared and submitted as part of the 
abbreviated SRIR evaluation: 

A. A Site Development Permit Application must be submitted in compliance with the 
Planning and Land Development Ordinance; 
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1. The applicant has submitted a land use application in conformance with the Planning and 
Land Development Ordinance.  

B. Outline of any existing features including, but not limited to, structures, decks, areas 
previously disturbed and existing utility locations; 

2.  Preliminary plans have been submitted which include all of the proposed development.  

C. Location of any wetlands or water bodies on the site and the location of the stream 
centerline and top-of-bank; 

3. The submittal includes a description of Coffee Lake Creek and the results of a wetland 
delineation. A locally non-significant wetland was identified, which is partially located in 
the riparian corridor. 

D. Within the area proposed to be disturbed, the location, size and species of all trees 
that are more than six inches in diameter at breast height (DBH). Trees outside the 
area proposed to be disturbed may be individually shown or shown as drip line with 
an indication of species type or types; 

4. The preliminary plans include a tree inventory. 

E. The location of the SROZ and Impact Area boundaries; 

5. The SROZ and Impact Area boundaries have been identified on the preliminary plans.  

F. A minimum of three slope cross-section measurements transecting the site, equally 
spaced at no more than 100-foot increments. The measurements should be made 
perpendicular to the stream; 

6. A slope analysis was not required.  

G. A map that delineates the Metro UGMFP Title 3 Water Quality Resource Area 
boundary (using Metro Title 3 field observed standards); 

7. The submittal includes a delineation of the Metro Title 3 Water Quality Resource Area 
boundary. 

H. Current photos of site conditions shall be provided to supplement the above 
information; and 

8. The submittal includes representative site photographs.  

I. A narrative describing the possible and probable impacts to natural resources and a 
plan to mitigate for such impacts. 
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9. The proposed development impacts have been documented in the applicant’s submittal. 
Mitigation includes the removal of invasive plant species and the installation of native plant 
species, such as oceanspray, Pacific ninebark, Oregon grape, and snowberry.  

 
 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone 
1. The applicant shall submit the SROZ mapping as ARCGIS shape files or a compatible 

format.  
2. All landscaping, including herbicides used to eradicate invasive plant species and existing 

vegetation, in the SROZ shall be reviewed and approved by the Natural Resources 
Manager. Native plants are required for landscaping or site restoration in the SROZ. 

3. Prior to any site grading or ground disturbance, the applicant is required to delineate the 
boundary of the SROZ.  Six-foot (6’) tall cyclone fences with metal posts pounded into the 
ground at 6’-8’ centers shall be used to protect the significant natural resource area where 
development encroaches into the 25-foot Impact Area. 

4. Mitigation actions shall be implemented prior to or at the same time as the impact activity is 
conducted. 
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Updated 1/11/2019 all previous version of this form are obsolete 

 

 

Planning Division 
Development Permit Application 

 
Final action on development application or zone change is required within 120 days 
per ORS 227.175 or as otherwise required by state or federal law for specific 
application types. 
 
A pre application conference may be required. 
 
The City will not accept applications for wireless communication facilities or similar 
facilities without a completed copy of a Wireless Facility Review Worksheet. 
 
The City will not schedule incomplete applications for public hearing or send 
administrative public notice until all of the required materials are submitted. 
 

Applicant: 

Name: __________________________________________________ 

Company: ______________________________________________ 

Mailing Address: ________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip: __________________________________________ 

Phone: ________________________ Fax: _____________________ 

E-mail:  _________________________________________________ 

Authorized Representative: 

Name: __________________________________________________ 

Company: ______________________________________________ 

Mailing Address: ________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip: __________________________________________ 

Phone: ________________________ Fax: _____________________ 

E-mail:  _________________________________________________ 

Property Owner: 

Name: __________________________________________________ 

Company: ______________________________________________ 

Mailing Address: ________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip: __________________________________________ 

Phone: ________________________ Fax: _____________________ 

E-mail:  _________________________________________________ 

Property Owner’s Signature: 

____________________________________________________________ 

Printed Name: ______________________________Date: ___________ 

Applicant’s Signature: (if different from Property Owner) 

____________________________________________________________ 

Printed Name: ______________________________Date: ___________ 

Site Location and Description: 

Project Address if Available:  ______________________________________________________________________Suite/Unit  ____________ 

Project Location: _______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Tax Map #(s): ______________________________ Tax Lot #(s): _____________________________County:    □ Washington    □ Clackamas 

Request:  
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Project Type:   Class I  □   Class II  □   Class III  □ 
□  Residential □ Commercial □  Industrial □ Other: __________________ 

Application Type(s): 
□  Annexation 
□  Final Plat 
□  Plan Amendment 
□  Request for Special Meeting 
□  SROZ/SRIR Review 
□  Type C Tree Removal Plan 
□  Villebois SAP 
□  Zone Map Amendment 

□  Appeal 
□  Major Partition 
□  Planned Development 
□  Request for Time Extension 
□  Staff Interpretation 
□  Tree Permit (B or C) 
□  Villebois PDP 
□  Waiver(s) 

□  Comp Plan Map Amend 
□  Minor Partition 
□  Preliminary Plat 
□  Signs 
□  Stage I Master Plan 
□  Temporary Use 
□  Villebois FDP 
□  Conditional Use 

□  Parks Plan Review 
□  Request to Modify    

Conditions 
□  Site Design Review 
□  Stage II Final Plan 
□  Variance 
□  Other (describe) 
     __________________ 

29799 SW Town Center Loop E, Wilsonville, OR 97070 
Phone: 503.682.4960 Fax: 503.682.7025 

Web: www.ci.wilsonville.or.us 

Patrick Priest

CIS Trust, c/o Patrick Priest      
                                                   
          P.O. Box 1469                 
        Lake Oswego, OR 97035

CIS Trust, c/o Patrick Priest      
                                                   
          P.O. Box 1469                 
        Lake Oswego, OR 97035

Gabriela Frask

Mackenzie
1515 SE Water Avenue
Portland, Oregon 97214

503.224.9560 
gfrask@mcknze.com

31W23B 00100

Southwest corner of SW Kinsman Rd & SW Wilsonville Rd

                Consolidated Type III review for Stage II Final Plan Modification (of previously approved application
DB09-0049), Site Design Review with Waiver for a new ~16,000 SF office building,Type B Tree Removal, and
Class III Master Sign Plan Modification (of previously approved application DB09-0051).

X

X
X

X
Modify Master Sign Plan

(Modify)
X

X

X
X

503-763-3810

PPRIEST@CISOREGON.ORG

503-763-3810

PPRIEST@CISOREGON.ORG

11/30/2023

Future building address will be 30125 SW Kinsman Road
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STAGE II FINAL PLAN 
MODIFICATION,  
SITE DESIGN REVIEW, 
TYPE B TREE 
REMOVAL,  
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To 
City of Wilsonville 

For 
CIS Collaboration Center  
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December 1, 2023 
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I. PROJECT SUMMARY 

 
Applicant & Owner:  CIS Trust, c/o Patrick Priest 
 P.O. Box 1469 
 Lake Oswego, OR 97035 

Site Address:  9770 SW Wilsonville Road 1, Wilsonville OR 97070  
 Clackamas County tax lot 31W23B 00100 

Assessor Site Acreage:  2.05 AC (89,298 SF)   

Zoning:  Planned Development Industrial (PDI) 

Comprehensive Plan:  Industrial  

Adjacent Zoning:  West: Residential (across Industrial Way)  
 North: Planned Development Industrial (across SW Wilsonville Road) 

East: Planned Development Industrial (across Kinsman Road) 

Existing Structures:  Vacant 

Request:  Stage II Final Plan Modification, Site Design Review with Waiver, Type 
B Tree Removal, and Class III Master Sign Plan Modification 

Project Contact:  Mackenzie 
Gabriela Frask, Land Use Planner 
1515 SE Water Avenue, Suite 100 
Portland, OR 97214 
(971) 346-3675 
gfrask@mcknze.com 

 

 
 

  

 
1 Clackamas County recently assigned a new site address: 30125 SW Kinsman Road 
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II. INTRODUCTION 

Description of Request 

Citycounty Insurance Services (CIS) requests approval to construct a new approximately 15,700 square 
foot (SF) headquarters building. The new building is proposed at the southwest corner of the SW 
Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road intersection (Clackamas County Tax Map/Lot 31W23B 00100). The 
project development area is approximately 2.05 acres. Figure II-1: Aerial Imagebelow identifies the 
subject site. The building will be located near the northeastern corner of the site, with the parking, 
landscaping, and associated site improvements located generally south and west of the building.  

In order to construct the building and site improvements, the applicant requests approval of the 
following land use applications:  

1. Stage II Final Plan Modification (of previously approved application DB09-0049) 
2. Site Design Review with Waiver 
3. Type B Tree Removal 
4. Class III Master Sign Plan Modification (of previously approved application DB09-0051) 

The applicant is applying for a consolidated land use application, subject to a Type III procedure.  

A pre-application meeting for this project was held on October 12, 2023. The applicant has incorporated 
recommendations from that meeting into the proposal. 

Existing Site and Surrounding Land Use 

The subject site is located on a 2.05-acre site. The site is zoned Planned Development Industrial (PDI). 
The property to the west is zoned Residential (R), and the properties to the north (across SW Wilsonville 
Road) and west (across Kinsman Road) are zoned Planned Development Industrial. Exhibit D contains a 
zoning detail map. 

The proposed development area is on a portion of the site that has most recently been used as a staging 
area for a waterline project. Prior to being used as a staging area, the site was used for agricultural 
practices. 

The site’s topography is relatively flat, but for the Significant Resource Area (SROZ) generally along the 
western property boundary, where no development is proposed with this application. Coffee Lake Creek 
flows north-south generally along the western property edge.  

No change is proposed to the site’s existing access, a single driveway on Kinsman Road. The site is 
served by existing public water, sanitary sewer, and storm drainage systems. No addition or extension of 
a public service line is necessary to serve the proposed new building. 

Description of Proposed Development  

Proposed development is limited to an area of 1.2 acres (52,144 SF) in the eastern two-thirds of the site. 
It will include a single new office building with floor area of approximately 15,700 SF. The applicant 
anticipates that the building’s final size will be based on available budget and construction costs, 
potentially resulting in a constructed facility of less than 16,000 SF.  
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As shown on the applicant’s site plan (Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F), parking will be located to the south and 
west of the building, with the building located as close as feasible to SW Wilsonville Road to enhance the 
pedestrian and passerby experience. The proposed parking capacity will be 65 parking spaces, with 20% 
of the provided parking electric vehicle (EV) ready. The project also includes a trash enclosure located 
along the western portion of the parking area, as shown on the applicant’s site plan.  

In compliance with the City’s stormwater regulations, a dispersed onsite stormwater treatment systems 
is proposed, consisting of a vegetated linear surface facility along the western portion of the parking 
area and a triangular vegetated surface facility centrally located within the parking area.  

The new building will obtain water by connecting to a public water main in Kinsman Road.  It will 
connect to an existing sewer main in the northwestern portion of the site, and outfall treated storm 
runoff to an existing outfall in the southwestern portion of the property. Details are provided on the 
utility plan, Sheet C1.30 of Exhibit F.  

Transportation System 

SW Wilsonville Road, the site’s north frontage, is classified as a Minor Arterial per Figure 3-2 of the 
Wilsonville TSP. SW Wilsonville Road is a fully developed road, including: two (2) 10-foot travel lanes, 
one (1) 12-foot center lane, a 6-foot bike lane and 2-foot bike lane buffer both sides, curb and gutter, 
planter, and sidewalk.  

SW Kinsman Road, the site’s east frontage, is classified as a Collector. SW Kinsman Road is a fully 
developed road, including: two (2) 12-foot travel lanes, one (1) 12-foot center lane, a 7-foot bike lane 
both sides, curb and gutter, planter, and sidewalk.  

No changes are proposed or warranted to the adjacent fully developed roadways and bicycle facilities.  

 

Figure II-1: Aerial Image  
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III. NARRATIVE AND COMPLIANCE 

Prior Conditions of Approval (DB09-0048 through -0053, Approved June 21, 2010 by 
Wilsonville City Council Resolution No. 2235).  

This property is a part of a previous PUD approval. In addition to the general applicability of Wilsonville 
code standards, there are specific conditions of approval that apply as a result of those prior decisions. A 
review of applicable conditions of approval follows. 

PDB2: Landscaping on the subject site must meet the vision clearance requirements of Section 4.177. 
Response: Proposed plantings and maintenance will satisfy vision clearance requirements. The vision 
clearance area is shown on the site plan, Sheet C1.10 in Exhibit F. 

PDB3. All utilities shall be placed underground per Subsections 4.300-4.320. 
Response: As shown on Sheet C1.30, all utilities will be placed underground. This condition is satisfied.  

PDB7: Pursuant to Section 4.I35(.05)E., future development of Parcel I (Phase 2) shall not include loading 
or unloading areas within 100 feet of the west property line. 
Response: The subject property is located on Parcel 1 (Phase 2). No loading or unloading areas are 
proposed. The proposed development satisfies this condition.  

PDB12: The initial construction associated with Phase 1 shall include landscaping on the Phase 2 site, 
including the SROZ mitigation, stormwater outfall area, and field grass seeding in the future 
development area as shown on the submitted landscape plan. A final landscape plan shall be submitted 
through a Class I Administrative review, which in addition to the landscaping as noted shall add plant 
materials as required along both street frontages (SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road) in order 
to result in a five-foot wide Low Screen Landscape of Section 4.1 76(02)D. 
Response: This application proposes full development of the Phase 2 site, which will effectively 
supersede this condition and render it moot. The proposed Phase 2 site development plans (Exhibit F) 
include landscaping in compliance with applicable standards. 

PDC2: The Applicant/Owner shall provide a landscape hedge between the proposed parking lot on Parcel 
1 (Phase 2) and the mitigation plantings. The hedge coupled with the mitigation tree planting shall meet 
the City's low screen landscape standards of Section 4.176(.02)D. (See Finding C23) 
Response: The landscape plantings shown in the L-Series sheets of Exhibit F demonstrate compliance 
with this condition. 

PDC12: All HVAC equipment shall be inconspicuous and designed to be screened from off-site view. This 
includes, to the greatest extent possible, private utilities such as natural gas and electricity. The City 
reserves the right to require further screening of the equipment and utilities if they should be visible from 
off-site after occupancy is granted. 
Response: The proposed building’s HVAC equipment will be mounted on the roof and screened from 
view as shown on Sheet A2.10 of Exhibit F. The applicant’s design team has made every effort to work 
with utility service providers to locate necessary utility service facilities, such as ground-mounted 
transformers, at locations that can be screened while meeting service capacity and maintenance access 
requirements. This condition is met. 
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PDE7: Approval is granted for two (2) freestanding signs; one (I) on Parcel I and one (1) on Parcel 2. Each 
freestanding sign shall measure 4 ft. by 8 ft. or 32 square feet and shall be approximately six feet tall 
measured from grade. Freestanding signs shall be consistent with Sheet Al .2 of Exhibit B2. 
Response: This application includes a request to modify the DB09-0051 approval to add one (1) 
freestanding sign for the subject property near its sole driveway, on the Kinsman Road frontage. See in 
Exhibit F the proposed sign location (C-series sheets) and details (Sheet A5.17). 

NRC4: All mitigation landscaping (Sheet LMI.0), required by Case Number 99AR02, shall be completed as 
part of the Phase 1 improvements. Maintenance of the mitigation area shall be the responsibility of the 
applicant, including: Submitting a site preparation and maintenance plan for approval by the Natural 
Resources Program Manager; Preparing the site by removing invasive plants species; Providing water 
during the establishment period (i.e. first two years) of the plants; and Replacing any required plant 
material that dies within the first year of planting. 
Response: The Phase I development occurred timely following land use approval in June 2010.  
Plantings, including replacement plantings for failed specimens, were completed at that time. The 
applicant for this development has assessed conditions in the mitigation planting area, and has 
proposed replacement plantings as appropriate to establish or restore an appropriate plant community. 

1. Stage II Final Plan Modification 

Section 4.117. Standards Applying To Industrial Developments In Any Zone 

(.01) All industrial developments, uses, or activities are subject to performance standards. If not 
otherwise specified in the Planning and Development Code, industrial developments, uses, and activities 
shall be subject to the performance standards specified in Section 4. 135 (.05) (PDI Zone). 
Response: The proposal is for commercial office development consistent with the 2010 Stage I approval 
for an office building of up to 21,700 square feet (SF) on the Phase 2 portion of the DB09 – 0048-0053 
approval. This standard is not applicable because the site’s proposed land use is not industrial.   

Section 4.118. Standards Applying to all Planned Development Zones 

(.01) Height Guidelines: In “S” overlay zones, the solar access provisions of Section 4.137 shall be used 
to determine maximum building heights. In cases that are subject to review by the Development Review 
Board, the Board may further regulate heights as follows: 

A. Restrict or regulate the height or building design consistent with adequate provision of 
fire protection and fire-fighting apparatus height limitations. 

B. To provide buffering of low density developments by requiring the placement of three or 
more story buildings away from the property lines abutting a low density zone. 

C. To regulate building height or design to protect scenic vistas of Mt. Hood or the 
Willamette River. 

Response: The proposal is not located in an “S” overlay zone. This standard does not apply. 

(.02) Underground Utilities shall be governed by Sections 4.300 to 4.320. All utilities above ground 
shall be located so as to minimize adverse impacts on the site and neighboring properties. 
Response: All underground utilities will comply with City of Wilsonville standards as detailed in the 
responses to Sections 4.300 to 4.320, below. 

(.03) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the Development Review Board, 
in order to implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140, and based on findings of fact 
supported by the record may: 

A. Waive the following typical development standards: 
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1. minimum lot area; 
2. lot width and frontage; 
3. height and yard requirements; 
4. lot coverage; 
5. lot depth; 
6. street widths; 
7. sidewalk requirements; 
8. height of buildings other than signs; 
9. parking space configuration and drive aisle design; 
10. minimum number of parking or loading spaces; 
11. shade tree islands in parking lots, provided that alternative shading is provided; 
12. fence height; 
13. architectural design standards;  
14. transit facilities; and 
15. On-site pedestrian access and circulation standards; and 
16. Solar access standards, as provided in section 4.137. 

Response: The applicant is proposing one (1) waiver to the minimum front and side setback 
(yard) standards, which are items listed above. The Waiver request is detailed in the Applicant’s 
response to Section 4.140.01 and 4.139.11. This criterion is met. 

B. The following shall not be waived by the Board, unless there is substantial evidence in 
the whole record to support a finding that the intent and purpose of the standards will 
be met in alternative ways: 
1. open space requirements in residential areas…; 
2. minimum density standards of residential zones…; 
3. minimum landscape, buffering, and screening standards; 

Response: This proposal is not located in a residential area and the applicant is not proposing 
waivers to these standards. This criterion does not apply. 

C. The following shall not be waived by the Board, unless there is substantial evidence in 
the whole record to support a finding that the intent and purpose of the standards will 
be met in alternative ways, and the action taken will not violate any applicable federal, 
state, or regional standards: 
1. maximum number of parking spaces; 
2. standards for mitigation of trees that are removed; 
3. standards for mitigation of wetlands that are filled or damaged; and 
4. trails or pathways shown in the Parks and Recreation Master Plan. 

Response: The applicant is not proposing waivers to these standards. This criterion does not 
apply. 

D. Locate individual building, accessory buildings, off-street parking and loading facilities, 
open space and landscaping and screening without reference to lot lines; and 

Response: As shown in Exhibit F, the applicant is proposing to construct a building, associated 
parking, screening, and landscaping areas. The applicant is requesting a setback Waiver as part 
of this Planned Development application.  

E. Adopt other requirements or restrictions, inclusive of, but not limited to, the following: 
1. Percent coverage of land by buildings and structures in relationship to property 

boundaries to provide stepped increases in densities away from low-density 
development. 
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2. Parking ratios and areas expressed in relation to use of various portions of the 
property and/or building floor area. 

3. The locations, width and improvement of vehicular and pedestrian access to 
various portions of the property, including portions within abutting street or 
private drive. [amended by Ord. 682, 9/9/10] 

4. Arrangement and spacing of buildings and structures to provide appropriate 
open spaces around buildings. 

5. Location and size of off-street loading areas and docks. 
6. Uses of buildings and structures by general classification, and by specific 

designation when there are unusual requirements for parking, or when the use 
involves noise, dust, odor, fumes, smoke, vibration, glare or radiation 
incompatible with present or potential development of surrounding property. 
Such incompatible uses may be excluded in the amendment approving the zone 
change or the approval of requested permits. 

7. Measures designed to minimize or eliminate noise, dust, odor, fumes, smoke, 
vibration, glare, or radiation which would have an adverse effect on the present 
or potential development on surrounding properties. 

8. Schedule of time for construction of the proposed buildings and structures and 
any stage of development thereof to insure consistency with the City’s adopted 
Capital Improvements Plan and other applicable regulations. 

9. A waiver of the right of remonstrance by the applicant to the formation of a 
Local Improvement District (LID) for streets, utilities and/or other public 
purposes. 

10. Modify the proposed development in order to prevent congestion of streets 
and/or to facilitate transportation. 

11. Condition the issuance of an occupancy permit upon the installation of 
landscaping or upon a reasonable scheduling for completion of the installation 
of landscaping. In the latter event, a posting of a bond or other security in an 
amount equal to one hundred ten percent (110%) of the cost of the landscaping 
and installation may be required. 

12. A dedication of property for streets, pathways, and bicycle paths in accordance 
with adopted Facilities Master Plans or such other streets necessary to provide 
proper development of adjacent properties. 

Response: The applicant acknowledges that the Development Review Board may impose other 
requirements or restrictions, including but not limited to those specified above; however, given 
the nature of the proposed commercial (office) use, the applicant believes it is unnecessary to 
impose special restrictions or conditions of approval on the development. 

(.04) The Planning Director and Development Review Board shall, in making their determination of 
compliance in attaching conditions, consider the effects of this action on availability and cost. The 
provisions of this section shall not be used in such a manner that additional conditions, either singularly 
or cumulatively, have the effect of unnecessarily increasing the cost of development. However, 
consideration of these factors shall not prevent the Board from imposing conditions of approval 
necessary to meet the minimum requirements of the Comprehensive Plan and Code. 
Response: The applicant acknowledges that the Development Review Board must consider the effects of 
availability and cost when considering the attachment of conditions as described in Section 4.118 of the 
WDC. If imposition of conditions depends on consideration of cost factors, the applicant will participate 
in development cost estimates to inform that discussion; however, the applicant is not aware of any 
such issues at the time of submitting a complete application package. 

108

Item 2.



 
 

8 

 

(.05) The Planning Director, Development Review Board, or on appeal, the City Council, may as a 
condition of approval for any development for which an application is submitted, require that portions of 
the tract or tracts under consideration be set aside, improved, conveyed or dedicated for the following 
uses: 
A. Recreational Facilities: The Director, Board, or Council, as the case may be, may require that 

suitable area for parks or playgrounds be set aside, improved or permanently reserved for the 
owners, residents, employees or patrons of the development consistent with adopted Park 
standards and Parks and Recreation Master Plan. 

B. Open Space Area: Whenever private and/or common open space area is provided, the City shall 
require that an association of owners or tenants be established which shall adopt such Articles of 
Incorporation, By-Laws or other appropriate agreement, and shall adopt and impose such 
Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions on such open space areas and/or common areas that 
are acceptable to the Development Review Board. Said association shall be formed and 
continued for the purpose of maintaining such open space area. Such an association, if required, 
may undertake other functions. It shall be created in such a manner that owners of property 
shall automatically be members and shall be subject to assessments levied to maintain said open 
space area for the purposes intended. The period of existence of such association shall be not 
less than twenty (20) years and it shall continue thereafter and until a majority vote of the 
members shall terminate it, and the City Council formally votes to accept such termination. 

C. Easements: Easements necessary to the orderly extension of public utilities, and the protection of 
open space, may be required as a condition of approval. When required, such easements must 
meet the requirements of the City Attorney prior to recordation. 

Response: The applicant acknowledges that the Planning Director and Development Review Board have 
this authority; however, establishment of recreational facilities or open space areas would be 
inconsistent with the City’s planning for industrial use of this property. The applicant will provide public 
utility easements to adjoining public streets as necessary, as depicted in the C-series drawing sheets in 
Exhibit F. This standard is met. 

(.06) Nothing in this Code shall prevent the owner of a site that is less than two (2) acres in size from 
filing an application to rezone and develop the site as a Planned Development. Smaller properties may or 
may not be suitable for such development, depending upon their particular sizes, shapes, locations, and 
the nature of the proposed development, but Planned Developments shall be encouraged at any 
appropriate location. 
Response: The subject property is larger than two (2) acres. This standard does not apply. 

(.07) Density Transfers. In order to protect significant open space or resource areas, the Development 
Review Board may authorize the transfer of development densities from one portion of a proposed 
development to another. Such transfers may go to adjoining properties, provided that those properties 
are considered to be part of the total development under consideration as a unit. 
Response: The applicant is not proposing a density transfer. This standard does not apply. 

(.08) Wetland Mitigation and other mitigation for lost or damaged resources. The Development 
Review Board may, after considering the testimony of experts in the field, allow for the replacement of 
resource areas with newly created or enhanced resource areas. The Board may specify the ratio of lost to 
created and/or enhanced areas after making findings based on information in the record. As much as 
possible, mitigation areas shall replicate the beneficial values of the lost or damaged resource areas. 
Response: As identified in the enclosed Wetland Delineation (Exhibit J), a wetland (Wetland A) was 
delineated in the northern portion of the site. Wetland A is a depressional, emergent, and totals 768 SF.  
Along the western boundary line of the site, Coffee Lake Creek flows from north to south. It originates in 
the Tualatin-Sherwood area and flows south through Wilsonville to the Willamette River. Development 
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impacts within the required 50' buffer area is limited to plantings, tree removal, and stormwater 
treatment which will provide ecological benefit to the SROZ.  

(.09) Habitat-Friendly Development Practices. To the extent practicable, development and 
construction activities of any lot shall consider the use of habitat-friendly development practices, which 
include:  

A. Minimizing grading, removal of native vegetation, disturbance and removal of native 
soils, and impervious area; 

B. Minimizing adverse hydrological impacts on water resources, such as using the practices 
described in Part (a) of Table NR-2 in Section 4.139.03, unless their use is prohibited by 
an applicable and required state or federal permit, such as a permit required under the 
federal Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq., or the federal Safe Drinking Water 
Act, 42 U.S.C. §§300f et seq., and including conditions or plans required by such permit; 

C. Minimizing impacts on wildlife corridors and fish passage, such as by using the practices 
described in Part (b) of Table NR-2 in Section 4.139.03; and  

D. Using the practices described in Part (c) of Table NR-2 in Section 4.139.03. 
Response: As shown in Exhibit F, the proposed development incorporates the following Habitat-Friendly 
Development Practices from Table NR-2: Habitat-Friendly Development Practices: 

A.4.  Landscape with rain gardens to provide on-lot detention, filtering of rainwater and 
groundwater re-charge. 

A.8.  Use multi-functional open drainage systems in lieu of more conventional curb and gutter 
systems. 

C.2.  Locate landscaping adjacent to SROZ. 
C.3.  Reduce light spill-off into SROZ areas from development (see Exhibit Error! Reference s

ource not found.). 
C.4.  Preserve and maintain existing trees and tree canopy coverage, and plant trees, where 

appropriate, to maximize future tree canopy coverage. 

Section 4.140. Planned Development Regulations 

(.01) Purpose: 

A. The provisions of Section 4.140 shall be known as the Planned Development Regulations. The purposes 
of these regulations are to encourage the development of tracts of land sufficiently large to allow for 
comprehensive master planning, and to provide flexibility in the application of certain regulations in a 
manner consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan and general provisions of the zoning 
regulations and to encourage a harmonious variety of uses through mixed use design within specific 
developments thereby promoting the economy of shared public services and facilities and a variety of 
complimentary activities consistent with the land use designation on the Comprehensive Plan and the 
creation of an attractive, healthful, efficient and stable environment for living, shopping or working. 

B. It is the further purpose of the following Section: 
1. To take advantage of advances in technology, architectural design, and functional land use 
design; 
2. To recognize the problems of population density, distribution and circulation and to allow a 
deviation from rigid established patterns of land uses, but controlled by defined policies and 
objectives detailed in the comprehensive plan; 
3. To produce a comprehensive development equal to or better than that resulting from 
traditional lot land use development. 

110

Item 2.



 
 

10 

 

4. To permit flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open spaces, 
circulation facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently utilize potentials of sites 
characterized by special features of geography, topography, size or shape or characterized by 
problems of flood hazard, severe soil limitations, or other hazards; 
5. To permit flexibility in the height of buildings while maintaining a ratio of site area to dwelling 
units that is consistent with the densities established by the Comprehensive Plan and the intent 
of the Plan to provide open space, outdoor living area and buffering of low-density development. 
6. To allow development only where necessary and adequate services and facilities are available 
or provisions have been made to provide these services and facilities. 
7. To permit mixed uses where it can clearly be demonstrated to be of benefit to the users and 
can be shown to be consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan. 
8. To allow flexibility and innovation in adapting to changes in the economic and technological 
climate. 

(.02) Lot Qualification. 
A. Planned Development may be established on lots which are suitable for and of a size to 

be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and objectives of 
Section 4.140. 

B. Any site designated for development in the Comprehensive Plan may be developed as a 
Planned Development, provided that it is zoned “PD.” All sites which are greater than 
two (2) acres in size, and designated in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial, 
residential, or industrial use shall be developed as Planned Developments, unless 
approved for other uses permitted by the Development Code. Smaller sites may also be 
developed through the City’s PD procedures, provided that the location, size, lot 
configuration, topography, open space and natural vegetation of the site warrant such 
development. 

Response: The site exceeds two (2) acres and is designated Industrial in the Comprehensive Plan; it is 
therefore designated for planned development. This standard applies. 

(.03) Ownership. 
A. The tract or tracts of land included in a proposed Planned Development must be in one 

(1) ownership or control or the subject of a joint application by the owners of all the 
property included. The holder of a written option to purchase, with written authorization 
by the owner to make applications, shall be deemed the owner of such land for the 
purposes of Section 4.140. 

B. Unless otherwise provided as a condition for approval of a Planned Development permit, 
the permittee may divide and transfer units or parcels of any development. The 
transferee shall use and maintain each such unit or parcel in strict conformance with the 
approval permit and development plan. 

Response: The site is one (1) lot with one (1) owner. A title report is included as Exhibit B. This standard 
is met. 

(.04) Professional Design. 
A. The applicant for all proposed Planned Developments shall certify that the professional 

services of the appropriate professionals have been utilized in the planning process for 
development. 

B. Appropriate professionals shall include, but not be limited to the following to provide the 
elements of the planning process set out in Section 4.139: 
1. An architect licensed by the State of Oregon; 
2. A landscape architect registered by the State of Oregon; 
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3. An urban planner holding full membership in the American Institute of Certified 
Planners, or a professional planner with prior experience representing clients 
before the Development Review Board, Planning Commission, or City Council; or 

4. A registered engineer or a land surveyor licensed by the State of Oregon. 
C. One of the professional consultants chosen by the applicant from either 1, 2, or 3, above, 

shall be designated to be responsible for conferring with the planning staff with respect 
to the concept and details of the plan. 

D. The selection of the professional coordinator of the design team will not limit the owner 
or the developer in consulting with the planning staff. 

Response: The applicant certifies that appropriate professionals have been utilized including Oregon-
licensed/registered architects, landscape architects, an American Institute of Certified Planner (AICP) 
and a professional planner, and professional engineer. More particularly, the design team leadership 
includes the following Mackenzie staff: 

▪ Architect/Project Manager: Jeff Humphreys, AIA 
▪ Landscape Architect: Nicole Ferriera, PLA 
▪ Planner: Lee Leighton, AICP; Gabriela Frask 
▪ Civil Engineer: Greg Mino, PE 

This standard is met. 

(.05) Planned Development Permit Process. 
A. All parcels of land exceeding two (2) acres in size that are to be used for residential, 

commercial or industrial development, shall, prior to the issuance of any building permit: 
1. Be zoned for planned development; 
2. Obtain a planned development permit; and 
3. Obtain Development Review Board, or, on appeal, City Council approval. 

B. Zone change and amendment to the zoning map are governed by the applicable 
provisions of the Zoning Sections, inclusive of Section 4.197 

C. Development Review Board approval is governed by Sections 4.400 to 4.450 
D. All planned developments require a planned development permit. The planned 

development permit review and approval process consists of the following multiple 
stages, the last two or three of which can be combined at the request of the applicant: 
1. Pre-application conference with Planning Department; 
2. Preliminary (Stage I) review by the Development Review Board. When a zone 

change is necessary, application for such change shall be made simultaneously 
with an application for preliminary approval to the Board; and 

3. Final (Stage II) review by the Development Review Board  
4. In the case of a zone change and zone boundary amendment, City Council 

approval is required to authorize a Stage I preliminary plan. 
Response: The site meets the criteria for a planned development. The site is subject to the following 
prior approvals:  

▪ DB09-0047: Zone Map Amendment 
▪ DB09-0048: Stage I Development Plan 
▪ DB09-0049: Stage II Final Development Plan  
▪ DB09-0051: Master Sign Plan 
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This consolidated application seeks approval of a Stage II Final Development Plan (DB09-0049), Site 
Design Review with one Waiver, Class III Master Sign Plan Modification and Type B Tree Removal. These 
provisions allow applicants to combine approval requests in this manner. These provisions are satisfied. 

(.06) Staff Report: 
A. The planning staff shall prepare a report of its findings and conclusions as to whether the 

use contemplated is consistent with the land use designated on the Comprehensive Plan. 
If there is a disagreement as to whether the use contemplated is consistent, the 
applicant, by request, or the staff, may take the preliminary information provided to the 
Development Review Board for a use interpretation. 

B. The applicant may proceed to apply for Stage I - Preliminary Approval - upon 
determination by either staff or the Development Review Board that the use 
contemplated is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

Response: The applicant is requesting Stage II Modification and Site Design Review approvals as part of 
this application, and requests prompt review of the complete application package. 

(.07) Preliminary Approval (Stage One): 
A. Applications for preliminary approval for planned developments shall: 

1. Be made by the owner of all affected property or the owner’s authorized agent; 
and 

2. Be filed on a form prescribed by the City Planning Department and filed with said 
Department. 

3. Set forth the professional coordinator and professional design team as provided 
in subsection (.04), above. 

4. State whether the development will include mixed land uses, and if so, what uses 
and in what proportions and locations. 

Response: The subject site has a valid Stage One Preliminary Approval (DB09-0048). No 
modification to the Stage I Preliminary approval is sought as part of this application package.   

B. The application shall include conceptual and quantitatively accurate representations of 
the entire development sufficient to judge the scope, size, and impact of the 
development on the community; and, in addition to the requirements set forth in Section 
4.035, shall be accompanied by the following information: 
1. A boundary survey or a certified boundary description by a registered engineer 

or licensed surveyor. 
2. Topographic information as set forth in Section 4.035 
3. A tabulation of the land area to be devoted to various uses, and a calculation of 

the average residential density per net acre. 
4. A stage development schedule demonstrating that the developer intends receive 

Stage II approval within two (2) years of receiving Stage I approval, and to 
commence construction within two (2) years after the approval of the final 
development plan, and will proceed diligently to completion; unless a phased 
development schedule has been approved; in which case adherence to that 
schedule shall be considered to constitute diligent pursuit of project completion. 

5. A commitment by the applicant to provide in the Final Approval (Stage II) a 
performance bond or other acceptable security for the capital improvements 
required by the project. 

6. If it is proposed that the final development plan will be executed in stages, a 
schedule thereof shall be provided. 
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7. Statement of anticipated waivers from any of the applicable site development 
standards. 

Response: The subject site has a valid Stage One Preliminary Approval (DB09-0048). No 
modification to the Stage I Preliminary approval is sought as part of this application package.   

C. An application for a Stage I approval shall be considered by the Development Review 
Board as follows: 
1. A public hearing as provided in Section 4.013. 
2. After such hearing, the Board shall determine whether the proposal conforms to 

the permit criteria set forth in this Code, and may approve or disapprove the 
application and the accompanying preliminary development plan or require such 
changes therein or impose such conditions of approval as are in its judgment, 
necessary to ensure conformity to said criteria and regulations. In so doing, the 
Board may, in its discretion, authorize submission of the final development plan 
in stages, corresponding to different units or elements of the development. It 
shall do so only upon evidence assuring completion of the entire development in 
accordance with the preliminary development plan and stage development 
schedule. 

3. A final decision on a complete application and preliminary plan shall be rendered 
within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the application is deemed 
complete unless a continuance is agreed upon by the applicant and the 
appropriate City decision-making body. 

4. The determination of the Development Review Board shall become final at the 
end of the appeal period for the decision, unless appealed to the City Council in 
accordance with Section 4.022 of this Code. 

Response: This provision provides procedural guidance for implementation and requires no 
evidence within the applicant’s narrative. 

(.09) Final Approval (Stage Two): 
[Note: Outline Number is incorrect.] 
A. Unless an extension has been granted by the Development Review Board, within two (2) 

years after the approval or modified approval of a preliminary development plan (Stage 
I), the applicant shall file with the City Planning Department a final plan for the entire 
development or when submission in stages has been authorized pursuant to Section 
4.035 for the first unit of the development, a public hearing shall be held on each such 
application as provided in Section 4.013. 

B. After such hearing, the Development Review Board shall determine whether the 
proposal conforms to the permit criteria set forth in this Code, and shall approve, 
conditionally approve, or disapprove the application. 

C. The final plan shall conform in all major respects with the approved preliminary 
development plan, and shall include all information included in the preliminary plan plus 
the following: 
1. The location of water, sewerage and drainage facilities; 
2. Preliminary building and landscaping plans and elevations, sufficient to indicate 

the general character of the development; 
3. The general type and location of signs; 
4. Topographic information as set forth in Section 4.035; 
5. A map indicating the types and locations of all proposed uses; and 
6. A grading plan. 
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D. The final plan shall be sufficiently detailed to indicate fully the ultimate operation and 
appearance of the development or phase of development. However, Site Design Review 
is a separate and more detailed review of proposed design features, subject to the 
standards of Section 4.400. 

Response: The applicant is requesting approval of a Stage II Modification, together with Site 
Design Review, as part of this application. Accordingly, the final plan provides sufficient 
information regarding conformance with both the Stage II Final Approval and Site Design 
Review. This standard is met. 

E. Copies of legal documents required by the Development Review Board for dedication or 
reservation of public facilities, or for the creation of a non-profit homeowner’s 
association, shall also be submitted. 

Response: As the applicant is requesting Stage II Modification approval as part of this 
application, the Development Review Board has not yet required dedication or reservation of 
public facilities. The proposed development does not propose the construction of any new 
public utility facilities and there is no reason to form a homeowner’s association or other entity 
to support this office development. This standard does not apply. 

F. Within thirty (30) days after the filing of the final development plan, the Planning staff 
shall forward such development plan and the original application to the Tualatin Valley 
Fire and Rescue District, if applicable, and other agencies involved for review of public 
improvements, including streets, sewers and drainage. The Development Review Board 
shall not act on a final development plan until it has first received a report from the 
agencies or until more than thirty (30) days have elapsed since the plan and application 
were sent to the agencies, whichever is the shorter period. 

Response: This provision provides procedural guidance for implementation and requires no 
evidence from the applicant. 

G. Upon receipt of the final development plan, the Development Review Board shall 
conduct a public hearing and examine such plan and determine: 
1. Whether it conforms to all applicable criteria and standards; and 
2. Whether it conforms in all substantial respects to the preliminary approval; or 
3. Require such changes in the proposed development or impose such conditions of 

approval as are in its judgment necessary to insure conformity to the applicable 
criteria and standards. 

H. If the Development Review Board permits the applicant to revise the plan, it shall be 
resubmitted as a final development plan within sixty (60) days. If the Board approves, 
disapproves or grants such permission to resubmit, the decision of the Board shall 
become final at the end of the appeal period for the decision, unless appealed to the City 
Council, in accordance with Sections 4.022 of this Code. 

Response: As the applicant is requesting Stage II Modification approval as part of this 
application, the final development plan is integrally consistent with the preliminary 
development plan. The applicant’s narrative and accompanying plans and reports demonstrate 
conformance with applicable approval standards for the Planned Development and Site Design 
Review. This standard is met. 

I. All Stage II Site Development plan approvals shall expire two years after their approval 
date, if substantial development has not occurred on the property prior to that time. 
Provided, however, that the Development Review Board may extend these expiration 
times for up to three (3) additional periods of not more than one (1) year each. 
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Applicants seeking time extensions shall make their requests in writing at least thirty 
(30) days in advance of the expiration date. Requests for time extensions shall only be 
granted upon (1) a showing that the applicant has in good faith attempted to develop or 
market the property in the preceding year or that development can be expected to occur 
within the next year, and (2) payment of any and all Supplemental Street SDCs applicable 
to the development. Upon such payment, the development shall have vested traffic 
generation rights under 4.140 (.10), provided however, that if the Stage II approval 
should expire, the vested right to use trips is terminated upon City repayment, without 
interest, of Supplemental Street SDCs. For purposes of this Ordinance, “substantial 
development” is deemed to have occurred if the required building permits or public 
works permits have been issued for the development, and the development has been 
diligently pursued, including the completion of all conditions of approval established for 
the permit. [Amended by Ord 561, adopted 12/15/03.] 

Response: The applicant intends to construct the proposed building in one (1) implementation 
phase promptly after land use approval, and well within the allotted time period. To that end, 
the applicant is requesting Stage II Modification approval, together with Site Design Review and 
other land use requests, as part of this consolidated application. This standard is met. 

J. A planned development permit may be granted by the Development Review Board only if 
it is found that the development conforms to all the following criteria, as well as to the 
Planned Development Regulations in Section 4.140: 
1. The location, design, size and uses, both separately and as a whole, are 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and with any other applicable plan, 
development map or Ordinance adopted by the City Council. 

Response: The subject site is located in the PDI zone. The prior land use approvals 
approved “office” as an allowed use on this specific subject site. The location, design 
and site plan of the proposed development complies with applicable zoning regulations 
as described in the responses to Section 4.154-4.199. Additionally, the base zone, PDI, 
allows for “any use allowed in the PDC zone,” and office is a typically permitted use in 
the PDC zone per Section 4.131. This standard is met.  

2. That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the 
development at the most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated 
safely and without congestion in excess of Level of Service D, as defined in the 
Highway Capacity Manual published by the National Highway Research Board, 
on existing or immediately planned arterial or collector streets and will, in the 
case of commercial or industrial developments, avoid traversing local streets. 
Immediately planned arterial and collector streets are those listed in the City’s 
adopted Capital Improvement Program, for which funding has been approved or 
committed, and that are scheduled for completion within two years of 
occupancy of the development or four year if they are an associated crossing, 
interchange, or approach street improvement to Interstate 5. 
a. In determining levels of Service D, the City shall hire a traffic engineer at 

the applicant’s expense who shall prepare a written report containing 
the following minimum information for consideration by the 
Development Review Board:  
i. An estimate of the amount of traffic generated by the proposed 

development, the likely routes of travel of the estimated 
generated traffic, and the source(s) of information of the 
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estimate of the traffic generated and the likely routes of travel; 
[Added by Ord. 561, adopted 12/15/03.] 

ii. What impact the estimate generated traffic will have on existing 
level of service including traffic generated by (1) the 
development itself, (2) all existing developments, (3) Stage II 
developments approved but not yet built, and (4) all 
developments that have vested traffic generation rights under 
section 4.140(.10), through the most probable used 
intersection(s), including state and county intersections, at the 
time of peak level of traffic. This analysis shall be conducted for 
each direction of travel if backup from other intersections will 
interfere with intersection operations. [Amended by Ord 561, 
adopted 12/15/03.] 

b. The following are exempt from meeting the Level of Service D criteria 
standard: 
i. A planned development or expansion thereof which generates 

three (3) new p.m. peak hour traffic trips or less; 
ii. A planned development or expansion thereof which provides an 

essential governmental service. 
c. Traffic generated by development exempted under this subsection on or 

after Ordinance No. 463 was enacted shall not be counted in 
determining levels of service for any future applicant. [Added by Ord 
561, adopted 12/15/03.] 

d. Exemptions under ‘b’ of this subsection shall not exempt the 
development or expansion from payment of system development 
charges or other applicable regulations. [Added by Ord 561, adopted 
12/15/03.] 

e. In no case will development be permitted that creates an aggregate 
level of traffic at LOS “F”. ([Added by Ord 561, adopted 12/15/03.] 

Response: The City’s traffic engineering consulting firm, DKS Associates, prepared a 
Traffic Impact Study (TIS), pending as Exhibit I. Statements will be provided in the 
applicant’s incompleteness response in the future. This standard is met. 

3. That the location, design, size and uses are such that the residents or 
establishments to be accommodated will be adequately served by existing or 
immediately planned facilities and services. 

Response: The City’s traffic engineering consulting firm, DKS Associates, prepared a 
Traffic Impact Study (TIS), pending as Exhibit I. Statements will be provided in the 
applicant’s incompleteness response in the future.  

For all the above reasons, the “establishments to be accommodated will be adequately 
served by existing or immediately planned facilities and services” as required by this 
standard. This standard is met. 

K. Mapping: Whenever a Planned Development permit has been granted, and so long as 
the permit is in effect, the boundary of the Planned Development shall be indicated on 
the Zoning Map of the City of Wilsonville as the appropriate “PD” Zone. 

Response: This provision provides procedural guidance to staff for implementation and requires 
no evidence from the applicant. 
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(.10) Adherence to Approved Plans, Modification 

A. Adherence to Approved Plan and Modification Thereof: The applicant shall agree in writing to 
be bound, for her/himself and her/his successors in interest, by the conditions prescribed for 
approval of a development. The approved final plan and stage development schedule shall 
control the issuance of all building permits and shall restrict the nature, location and design of all 
uses. Minor changes in an approved preliminary or final development plan may be approved by 
the Director of Planning if such changes are consistent with the purposes and general character 
of the development plan. All other modifications, including extension or revision of the stage 
development schedule, shall be processed in the same manner as the original application and 
shall be subject to the same procedural requirements. 
Response: This application is for a Modification of a Stage II PD Plan, requiring a public hearing 
before the Design Review Board (DRB).  The applicant has requested consolidation with other 
required approvals. 

B. In the event of a failure to comply with the approved plan or any prescribed condition of 
approval, including failure to comply with the stage development schedule, the Development 
Review Board may, after notice and hearing, revoke a Planned Development permit. General 
economic conditions that affect all in a similar manner may be considered as a basis for an 
extension of a development schedule. The determination of the Board shall become final 30 days 
after the date of decision unless appealed to the City Council. 
Response: The Applicant intends to comply with the approved plan and participate with staff in 
framing reasonable and clear conditions of approval to facilitate the implementation process (or 
something similar). The applicant understands that failure to comply may, after notice and 
hearing, result in revocation of a Planned Development Permit. No evidence from the Applicant, 
at this time, is required to show compliance with this provision.  

C. Approved plans and non-conforming status with updated zoning and development standards. 
1. Approved plans are the basis of legal conforming status of development except where 
one of the following occurs, at which point, the approved planned development becomes 
legally non-conforming: 

a. The zoning of land within the plan area has been changed since adoption of 
the plan; or 
b. The zoning standards for the zone under which it was approved have been 
substantially modified (50 percent or more of the regulatory standards have 
been modified as determined by the Planning Director); or 
c. The City Council declared all planned developments in a certain zone or zones 
to be legal non-conforming as part of an ordinance to update or replace zoning 
standards; or 
d. The City Council declared, by a stand-alone ordinance, planned developments 
in a certain zone not complying with current standards to be legal non-
conforming. The City Council may, in an ordinance establishing non-conforming 
status of a planned development, declare the entire planned development to be 
non-conforming or declare certain standards established in the planned 
development to be non-conforming (i.e., lot coverage, setbacks, stormwater 
standards). 

2. If one of the conditions of subsection 1. is met, development that is consistent with the 
approved plan, but not complying with current zoning standards, shall be considered 
legal non-conforming and subject to the standards of Sections 4.189 thru 4.192. 
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3. In no case shall a planned development approved within the previous 24 months, or 
under a time-extension under WC Section 4.023, be considered non-conforming; but 
automatically will become non-conforming after 24-months, and the end of any 
extensions, if it otherwise would qualify as legally non-conforming or is so declared 
pursuant to this subsection.  

Response: As the site is currently vacant, it does not fall under any of the situations outlined in 
Subsection C. For this reason, this standard is not applicable.  

D. The following are exempt from established residential density requirements beyond one unit 
per lot. 

1. Accessory Dwelling Units. 
2. Duplexes. 
3. Triplexes. 
4. Quadplexes. 
5. Cluster housing. 

Response: No residential development is proposed. This standard is not applicable.  

E. For new townhouses in existing residential planned developments in residential zones, the 
allowed density shall be the lesser of: (1) Four times the maximum net density for the lot(s) or 
parcel(s) established in the approved plan, or (2) 25 units per acre. 
Response: No residential development is proposed. This standard is not applicable.  

F. Notwithstanding Subsection C. above, single-family residential development built consistent 
with an approved master plan in the Planned Development Commercial or Planned Development 
Industrial zones prior to November 18, 2021 shall continue to be legal conforming uses. 
However, all lots within these master plans that allow for detached single-family must also allow 
all middle housing types with density exemptions and allowances consistent with D. and E. 
above. In addition, any lot coverage maximums established in the master plans less than those 
listed in Table 2 of Subsection 4.124(.07) are superseded by lot coverage standards in that table. 
Response: No residential development is proposed. This standard is not applicable. 

(.11) Early Vesting of Traffic Generation. Applicants with Stage I or Master Plan approvals occurring 
after June 2, 2003 may apply to vest the right to use available transportation capacity at the 
intersections of Wilsonville Road with Boone’s Ferry Road and with Town Center Loop West, and/or the I-
5 interchange. Vesting for properties with such approvals shall occur upon execution of a vesting 
agreement satisfactory to the city, which agreement shall include a proposed development schedule or 
phasing plan and either provide for the payment of any and all Supplemental Street SDCs or provide 
other means of financing public improvements. Vesting for properties pending such approvals shall occur 
upon such agreement and the date the approvals are final. 

The number of trips vested is subject to modification based upon updated traffic analysis associated with 
subsequent development approvals for the property. A reduction in vested trips shall attend repayment 
of vesting fees by the City. An increase in available vested trips shall occur upon payment of necessary 
vesting fees. 

Vesting shall remain valid and run with the property, unless an approval that is necessary for vesting to 
occur is terminated or a vesting agreement is terminated. If the vested right to use certain trips is lost or 
terminated, as determined by the Community Development Director with the concurrence of City Council, 
such trips shall be made available to other development upon City repayment, without interest, of 
associated vesting fees. 
Response: The applicant is not proposing to vest trips or utilize vested trips. This standard does not 
apply. 
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Section 4.133.00. - Wilsonville Road Interchange Area Management Plan (IAMP) Overlay Zone. 

Section 4.133.01. - Purpose. 

The purpose of the IAMP Overlay Zone is the long-range preservation of operational efficiency and safety 
of the Wilsonville Road Interchange, which provides access from and to Interstate 5 for residents and 
businesses in south Wilsonville. The Wilsonville Road Interchange is a vital transportation link for 
regional travel and freight movement and provides connectivity between the east and west side of the 
community. Preserving capacity and ensuring safety of this interchange and the transportation system in 
its vicinity is essential to existing businesses and residents in the southern parts of the City and to the 
continued economic and community growth and development in the vicinity of Wilsonville Road and the 
interchange. 
Response: The Subject Site is in the IAMP Overlay Zone Boundary as shown in Exhibit Error! Reference s
ource not found..  

Section 4.133.02. - Where these Regulations Apply. 

The provisions of this Section shall apply to land use applications subject to Section 4.004, Development 
Permit Required, for parcels wholly or partially within the IAMP Overlay Zone, as shown on Figure I-1. 
Any conflict between the standards of the IAMP Overlay Zone and those contained within other chapters 
of the Development Code shall be resolved in favor of the Overlay Zone. 
Response: The subject site is located in the IAMP Overlay Zone Boundary as shown in Exhibit Error! R
eference source not found.. The provisions of this Section are applicable, unless otherwise specified.  

Section 4.133.03. - Permitted Land Uses. 

Uses allowed in the underlying zoning districts are allowed subject to other applicable provisions in the 
Code and this Section.  
Response: The base zone, PDI, allows for “any use allowed in the PDC zone,” which office is a typically 
permitted use in the PDC zone per Section 4.131. The office use was approved in the prior Planned 
Development Stage I and II Approvals. This standard is met.  

Section 4.133.04. - Access Management. 

In addition to the standards and requirements of Section 4.237 for land divisions and Street Improvement 
Standards in Section 4.177, parcels wholly or partially within the IAMP Overlay Zone are governed by the 
Access Management Plan in the Wilsonville Road Interchange Area Management Plan. The following 
applies to land use and development applications subject to Sections 4.133.02 Applicability. The 
provisions of Section 4.133.04 apply to: 

(.01) Development or redevelopment proposals for parcels two acres or less that are subject to the 
requirements of Section 4.004 Development Permit. 
Response: The subject site is greater than 2 acres. This standard is not applicable.  

(.02) Planned Development applications, pursuant to Section 4.140, as part of Preliminary Approval 
(Stage One). 
Response: This application for a Stage II Final Plan Modification and Site Design Review. This standard is 
not applicable.  
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(.03) Final Approval (Stage Two) Planned Development applications, pursuant to Section 4.140, to the 
extent that subsequent phases of development differ from the approved preliminary development plan, 
or where one or more of the following elements are not identified for subsequent phases: 
A. Land uses. 
B. Building location. 
C. Building size. 
D. Internal circulation. 

Response: This application for a Stage II Final Plan Modification, Site Design Review with Waiver, and 
Stage III Master Sign Plan Modification. The prior Stage II Final Plan Modification approved 
(conceptually) a two-story office building of approximately 21,700 SF; with this Stage II Final Plan 
Modification, the Applicant proposes a single-story office building of approximately 15,700 SF.  

Section 4.133.05. - Administration. 

 Section 4.133.05 delineates the responsibilities of the City, in coordination with ODOT, to monitor and 
evaluate vehicle trip generation impacts on the Wilsonville Road Interchange from development 
approved under this Section. 

(.01) Traffic Impact Analysis: 

A. Purpose. The purpose of this section of the Code is to implement Section 660-012-0045 (2) (e) of 
the State Transportation Planning Rule that requires the City to adopt a process to apply conditions to 
development proposals in order to minimize adverse impacts to and protect transportation facilities. 
This section establishes the standards for when a proposal in the IAMP Overlay Zone must be reviewed 
for potential traffic impacts; when a Traffic Impact Analysis must be submitted with a development 
application in order to determine whether conditions are needed to minimize impacts to and protect 
transportation facilities; what must be in a Traffic Impact Study; and who is qualified to prepare the 
Study. 

B. Typical Average Daily Trips. The latest edition of the Trip Generation Manual, published by the 
Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used as standards by which to gauge average daily 
vehicle trips, unless a specific trip generation study is approved by the City Engineer. A trip generation 
study could be used to determine trip generation for a specific land use which is not well represented in 
the ITE Trip Generation Manual and for which a similar facility is available to count. 

C. When required, a Traffic Impact Analysis shall be required to be submitted to the City with a land 
use application, when the following conditions apply: 

1. The development application involves one or more of the following actions: 
a. A change in zoning or a plan amendment designation; or 
b. The development requires a Development Permit pursuant to Section 4.004; or 
c. The development may cause one or more of the following effects to access or circulation, 
which can be determined by site observation, traffic impact analysis or study, field 
measurements, and information and studies provided by the local reviewing jurisdiction and/or 
ODOT: 

i. The location of the access driveway does not meet minimum intersection sight 
distance requirements, or is located where vehicles entering or leaving the 
property are restricted, or such vehicles queue or hesitate, creating a safety 
hazard; or 
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ii. The location of the access driveway does not meet the access spacing standard 
of the roadway on which the driveway is located; or 

iii. The location of the access driveway is inconsistent with the Wilsonville Road 
Interchange Area Management Plan Access Management Plan. 

iv. A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety problems, such as 
back up onto the highway or traffic crashes in the approach area. 

Response: This proposal requires a Development Permit pursuant to Section 4.004. DKS, the City’s traffic 
consultant, has prepared a traffic analysis for the proposed development; pending Exhibit I. This 
standard is satisfied.  

D. Traffic Impact Analysis Requirements: 
1. Preparation. A Traffic Impact Analysis shall be prepared by a professional engineer under 
retainer to the City. The traffic analysis will be paid for by the applicant. 
2. Transportation Planning Rule Compliance. The traffic impact analysis shall be sufficient in detail 
to determine compliance with Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012-0060. 
3. Traffic Impact Analysis Scoping. The applicant will coordinate with the Wilsonville City Engineer 
prior to submitting an application that requires a Traffic Impact Analysis. The City has the discretion to 
determine the required elements of the TIA and the level of analysis expected. Coordination with ODOT is 
advisable and is at the City's discretion. 
Response: DKS, the City’s traffic consultant, has prepared a traffic analysis for the proposed 
development. This standard is satisfied. 

E. Approval Criteria: 
1. Criteria. When a Traffic Impact Analysis is required, approval of the development proposal 
requires satisfaction of the following criteria: 
a. The Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared by a professional engineer selected by the City; and 
b. If the proposed development meets the criteria in Section C, above, or other traffic hazard or negative 
impact to a transportation facility, the Traffic Impact Analysis shall include mitigation measures that 
meet the City's performance standards (i.e. Level-of-Service and/or Volume/Capacity ratio) and are 
satisfactory to the City Engineer and ODOT; and 
c. The proposed site design and traffic and circulation design and facilities, for all transportation 
modes, including any mitigation measures, are designed to: 
i. Have the least negative impact on all applicable transportation facilities; and 
ii. Accommodate and encourage non-motor vehicular modes of transportation to the extent 
practicable; and 
iii. Make the most efficient use of land and public facilities as practicable; and 
iv. Provide the most direct, safe and convenient routes practicable between on-site destinations, and 
between on-site and off-site destinations; and 
v. Otherwise comply with applicable requirements of the City of Wilsonville's Development Code. 
F. Conditions of Approval. The City may deny, approve, or approve a development proposal with 
appropriate conditions. 
1. Where the existing transportation system will be impacted by the proposed development, 
dedication of land for streets, transit facilities, sidewalks, bikeways, paths, or access ways may be 
required to ensure that the transportation system is adequate to handle the additional burden caused by 
the proposed use. 
2. Where the existing transportation system is shown to be burdened by the proposed use, 
improvements such as paving, curbing, installation or contribution to traffic signals, construction of 
sidewalks, bikeways, access ways, paths, or streets that serve the proposed use may be required. 
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3. Where planned local street connectivity is required to improve local circulation for the 
betterment of interchange function, local street system improvements will be required. 
Response: The City’s traffic engineering consulting firm, DKS Associates, prepared a Traffic Impact Study 
(TIS); pending as Exhibit I. Statements will be provided in the applicant’s incompleteness response in the 
future.  

(.02) Land Use Review Coordination: 
A. The City shall not deem the land use application complete unless it includes a Traffic 
Impact Analysis prepared in accordance with the requirements of this Section. 
B. The City shall provide written notification to ODOT when the application within ten 
calendar days of receiving a complete Class II Permit application. 
C. ODOT shall have at least 20 calendar days, measured from the date completion notice 
was mailed, to provide written comments to the City. If ODOT does not provide written 
comments during this 20-day period, the City staff report will be issued without consideration of 
ODOT comments. 

Response: This provision provides guidance to City staff for the processing of this application. No 
evidence is required from the Applicant.  

Section 4.133.06. - Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map Amendments. 

This Section applies to all Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map amendments to parcels wholly or 
partially within the IAMP Overlay Zone. 

(.01) IAMP Amendment. If the proposed land use is inconsistent with the current Comprehensive Plan 
Map or Zoning Map land use designation the applicant will be required to undertake a legislative process 
to amend and update the Wilsonville Road Interchange Area Management Plan in order to demonstrate 
that the proposed amendment will be consistent with the planned improvements in the Overlay Zone. 
Response: The proposed Office Use is consistent with the Zoning Map, Development Code, and prior 
Approval. No Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map Amendments are proposed. This standard is not 
applicable.  

(.02) Transportation Planning Rule Requirements: 
Response: No Comprehensive Plan Amendment, zone change, or land use regulation change is 
proposed. This standard is not applicable.  

Section 4.135. - PDI—Planned Development Industrial Zone. 

(.01) Purpose. The purpose of the PDI zone is to provide opportunities for a variety of industrial 
operations and associated uses. 
(.02) The PDI Zone shall be governed by Section 4.140, Planned Development Regulations, and as 
otherwise set forth in this Code. 
(.03) Uses that are typically permitted: 

A. Warehouses and other buildings for storage of wholesale goods, including cold storage 
plants. 

B. Storage and wholesale distribution of agricultural and other bulk products, provided that 
dust and odors are effectively contained within the site. 

C. Assembly and packing of products for wholesale shipment. 
D. Manufacturing and processing. 
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E. Motor vehicle services, or other services complementary or incidental to primary uses, 
and which support the primary uses by allowing more efficient or cost-effective 
operations. 

F. Manufacturing and processing of electronics, technical instrumentation components and 
health care equipment. 

G. Fabrication. 
H. Office complexes—Technology. 
I. Corporate headquarters. 
J. Call centers. 
K. Research and development. 
L. Laboratories. 
M. Repair, finishing and testing of product types manufactured or fabricated within the 

zone. 
N. Industrial services. 
O. Any use allowed in a PDC Zone, subject to the following limitations: 

1. Service Commercial uses (defined as professional services that cater to daily 
customers such as financial, insurance, real estate, legal, medical or dental 
offices) not to exceed 5,000 square feet of floor area in a single building, or 
20,000 square feet of combined floor area within a multi-building development. 

2. Office Complex Use (as defined in Section 4.001) shall not exceed 30 percent of 
total floor area within a project site. 

3. Retail uses, not to exceed 5,000 square feet of indoor and outdoor sales, service 
or inventory storage area for a single building and 20,000 square feet of indoor 
and outdoor sales, service or inventory storage area for multiple buildings. 

4. Combined uses under Subsections 4.135(.03)(O.)(1.) and (3.) shall not exceed a 
total of 5,000 square feet of floor area in a single building or 20,000 square feet 
of combined floor area within a multi-building development. 

P. Training facilities whose primary purpose is to provide training to meet industrial needs. 
Q. Public facilities. 
R. Accessory uses, buildings and structures customarily incidental to any permitted uses. 
S. Temporary buildings or structures for uses incidental to construction work. Such 

structures to be removed within 30 days of completion or abandonment of the 
construction work. 

T. Other similar uses, which in the judgment of the Planning Director, are consistent with 
the purpose of the PDI Zone. 

Response: The base zone, PDI, allows for “any use allowed in the PDC zone …,” and Office is a permitted 
use in the PDC zone per Section 4.131. Additionally, the applicant seeks approval that any of the uses 
allowed in 4.135.03, be allowed on the subject site. As the applicant seeks approval of allowed uses, this 
standard is met with this proposal.  

(.04) Block and access standards. The PDI zone shall be subject to the same block and access 
standards as the PDC zone, Section 4.131(.02) and (.03). 
Response: No new block or access creation is proposed as part of this application. The lot access and 
block configuration were approved as part of the prior approvals (DB09-0078 to DB09-0053). The block 
standards of 4.131.03 pertain to residential or mixed-use development; therefore, those standards are 
not applicable to this commercial development proposal.  

(.05) Performance Standards. The following performance standards apply to all industrial properties 
and sites within the PDI Zone, and are intended to minimize the potential adverse impacts of industrial 
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activities on the general public and on other land uses or activities. They are not intended to prevent 
conflicts between different uses or activities that may occur on the same property. 

A. All uses and operations except storage, off-street parking, loading and unloading shall 
be confined, contained, and conducted wholly within completely enclosed buildings, 
unless outdoor activities have been approved as part of Stage II, Site Design or 
Administrative Review. 

B. Vibration. Every use shall be so operated that the ground vibration inherently and 
recurrently generated from equipment other than vehicles is not perceptible without 
instruments at any boundary line of the property on which the use is located. 

C. Emission of odorous gases or other odorous matter in quantities as detectable at any 
point on any boundary line of the property on which the use is located shall be 
prohibited. 

D. Any open storage shall comply with the provisions of Section 4.176, and this Section. 
E. No building customarily used for night operation, such as a baker or bottling and 

distribution station, shall have any opening, other than stationary windows or required 
fire exits, within 100 feet of any residential district and any space used for loading or 
unloading commercial vehicles in connection with such an operation shall not be within 
100 feet of any residential district. 

F. Heat and Glare: 
1. Operations producing heat or glare shall be conducted entirely within an 

enclosed building. 
2. Exterior lighting on private property shall be screened, baffled, or directed away 

from adjacent residential properties. This is not intended to apply to street 
lighting. 

G. Dangerous Substances. Any use which involves the presence, storage or handling of any 
explosive, nuclear waste product, or any other substance in a manner which would cause 
a health or safety hazard for any adjacent land use or site shall be prohibited. 

H. Liquid and Solid Wastes: 
1. Any storage of wastes which would attract insects or rodents or otherwise 

create a health hazard shall be prohibited. 
2. Waste products which are stored outside shall be concealed from view from any 

property line by a sight-obscuring fence or planting as required in Section 4.176. 
3. No connection with any public sewer shall be made or maintained in violation of 

applicable City or State standards. 
4. No wastes conveyed shall be allowed to or permitted, caused to enter, or 

allowed to flow into any public sewer in violation of applicable City or State 
standards. 

5. All drainage permitted to discharge into a street gutter, caused to enter or 
allowed to flow into any pond, lake, stream, or other natural water course shall 
be limited to surface waters or waters having similar characteristics as 
determined by the City, County, and State Department of Environmental Quality. 

6. All operations shall be conducted in conformance with the City's standards and 
ordinances applying to sanitary and storm sewer discharges. 

I. Noise. Noise generated by the use, with the exception of traffic noises from automobiles, 
trucks, and trains, shall not violate any applicable standards adopted by the Oregon 
Department of Environmental Quality and W.C. 6.204 governing noise control in the 
same or similar locations. 

J. Electrical Disturbances. Except for electrical facilities wherein the City is preempted by 
other governmental entities, electrical disturbances generated by uses within the PDI 
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zone which interfere with the normal operation of equipment or instruments within the 
PDI Zone are prohibited. Electrical disturbances which routinely cause interference with 
normal activity in abutting residential use areas are also prohibited. 

K. Discharge Standards. There shall be no emission of smoke, fallout, fly ash, dust, vapor, 
gases, or other forms of air pollution that may cause a nuisance or injury to human, 
plant, or animal life, or to property. Plans of construction and operation shall be subject 
to the recommendations and regulations of the State Department of Environmental 
Quality. All measurements of air pollution shall be by the procedures and with 
equipment approved by the State Department of Environmental Quality or equivalent 
and acceptable methods of measurement approved by the City. Persons responsible for a 
suspected source of air pollution upon the request of the City shall provide quantitative 
and qualitative information regarding the discharge that will adequately and accurately 
describe operation conditions. 

L. Open burning is prohibited. 
M. Storage: 

1. Outdoor storage must be maintained in an orderly manner at all times. 
2. Outdoor storage area shall be gravel surface or better and shall be suitable for 

the materials being handled and stored. If a gravel surface is not sufficient to 
meet the performance standards for the use, the area shall be suitably paved. 

3. Any open storage that would otherwise be visible at the property line shall be 
concealed from view at the abutting property line by a sight obscuring fence or 
planting not less than six feet in height. 

N. Landscaping: 
1. Unused property, or property designated for expansion or other future use, shall 

be landscaped and maintained as approved by the Development Review Board. 
Landscaping for unused property disturbed during construction shall include 
such things as plantings of ornamental shrubs, lawns, native plants, and mowed, 
seeded fieldgrass. 

2. Contiguous unused areas of undisturbed fieldgrass may be maintained in their 
existing state. Large stands of invasive weeds such as Himalayan blackberries, 
English ivy, cherry Laurel, reed canary grass or other identified invasive plants 
shall be removed and/or mowed at least annually to reduce fire hazard. These 
unused areas, located within a phased development project or a future 
expansion cannot be included in the area calculated to meet the landscape 
requirements for the initial phase(s) of the development. 

3. Unused property shall not be left with disturbed soils that are subject to siltation 
and erosion. Any disturbed soil shall be seeded for complete erosion cover 
germination and shall be subject to applicable erosion control standards. 

Response: The proposed office building and site development are not seeking approval to conduct any 
outdoor activities, or any on-site activities that would violate the performance standards of this Section. 
No open storage, dangerous substances, or liquid or solid wastes are proposed. The only impacts 
anticipated are those from vehicular circulation, as allowed by this Standard. No discharge or open 
burning is proposed to occur on site. As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, the site will be fully 
developed but for the western portion of the site, which is classified as Significant Resource Area (SROZ). 
This standard is met.  

(.06) Other Standards: 
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A. Minimum Individual Lot Size. No limit save and except as shall be consistent with the other 
provisions of this Code (e.g., landscaping, parking, etc.). 

Response: The subject site is approximately two (2) acres. As described in this narrative, other 
provisions of the code, including: landscaping, parking, yard areas, and access are satisfied with the site 
layout as shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F. 

B. Maximum Lot Coverage. No limit, save and except as shall be consistent with the other 
provisions of this Code (e.g., landscaping, parking, etc.). 

Response: The subject site is approximately two (2) acres. As described in this narrative, other 
provisions of the code, including landscaping, parking, yard areas, and access are satisfied with the site 
layout as shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F. 

C. Front Yard Setback. Thirty (30) feet. Structures on corner or through lots shall observe the 
minimum front yard setback on both streets. Setbacks shall also be maintained from the planned 
rights-of-way shown on any adopted City street plan. 

D. Rear and Side Yard Setback. Thirty (30) feet. Structures on corner or through lots shall observe 
the minimum rear and side yard setbacks on both streets. Setbacks shall also be maintained from 
the planned rights-of-way shown on any adopted City street plan. 

Response: The site’s front yard setback is along SW Wilsonville Road and its side yard setback is along 
SW Kinsman Road. The Applicant requests a waiver to reduce both the front and the side yard setbacks 
to allow a minimum 0' yard setback at both locations, for the reasons described below:  

▪ In furthering the purpose of Section 4.140.B.3., the PDI zone contains the development 
standards for more industrially focused development, uses that generally benefit from or 
require separation from the pedestrian realm. On the other hand, appropriate for this specific 
site at a prominent street intersection corner, the proposed office building provides an inviting 
façade along the SW Wilsonville Road frontage that will contribute to an inviting pedestrian 
streetscape.  

▪ The western portion of the site is heavily encumbered by sensitive lands (SROZ). Section 
4.139.01 allows for a reduction in the front, rear, and side yard setbacks when doing so 
contributes to protecting the significant resource. As shown in the enclosed site plan (Sheet 
C1.10 of Exhibit F), the site has been designed to locate the most intensive site development 
(the building) as far from the SROZ as practicable. The proposed building’s position requires a 
reduced front yard setback.  

▪ The Applicant understands that the yard standards of Section 4.135 (PDI Zone) apply in lieu of 
the yard standards of Section 4.116 (PDC Zone) to the extent Section 4.135 provides specific 
setback standards. But notably in this context, the specific site has previously been approved for 
Office development consistent PDC Zone provisions because the site is suitable for such 
development. If the site were in the PDC Zone, there would be no required front, side or rear 
yard setbacks as the site does not abut a more restrictive zoning district. Although the proposed 
development is located in the PDI zone, the impact of the development is more akin to the 
impacts associated with office development in the PDC zone.  Allowing relief from the minimum 
setbacks required for industrial uses is reasonable and appropriate in this case.  

Based on these reasons, the Applicant requests that the front and side yard setbacks be reduced to 0' 
for the proposed development. The site plan proposes to locate the building wall a minimum 22' 
(variable) from the site’s property line adjacent to SW Wilsonville Road, a minimum 10’ from the 
unusual, angular property boundary at the site’s northeast corner, and a minimum 14' (variable) from 
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the site’s property line adjacent to SW Kinsman Road. With the approval of this Waiver request, this 
standard is met.  

E. No setback is required when side or rear yards abut on a railroad siding. 
Response: The site’s side or rear yards do not abut on a railroad siding. This standard is not applicable.  

F. Corner Vision: Corner lots shall have no sight obstruction to exceed the vision clearance 
standards of Section 4.177. 

Response: Corner Vision is shown on Sheet C1.10 and L1.10 of Exhibit F. Compliance with this standard 
is further detailed in the Applicant’s responses within Section 4.177.  

G. Off-Street Parking and Loading: As provided in Section 4.155. 
Response: On site parking is provided as shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F. Compliance with the Off-
Street Parking and Loading standards are explained in the Applicant’s responses within Section 4.155.  

H. Signs: As provided in Sections 4.156.01 through 4.156.11. 
Response: The Applicant is requesting a Type III Master Sign Plan Modification as part of this 
application. This request is further detailed in the Applicant’s responses to Section 4.156.  

2. Site Design Review 

Section 4.139.00. - Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) Ordinance. 

Section 4.139.02. - Where these Regulations Apply. 

The regulations of this Section apply to the portion of any lot or development site, which is within a 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone and its associated "Impact Areas". The text provisions of the 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone ordinance take precedence over the Significant Resource Overlay Zone 
maps. The Significant Resource Overlay Zone is described by boundary lines shown on the City of 
Wilsonville Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map. For the purpose of implementing the provisions of 
this Section, the Wilsonville Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map is used to determine whether a 
Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) is required. Through the development of an SRIR, a more 
specific determination can be made of possible impacts on the significant resources. 

Unless otherwise exempted by these regulations, any development proposed to be located within the 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone and/or Impact Area must comply with these regulations. Where the 
provisions of this Section conflict with other provisions of the City of Wilsonville Planning and Land 
Development Ordinance, the more restrictive shall apply. 

The SROZ represents the area within the outer boundary of all inventoried significant natural resources. 
The Significant Resource Overlay Zone includes all land identified and protected under Metro's UGMFP 
Title 3 Water Quality Resource Areas and Title 13 Habitat Conservation Areas, as currently configured, 
significant wetlands, riparian corridors, and significant wildlife habitat that is inventoried and mapped on 
the Wilsonville Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map. 
Response: As shown in Exhibits F and J, a portion of the site, along the western property boundary, is 
located within the SROZ. This Section is applicable as described in the Applicant’s responses to Section 
4.139.  

Section 4.139.03. - Administration. 
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(.01) Resources. The text provisions of this section shall be used to determine whether applications may 
be approved within the Significant Resource Overlay Zone. The following maps and documents may be 
used as references for identifying areas subject to the requirements of this Section: 

A. Metro's UGMFP Title 3 Water Quality Resource Area maps. 
B. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM). 
C. The Wilsonville Local Wetland Inventory (LWI) (1998). 
D. The Wilsonville Riparian Corridor Inventory (RCI) (1998). 
E. Locally adopted studies or maps. 
F. City of Wilsonville slope analysis maps. 
G. Clackamas and Washington County soils surveys. 
H. Metro's UGMFP Title 13 Habitat Conservation Area Map. 

(.02) Impact Area. The "Impact Area" is the area adjacent to the outer boundary of a Significant Resource 
within which development or other alteration activities may be permitted through the review of an SRIR 
(Significant Resource Impact Report). Where it can be clearly determined by the Planning Director that 
development is only in the Impact Area and there is no impact to the Significant Resource, development 
may be permitted without SRIR review. The impact area is 25 feet wide unless otherwise specified in this 
ordinance or by the decision making body. Designation of an Impact Area is required by Statewide 
Planning Goal 5. The primary purpose of the Impact Area is to ensure that development does not 
encroach into the SROZ. 
Response: As shown in Exhibit F the limits of grading extend into the SROZ, but only exempt activities, 
per Section 4.139(.04) discussed below, are proposed within the SROZ.  

(.03) Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR). For proposed non-exempt development within the SROZ, 
the applicant shall submit a Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) as part of any application for a 
development permit. 
Response: Only activities exempt per Section 4.139(.04) are proposed within the SROZ, as shown on 
Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F; therefore, an SRIR is not required under this provision.  

(.04) Prohibited Activities. New structures, development and construction activities shall not be permitted 
within the SROZ if they will negatively impact significant natural resources. Gardens, lawns, application 
of chemicals, uncontained areas of hazardous materials as defined by DEQ, domestic animal waste, 
dumping of materials of any kind, or other activities shall not be permitted within the SROZ if they will 
negatively impact water quality. 
Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, a small amount of grading is proposed for the 
stormwater facility along the western boundary of the parking area. The stormwater facility will be 
planted as shown on Sheets L1.10 and L1.11 of Exhibit F. The proposed plantings will enhance the SROZ 
area and provide stormwater treatment. 

Unauthorized land clearing or grading of a site to alter site conditions is not allowed, and may result in 
the maximum requirement of mitigation/enhancement regardless of pre-existing conditions. 
Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, no new structures, development, or construction 
activities are proposed within the SROZ. No work that would negatively impact water quality is 
proposed. This standard is met.  

(.05) Habitat-Friendly Development Practices. To the extent practicable, development and construction 
activities that encroach within the Significant Resource Overlay Zone and/or Impact Area shall be 
designed, located and constructed to: 

A. Minimize grading, removal of native vegetation, disturbance and removal of native soils, and 
impervious area; 
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B. Minimize adverse hydrological impacts on water resources, such as using the practices 
described in Part (a) of Table NR-2, unless their use is prohibited by an applicable and required 
state or federal permit, such as a permit required under the federal Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 
1251 et seq., or the federal Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 300f et seq., and including 
conditions or plans required by such permit; 
C. Minimize impacts on wildlife corridors and fish passage, such as by using the practices 
described in Part (b) of Table NR-2; and 
D. Consider using the practices described in Part (C) of Table NR-2. 

Response: As shown in Exhibit F, the proposed development incorporates the following Habitat-Friendly 
Development Practices from Table NR-2: Habitat-Friendly Development Practices: 

A.4. Landscape with rain gardens to provide on-lot detention, filtering of rainwater and 
groundwater re-charge. 
A.8. Use multi-functional open drainage systems in lieu of more conventional curb and gutter 
systems. 
C.2. Locate landscaping adjacent to SROZ. 
C.3. Reduce light spill-off into SROZ areas from development (see lighting analysis, Sheet E1.10 in 
Exhibit F). 
C.4. Preserve and maintain existing trees and tree canopy coverage, and plant trees, where 
appropriate, to maximize future tree canopy coverage. 

Section 4.139.04. - Uses and Activities Exempt from These Regulations 

A request for exemption shall be consistent with the submittal requirements listed under Section 
4.139.06 (.01)(B—I), as applicable to the exempt use and activity. 

(.01) Emergency procedures or emergency activities undertaken which are necessary for the 
protection of public health, safety, and welfare. Measures to remove or abate hazards and 
nuisances. Areas within the SROZ that are disturbed because of emergency procedures or 
activities should be repaired and mitigated. 
(.02) Maintenance and repair of buildings, structures, yards, gardens or other activities or uses 
that were in existence prior to the effective date of these regulations. 
(.03) Alterations of buildings or accessory structures which do not increase building coverage. 
(.04) The following agricultural activities lawfully in existence as of the effective date of this 
ordinance: 

A. Mowing of hay, grass or grain crops. 
B. Tilling, disking, planting, seeding, harvesting and related activities for pasture, tree 
crops, commercial woodlots, food crops or business crops, provided that no additional 
lands within the SROZ are converted to these uses after the effective date of this 
ordinance. 

(.05) Operation, maintenance, and repair of irrigation and drainage ditches, constructed ponds, 
wastewater facilities, stormwater detention or retention facilities, and water facilities consistent 
with the Stormwater Master Plan or the Comprehensive Plan. 
(.06) Maintenance and repair of streets and utility services within rights-of way, easements, 
access drives or other previously improved areas. 
(.07) Normal and routine maintenance and repair of any public improvement or public 
recreational area regardless of its location. 
(.08) The construction of new roads, pedestrian or bike paths into the SROZ in order to provide 
access to the sensitive area or across the sensitive area, provided the location of the crossing is 
consistent with the intent of the Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan. Roads and paths shall be 
constructed so as to minimize and repair disturbance to existing vegetation and slope stability. 
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(.09) Maintenance and repair of existing railroad tracks and related improvements. 
(.10) The removal of invasive vegetation such as Himalayan Blackberry, English Ivy, Poison Oak, 
Scots (Scotch) Broom or as defined as invasive in the Metro Native Plant List. 
(.11) The planting or propagation of any plant identified as native on the Metro Native Plant List. 
See Wilsonville Planning Division to obtain a copy of this list. 
(.12) Grading for the purpose of enhancing the Significant Resource as approved by the City. 
(.13) Enhancement of the riparian corridor or wetlands for water quality or quantity benefits, 
fish, or wildlife habitat as approved by the City and other appropriate regulatory authorities. 
(.14) Flood control activities pursuant to the Stormwater Master Plan, save and except those 
stormwater facilities subject to Class II Administrative Review, as determined by the Planning 
Director, to ensure such facilities meet applicable standards under federal, state and local laws, 
rules and regulations. 
(.15) Developments that propose a minor encroachment into the Significant Resource Overlay 
Zone. The purpose of this adjustment would be to allow for minor encroachments of impervious 
surfaces such as accessory buildings, eave overhangs, building appurtenances, building access 
and exiting requirements or other similar feature. The total adjustment shall not exceed 120 
square feet in cumulative area. 
(.16) The expansion of an existing single family dwelling or duplex not exceeding 600 square feet 
in area. The expansion of an existing single family dwelling or duplex or structures that are 
accessory to a single family dwelling or duplex inside the SROZ, provided that the following 
criteria have been satisfied. An SRIR is not required to evaluate and reach a decision on the 
issuance of a permit to expand a single-family residence under this paragraph. 

A. The expansion of a single family or duplex structure or improvement (including decks 
and patios) shall not be located any closer to the stream or wetland area than the 
existing structure or improvement; and 
B. The coverage of all structures within the SROZ on the subject parcel shall not be 
increased by more than 600 square feet, based on the coverage in existence prior to the 
effective date of this ordinance; and, 
C. The applicant must obtain the approval of an erosion and sediment control plan from 
the City's Building and Environmental Services Divisions; and, 
D. No part of the expansion is located within the Metro UGMFP Title 3 Water Quality 
Area. 

(.17) New Single-Family Dwelling or Duplex. The construction of a new single family dwelling or 
duplex, including a duplex created through conversion of an existing detached single-family 
dwelling, is exempt unless the building encroaches into the Impact Area and/or the SROZ. 

A. If the proposed building encroaches only into the Impact Area then an abbreviated 
SRIR may be required as specified in Section 4.139.05, unless it can be clearly determined 
by the Planning Director that the development proposal will have no impact on the 
Significant Resource. The primary purpose of the Impact Area is to insure that 
development does not encroach into the SROZ. Development otherwise in compliance 
with the Planning and Land Development Ordinance may be authorized within the 
Impact Area. 
B. If the proposed building encroaches into the SROZ, then a complete or abbreviated 
SRIR report is required. 

(.18) Private or public service connection laterals and service utility extensions. 
(.19) A Stage II development permit or other development permits issued by the City and 
approved prior to the effective date of this ordinance. 
(.20) The installation of public streets and utilities specifically mapped within a municipal utility 
master plan, the Transportation Systems Plan or a capital improvement plan. 
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(.21) Structures which are non-conforming to the standards of this Section may be re-built in the 
event of damage due to fire or other natural hazard subject to Sections 4.189—4.192 of the 
Planning and Land Development Ordinance, provided that the structure is placed within the 
same foundation lines (See Figure NR-6.). An SRIR is not required to evaluate and reach a 
decision on the issuance of a permit to replace a structure subject to this paragraph. 
(.22) Any impacts to resource functions from the above excepted activities, such as gravel 
construction pads, erosion/sediment control materials or damaged vegetation, shall be 
mitigated using appropriate repair or restoration/enhancement techniques. 

Response: This proposal includes the following listed exempt activities within the SROZ: removal of 
invasive species (.10); native and non-native planting (.11); grading for the purposes of enhancing the 
SROZ (.12); and enhancement of the riparian corridor for water quality benefits (.13). 

As shown in the Plan Set (Exhibit F), limited work is proposed within the SROZ. At the recommendation 
of staff, the Applicant has designed a distributed surface stormwater system for the site, with a 
triangular facility located in the middle of the parking area and a linear vegetated facility located along 
the western edge of the parking boundary. As part of the proposed plantings within the SROZ, invasive 
species within the SROZ area will be removed, an allowed exempt activity per (.10). As shown on the L-
Series Sheets of Exhibit F, the plantings in the SROZ will consist of both native and non-native plantings, 
per recommendation of the licensed landscape architect. Grading, as shown on Sheet C1.20 of Exhibit F, 
is proposed within the SROZ for the purpose of enhancing the Significant Resource through the 
installation of a vegetated stormwater facility and associated replanting including native species. The 
vegetated stormwater facility is positioned to provide enhancement of the SROZ corridor while also 
meeting the water quality and flow control requirements as described in the preliminary stormwater 
report (Exhibit G). The proposed activities within the SROZ will include removal of invasive plants, 
regrading consistent with SROZ buffer enhancement, and restorative plantings as detailed in the L-Series 
Sheets of Exhibit F.  

As shown on Sheet L0.02, the proposed grading, landscaping, and construction of the linear stormwater 
management facility will affect 226 SF of a previously approved 2,514 SF mitigation planting area 
situated on both sides of a river-rock lined storm drainage corridor located west of the existing 
driveway. The proposed planting plan mitigates for that limited impact with 226 SF of adjacent native 
plantings just north of the existing mitigation planting area and west of the linear water quality facility, 
with a one-to-one mitigation planting ratio. 

The proposed work in the SROZ supports the City’s efforts, and the Code’s intent, to restore, maintain, 
and enhance the City’s Significant Resources. The proposed activities and improvements are consistent 
with exempt activities listed in this Section, and therefore exempt from review under this chapter.  

Section 4.139.05. - Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map Verification. 

The map verification requirements described in this Section shall be met at the time an applicant 
requests a building permit, grading permit, tree removal permit, land division approval, or other land use 
decision. Map verification shall not be used to dispute whether the mapped Significant Resource Overlay 
Zone boundary is a significant natural resource. Map refinements are subject to the requirements of 
Section 4.139.10(.01)(D). 

(.01) In order to confirm the location of the Significant Resource Overlay Zone, map verification shall be 
required or allowed as follows: 
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A. Development that is proposed to be either in the Significant Resource Overlay Zone or less than 100 
feet outside of the boundary of the Significant Resource Overlay Zone, as shown on the Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone Map. 

B.A lot or parcel that: 

1.Either contains the Significant Resource Overlay Zone, or any part of which is less than 100 feet outside 
the boundary of the Significant Resource Overlay Zone, as shown on the Significant Resource Overlay 
Zone Map; and 

2.Is the subject of a land use application for a partition, subdivision, or any land use application that the 
approval of which would authorize new development on the subject lot or parcel. 

(.02)An application for Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map Verification may be submitted even if one 
is not required pursuant to Section 4.139.05(.01). 

(.03)If a lot or parcel or parcel is subject to Section 4.139.05(.01), an application for Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone Map Verification shall be filed concurrently with the other land use applications referenced 
in Section 4.139.05(.01)(B)(2) unless a previously approved Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map 
Verification for the subject property remains valid. 

(.04)An applicant for Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map Verification shall use one or more of the 
following methods to verify the Significant Resource Overlay Zone boundary: 

A.The applicant may concur with the accuracy of the Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map of the 
subject property; 

B.The applicant may demonstrate a mapping error was made in the creation of the Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone Map; and 

C.The applicant may demonstrate that the subject property was developed lawfully prior to June 7, 2001. 

(.05)The Planning Director shall determine the location of any Significant Resource Overlay Zone on the 
subject property by considering information submitted by the applicant, information collected during any 
site visit that may be made to the subject property, information generated by Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone Map Verification that has occurred on adjacent properties, and any other relevant 
information that has been provided. 

(.06)For applications filed pursuant to Section 4.139.05(.04)(A) and (C), a Significant Resource Overlay 
Zone Map Verification shall be consistent with the submittal requirements listed under Section 
4.139.06(.01)(B-H). 

(.07)For applications filed pursuant to Section 4.139.05(.04)(B), a Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map 
Verification shall be consistent with the submittal requirements listed under Section 4.139.06(.02)(D)(1). 
Response: The application materials include a Wetland Delineation (Exhibit J) that confirms the SROZ 
boundary established by the City. No change in the SROZ boundary is proposed with this application.  

Section 4.139.10. - Development Review Board (DRB) Process. 

Section 4.139.11. - Special Provisions. 
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(.01) Reduced front, rear and side yard setback. Applications on properties containing the SROZ may 
reduce the front, rear and side yard setback for developments or additions to protect the significant 
resource, as approved by the Development Review Board. 
Response: As shown in Exhibit F and Exhibit J, the western portion of the site is located within the SROZ. 
In order to locate the building on the site, while accommodating stormwater facilities, parking, vehicle, 
and pedestrian circulation, reduced front and side yard setbacks are requested through the City’s 
Waiver application process. The site design, with the reduced front and side yard setbacks, allows for 
preservation and plantings within the SROZ.  

(.02) Density Transfer. For residential development proposals on lands zoned Planned Development 
Residential (PDR) which contain land within the SROZ, a transfer of density shall be permitted within the 
Stage I Master Plan area. Density can only be transferred to land outside the SROZ and within the Stage I 
Master Plan area. The formula in A. through B. below shall be used to calculate the density that may be 
transferred. 

A. Step 1. Calculate Expected Maximum Density. The Expected Maximum Density (EMD) is 
calculated by multiplying the gross acreage of the Stage I Master Plan area within the SROZ but 
outside any BPA easements by the maximum density for the Zoning Designation as shown in 
Table 1 of Section 4.124. 
B. Step 2. Reduce the EMD obtained in Step 1 by 50 percent and then round down to the nearest 
whole number. This is the density (number of units) able to be transferred from the SROZ area to 
elsewhere in the Stage I Master Plan area provided applicable standards for the zone are still 
met including, but not limited to, allowed uses, setbacks, standards for outdoor living area, 
landscaping, building height and parking. 

Response: No residential development is proposed. This standard is not applicable.  

(.03) Alteration of constructed drainageways. Alteration of constructed drainageways may be allowed 
provided that such alterations do not adversely impact stream flows, flood storage capacity and in 
stream water quality and provide more efficient use of the land as well as provide improved habitat 
value through mitigation, enhancement and/or restoration. Such alterations must be evaluated through 
an SRIR and approved by the City Engineer and Development Review Board. 
Response: No alteration of a constructed drainageway is proposed. This standard is not applicable.  

Section 4.154. On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 

(.01) On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
A. The purpose of this section is to implement the pedestrian access and connectivity 

policies of the Transportation System Plan. It is intended to provide for safe, reasonably 
direct, and convenient pedestrian access and circulation. 

B. Standards. Development shall conform to all of the following standards: 
1. Continuous Pathway System. A pedestrian pathway system shall extend 

throughout the development site and connect to adjacent sidewalks, and to all 
future phases of the development, as applicable. 

2. Safe, Direct, and Convenient. Pathways within developments shall provide safe, 
reasonably direct, and convenient connections between primary building 
entrances and all adjacent parking areas, recreational areas/playgrounds, and 
public rights-of-way and crosswalks based on all of the following criteria: 
a. Pedestrian pathways are designed primarily for pedestrian safety and 

convenience, meaning they are free from hazards and provide a 
reasonably smooth and consistent surface. 
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b. The pathway is reasonably direct. A pathway is reasonably direct when 
it follows a route between destinations that does not involve a 
significant amount of unnecessary out-of-direction travel. 

c. The pathway connects to all primary building entrances and is consistent 
with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements. 

d. All parking lots larger than three acres in size shall provide an internal 
bicycle and pedestrian pathway pursuant to Section 
4.155(.03)(B.)(3.)(d.). 

Response: As illustrated on sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, a continuous ADA-compliant 
pathway will connect all building entrances, providing site connection to SW Kinsman 
Road. The proposed pathway provides direct access to the building entrance while 
safely directing pedestrians away from the driveway edge, and away from vehicle 
circulation areas. The parking area is less than three (3) acres in size, and therefore an 
internal bicycle and pedestrian pathway is not required. This standard is met. 

3. Vehicle/Pathway Separation. Except as required for crosswalks, per subsection 4, 
below, where a pathway abuts a driveway or street it shall be vertically or 
horizontally separated from the vehicular lane. For example, a pathway may be 
vertically raised six inches above the abutting travel lane, or horizontally 
separated by a row of bollards. 

Response: As illustrated on sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, the pedestrian path does not abut a 
driveway or street. In areas where the pedestrian path abuts vehicular parking spaces, 
the pedestrian path is curb separated and elevated 6" above the vehicle parking space. 
In the area where the pedestrian walkway abuts the internal vehicle circulation area, a 
curb ramp is provided as shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F. This standard is met.  

4. Crosswalks. Where a pathway crosses a parking area or driveway, it shall be 
clearly marked with contrasting paint or paving materials (e.g., pavers, light-
color concrete inlay between asphalt, or similar contrast). 

Response: No pathway crossing of a parking area or driveway is proposed; therefore, no 
crosswalks are proposed or required. This standard is not applicable.  

5. Pathway Width and Surface. Primary pathways shall be constructed of concrete, 
asphalt, brick/masonry pavers, or other durable surface, and not less than five 
(5) feet wide. Secondary pathways and pedestrian trails may have an alternative 
surface except as otherwise required by the ADA. 

Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, the pathway will be constructed of 
concrete, and will measure at least 5' in width. No alternative surfacing is proposed. This 
standard is met.  

6. All pathways shall be clearly marked with appropriate standard signs. 
Response: Signage is not necessary to identify the path because it is framed by a 
building on one side and vehicle parking area on the other. This standard is met. 

Section 4.155. General Regulations - Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking 

(.02) General Provisions: 
A. The provision and maintenance of off-street parking spaces is a continuing obligation of 

the property owner. The standards set forth herein shall be considered by the 
Development Review Board as minimum criteria. 
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1. The Board shall have the authority to grant variances or planned development 
waivers to these standards in keeping with the purposes and objectives set forth 
in the Comprehensive Plan and this Code. 

2. Waivers to the parking, loading, or bicycle parking standards shall only be issued 
upon a findings that the resulting development will have no significant adverse 
impact on the surrounding neighborhood, and the community, and that the 
development considered as a whole meets the purposes of this section. 

Response: The applicant acknowledges the continuing obligation to provide and maintain 
parking for site users. No waivers to the parking, loading, or bicycle parking standards are 
requested.  

B. No area shall be considered a parking space unless it can be shown that the area is 
accessible and usable for that purpose, and has maneuvering area for the vehicles, as 
determined by the Planning Director. 

Response: As illustrated on Sheet C1.10 in Exhibit B, all parking spaces are proposed to be hard-
surfaced as required, and off-street maneuvering space is provided in drive aisles that comply 
with the City’s dimensional requirements. This standard is met. 

C. In cases of enlargement of a building or a change of use from that existing on the 
effective date of this Code, the number of parking spaces required shall be based on the 
additional floor area of the enlarged or additional building, or changed use, as set forth 
in this Section. Current development standards, including parking area landscaping and 
screening, shall apply only to the additional approved parking area. 

Response: No building enlargement or change of use is proposed, since this is a proposal for a 
new building. This standard does not apply. 

D. In the event several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land, the total 
requirement for off-street parking shall be the sum of the requirements of the several 
uses computed separately, except as modified by subsection “E,” below. 

Response: Only one use, Office Use, is proposed within the proposed office building. This 
standard is not applicable.  

E. Owners of two (2) or more uses, structures, or parcels of land may utilize jointly the 
same parking area when the peak hours of operation do not overlap, provided satisfactory legal 
evidence is presented in the form of deeds, leases, or contracts securing full and permanent 
access to such parking areas for all the parties jointly using them. 
Response: The applicant does not propose sharing parking with nearby uses. This standard does 
not apply. 

F. Off-street parking spaces existing prior to the effective date of this Code may be included 
in the amount necessary to meet the requirements in case of subsequent enlargement of 
the building or use to which such spaces are necessary. 

Response: The site will be completely redeveloped, and no existing parking spaces will remain. 
This standard does not apply. 

G. Off-Site Parking. Except for single-family dwellings, the vehicle parking spaces required 
by this Chapter may be located on another parcel of land, provided the parcel is within 
500 feet of the use it serves and the DRB has approved the off-site parking through the 
Land Use Review. The distance from the parking area to the use shall be measured from 
the nearest parking space to the main building entrance, following a sidewalk or other 
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pedestrian route. The right to use the off-site parking must be evidenced in the form of 
recorded deeds, easements, leases, or contracts securing full and permanent access to 
such parking areas for all the parties jointly using them. 

Response: No offsite parking is proposed. This standard does not apply. 

H. The conducting of any business activity shall not be permitted on the required parking 
spaces, unless a temporary use permit is approved pursuant to Section 4.163. 

Response: The applicant is not requesting authorization to perform business activities within 
required parking spaces. This standard does not apply. 

I. Where the boundary of a parking lot adjoins or is within a residential district, such 
parking lot shall be screened by a sight-obscuring fence or planting. The screening shall 
be continuous along that boundary and shall be at least six (6) feet in height. 

Response: The boundary of the parking area does not adjoin or is not located within a 
residential district. This standard is not applicable.  

J. Parking spaces along the boundaries of a parking lot shall be provided with a sturdy 
bumper guard or curb at least six (6) inches high and located far enough within the 
boundary to prevent any portion of a car within the lot from extending over the property 
line or interfering with required screening or sidewalks. 

Response: As illustrated on Sheet C1.10 in Exhibit F, all parking spaces adjacent to property lines 
have a six-inch curb at the front to ensure adequate space for landscaping and sidewalks and to 
prevent vehicles from crossing the property line. This standard is met. 

K. All areas used for parking and maneuvering of cars shall be surfaced with asphalt, 
concrete, or other surface, such as pervious materials (i. e. pavers, concrete, asphalt) 
that is found by the City’s authorized representative to be suitable for the purpose. In all 
cases, suitable drainage, meeting standards set by the City’s authorized representative, 
shall be provided. [Amended by Ord. # 674 11/16/09] 

Response: As noted on Sheet C1.10 in Exhibit F, all parking and maneuvering areas are proposed 
to be paved. Sheet C1.30 of Exhibit F illustrates the required stormwater management system. 
This standard is met. 

L. Artificial lighting which may be provided shall be so limited or deflected as not to shine 
into adjoining structures or into the eyes of passers-by. 

Response: As illustrated on the lighting plan (see Exhibit Error! Reference source not found.), t
he applicant intends to comply using the prescriptive approach. This standard is met. 

M. Off-street parking requirements for types of uses and structures not specifically listed in 
this Code shall be determined by the Development Review Board if an application is 
pending before the Board. Otherwise, the requirements shall be specified by the Planning 
Director, based upon consideration of comparable uses. 

Response: Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville’s response to OAR 660-012-0440, the subject site 
is located in an area of the City which is exempt from the minimum parking requirements.  This 
standard does not apply. 

N. Up to forty percent (40%) of the off-street spaces may be compact car spaces as 
identified in Section 4.001 - “Definitions,” and shall be appropriately identified. 

Response: As illustrated on Sheet C1.10 in Exhibit F, 22 compact parking spaces are proposed. 
This standard is met. The compact parking spaces meet the dimensional requirements as 
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defined in Section 4.001. As shown on Sheet C1.10 in Exhibit F, the parking spaces will have a 
ground marking to identify the select parking spaces as compact parking spaces. This standard is 
met.  

O. Where off-street parking areas are designed for motor vehicles to overhang beyond 
curbs, planting areas adjacent to said curbs shall be increased to a minimum of seven (7) 
feet in depth. This standard shall apply to a double row of parking, the net effect of 
which shall be to create a planted area that is a minimum of seven (7) feet in depth. 

Response: Landscape islands and pedestrian walkways abutting parking spaces have been 
designed to provide adequate width to meet standards, assuming a 2' bumper overhang. This 
standard is met. 

(.03) Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements: 
A. Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be designed with access and maneuvering 

area adequate to serve the functional needs of the site and shall: 
1. Separate loading and delivery areas and circulation from customer and/or 

employee parking and pedestrian areas. Circulation patterns shall be clearly 
marked. 

2. To the greatest extent possible, separate vehicle and pedestrian traffic. 
Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, the parking area is designed with access and 
maneuvering area adequate to serve the office building. No regular deliveries are anticipated; 
therefore, no loading zone has been provided (detailed in the Applicant’s response to 4.155.05 
below). This standard is met.  

B. Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be landscaped to minimize the visual 
dominance of the parking or loading area, as follows:  
1. Landscaping of at least ten percent (10%) of the parking area designed to be 

screened from view from the public right-of-way and adjacent properties. This 
landscaping shall be considered to be part of the fifteen percent (15%) total 
landscaping required in Section 4.176.03 for the site development. 

2. Landscape tree planting areas shall be a minimum of eight (8) feet in width and 
length and spaced every eight (8) parking spaces or an equivalent aggregated 
amount. 
a. Trees shall be planted in a ratio of one (1) tree per eight (8) parking 

spaces or fraction thereof, except in parking areas of more than two 
hundred (200) spaces where a ratio of one (1) tree per six (six) spaces 
shall be applied as noted in subsection (.03)(B.)(3.). A landscape design 
that includes trees planted in areas based on an aggregated number of 
parking spaces must provide all area calculations.  

b. Except for trees planted for screening, all deciduous interior parking lot 
trees must be suitably sized, located, and maintained to provide a 
branching minimum of seven (7) feet clearance at maturity. 

Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, overall site landscaping of 31.9% is 
provided, exceeding the minimum 15% requirement. Parking area landscaping is 
provided at 5,213 SF, which is 22.6% of site area devoted to parking areas, exceeding 
the minimum 10% requirement. Parking area landscape areas have been counted as 
contributing to overall site landscaping, consistent with this provision. This standard is 
met.  
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Landscape tree planting areas are provided in the aggregate, as allowed by 
4.155.03(B)(2)(a). Planter islands are at least 8' in width and length. Interior parking lot 
trees are shown on Sheets L1.10 and L1.11 of Exhibit F. This standard is met. 

3. Due to their large amount of impervious surface, new development with parking 
areas of more than two hundred (200) spaces that are located in any zone, and 
that may be viewed from the public right of way, shall be landscaped to the 
following additional standards: 

Response: As illustrated on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit B, 65 parking spaces are proposed, 
which is fewer than 200 parking spaces. This standard does not apply. 

C. Off Street Parking shall be designed for safe and convenient access that meets ADA and 
ODOT standards. All parking areas which contain ten (10) or more parking spaces, shall 
for every fifty (50) standard spaces., provide one ADA-accessible parking space that is 
constructed to building code standards, Wilsonville Code 9.000. 

Response: As illustrated on Sheet C1.10 of Attachment F, 38 standard vehicle parking spaces, 22 
compact parking spaces are proposed, and 3 accessible spaces are proposed to comply with 
provisions of the ADA and Oregon Structural Specialty Code. This standard is met. 

D. Where possible, parking areas shall be designed to connect with parking areas on 
adjacent sites so as to eliminate the necessity for any mode of travel of utilizing the 
public street for multiple accesses or cross movements. In addition, on-site parking shall 
be designed for efficient on-site circulation and parking. 

Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, the site is surrounded by rights-of-way and is 
not adjacent to any other site. This standard is not applicable.  

E. In all multi-family dwelling developments, there shall be sufficient areas established to 
provide for parking and storage of motorcycles, mopeds and bicycles. Such areas shall be 
clearly defined and reserved for the exclusive use of these vehicles. 

Response: No multi-family residences are proposed as part of this development. This standard 
does not apply. 

F. On-street parking spaces, directly adjoining the frontage of and on the same side of the 
street as the subject property, may be counted towards meeting the minimum off-street 
parking standards. 

Response: No on-street parking is proposed in SW Wilsonville Road or SW Kinsman Road along 
the subject site’s frontage. The applicant has not proposed to count on-street parking to satisfy 
the minimum parking standard. This standard does not apply. 

G. Table 5 shall be used to determine the minimum and maximum parking standards for 
various land uses. The minimum number of required parking spaces shown on Tables 5 
shall be determined by rounding to the nearest whole parking space. For example, a use 
containing 500 square feet, in an area where the standard is one space for each 400 
square feet of floor area, is required to provide one off-street parking space. If the same 
use contained more than 600 square feet, a second parking space would be required. 
Structured parking and on-street parking are exempted from the parking maximums in 
Table 5. 

Response: Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville’s response to OAR 660-012-0440, the subject site 
is located in an area of the City that is exempt from minimum parking requirements. No parking 
structures or on-street parking are proposed. This standard does not apply. 
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H. Electrical Vehicle Charging Stations: 
1. Parking spaces designed to accommodate and provide one or more electric 

vehicle charging stations on site may be counted towards meeting the minimum 
off-street parking standards. 

2. Modification of existing parking spaces to accommodate electric vehicle 
charging stations on site is allowed outright. 

Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, two (2) Electric Vehicle (EV) parking spaces are 
proposed. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville’s response to OAR 660-012-0440, the subject site is 
located in an area of the City that is exempt from the minimum parking requirements. This 
standard does not apply. 

I. Motorcycle parking:  
1. Motorcycle parking may substitute for up to 5 spaces or 5 percent of required 

automobile parking, whichever is less. For every 4 motorcycle parking spaces 
provided, the automobile parking requirement is reduced by one space. 

2. Each motorcycle space must be at least 4 feet wide and 8 feet deep. Existing 
parking may be converted to take advantage of this provision. 

Response: No motorcycle parking is proposed. This standard does not apply. 

(.04) Bicycle Parking: 
A. Required Bicycle Parking - General Provisions. 

1. The required minimum number of bicycle parking spaces for each use category is 
shown in Table 5, Parking Standards. 

2. Bicycle parking spaces are not required for accessory buildings. If a primary use 
is listed in Table 5, bicycle parking is not required for the accessory use. 

3. When there are two or more primary uses on a site, the required bicycle parking 
for the site is the sum of the required bicycle parking for the individual primary 
uses. 

4. Bicycle parking space requirements may be waived by the Development Review 
Board per Section 4.118(.03)(A.)(9.) and (10.). 

Response: Based on the proposed building size of approximately 15,744 SF of office use, the 
ratio in Table 5 requires the proposed development to provide at least four (4) bicycle parking 
spaces. As shown on Sheet C1.10 and L1.10 of Exhibit F, four (4) bicycle parking spaces are 
proposed near the main building entrance. This standard is met.  

B. Standards for Required Bicycle Parking  
1. Each space must be at least 2 feet by 6 feet in area and be accessible without 

moving another bicycle. 
2. An aisle at least 5 feet wide shall be maintained behind all required bicycle 

parking to allow room for bicycle maneuvering. Where the bicycle parking is 
adjacent to a sidewalk, the maneuvering area may extend into the right-of-way. 

3. When bicycle parking is provided in racks, there must be enough space between 
the rack and any obstructions to use the space properly. 

4. Bicycle lockers or racks, when provided, shall be securely anchored. 
5. Bicycle parking shall be located within 30 feet of the main entrance to the 

building or inside a building, in a location that is easily accessible for bicycles. For 
multi-tenant developments, with multiple business entrances, bicycle parking 
may be distributed on-site among more than one main entrance. 

Response: As illustrated on Sheets C1.10 and L1.10 of Exhibit F, all required bicycle parking 
measures 2' by 6' in area and is accessible without moving another bicycle. There is a 5' aisle 
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maintained behind all required bike parking and space between the rack and the landscape 
areas to maneuver the bicycle(s). A bike parking detail is shown on Sheet C5.10 of Exhibit F. 
Lastly, bicycle parking is located within 30' of the building entrance. This standard is met.  

C. Long-term Bicycle Parking 
1. Long-term bicycle parking provides employees, students, residents, commuters, 

and others who generally stay at a site for several hours a weather-protected 
place to park bicycles. 

2. For a proposed multi-family residential, retail, office, or institutional 
development, or for a park and ride or transit center, where six (6) or more 
bicycle parking spaces are required pursuant to Table 5, 50% of the bicycle 
parking shall be developed as long-term, secure spaces. Required long-term 
bicycle parking shall meet the following standards:  
a. All required spaces shall meet the standards in subsection (B.) above, 

and must be covered in one of the following ways: inside buildings, 
under roof overhangs or permanent awnings, in bicycle lockers, or within 
or under other structures. 

b. All spaces must be located in areas that are secure or monitored (e.g., 
visible to employees, monitored by security guards, or in public view). 

c. Spaces are not subject to the locational criterion of (B.)(5.). 
Response: Based on the building size of approximately 15,744 SF, only four (4) bicycle parking 
spaces are required. As less than six (6) bicycle parking spaces are required, this standard is not 
applicable.  

TABLE 5: PARKING STANDARDS (excerpt) 

Use 
Parking 

Minimums 
Parking 

Maximums 
Bicycle Minimums 

e. Commercial 

5. Office or flex space 
(except medical or 
dental) 

2.7 per 1,000 
sq. ft. 

4.1 per 1000 
sq. ft. 

1 per 5,000 sq. ft. 
Min. of 2 

(.05) Minimum Off-Street Loading Requirements: 

A. Every building that is erected or structurally altered to increase the floor area, and which 
will require the receipt or distribution of materials or merchandise by truck or similar 
vehicle, shall provide off-street loading berths on the basis of minimum requirements as 
follows: 
2. Restaurants, office buildings, hotels, motels, hospitals and institutions, schools 

and colleges, public buildings, recreation or entertainment facilities, and any 
similar use which has a gross floor area of 30,000 square feet or more, shall 
provide off-street truck loading or unloading berths in accordance with the 
following table: 

Square feet of Floor Area Number of Berths Required 

Less than 30,000 0 

30,000 - 100,000 1 

100,000 and over 2 
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3. A loading berth shall contain space twelve (12) feet wide, thirty-five (35) feet 
long, and have a height clearance of fourteen (14) feet. Where the vehicles 
generally used for loading and unloading exceed these dimensions, the required 
length of these berths shall be increased to accommodate the larger vehicles. 

4. If loading space has been provided in connection with an existing use or is added 
to an existing use, the loading space shall not be eliminated if elimination would 
result in less space than is required to adequately handle the needs of the 
particular use. 

5. Off-street parking areas used to fulfill the requirements of this Ordinance shall 
not be used for loading and unloading operations except during periods of the 
day when not required to meet parking needs. 

Response: The proposed office use will not require the receipt or distribution of materials or 
merchandise by truck or similar vehicle. The proposed office building is less than 30,000 SF; 
therefore, per 4.155.05.A.2., no loading space is required. No loading space is proposed. This 
standard is met.  

B. Exceptions and Adjustments. 
1. The Planning Director or Development Review Board may approve a loading 

area adjacent to or within a street right-of-way where it finds that loading and 
unloading operations:  
a. Are short in duration (i.e., less than one hour);  
b. Are infrequent (less than three operations daily);  
c. Do not obstruct traffic during peak traffic hours;  
d. Do not interfere with emergency response services or bicycle and 

pedestrian facilities; and  
e. Are acceptable to the applicable roadway authority. 

Response: The applicant is not proposing to perform loading operations adjacent to or within 
the street. This standard does not apply. 

(.06) Carpool and Vanpool Parking Requirements: 
A. Carpool and vanpool parking spaces shall be identified for the following uses:  

1. New commercial and industrial developments with seventy-five (75) or more 
parking spaces,  

2. New institutional or public assembly uses, and  
3. Transit park-and-ride facilities with fifty (50) or more parking spaces. 

B. Of the total spaces available for employee, student, and commuter parking, at least five 
percent, but not fewer than two, shall be designated for exclusive carpool and vanpool 
parking. 

C. Carpool and vanpool parking spaces shall be located closer to the main employee, 
student or commuter entrance than all other parking spaces with the exception of ADA 
parking spaces. 

D. Required carpool/vanpool spaces shall be clearly marked “Reserved - Carpool/Vanpool 
Only.” 

Response: As illustrated on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, the proposed development will provide 63 parking 
spaces. Since this is lower than the threshold of 75 spaces, the carpool and vanpool provisions do not 
apply. 

(.07) Parking Area Redevelopment. The number of parking spaces may be reduced by up to 10% of the 
minimum required parking spaces for that use when a portion of the existing parking area is modified to 
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accommodate or provide transit-related amenities such as transit stops, pull-outs, shelters, and park and 
ride stations. 
Response: The applicant is not proposing a parking reduction for transit-related amenities. This standard 
does not apply. 

Section 4.171. General Regulations - Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources 

(.02) General Terrain Preparation: 
A. All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained with 

maximum regard to natural terrain features and topography, especially hillside areas, 
floodplains, and other significant landforms. 

B. All grading, filling and excavating done in connection with any development shall be in 
accordance with the Uniform Building Code  

C. In addition to any permits required under the Uniform Building Code, all developments 
shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so as to: 
1. Limit the extent of disturbance of soils and site by grading, excavation and other 

land alterations. 
2. Avoid substantial probabilities of: (1) accelerated erosion; (2) pollution, 

contamination, or siltation of lakes, rivers, streams and wetlands; (3) damage to 
vegetation; (4) injury to wildlife and fish habitats. 

3. Minimize the removal of trees and other native vegetation that stabilize 
hillsides, retain moisture, reduce erosion, siltation and nutrient runoff, and 
preserve the natural scenic character. 

Response: The site development plan needs to achieve a balance between the purposes of the site’s 
Industrial Comprehensive Plan designation – notably, active industrial and commercial use for 
employment and economic development – and the site’s natural topography and resource constraints. 
The applicant’s proposed development plans include a Grading Plan (see Sheet C1.20 of in Exhibit F) that 
provides on-site grading and slope conditions that comply with these requirements. As shown on Sheets 
C1.01 and C1.10 of Exhibit F, minor grading is proposed within the eastern edge of the SROZ to 
accommodate a vegetated stormwater facility, following recommendations of the geotechnical report. 
The development plan prioritizes limiting impacts on the identified significant resource within the SROZ 
by concentrating development in the areas outside of it to the maximum extent feasible, consistent with 
full utilization of the portions of the property that do not contain significant resource areas. Following 
land use approval, as the project proceeds to development permitting, the applicant will be required to 
submit a detailed Erosion and Sediment Control (ESC) Plan with construction management practices to 
satisfy the requirements of subparagraphs B and C.1, -2 and -3. This standard can be met by imposition 
if a condition of approval requiring submittal of an Erosion and Sediment Control (ESC) Plan prior to 
issuance of a building construction permit.  

(.03) Hillsides: All developments proposed on slopes greater than 25% shall be limited to the extent 
that:  

A. An engineering geologic study approved by the City, establishes that the site is stable for 
the proposed development, and any conditions and recommendations based on the 
study are incorporated into the plans and construction of the development. The study 
shall include items specified under subsection 4.171(.07)(A.)(2.)( a-j): 

B. Slope stabilization and re-vegetation plans shall be included as part of the applicant’s 
landscape plans. 

C. Buildings shall be clustered to reduce alteration of terrain and provide for preservation 
of natural features. 
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D. Creation of building sites through mass pad grading and successive padding or terracing 
of building sites shall be avoided where feasible. 

E. Roads shall be of minimum width, with grades consistent with the City's Public Works 
Standards. 

F. Maintenance, including re-vegetation, of all grading areas is the responsibility of the 
developer, and shall occur through October 1 of the second growing season following 
receipt of Certificates of Occupancy unless a longer period is approved by the 
Development Review Board. 

G. The applicant shall obtain an erosion and sediment control permit from the City’s 
Building and Environmental Services Division’s. 

Response: As shown on Sheet C1.01 of Exhibit F, the area where grading is proposed is relatively flat 
(elevations range between 145'-150'). No area where development is proposed has a slope greater than 
25%. These provisions are not applicable.  

(.04) Trees and Wooded Areas. 
A. All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so that: 

1. Existing vegetation is not disturbed, injured, or removed prior to site 
development and prior to an approved plan for circulation, parking and structure 
location. 

2. Existing wooded areas, significant clumps/groves of trees and vegetation, and 
all trees with a diameter at breast height of six inches or greater shall be 
incorporated into the development plan and protected wherever feasible. 

3. Existing trees are preserved within any right-of-way when such trees are suitably 
located, healthy, and when approved grading allows. 

Response: As noted in the responses above and shown on Sheet L0.02 of Exhibit F, two (2) trees 
within the SROZ are proposed for removal. This application includes a request to remove those 
two trees and to make replacement mitigation plantings onsite. Tree protection measures will 
be implemented as shown on Sheet L0.02 of Exhibit F. No street trees are proposed for removal 
as part of this development. This standard is met.  

B. Trees and woodland areas to be retained shall be protected during site preparation and 
construction according to City Public Works design specifications, by: 
1. Avoiding disturbance of the roots by grading and/or compacting activity. 
Response: As illustrated on Sheet C1.20 of Exhibit F, on-site protection measures will be 
established around the SROZ resource area and tree protection fencing will be installed 
to protect root zones for trees to be conserved outside that area.   

2. Providing for drainage and water and air filtration to the roots of trees which 
will be covered with impermeable surfaces. 

Response: No trees are proposed for retention at locations where their root zones 
would be covered by impermeable surfaces; this provision is not applicable.   

3. Requiring, if necessary, the advisory expertise of a registered 
arborist/horticulturist both during and after site preparation. 

Response: Arborist consultation can be required on-site as excavation and grading are 
done, to assess root damage and make determinations with respect to trees affected by 
mass grading, retaining wall construction, and utilities installations. Compliance can be 
assured through a condition of approval. 
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4. Requiring, if necessary, a special maintenance, management program to insure 
survival of specific woodland areas of specimen trees or individual heritage 
status trees. 

Response: The site does not contain uniquely valuable specimen trees or heritage status 
trees; this requirement is not applicable.  

(.05) High Voltage Powerline Easements and Rights of Way and Petroleum Pipeline Easements: 
A. Due to the restrictions placed on these lands, no residential structures shall be allowed 

within high voltage powerline easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline 
easements, and any development, particularly residential, adjacent to high voltage 
powerline easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements shall be 
carefully reviewed. 

B. Any proposed non-residential development within high voltage powerline easements 
and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements shall be coordinated with and 
approved by the Bonneville Power Administration, Portland General Electric Company or 
other appropriate utility, depending on the easement or right of way ownership. 

Response: Along the western boundary of the property runs a 125' wide Bonneville Power 
Administration (BPA) electrical transmission line easement in a north-south orientation. No 
development will take place within the BPA powerline easement except for limited site grading and 
utility connections as shown on Sheet C1.20 and C1.30 of Exhibit F. No residential development is 
proposed. Construction documents will be designed in coordination with BPA regulations. This standard 
is met. 

(.06) Hazards to Safety: Purpose: 
A. To protect lives and property from natural or human-induced geologic or hydrologic 

hazards and disasters. 
B. To protect lives and property from damage due to soil hazards. 
C. To protect lives and property from forest and brush fires. 
D. To avoid financial loss resulting from development in hazard areas. 

(.07) Standards for Earth Movement Hazard Areas: 
A. No development or grading shall be allowed in areas of land movement, slump or earth 

flow, and mud or debris flow, except under one of the following conditions: 
1. Stabilization of the identified hazardous condition based on established and 

proven engineering techniques which ensure protection of public and private 
property. Appropriate conditions of approval may be attached by the City. 

2. An engineering geologic study approved by the City establishing that the site is 
stable for the proposed use and development. The study shall include the 
following: 
a. Index map. 
b. Project description, to include: location; topography, drainage, 

vegetation; discussion of previous work; and discussion of field 
exploration methods. 

c. Site geology, to include: site geologic map; description of bedrock and 
superficial materials including artificial fill; location of any faults, folds, 
etc.; and structural data including bedding, jointing, and shear zones. 

d. Discussion and analysis of any slope stability problems. 
e. Discussion of any off-site geologic conditions that may pose a potential 

hazard to the site or that may be affected by on-site development. 
f. Suitability of site for proposed development from geologic standpoint. 
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g. Specific recommendations for cut slope stability, seepage and drainage 
control, or other design criteria to mitigate geologic hazards. 

h. Supportive data, to include: cross sections showing subsurface structure; 
graphic logs of subsurface explorations; results of laboratory tests; and 
references. 

i. Signature and certification number of engineering geologist registered in 
the State of Oregon. 

j. Additional information or analyses as necessary to evaluate the site. 
B. Vegetative cover shall be maintained or established for stability and erosion control 

purposes. 
C. Diversion of storm water into these areas shall be prohibited. 
D. The principal source of information for determining earth movement hazards is the State 

Department of Geology and Mineral Industries (DOGAMI) Bulletin 99 and any 
subsequent bulletins and accompanying maps. Approved site specific engineering 
geologic studies shall be used to identify the extent and severity of the hazardous 
conditions on the site, and to update the earth movement hazards database. 

Response: According to data from the Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries 
(DOGAMI)2, the western portion of the subject site, generally corresponding to the designated SROZ 
resource corridor, is located within a moderate landslide hazard area; however, the proposed 
development area is located outside that boundary.  See Figure III-1 below.  

 

Figure III-1. Landslide Hazard Potential (DOGAMI) 

 
2 https://gis.dogami.oregon.gov/maps/hazvu/ 
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The proposed stormwater system, illustrated on Sheet C1.30 of Exhibit F, has been designed based on 
the site-specific geotechnical investigation findings and construction recommendations in the 
Geotechnical Report appended to Exhibit H, which did not identify high landslide potential. The on-site 
storm system will collect on-site stormwater runoff, direct it through surface water quality treatment 
facilities, and discharge treated runoff to Coffee Lake Creek. A Storm Report is included as Exhibit H. 

The contractor will not begin clearing operations until appropriate jurisdictional permits have been 
issued by the City and the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ), such as 
erosion/sediment control and grading permits, to ensure that adequate measures and monitoring will 
be in place to minimize erosion potential. This standard is met. 

(.08) Standards for Soil Hazard Areas: 

A. Appropriate siting and design safeguards shall insure structural stability and proper 
drainage of foundation and crawl space areas for development on land with any of the 
following soil conditions: wet or high water table; high shrink-swell capability; 
compressible or organic; and shallow depth-to-bedrock. 

The principal source of information for determining soil hazards is the State DOGAMI 
Bulletin 99 and any subsequent bulletins and accompanying maps. Approved site-specific 
soil studies shall be used to identify the extent and severity of the hazardous conditions 
on the site, and to update the soil hazards database accordingly. 

Response: In Appendix C of the Preliminary Storm Report (see Exhibit G), the applicant has 
provided documentation of poor soil infiltration characteristics at the subject property 
(Geotechnical Design Memo on Infiltration Infeasibility, June 9, 2020). All construction will be 
based on recommendations by the consulting geological engineer to ensure structural stability.  

Proposed stormwater facilities are distributed on-site at strategic locations for capture of runoff, 
upon which underground piping collects the water and routes it to discharge at an existing 
outfall to Coffee Lake Creek. Based on the geotechnical engineering report’s recommendation, 
sizing calculations for the on-site stormwater management facilities assume limited on-site 
infiltration. As a result, the preliminary storm report demonstrates the feasibility of meeting 
stormwater management requirements with minimal reliance of on-site infiltration, which 
contributes to on-site soil stability. This requirement is met. 

(.09) Historic Protection: Purpose: [detailed provisions omitted for brevity] 
Response: The subject property has not been identified as containing or being adjacent to any 
significant historic, cultural, or archaeological resources. These provisions are not applicable.  

(.10) Alteration and Development Criteria: 
A. Demolition or alteration of any structure, or any change in any site or object which has 
been designated as a cultural resource, is prohibited unless it is determined: 

1. In the case of a designated cultural resource, the proposed work would not 
detrimentally alter, destroy or adversely affect any exterior architectural or other 
identified feature; or 
2. In the case of any property located within a historic district, the proposed 
construction, removal, rehabilitation, alteration, remodeling, excavation or exterior 
alteration conforms to any prescriptive standards as adopted by the City, and does not 
adversely affect the character of the district; or 
3. In the case of construction of a new improvement, building or structure upon a 
cultural resource site, the exterior of such improvements will not adversely affect and 
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will be compatible with the external appearance of existing designated improvements, 
buildings and structures on said site; or 
4. That no reasonable use can be made of the property without such approval. 

Response: These provisions are not applicable because the subject property is not a designated cultural 
resource site and is not within a historic district. 

(.11) Cultural Resource Designation Criteria: A cultural resource may be designated and placed on the 
Cultural Resources Inventory if it meets the following criteria: 

A. It exemplifies or reflects special elements of the City’s cultural, social, economic, political, 
aesthetic, engineering or architectural history; or 

B. It is identified with persons or events significant in local, state, or national history; or 
C. It embodies distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method of construction, 

or it is a valuable example of the use of indigenous materials or craftsmanship; or 
D. It is representative of the notable work of a builder, designer, or architect. 

Response: These provisions are not applicable because the subject property is not a designated cultural 
resource site, and it is not proposed for such designation. 

Section 4.175. Public Safety and Crime Prevention 

(.01) All developments shall be designed to deter crime and insure public safety. 
Response: Although the SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road frontages will be partially screened 
by landscaping, the proposed site plan is designed to provide visibility of active use parts of the site and 
the building. This enables citizens passing by on the public street to observe activity within the site and 
facilitates surveillance by law enforcement. Site lighting, including in parking/circulation areas and along 
the pedestrian path to the office entrance, will contribute to safety during hours of darkness. This 
standard is met. 

(.02) Addressing and directional signing shall be designed to assure identification of all buildings and 
structures by emergency response personnel, as well as the general public. 
Response: The applicant will prepare and submit plans for address number signage and direction for 
internal circulation in conjunction with construction permit submittals. 

(.03) Areas vulnerable to crime shall be designed to allow surveillance. Parking and loading areas shall 
be designed for access by police in the course of routine patrol duties. 
Response: Both site frontages along SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road are observable from 
the right-of-way. facilitates routine surveillance by police without requiring them to enter and circulate 
within the site. Additionally, the parking lot and building will be illuminated to deter crime. This standard 
is met.  

(.04) Exterior lighting shall be designed and oriented to discourage crime. 
Response: Site lighting will illuminate parking and activity areas, to enable public surveillance and 
thereby discourage crime. A photometric plan is included as Sheet E1.01 of Exhibit F, followed by 
manufacturer’s specifications for proposed fixtures.  

Section 4.176. Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering 

Note: the reader is encouraged to see Section 4.179, applying to screening and buffering of storage 
areas for solid waste and recyclables. 

(.02) Landscaping and Screening Standards. 
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B. Subsections “C” through “I,” below, state the different landscaping and screening 
standards to be applied throughout the City. The locations where the landscaping and 
screening are required and the depth of the landscaping and screening is stated in 
various places in the Code. 

Response: The landscape plans (L-Series sheets in Exhibit F) have been designed to conform to 
the applicable landscaping and screening standards, as described in responses to subsections C 
through I below. This standard is met. 

C. All landscaping and screening required by this Code must comply with all of the 
provisions of this Section, unless specifically waived or granted a Variance as otherwise 
provided in the Code. The landscaping standards are minimum requirements; higher 
standards can be substituted as long as fence and vegetation-height limitations are met. 
Where the standards set a minimum based on square footage or linear footage, they 
shall be interpreted as applying to each complete or partial increment of area or length 
(e.g., a landscaped area of between 800 and 1600 square feet shall have two trees if the 
standard calls for one tree per 800 square feet. 

Response: The applicant’s landscaping plan, in the L-series drawing sheets of Exhibit F, 
demonstrates compliance with the standards in this Section. 

C. General Landscaping Standard. 
1. Intent. The General Landscaping Standard is a landscape treatment for areas 

that are generally open. It is intended to be applied in situations where distance 
is used as the principal means of separating uses or developments and 
landscaping is required to enhance the intervening space. Landscaping may 
include a mixture of ground cover, evergreen and deciduous shrubs, and 
coniferous and deciduous trees. 

2. Required materials. Shrubs and trees, other than street trees, may be grouped. 
Ground cover plants must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area (see 
Figure 21: General Landscaping). The General Landscaping Standard has two 
different requirements for trees and shrubs: 
a. Where the landscaped area is less than 30 feet deep, one tree is required 

for every 30 linear feet. 
b. Where the landscaped area is 30 feet deep or greater, one tree is 

required for every 800 square feet and two high shrubs or three low 
shrubs are required for every 400 square feet. 

Response: This site abuts both SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road. The applicant has 
used the General Landscape standard as the starting point for the SW Wilsonville Road and SW 
Kinsman Road site edges. The planting schemes for both frontages are designed to frame the 
public realm (street environment) and screen the parking and loading areas from view from the 
street (except at the driveway entrance). The plan also provides views into the SROZ Resource 
Area and the vegetated stormwater facility in the SROZ. In these ways, the specific planting 
scheme responds to the unique opportunities this site presents. 

D. Low Screen Landscaping Standard. 
1. Intent. The Low Screen Landscaping Standard is a landscape treatment that uses 

a combination of distance and low screening to separate uses or developments. 
It is intended to be applied in situations where low screening is adequate to 
soften the impact of one use or development on another, or where visibility 
between areas is more important than a total visual screen. The Low Screen 
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Landscaping Standard is usually applied along street lot lines or in the area 
separating parking lots from street rights-of-way. 

2. Required materials. The Low Screen Landscaping Standard requires sufficient 
low shrubs to form a continuous screen three (3) feet high and 95% opaque, 
year-round. In addition, one tree is required for every 30 linear feet of 
landscaped area, or as otherwise required to provide a tree canopy over the 
landscaped area. Ground cover plants must fully cover the remainder of the 
landscaped area. A three (3) foot high masonry wall or a berm may be 
substituted for the shrubs, but the trees and ground cover plants are still 
required. When applied along street lot lines, the screen or wall is to be placed 
along the interior side of the landscaped area. (See Figure 22: Low Screen 
Landscaping). 

Response: Plantings along the SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road site frontages are 
designed in compliance with the Low Screen landscaping standard. As shown on Sheets L1.10 
and L1.11 of Exhibit F, low shrubs will form a continuous screen 3' high and 95% opaque year-
round. As shown on Sheets L1.10 and L1.11 of Exhibit F, shallow rooting trees and plantings are 
proposed within the 21' public utility easement along SW Wilsonville Road frontage in the area 
between the building and the right-of-way. The proposed trees along SW Wilsonville Road have 
spacing of one per 30 linear feet of landscape area. Additionally, trees are proposed along the 
SW Kinsman Road frontage. The trees along SW Kinsman Road have spacing of one per 30 linear 
feet of landscape area, excepting in a small segment where necessary to make a pedestrian 
connection to the public sidewalk. This standard is met.  

(.03) Landscape Area. Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped 
with vegetative plant materials. The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping required by section 
4.155.03(B)(1) is included in the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement. Landscaping 
shall be located in at least three separate and distinct areas of the lot, one of which must be in the 
contiguous frontage area. Planting areas shall be encouraged adjacent to structures. Landscaping shall 
be used to define, soften or screen the appearance of buildings and off-street parking areas. Materials to 
be installed shall achieve a balance between various plant forms, textures, and heights. The installation 
of native plant materials shall be used whenever practicable. (For recommendations refer to the Native 
Plant List maintained by the City of Wilsonville). [Amended by Ord. # 674 11/16/09] 
Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, overall site landscaping of 19,962 SF is provided, or 
31.9% of buildable site area. Parking area landscaping is provided as 5,213 SF, which is 22.6% of the 
23,073 SF of the site devoted to parking areas. Dense plantings with a variety of predominantly native 
species, shrubs, groundcover, and trees, along with protection of the SROZ all contribute to an 
interesting and varied landscape composition in the foreground of the proposed industrial building. 
These requirements are satisfied. 

(.04) Buffering and Screening. Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the 
Section 4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be applied, where applicable. 

A. All intensive or higher density developments shall be screened and buffered from less 
intense or lower density developments. 

B. Activity areas on commercial and industrial sites shall be buffered and screened from 
adjacent residential areas. Multi-family developments shall be screened and buffered 
from single-family areas. 

C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be 
screened from ground level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties. 
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D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has 
been approved for the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting 
on a development permit. 

E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, landscaping shall be designed 
to screen loading areas and docks, and truck parking. 

F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil surface at the outside of 
fenceline shall require Development Review Board approval. 

Response: The subject site abuts residentially zoned land3 (currently SW Industrial Way) along the 
western site property boundary. The nearest site improvement, parking area, is located approximately a 
minimum of 50' from the residential zone. The area in between the parking area and the residential 
property to the west is SROZ and will be planted as shown on Sheet L1.10 and L1.11 of Exhibit F. The 
parking area is located over 260' from the nearest residential property. The building’s parapet-roof 
design provides screening of rooftop mechanical equipment from view from adjacent streets or 
properties, consistent with subparagraph C. The site plan does not include any outdoor storage areas 
subject to subparagraph D. No loading areas and/or loading docks are proposed, so subparagraph E. 
Perimeter fencing is not proposed, so subparagraph F is not applicable. No fence is proposed. This 
standard is met. 

(.05) Sight-Obscuring Fence or Planting. The use for which a sight-obscuring fence or planting is 
required shall not begin operation until the fence or planting is erected or in place and approved by the 
City. A temporary occupancy permit may be issued upon a posting of a bond or other security equal to 
one hundred ten percent (110%) of the cost of such fence or planting and its installation. (See Sections 
4.400 to 4.470 for additional requirements.) 
Response: The subject property’s location in the PDI zone, with industrial and commercial-designated 
neighboring properties, does not require sight-obscuring fencing or plantings for the anticipated office 
use. The area west of the site (Industrial Way) is designated as a residential zone, but the area is 
currently used as an access road, and therefore a sight-obscuring fence or plantings are not required. 
Additionally, the western boundary of the site is SROZ, and no non-exempt SROZ activities are proposed 
within that area. This provision is not applicable to this proposal.  

(.06) Plant Materials. 
A. Shrubs and Ground Cover. All required ground cover plants and shrubs must be of 

sufficient size and number to meet these standards within three (3) years of planting. 
Non-horticultural plastic sheeting or other impermeable surface shall not be placed under 
mulch. Native topsoil shall be preserved and reused to the extent feasible. Surface mulch 
or bark dust are to be fully raked into soil of appropriate depth, sufficient to control 
erosion, and are confined to areas around plantings. Areas exhibiting only surface mulch, 
compost or barkdust are not to be used as substitutes for plant areas. 
1. Shrubs. All shrubs shall be well branched and typical of their type as described in 

current AAN Standards and shall be equal to or better than 2-gallon containers 
and 10” to 12” spread. 

2. Ground cover. Shall be equal to or better than the following depending on the 
type of plant materials used: gallon containers spaced at 4 feet on center 
minimum, 4” pot spaced 2 feet on center minimum, 2-1/4” pots spaced at 18 inch 
on center minimum. No bare root planting shall be permitted. Ground cover shall  

 

3 A portion of the Industrial Way roadway appears to have been acquired in fee by the City, so it does not appear 
as public right of way on the City’s zoning map. The City’s zoning map boundary appears to be abutting the subject 
site. The residential and industrial zones are separately by SW Industrial Way and the SROZ and Coffee Lake Creek.   

151

Item 2.



 
 

51 

 

be sufficient to cover at least 80% of the bare soil in required landscape areas 
within three (3) years of planting. Where wildflower seeds are designated for use 
as a ground cover, the City may require annual re-seeding as necessary. 

3. Turf or lawn in non-residential developments. Shall not be used to cover more 
than ten percent (10%) of the landscaped area, unless specifically approved 
based on a finding that, due to site conditions and availability of water, a larger 
percentage of turf or lawn area is appropriate. Use of lawn fertilizer shall be 
discouraged. Irrigation drainage runoff from lawns shall be retained within lawn 
areas. 

4. Plant materials under trees or large shrubs. Appropriate plant materials shall be 
installed beneath the canopies of trees and large shrubs to avoid the appearance 
of bare ground in those locations. 

5. Integrate compost-amended topsoil in all areas to be landscaped, including 
lawns, to help detain runoff, reduce irrigation and fertilizer needs, and create a 
sustainable, low-maintenance landscape. 

Response: Detailed instructions for landscape plants, materials and installation are provided in 
the Landscaping Plan (L-series sheets in Exhibit F). The specifications have been prepared in 
compliance with these and other City of Wilsonville requirements. 

B. Trees. All trees shall be well-branched and typical of their type as described in current 
American Association of Nurserymen (AAN) Standards and shall be balled and burlapped. 
The trees shall be grouped as follows: 
1. Primary trees which define, outline or enclose major spaces, such as Oak, Maple, 

Linden, and Seedless Ash, shall be a minimum of 2” caliper. 
2. Secondary trees which define, outline or enclose interior areas, such as Columnar 

Red Maple, Flowering Pear, Flame Ash, and Honeylocust, shall be a minimum of 
1-3/4" to 2" caliper. 

3. Accent trees which, are used to add color, variation and accent to architectural 
features, such as Flowering Pear and Kousa Dogwood, shall be 1-3/4” minimum 
caliper. 

4. Large conifer trees such as Douglas Fir or Deodar Cedar shall be installed at a 
minimum height of eight (8) feet. 

5. Medium-sized conifers such as Shore Pine, Western Red Cedar or Mountain 
Hemlock shall be installed at a minimum height of five to six (5 to 6) feet. 

Response: Detailed specifications for landscape plants, materials and installation are provided in 
the Landscaping Plan (L-series sheets in Exhibit F). The specifications have been prepared in 
compliance with these requirements. 

C. Where a proposed development includes buildings larger than twenty-four (24) feet in 
height or greater than 50,000 square feet in footprint area, the Planning Director or the 
Development Review Board, as applicable, may require larger or more mature plant 
materials:  
1. At maturity, proposed trees shall be at least one-half the height of the building 

to which they are closest, and building walls longer than 50 feet shall require tree 
groups located no more than fifty (50) feet on center, to break up the length and 
height of the façade. 

2. Either fully branched deciduous or evergreen trees may be specified depending 
upon the desired results. Where solar access is to be preserved, only solar- 
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friendly deciduous trees are to be used. Where year-round sight obscuring is the 
highest priority, evergreen trees are to be used. 

3. The following standards are to be applied: 
a. Deciduous trees: 

i. Minimum height of ten (10) feet; and 
ii. Minimum trunk diameter (caliper) of 2 inches (measured at 

four and one-half [4 1/2] feet above grade). 
b. Evergreen trees: Minimum height of twelve (12) feet. 

Response: Detailed specifications for landscape plants, materials and installation are provided in 
the Landscaping Plan (L-series sheets in Exhibit F). The specifications have been prepared in 
compliance with these requirements. 

D. Street Trees. In order to provide a diversity of species, the Development Review Board 
may require a mix of street trees throughout a development. Unless the Board waives the 
requirement for reasons supported by a finding in the record, different types of street 
trees shall be required for adjoining blocks in a development. 
1. All trees shall be standard base grafted, well branched and typical of their type 

as described in current AAN Standards and shall be balled and burlapped (b&b). 
Street trees shall be planted at sizes in accordance with the following standards: 
a. Arterial streets - 3" minimum caliper 
b. Collector streets - 2" minimum caliper. 
c. Local streets or residential private access drives - 1-3/4" minimum 
caliper. 
d. Accent or median tree -1-3/4” minimum caliper. 

2. The following trees and varieties thereof are considered satisfactory street trees 
in most circumstances; however, other varieties and species are encouraged and 
will be considered: 
a. Trees over 50 feet mature height: Quercus garryana (Native Oregon 

White Oak), Quercus rubra borealis (Red Oak), Acer Macrophylum 
(Native Big Leaf Maple), Acer nigrum (Green Column Black Maple), 
Fraxinus americanus (White Ash), Fraxinus pennsylvannica 'Marshall' 
(Marshall Seedless Green Ash), Quercus coccinea (Scarlet Oak), Quercus 
pulustris (Pin Oak), Tilia americana (American Linden). 

b. Trees under 50 feet mature height: Acer rubrum (Red Sunset Maple), 
Cornus nuttallii (NativePacific Dogwood), Gleditsia triacanthos (Honey 
Locust), Pyrus calleryana 'Bradford' (Bradford Pear), Tilia cordata (Little 
Leaf Linden), Fraxinus oxycarpa (Flame Ash). 

c. Other street tree species. Other species may be specified for use in 
certain situations. For instance, evergreen species may be specified 
where year- round color is desirable and no adverse effect on solar 
access is anticipated. Water-loving species may be specified in low 
locations where wet soil conditions are anticipated. 

Response: Both SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road are fully improved, including street 
tree plantings. No street trees are proposed for removal, nor are any new street trees proposed. 
This standard is not applicable.  

E. Types of Plant Species. 
1. Existing landscaping or native vegetation may be used to meet these standards, 

if protected and maintained during the construction phase of the development 

153

Item 2.



 
 

53 

 

and if the plant species do not include any that have been listed by the City as 
prohibited. The existing native and non-native vegetation to be incorporated 
into the landscaping shall be identified. 

2. Selection of plant materials. Landscape materials shall be selected and sited to 
produce hardy and drought-tolerant landscaping. Selection shall be based on soil 
characteristics, maintenance requirements, exposure to sun and wind, slope and 
contours of the site, and compatibility with other vegetation that will remain on 
the site. Suggested species lists for street trees, shrubs and groundcovers shall 
be provided by the City of Wilsonville. 

3. Prohibited plant materials. The City may establish a list of plants that are 
prohibited in landscaped areas. Plants may be prohibited because they are 
potentially damaging to sidewalks, roads, underground utilities, drainage 
improvements, or foundations, or because they are known to be invasive to 
native vegetation. 

Response: Detailed specifications for landscape plants, materials and installation are provided in 
the Landscaping Plan (L-series sheets in Exhibit F). The specifications have been prepared in 
compliance with these requirements. 

F. Tree Credit. 
Existing trees that are in good health as certified by an arborist and are not disturbed 
during construction may count for landscaping tree credit as follows (measured at four 
and one-half feet above grade and rounded to the nearest inch): 
Existing trunk diameter Number of Tree Credits 
18 to 24 inches in diameter 3 tree credits 
25 to 31 inches in diameter 4 tree credits 
32 inches or greater  5 tree credits 
1. It shall be the responsibility of the owner to use reasonable care to maintain 

preserved trees. Trees preserved under this section may only be removed if an 
application for removal permit under Section 4.610.10(01)(H) has been 
approved. Required mitigation for removal shall be replacement with the 
number of trees credited to the preserved and removed tree. 

2. Within five years of occupancy and upon notice from the City, the property 
owner shall replace any preserved tree that cannot be maintained due to disease 
or damage, or hazard or nuisance as defined in Chapter 6 of this code. The notice 
shall be based on complete information provided by an arborist Replacement 
with the number of trees credited shall occur within one (1) growing season of 
notice. 

G. Exceeding Standards. Landscape materials that exceed the minimum standards of this 
Section are encouraged, provided that height and vision clearance requirements are met. 

H. Compliance with Standards. The burden of proof is on the applicant to show that 
proposed landscaping materials will comply with the purposes and standards of this 
Section. 

Response: On Site trees to be conserved include three (3) coniferous trees (located within the 
SROZ) and five (5) deciduous trees. The on-site trees vary in trunk diameter size from 2"-7". A 
tree inventory is included as Exhibit K.  

(.07) Installation and Maintenance. 
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A. Installation. Plant materials shall be installed to current industry standards and shall be 
properly staked to assure survival. Support devices (guy wires, etc.) shall not be allowed 
to interfere with normal pedestrian or vehicular movement. 

B. Maintenance. Maintenance of landscaped areas is the on-going responsibility of the 
property owner. Any landscaping installed to meet the requirements of this Code, or any 
condition of approval established by a City decision-making body acting on an 
application, shall be continuously maintained in a healthy, vital and acceptable manner. 
Plants that die are to be replaced in kind, within one growing season, unless appropriate 
substitute species are approved by the City. Failure to maintain landscaping as required in 
this Section shall constitute a violation of this Code for which appropriate legal remedies, 
including the revocation of any applicable land development permits, may result. 

C. Irrigation. The intent of this standard is to assure that plants will survive the critical 
establishment period when they are most vulnerable due to a lack of watering and also to 
assure that water is not wasted through unnecessary or inefficient irrigation. Approved 
irrigation system plans shall specify one of the following: 
1. A permanent, built-in, irrigation system with an automatic controller. Either a 

spray or drip irrigation system, or a combination of the two, may be specified. 
2. A permanent or temporary system designed by a landscape architect licensed to 

practice in the State of Oregon, sufficient to assure that the plants will become 
established and drought-tolerant. 

3. Other irrigation system specified by a licensed professional in the field of 
landscape architecture or irrigation system design. 

4. A temporary permit issued for a period of one year, after which an inspection 
shall be conducted to assure that the plants have become established. Any plants 
that have died, or that appear to the Planning Director to not be thriving, shall be 
appropriately replaced within one growing season. An inspection fee and a 
maintenance bond or other security sufficient to cover all costs of replacing the 
plant materials shall be provided, to the satisfaction of the Community 
Development Director. Additionally, the applicant shall provide the City with a 
written license or easement to enter the property and cause any failing plant 
materials to be replaced. 

D. Protection. All required landscape areas, including all trees and shrubs, shall be protected 
from potential damage by conflicting uses or activities including vehicle parking and the 
storage of materials. 

Response: The landscaping plan (L-series sheets in Exhibit F) demonstrates the feasibility of installing 
landscape materials in compliance with these requirements. Compliance can be assured through 
imposition of a condition of approval. 

(.08) Landscaping on Corner Lots. All landscaping on corner lots shall meet the vision clearance 
standards of Section 4.177. If high screening would ordinarily be required by this Code, low screening 
shall be substituted within vision clearance areas. Taller screening may be required outside of the vision 
clearance area to mitigate for the reduced height within it. 
Response: The subject site is a corner lot. As shown on the L-series sheets of Exhibit F, the vision 
clearance standards of Section are met. As explained in the Applicant’s response to Section 4.176.02, 
high screening is not required. This standard is met.  

(.09) Landscape Plans. Landscape plans shall be submitted showing all existing and proposed 
landscape areas. Plans must be drawn to scale and show the type, installation size, number and 
placement of materials. Plans shall include a plant material list. Plants are to be identified by both their 
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scientific and common names. The condition of any existing plants and the proposed method of irrigation 
are also to be indicated. Landscape plans shall divide all landscape areas into the following categories 
based on projected water consumption for irrigation: 

A. High water usage areas (+/- two (2) inches per week): small convoluted lawns, lawns 
under existing trees, annual and perennial flower beds, and temperamental shrubs; 

B. Moderate water usage areas (+/- one (1) inch per week): large lawn areas, average 
water-using shrubs, and trees; 

C. Low water usage areas (Less than one (1) inch per week, or gallons per hour): seeded 
fieldgrass, swales, native plantings, drought-tolerant shrubs, and ornamental grasses or 
drip irrigated areas. 

D. Interim or unique water usage areas: areas with temporary seeding, aquatic plants, 
erosion control areas, areas with temporary irrigation systems, and areas with special 
water–saving features or water harvesting irrigation capabilities. 

These categories shall be noted in general on the plan and on the plant material list. 
Response: As indicated in the planting plan, all landscape areas of the site fall into category C, Low 
water usage areas (see in Exhibit F, Sheet L0.01, Zoning Compliance Note for Section 4.176(.09) Water 
Usage).  

(.10) Completion of Landscaping. The installation of plant materials may be deferred for a period of time 
specified by the Board or Planning Director acting on an application, in order to avoid hot summer or 
cold winter periods, or in response to water shortages. 

In these cases, a temporary permit shall be issued, following the same procedures specified in subsection 
(.07)(C)(3), above, regarding temporary irrigation systems. No final Certificate of Occupancy shall be 
granted until an adequate bond or other security is posted for the completion of the landscaping, and the 
City is given written authorization to enter the property and install the required landscaping, in the event 
that the required landscaping has not been installed. The form of such written authorization shall be 
submitted to the City Attorney for review. 
Response: This application does not request deferral of plant material installation; however, depending 
on the seasonality of construction, the applicant may work with City staff to utilize these provisions to 
plant at the appropriate time(s), as allowed under this provision.   

(.11) Street Trees Not Typically Part of Site Landscaping. Street trees are not subject to the 
requirements of this Section and are not counted toward the required standards of this Section. Except, 
however, that the Development Review Board may, by granting a waiver or variance, allow for special 
landscaping within the right-of-way to compensate for a lack of appropriate on-site locations for 
landscaping. See subsection (.06), above, regarding street trees. 

Response: Based on the submitted materials, the proposal complies with applicable standards. 

(.12) Mitigation and Restoration Plantings. A mitigation plan is to be approved by the City’s 
Development Review Board before the destruction, damage, or removal of any existing native plants. 
Plantings intended to mitigate the loss of native vegetation are subject to the following standards. 
Where these standards conflict with other requirements of this Code, the standards of this Section shall 
take precedence. The desired effect of this section is to preserve existing native vegetation. 

A. Plant Sources. Plant materials are to be native and are subject to approval by the City. 
They are to be non-clonal in origin; seed source is to be as local as possible, and plants 
must be nursery propagated or taken from a pre-approved transplantation area. All of 
these requirements are to be addressed in any proposed mitigation plan. 
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B. Plant Materials. The mitigation plan shall specify the types and installation sizes of plant 
materials to be used for restoration. Practices such as the use of pesticides, fungicides, 
and fertilizers shall not be employed in mitigation areas unless specifically authorized and 
approved. 

C. Installation. Install native plants in suitable soil conditions. Plant materials are to be 
supported only when necessary because of extreme winds at the site. Where support is 
necessary, all stakes, guy wires or other measures are to be removed as soon as the 
plants can support themselves. Protect from animal and fowl predation and foraging until 
establishment. 

D. Irrigation. Permanent irrigation systems are generally not appropriate in restoration 
situations, and manual or temporary watering of new plantings is often necessary. The 
mitigation plan shall specify the method and frequency of manual watering, including any 
that may be necessary after the first growing season. 

E. Monitoring and Reporting. Monitoring of native landscape areas is the on-going 
responsibility of the property owner. Plants that die are to be replaced in kind and 
quantity within one year. Written proof of the survival of all plants shall be required to be 
submitted to the City’s Planning Department one year after the planting is completed. 

Response: The applicant has included in this request a Type B Tree Removal for DRB review and 
approval because proposed site design cannot be achieved without removal of two (2) existing trees 
within the SROZ. New tree plantings are proposed to mitigate the removal of the two (2) trees. With the 
approval of the Type B Tree Removal request, this standard is met.   

Section 4.177. Street Improvement Standards 
This section contains the City’s requirements and standards for pedestrian, bicycle, and transit facility 
improvements to public streets, or within public easements. The purpose of this section is to ensure that 
development, including redevelopment, provides transportation facilities that are safe, convenient, and 
adequate in rough proportion to their impacts. 

(.01) Development and related public facility improvements shall comply with the standards in this 
section, the Wilsonville Public Works Standards, and the Transportation System Plan, in rough proportion 
to the potential impacts of the development. Such improvements shall be constructed at the time of 
development or as provided by Section 4.140, except as modified or waived by the City Engineer for 
reasons of safety or traffic operations. 
Response: Per pre-application meeting information provided by City of Wilsonville staff, the applicant 
understands that both SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road are fully improved. No dedications or 
frontage improvements are required or proposed.  

(.02) Street Design Standards. 
A. All street improvements and intersections shall provide for the continuation of streets 

through specific developments to adjoining properties or subdivisions. 
1. Development shall be required to provide existing or future connections to 

adjacent sites through the use of access easements where applicable. Such 
easements shall be required in addition to required public street dedications as 
required in Section 4.236(.04). 

Response: As the site is surrounded by right-of-way, there are no adjacent sites. SW 
Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road are fully improved to City standards; therefore, 
no dedications are required. This standard is not applicable.  
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B. The City Engineer shall make the final determination regarding right-of-way and street 
element widths using the ranges provided in Chapter 3 of the Transportation System 
Plan and the additional street design standards in the Public Works Standards. 

Response: SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road are fully improved to City standards. No 
frontage improvements or right-of-way dedication is warranted. This standard is met. 

C. Rights-of-way. 
1. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy Building permits or as a part of 

the recordation of a final plat, the City shall require dedication of rights-of-way 
in accordance with the Transportation System Plan. All dedications shall be 
recorded with the County Assessor's Office. 

2. The City shall also require a waiver of remonstrance against formation of a local 
improvement district, and all non-remonstrances shall be recorded in the County 
Recorder’s Office as well as the City's Lien Docket, prior to issuance of a 
Certificate of Occupancy Building Permit or as a part of the recordation of a final 
plat. 

3. In order to allow for potential future widening, a special setback requirement 
shall be maintained adjacent to all arterial streets. The minimum setback shall 
be 55 feet from the centerline or 25 feet from the right-of-way designated on the 
Master Plan, whichever is greater. 

Response: SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road are fully improved to City standards. No 
right-of-way dedication is required or warranted. The proposed building is set back a minimum 
of 65' from the centerline of SW Wilsonville Road (Arterial). This standard is met. 

D. Dead-end Streets. New dead-end streets or cul-de-sacs shall not exceed 200 feet in 
length, unless the adjoining land contains barriers such as existing buildings, railroads or 
freeways, or environmental constraints such as steep slopes, or major streams or rivers, 
that prevent future street extension and connection. A central landscaped island with 
rainwater management and infiltration are encouraged in cul-de-sac design. No more 
than 25 dwelling units shall take access to a new dead-end or cul-de-sac street unless it 
is determined that the traffic impacts on adjacent streets will not exceed those from a 
development of 25 or fewer units. All other dimensional standards of dead-end streets 
shall be governed by the Public Works Standards. Notification that the street is planned 
for future extension shall be posted on the dead-end street.  

Response: No new dead-end streets or cul-de-sac are proposed as part of this project. This 
standard does not apply. 

E. Corner or clear vision area. 
1. A clear vision area which meets the Public Works Standards shall be maintained 

on each corner of property at the intersection of any two streets, a street and a 
railroad or a street and a driveway. However, the following items shall be 
exempt from meeting this requirement: 
a. Light and utility poles with a diameter less than 12 inches. 
b. Trees less than 6” d.b.h., approved as a part of the Stage II Site Design, 

or administrative review. 
c. Except as allowed by b., above, an existing tree, trimmed to the trunk, 

10 feet above the curb. 
d. Official warning or street sign. 
e. Natural contours where the natural elevations are such that there can 

be no cross-visibility at the intersection and necessary excavation would 
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result in an unreasonable hardship on the property owner or deteriorate 
the quality of the site. 

Response: Landscape plantings at the proposed driveway are designed to provide adequate 
visibility in both directions for safe operations. Landscape maintenance practices will ensure 
visibility on an ongoing basis. 

F. Vertical clearance - a minimum clearance of 12 feet above the pavement surface shall be 
maintained over all streets and access drives. 

Response: As illustrated on the L-series sheets in Exhibit F, no structural elements are proposed 
over streets and drives. Trees planted in proximity to streets will be trimmed to provide 
adequate vertical clearance as required. This standard is met. 

G. Interim improvement standard. It is anticipated that all existing streets, except those in 
new subdivisions, will require complete reconstruction to support urban level traffic 
volumes. However, in most cases, existing and short-term projected traffic volumes do 
not warrant improvements to full Master Plan standards. Therefore, unless otherwise 
specified by the Development Review Board, the following interim standards shall apply. 
1. Arterials - 24 foot paved, with standard sub-base. Asphalt overlays are generally 

considered unacceptable, but may be considered as an interim improvement 
based on the recommendations of the City Engineer, regarding adequate 
structural quality to support an overlay. 

2. Half-streets are generally considered unacceptable. However, where the 
Development Review Board finds it essential to allow for reasonable 
development, a half-street may be approved. Whenever a half-street 
improvement is approved, it shall conform to the requirements in the Public 
Works Standards: 

3. When considered appropriate in conjunction with other anticipated or scheduled 
street improvements, the City Engineer may approve street improvements with a 
single asphalt lift. However, adequate provision must be made for interim storm 
drainage, pavement transitions at seams and the scheduling of the second lift 
through the Capital Improvements Plan. 

Response: SW Wilsonville Road and SW Kinsman Road are fully improved to City standards. No 
improvements to the adjacent rights-of-way are warranted; therefore, no interim improvements 
are required. This standard is not applicable.  

(.03) Sidewalks. Sidewalks shall be provided on the public street frontage of all development. 
Sidewalks shall generally be constructed within the dedicated public right-of-way, but may be located 
outside of the right-of-way within a public easement with the approval of the City Engineer. 

A. Sidewalk widths shall include a minimum through zone of at least five feet. The through 
zone may be reduced pursuant to variance procedures in Section 4.196, a waiver 
pursuant to Section 4.118, or by authority of the City Engineer for reasons of traffic 
operations, efficiency, or safety. 

B. Within a Planned Development, the Development Review Board may approve a sidewalk 
on only one side. If the sidewalk is permitted on just one side of the street, the owners 
will be required to sign an agreement to an assessment in the future to construct the 
other sidewalk if the City Council decides it is necessary. 

Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, a 6' sidewalk exists along the site’s frontage with SW 
Wilsonville Road, and a 6' wide sidewalk exists along the site’s frontage with SW Kinsman Road. No 
impacts or changes to the existing sidewalks are proposed. This standard is met.  
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(.04) Bicycle Facilities. Bicycle facilities shall be provided to implement the Transportation System 
Plan, and may include on-street and off-street bike lanes, shared lanes, bike boulevards, and cycle tracks. 
The design of on-street bicycle facilities will vary according to the functional classification and the 
average daily traffic of the facility. 
Response: SW Wilsonville Road, along the site’s frontage, is classified as a Minor Arterial per Figure 3-2 
of the Wilsonville TSP. SW Wilsonville Road is a fully developed road, including: two (2) 10' travel lanes; 
one (1) 12' center lane; a 6' bike lane and 2' bike lane buffer both sides; curb and gutter; planter; and 
sidewalk. SW Kinsman Road, along the site’s frontage, is classified as a Collector. SW Kinsman Road is a 
fully developed road, including: two (2) 12' travel lanes; one (1) 12' center lane; a 7' bike lane both sides; 
curb and gutter; planter; and sidewalk. No changes are proposed or warranted to the adjacent fully 
development roadways and bicycle facilities.  

(.05) Multiuse Pathways. Pathways may be in addition to, or in lieu of, a public street. Paths that are 
in addition to a public street shall generally run parallel to that street, and shall be designed in 
accordance with the Public Works Standards or as specified by the City Engineer. Paths that are in lieu of 
a public street shall be considered in areas only where no other public street connection options are 
feasible, and are subject to the following standards. 

A. Paths shall be located to provide a reasonably direct connection between likely 
pedestrian and bicyclist destinations. Additional standards relating to entry points, 
maximum length, visibility, and path lighting are provided in the Public Works Standards. 

B. To ensure ongoing access to and maintenance of pedestrian/bicycle paths, the City 
Engineer will require dedication of the path to the public and acceptance of the path by 
the City as public right-of-way; or creation of a public access easement over the path. 

Response: No multiuse pathways are proposed, or warranted, as part of this development.  

(.06) Transit Improvements 

Development on sites that are adjacent to or incorporate major transit streets shall provide 
improvements as described in this section to any bus stop located along the site’s frontage, unless 
waived by the City Engineer for reasons of safety or traffic operations. Transit facilities include bus stops, 
shelters, and related facilities. Required transit facility improvements may include the dedication of land 
or the provision of a public easement. 

A. Development shall at a minimum provide: 
1. Reasonably direct pedestrian connections, as defined by Section 4.154, between 

building entrances and the transit facility and between buildings on the site and 
streets adjoining transit stops. 

2. Improvements at major transit stops. Improvements may include intersection or 
mid-block traffic management improvements to allow for pedestrian crossings 
at major transit stops. 

B. Developments generating an average of 49 or more pm peak hour trips shall provide bus 
stop improvements per the Public Works Standards. Required improvements may include 
provision of benches, shelters, pedestrian lighting; or provision of an easement or 
dedication of land for transit facilities. 

C. In addition to the requirements of 4.177(.06)(A.)(2.), development generating more than 
199 pm peak hour trips on major transit streets shall provide a bus pullout, curb 
extension, and intersection or mid-block traffic management improvements to allow for 
pedestrian crossings at major transit stops. 

D. In addition to the requirement s of 4.177(.06)(A.) and (B.), development generating more 
than 500 pm peak-hour trips on major transit streets shall provide on-site circulation to 
accommodate transit service 
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Response: SW Wilsonville Road is a major transit street. No bus stop is located along the site’s frontage 
on SW Wilsonville Road. There is an eastbound bus stop on SW Wilsonville Road, located east of the 
Kinsman Road intersection, and a westbound bus stop on westbound SW Wilsonville Road, just west of 
the Kinsman Road intersection. As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, the proposed development 
provides a pedestrian connection to SW Kinsman Road which connects to the SW Wilsonville Road 
sidewalk. Statements regarding the number of pm peak hour trips will be provided in the applicant’s 
incompleteness response in the future subject to confirmation by DKS report. This standard is met.  

(.07) Residential Private Access Drives. Residential Private Access Drives shall meet the following 
standards: 

A. Residential Private Access Drives shall provide primary vehicular access to no more than 
four (4) dwelling units, excluding accessory dwelling units. 

B. The design and construction of a Residential Private Access Drive shall ensure a useful 
lifespan and structural maintenance schedule comparable, as determined by the City 
Engineer or City’s Authorized Representative, to a local street constructed in 
conformance to current public works standards. 
1. The design of residential private access drives shall be stamped by a professional 

engineer registered in the state of Oregon and shall be approved by the City 
Engineer or City’s Authorized Representative to ensure the above requirement is 
met. 

2. Prior to issuing a certificate of occupancy for any residential dwelling unit whose 
primary vehicular access is from a Residential Private Access Drive the City 
Engineer or City’s Authorized Representative shall certify construction of the 
Residential Private Access Drive substantially conforms the design approved by 
the City Engineer or City’s Authorized Representative. 

C. Residential Private Access Drives shall be named for addressing purposes. All Residential 
Private Access Drives shall use the suffix “Lane”, i.e. SW Oakview Lane. 

D. Residential Private Access Drives shall meet or exceed the standards for access drives 
and travel lanes established in Subsection (.08) of this Section. 
[Amended by Ord. 682, 9/1/10] 

Response: The proposed development is commercial, not residential. This standard does not apply. 

(.08). Access Drive and Driveway Approach Development Standards. 
A. An access drive to any proposed development shall be designed to provide a clear travel 

lane free from any obstructions. 
Response: The proposed development will utilize an existing driveway located at the southeast 
corner of the site. The driveway is located to allow safe turning movements to and from the site, 
and to minimize conflicting movements within the site as well. Staff has advised that the existing 
driveway location should be used for this development. The parking lot has been designed to 
provide efficient circulation through the site, as to avoid any queuing onto the public right of 
way. This provision is met. 

B. Access drive travel lanes shall be constructed with a hard surface capable of carrying a 
23-ton load. 

C. Where emergency vehicle access is required, approaches and driveways shall be 
designed and constructed to accommodate emergency vehicle apparatus and shall 
conform to applicable fire protection requirements. The City may restrict parking, require 
signage, or require other public safety improvements pursuant to the recommendations 
of an emergency service provider. 
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D. Secondary or emergency access lanes may be improved to a minimum 12 feet with an 
all-weather surface as approved by the Fire District. All fire lanes shall be dedicated 
easements. 

Response: The proposed site plan demonstrates the feasibility to comply with these structural 
and emergency access requirements. Detailed specifications will be included in plans submitted 
for site construction. 

E. Minimum access requirements shall be adjusted commensurate with the intended 
function of the site based on vehicle types and traffic generation. 

Response: The one-driveway configuration, including proposed driveway widths, is appropriate 
to accommodate the anticipated mix of vehicles at the site, based on its intended office use. 

F. The number of approaches on higher classification streets (e.g., collector and arterial 
streets) shall be minimized; where practicable, access shall be taken first from a lower 
classification street. 

Response: SW Wilsonville Road, along the site’s frontage, is classified as a Minor Arterial per the 
City’s TSP. SW Kinsman Road, along the site’s frontage, is classified as a Collector. Access will be 
taken from the lower classification street. This standard is met.  

G. The City may limit the number or location of connections to a street, or impose access 
restrictions where the roadway authority requires mitigation to alleviate safety or traffic 
operations concerns. 

Response: The proposed development will utilize an existing driveway located at the southeast 
corner of the site. The driveway is located to allow safe turning movements to and from the site, 
and to minimize conflicting movements within the site as well. Staff has advised that the existing 
driveway location should be used for this development. No additional limits to this driveway 
access are warranted.  

H. The City may require a driveway to extend to one or more edges of a parcel and be 
designed to allow for future extension and inter-parcel circulation as adjacent properties 
develop. The City may also require the owner(s) of the subject site to record an access 
easement for future joint use of the approach and driveway as the adjacent property(ies) 
develop(s). 

I. Driveways shall accommodate all projected vehicular traffic on-site without vehicles 
stacking or backing up onto a street. 

J. Driveways shall be designed so that vehicle areas, including but not limited to drive-up 
and drive-through facilities and vehicle storage and service areas, do not obstruct any 
public right-of-way. 

Response: The subject site is a single parcel with no adjacent properties. The driveway and 
internal circulation are configured to allow exiting vehicles to queue as necessary within the site 
without congesting incoming vehicle movements. This provision is satisfied. The site includes no 
drive-up, drive-through, or vehicle storage or service areas. These provisions are met. 

K. Approaches and driveways shall not be wider than necessary to safely accommodate 
projected peak hour trips and turning movements, and shall be designed to minimize 
crossing distances for pedestrians. 

Response: The proposed driveway widths have been based on movement patterns and turning 
radii associated with the anticipated mix of vehicles, to minimize potential for conflicting 
movements within the public right-of-way. These provisions are met. 
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L. As it deems necessary for pedestrian safety, the City, in consultation with the roadway 
authority, may require traffic-calming features, such as speed tables, textured driveway 
surfaces, curb extensions, signage or traffic control devices, or other features, be 
installed on or in the vicinity of a site. 

Response: Statements will be provided in the applicant’s incompleteness response in the future 
subject to confirmation by DKS report. The applicant does not expect any need for traffic-
calming features to be installed in public streets in the vicinity based on pre-application 
conference discussions with City staff. 

M. Approaches and driveways shall be located and designed to allow for safe maneuvering 
in and around loading areas, while avoiding conflicts with pedestrians, parking, 
landscaping, and buildings. 

Response: As noted above, the proposed driveway is located to allow safe turning movements 
to and from the site, and to minimize conflicting movements within the site as well. The 
pedestrian path is grade separated from the vehicle circulation area (with ADA-compliant ramps 
provided where necessary). This provision is met. 

N. Where a proposed driveway crosses a culvert or drainage ditch, the City may require the 
developer to install a culvert extending under and beyond the edges of the driveway on 
both sides of it, pursuant applicable Public Works standards. 

Response: This provision is not applicable because this project will connect to an existing public 
storm drain system line in the SW of the site. See Sheet C1.20 in Exhibit F for details. 

O. Except as otherwise required by the applicable roadway authority or waived by the City 
Engineer, temporary driveways providing access to a construction site or staging area 
shall be paved or graveled to prevent tracking of mud onto adjacent paved streets. 

Response: Following land use approval, the applicant will provide construction plans that 
comply with this requirement. 

P. Unless constrained by topography, natural resources, rail lines, freeways, existing or 
planned or approved development, or easements or covenants, driveways proposed as 
part of a residential or mixed-use development shall meet local street spacing standards 
and shall be constructed to align with existing or planned streets, if the driveway. 
1. Intersects with a public street that is controlled, or is to be controlled in the 

planning period, by a traffic signal;  
2. Intersects with an existing or planned arterial or collector street; or  
3. Would be an extension of an existing or planned local street, or of another major 

driveway. 
Response: This provision is not applicable because the proposed project is not a residential or 
mixed-use development. 

(.09) Minimum street intersection spacing standards. 
A. New streets shall intersect at existing street intersections so that centerlines are not 

offset. Where existing streets adjacent to a proposed development do not align properly, 
conditions shall be imposed on the development to provide for proper alignment. 

B. Minimum intersection spacing standards are provided in Transportation System Plan 
Table 3-2. 

Response: This provision is not applicable because no new street intersection is proposed as part of this 
project. 
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(.10) Exceptions and Adjustments. The City may approve adjustments to the spacing standards of 
subsections (.08) and (.09) above through a Class II process, or as a waiver per Section 4.118(.03)(A.), 
where an existing connection to a City street does not meet the standards of the roadway authority, the 
proposed development moves in the direction of code compliance, and mitigation measures alleviate all 
traffic operations and safety concerns. Mitigation measures may include consolidated access (removal of 
one access), joint use driveways (more than one property uses same access), directional limitations (e.g.,  
Response: This provision is not applicable because subsections (.08) and (.09) are not applicable for the 
reasons stated above.  

Section 4.179. Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage in New Multi-Unit Residential and Non-
Residential Buildings 

(.01) All site plans for multi-unit residential and non-residential buildings submitted to the Wilsonville 
Development Review Board for approval shall include adequate storage space for mixed solid waste and 
source separated recyclables. [Amended by Ordinance No. 538, 2/21/02.] 
Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, a solid waste storage enclosure is proposed between 
two (2) bays of parking spaces on the west edge of the development area. The proposed location 
provides sufficient linear approach area and turning radii for service vehicles. Correspondence from 
Republic Services in Exhibit H confirms the trash hauler’s assessment that the proposed waste facilities 
are appropriate for the proposed use. This standard is met. 

(.02) The floor area of an interior or exterior storage area shall be excluded from the calculation of 
building floor area for purposes of determining minimum storage requirements. 
Response: The area of the waste storage facilities has not been included in the computation of floor 
area requiring waste storage. This standard is met. 

(.03) The storage area requirement shall be based on the predominant use(s) of the building. If a 
building has more than one of the uses listed herein and that use occupies 20 percent or less of the floor 
area of the building, the floor area occupied by that use shall be counted toward the floor area of the 
predominant use(s). If a building has more than one of the uses listed herein and that use occupies more 
than 20 percent of the floor area of the building, then the storage area requirement for the whole 
building shall be the sum of the requirement for the area of each use. 
Response: The building is proposed to have office uses, and the waste storage areas are thus computed 
based on that use category. The applicant’s method of calculation complies with this provision. 

(.04) Storage areas for multiple uses on a single site may be combined and shared. 
Response: As shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F, the applicant is proposing a single waste storage area. 
This standard is met. 

(.05) The specific requirements are based on an assumed storage height of four feet for solid 
waste/recyclables. Vertical storage higher than four feet but no higher than seven feet may be used to 
accommodate the same volume of storage in a reduced floor space. Where vertical or stacked storage is 
proposed, the site plan shall include drawings to illustrate the layout of the storage area and dimensions 
for the containers. 
Response: The applicant is proposing to use waste bins not exceeding seven feet in height, consistent 
with these standards, to accommodate anticipated waste volume in a smaller space.  

(.06) The specific requirements for storage area are as follows: 
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A. Multi-unit residential buildings containing five-ten units shall provide a minimum storage 
area of 50 square feet. Buildings containing more than ten residential units shall provide 
an additional five square feet per unit for each unit above ten. 

B. Non-residential buildings shall provide a minimum storage area of ten square feet, plus: 
1. Office: Four square feet per 1,000 square feet gross floor area (GFA); 
2. Retail: Ten square feet per 1,000 square feet GFA; 
3. Wholesale / Warehouse / Manufacturing: Six square feet per 1,000 square feet 

GFA; and 
4. Other: Four square feet per 1,000 square feet GFA. 

Response: Based on the proposed approximately 15,700 SF office building, this standard requires 
minimum waste enclosure area of 74 SF. The proposed development plan provides a waste enclosure 
exceeding this requirement, located adjacent to the landscape area along the west edge of the 
development area, as shown on Sheet C1.10 of Exhibit F. The proposed waste enclosure location and 
configuration have been reviewed and approved by the trash hauler, Republic Services, anticipating 
weekly service (pending Exhibit H). The proposed development complies. 

(.07) The applicant shall work with the City’s franchised garbage hauler to ensure that site plans 
provide adequate access for the hauler’s equipment and that storage area is adequate for the 
anticipated volumes, level of service and any other special circumstances which may result in the storage 
area exceeding its capacity. The hauler shall notify the City by letter of their review of site plans and 
make recommendations for changes in those plans pursuant to the other provisions of this section. 
Response: Pending Exhibit H contains a letter from the trash hauler agreeing that the waste storage 
facility is appropriate for the proposed warehouse/distribution and manufacturing use, and that 
adequate circulation is available on site. This standard is met. 

(.08) Existing multi-unit residential and non-residential developments wishing to retrofit their 
structures to include storage areas for mixed solid waste and recycling may have their site plans 
reviewed and approved through the Class I Administrative Review process, according to the provisions of 
Section 4.035. Site plans for retrofitting existing developments must conform to all requirements of this 
Section, “Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage In New Multi-Unit Residential and Non-Residential 
Buildings,” and 4.430, “Location, Design and Access Standards for Mixed Solid Waste and Recycling 
Areas,” of the Wilsonville City Code. 
Response: The applicant is not proposing to retrofit existing solid waste facilities. This standard does not 
apply. 

(.09) When applicable, the applicant must comply with Wilsonville Code Section 8.010. [Added by 
Ordinance #837 – August 5, 2019] 
Response: Wilsonville Code Section 8.010 states in its entirety that “The regulation of disposal and 
hauling, including both hauler and customer requirements, for solid waste, recycling, yard debris, 
organic materials, and other materials shall be adopted by City ordinance.” The applicant intends to 
comply with the applicable standards set by the City and the hauler. 

Section 4.199 Outdoor Lighting 

Section 4.199.20. Applicability. 

(.01) This Ordinance is applicable to:  
A. Installation of new exterior lighting systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and 

multi-family housing projects with common areas. 
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B. Major additions or modifications (as defined in this Section) to existing exterior lighting 
systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and multi-family housing projects with 
common areas. 

Response: The proposed development is for a commercial building; therefore, this section applies. 

(.02) Exemption. The following luminaires and lighting systems are EXEMPT from these requirements: 
A. Interior lighting. 
B. Internally illuminated signs. 
C. Externally illuminated signs. 
D. Temporary lighting for theatrical, television, and performance areas. 
E. Lighting in swimming pools and other water features governed by Article 680 of the 

National Electrical Code. 
F. Building Code required exit path lighting. 
G. Lighting specifically for stairs and ramps. 
H. Temporary and seasonal lighting provided that individual lamps are 10 watts or less. 
I. Lighting required and/or regulated by the City (i.e. construction related activities), 

Federal Aviation Administration, U.S. Coast Guard or other Federal or State agency. 
J. Single-family residential lighting. 
K. Code Required Signs. 
L. American flag. 
M. Landscape lighting. 
N. Lights approved by the City through an Administrative Review Temporary Use Permit 

process. 
O. Public street lights. 
P. ATM security lighting. 
Q. Those “Exceptions” listed in the “Exterior Lighting Power Allowance” provisions of the 

Oregon Energy Efficiency Specialty Code. 
Response: The applicant is seeking approval of those lighting systems which do not fall into the 
exemptions listed above. 

Section 4.199.30. Lighting Overlay Zones. 

(.01) The designated Lighting Zone as indicated on the Lighting Overlay Zone Map for a commercial, 
industrial, multi-family or public facility parcel or project shall determine the limitations for lighting 
systems and fixtures as specified in this Ordinance. 

A. Property may contain more than one lighting zone depending on site conditions and 
natural resource characteristics. 

Response: As illustrated in Figure 30 (in Section 4.199.60 below), this site and neighboring properties on 
all sides are entirely in Lighting Zone LZ 2. This standard is met. 

(.02) The Lighting Zones shall be: 
A. LZ 1. Developed areas in City and State parks, recreation areas, SROZ wetland and 

wildlife habitat areas; developed areas in natural settings; sensitive night environments; 
and rural areas. This zone is intended to be the default condition for rural areas within 
the City. 

B. LZ 2. Low-density suburban neighborhoods and suburban commercial districts, industrial 
parks and districts. This zone is intended to be the default condition for the majority of 
the City. 

C. LZ 3. Medium to high-density suburban neighborhoods and districts, major shopping and 
commercial districts as depicted on the Lighting Overlay Zone Map. 
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D. LZ 4. Reserved for limited applications with special lighting requirements. This zone is 
appropriate for users who have unique site or operating circumstances that warrant 
additional light. This zone shall not be applied to residential or agricultural areas. 

[Section 4.199.30(.02) amended by Ord. 688, 11/15/10] 
Response: Based on the descriptions above, this site is in Lighting Zone LZ 2 (as confirmed by the City’s 
Lighting Overlay Zones map). A portion of the site is within an SROZ riparian corridor area but will meet 
the requirements of 4.199.40 “Exception 5” below as shown on the lighting analysis in Exhibit F.   

(.03) Modification of Lighting Zones. 
A. The City Council may modify the designated Lighting Zones of one or more parcels if the 

City Council finds that the original Lighting Zone was in error, a change in circumstances 
has occurred warranting the change since the designation was established or the 
purposes of this section are better served. 

B. The Development Review Board (DRB) may modify the designated Lighting Zones as part 
of the Stage II, Site Design Review Process if the DRB finds that the original Lighting Zone 
was in error, or a change in circumstances has occurred warranting the change since the 
designation was established or the purposes of this section are better served. 

C. This ordinance establishes a Lighting Overlay Zone Map. The Planning Division shall 
maintain the current Lighting Overlay Zone Map. 

Response: The applicant is not seeking any modifications from the City’s Lighting Overlay Zones map. 
This standard does not apply. 

Section 4.199.40. Lighting Systems Standards for Approval. 

(.01) Non-Residential Uses and Common Residential Areas. 
A. All outdoor lighting shall comply with either the Prescriptive Option or the Performance 

Option below. 
Response: The applicant is utilizing the Prescriptive Option for outdoor lighting. 

B. Prescriptive Option. If the lighting is to comply with this Prescriptive Option, the installed 
lighting shall meet all of the following requirements according to the designated Lighting 
Zone. 
1. The maximum luminaire lamp wattage and shielding shall comply with Table 7. 
2. Except for those exemptions listed in Section 4.199.20(.02), the exterior lighting 

for the site shall comply with the Oregon Energy Efficiency Specialty Code, 
Exterior Lighting. 

3. The maximum pole or mounting height shall be consistent with Table 8. 
4. Each luminaire shall be set back from all property lines at least 3 times the 

mounting height of the luminaire:  
a. Exception 1: If the subject property abuts a property with the same base 

and lighting zone, no setback from the common lot lines is required. 
b. Exception 2: If the subject property abuts a property which is zoned 

(base and lighting) other than the subject parcel, the luminaire shall be 
setback three times the mounting height of the luminaire, measured 
from the abutting parcel’s setback line. (Any variance or waiver to the 
abutting property’s setback shall not be considered in the distance 
calculation). 

c. Exception 3: If the luminaire is used for the purpose of street, parking lot 
or public utility easement illumination and is located less than 3 
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mounting heights from the property line, the luminaire shall include a 
house side shield to protect adjoining property. 

d. Exception 4: If the subject property includes an exterior column, wall or 
abutment within 25 feet of the property line, a luminaire partly shielded 
or better and not exceeding 60 lamp watts may be mounted onto the 
exterior column, wall or abutment or under or within an overhang or 
canopy attached thereto. 

e. Exception 5: Lighting adjacent to SROZ areas shall be set back 3 times 
the mounting height of the luminaire, or shall employ a house side shield 
to protect the natural resource area. 

Response: The lighting plan in Exhibit F shows proposed locations for a variety of exterior 
lighting fixtures that all comply with the Prescriptive Option, including the applicable exceptions 
listed in subparagraphs 4.a through -e. Sheet E1.10 and the following pages in Exhibit F contain a 
photometric analysis and manufacturer data sheets for typical proposed fixtures. The subject 
property is in Lighting Overlay Zone 2 and surrounding properties are in Industrial land use 
designations. This requirement is met. 

C. Performance Option. If the lighting is to comply with the Performance Option, the 
proposed lighting design shall be submitted by the applicant for approval by the City 
meeting all of the following: 
1. The weighted average percentage of direct uplight lumens shall be less than the 

allowed amount per Table 9. 
2. The maximum light level at any property line shall be less than the values in 

Table 9, as evidenced by a complete photometric analysis including horizontal 
illuminance of the site and vertical illuminance on the plane facing the site up to 
the mounting height of the luminaire mounted highest above grade. The 
Building Official or designee may accept a photometric test report, 
demonstration or sample, or other satisfactory confirmation that the luminaire 
meets the shielding requirements of Table 7. Luminaires shall not be mounted so 
as to permit aiming or use in any way other than the manner maintaining the 
shielding classification required herein: 
a. Exception 1. If the property line abuts a public right-of-way, including a 

sidewalk or street, the analysis may be performed across the street at 
the adjacent property line to the right-of-way. 

b. Exception 2. If, in the opinion of the Building Official or designee, 
compliance is impractical due to unique site circumstances such as lot 
size or shape, topography, or size or shape of building, which are 
circumstances not typical of the general conditions of the surrounding 
area. The Building Official may impose conditions of approval to avoid 
light trespass to the maximum extent possible and minimize any 
additional negative impacts resulting to abutting and adjacent parcels, 
as well as public rights-of-way, based on best lighting practices and 
available lighting technology. 

3. The maximum pole or mounting height shall comply with Table 8. 
Response: The applicant is utilizing the prescriptive option rather than the performance option. 
This standard does not apply. 

D. Curfew. All prescriptive or performance based exterior lighting systems shall be 
controlled by automatic device(s) or system(s) that: 
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1. Initiate operation at dusk and either extinguish lighting one hour after close or 
at the curfew times according to Table 10; or  

2. Reduce lighting intensity one hour after close or at the curfew time to not more 
than 50% of the requirements set forth in the Oregon Energy Efficiency Specialty 
Code unless waived by the DRB due to special circumstances; and  

3. Extinguish or reduce lighting consistent with 1. and 2. above on Holidays. 
The following are exceptions to curfew: 

a. Exception 1: Building Code required lighting. 
b. Exception 2: Lighting for pedestrian ramps, steps and stairs. 
c. Exception 3: Businesses that operate continuously or periodically after 

curfew. 
Response: It is feasible for the applicant to install an automatic device or system meeting these 
requirements; compliance can be assured through an appropriate condition of approval. 

(.02) Special Permit for Specific Lighting Fixtures and Systems and When Exceeding Lighting 
Requirements. 

A. This section is intended to apply to situations where more than normal foot candles are 
required due to a unique circumstance or use or where it is absolutely essential to 
perform the proposed activities after dark. All special permits shall be reviewed by the 
DRB. 

B. Upon issuance of a special permit by the Development Review Board (DRB), lighting 
systems not complying with the technical requirements of this Ordinance may be 
installed, maintained, and replaced for lighting that exceeds the maximums permitted by 
this Ordinance. This section is intended to be applied to uses such as sports lighting 
systems including but not limited to, sport fields and stadiums, such as baseball and 
football field lighting, tennis court lighting, swimming pool area lighting and prisons; 
other very intense lighting defined as having a light source exceeding 200,000 lumens or 
an intensity in any direction of more than 2,000,000 candelas; building façade lighting of 
portions of buildings over two stories high; and public monuments. 

C. To obtain such a permit, applicants shall demonstrate that the proposed lighting 
installation: 
1. Is within Lighting Zone 3 or above. 
2. Has been designed to minimize obtrusive light and artificial sky glow, supported 

by a signed statement from a registered civil or electrical engineer describing the 
mitigation measures. Such statement shall be accompanied by calculations 
indicating the light trespass levels (horizontal and vertical at ground level) at the 
property line. 

3. Will not create excessive glare, sky glow, or light trespass beyond that which can 
be reasonably expected by application of best lighting practices, and available 
technology. 

4. Provides appropriate lighting curfew hours based on the use and the 
surrounding areas. 

D. The DRB may impose conditions of approval to mitigate any negative impacts resulting 
to the abutting parcel, based on best lighting practices and available lighting technology. 

E. The City may charge a review fee and may, at the Building Official’s option, employ the 
services of a qualified professional civil or electrical engineer to review such submittals 
and the cost thereof shall be an additional fee charged to the applicant. 
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Response: The site does not appear to be eligible for a special lighting permit since it is located in 
Lighting Overlay Zone 2. The applicant is not seeking approval of a special permit for lighting. This 
standard does not apply. 

Section 4.199.50. Submittal Requirements. 

(.01) Applicants shall submit the following information as part of DRB review or administrative review 
of new commercial, industrial, multi-family or public facility projects:  

A. A statement regarding which of the lighting methods will be utilized, prescriptive or 
performance, and a map depicting the lighting zone(s) for the property. 

B. A site lighting plan that clearly indicates intended lighting by type and location. For 
adjustable luminaires, the aiming angles or coordinates shall be shown. 

C. For each luminaire type, Drawings, cut sheets or other documents containing 
specifications for the intended lighting including but not limited to, luminaire description, 
mounting, mounting height, lamp type and manufacturer, lamp watts, ballast, optical 
system/distribution, and accessories such as shields. 

D. Calculations demonstrating compliance with Oregon Energy Efficiency Specialty Code, 
Exterior Lighting, as modified by Section 4.199.40(.01)(B.)(2.) [Amended by Ord. 688, 
11/15/10]  

E. Lighting plans shall be coordinated with landscaping plans so that pole lights and trees 
are not placed in conflict with one another. The location of lights shall be shown on the 
landscape plan. Generally, pole lights should not be placed within one pole length of 
landscape and parking lot trees. 

F. Applicants shall identify the hours of lighting curfew. 
Response: The applicant proposes to comply using the Prescriptive Method. The property, identified by 
a blue star in the excerpt from the City’s Lighting Overlay Zones Map below, and surrounding sites are all 
in Lighting Overlay Zone 2 (LZ 2).  

The lighting plan (Sheet E1.10 and data sheets on the following pages in Exhibit F) shows proposed 
locations for lighting fixtures and provides luminaire specifications (manufacturers’ data sheets for 
typical fixtures). Lighting locations have been coordinated with the landscape planting plan to avoid 
conflicts. In Lighting Overlay Zone 2, the lighting curfew time is 10:00 PM (2,200 hours). 

The [OR Energy Code] for outdoor illumination establishes maximum energy use figures for building 
exterior areas, expressed in Watts per Square Foot (W/SF), with reference to Table 9.4.2 Individual 
Lighting Power Allowances for Building Exteriors [ANSI/ASHRAE/IES Standard 90.1-2019 (I-P)]. For 
buildings in Zones 1 through 4, those maximum energy consumption standards allow a range between 
0.03 W/SF and 0.08 W/SF for Uncovered Parking Areas, and between 0.03 and 0.04 W/SF for 
Landscaping Areas. 

The applicant’s exterior lighting plan includes the following exterior area lighting fixtures: 
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Power Consumption of Proposed Lighting Fixtures 

Shielded Fixture Type Label Count 
Input 

Watts/Unit 
Total 
Watts 

Watts/Area (SF) 

(52,073 SF parking & 
landscape) - See Note 1 

Gardco PureForm LED area small 
square comfort P15 

Type 
SA 

8 90 720 0.014 

 

Trick Blade Effect surface 
mounted luminaire 

Type 
SB 

2 7.2 14.4 0.000 
 

 

Lumenquad small LED luminaire 
Type 

SC 
4 14 56 0.001 

 

 

Zip Comfort ceiling recessed 
luminaires 

Type 
SD 

6 15.5 93 0.002 
 

 

Look Wall accent light luminaire 
Type 

SF 
40 13.5 540 0.010 

 

 

Total Proposed Fixtures and 
Consumption 

  60 - 1423.4 0.027  

Allowable Maximum Range 
(Zones 1 – 4) 

- - - 

3,159 
Watts 

See  
Note 2 

0.061 / SF 
See Note 2 

 

 
Proposed Power Consumption  

as % of Allowable Maximum Per 
Code 

- - - 45.1% 45.1%  

      
 

Notes:      
 

1. Total Outdoor Illumination Area based on Site Plan (C1.10): 

Subarea SF 
Max 

Watts/SF 
Max 

Watts   

 

Paved Areas 26,898     
 

Parking 23,073 0.08 1,846   
 

Other (e.g., Access/ 
Circulation/Dock) 3,825 0.08 306   

 

Parking Landscape Area 5,213 0.04 209   
 

Landscape Area 19,962 0.04 798   
 

 52,073 0.061 3,159   
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2. For buildings in Zones 1 through 4, maximum energy consumption standards allow a range 
between 0.03 and 0.08 W/SF for Uncovered Parking Areas, and between 0.03 and 0.04 W/SF for 
Landscaping Areas. 

Based on this analysis, power consumption per unit area for the proposed development is only 45.1% of 
the allowed power consumption rate per unit of area. This requirement is satisfied.   

(.02) In addition to the above submittal requirements, Applicants using the Prescriptive Method shall 
submit the following information as part of the permit set plan review:  

A. A site lighting plan (items 1 A - F, above) which indicates for each luminaire the 3 
mounting height line to demonstrate compliance with the setback requirements. For 
luminaires mounted within 3 mounting heights of the property line the compliance 
exception or special shielding requirements shall be clearly indicated. 

Response: Exhibit F includes a Site Lighting Plan at Sheet E1.10 and specifications on following sheets. 
Notably, all the neighboring properties are designated Industrial and are also in the same Lighting 
Overlay Zone, LZ 2, as the subject property. Luminaire setbacks and other design factors are subject to 
the Exceptions in Section 4.199.40(.01)B.4.  

(.03) In addition to the above submittal requirements, Applicants using the Performance Method shall 
submit the following information as part of the permit set plan review:  

A. Site plan showing horizontal isocandle lines, or the output of a point-by-point computer 
calculation of the horizontal illumination of the site, showing property lines and light 
levels immediately off of the subject property. 

B. For each side of the property, the output of a point-by-point vertical footcandle 
calculation showing illumination in the vertical plane at the property line from grade to 
at least 10 feet higher than the height of the tallest pole. 

C. Lighting plans shall be prepared by a qualified licensed engineer. 
Response: The applicant is utilizing the prescriptive option rather than the performance option. This 
standard does not apply. 

(.04) In addition to the above applicable submittal requirements, Applicants for Special Permits shall 
submit the following to the DRB for review:  

A. Tabulation of International Engineering Society of North America (IESNA) lighting 
recommendations for each task including area illuminated, recommended illumination 
level, actual maintained illumination level, and luminaires used specifically to achieve 
the indicated criteria. 

B. Lighting plans shall be prepared by a qualified licensed engineer. 
Response: The applicant is not seeking approval of a special permit for lighting. This standard does not 
apply. 

(.05) For all calculations, the following light loss factors shall be used unless an alternative is 
specifically approved by the City:  

Metal halide 0.6  
High pressure sodium 0.8  
Compact fluorescent 0.7  
Full size fluorescent 0.75  
Incandescent 0.9  
Halogen 0.95  
Other As approved  
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Response: The applicant understands these factors to apply to implementation of the Performance 
Method, which is not used in this application. 

Section 4.199.60. Major Additions or Modifications to Pre-Existing Sites. 

(01.) Major Additions. If a major addition occurs on a property, all of the luminaires on the site shall 
comply with the requirements of this Section. For purposes of this sub-section, the following are 
considered to be major additions: 

A. Additions of 50 percent or more in terms of additional dwelling units, gross floor area, 
seating capacity, or parking spaces, either with a single addition or with cumulative 
additions after July 2, 2008. 

B. Modification or replacement of 50 percent or more of the outdoor lighting luminaries’ 
within a 5-year timeframe existing as of July 2, 2008. 

Response: The applicant has submitted requests for a new development, not a major addition. This 
standard does not apply. 

Table 7: Maximum Wattage And Required Shielding 

Lighting 
Zone 

Fully 
Shielded 

Shielded 
Partly 

Shielded 
Unshielded 

LZ 1 70 20 13 Low voltage landscape lighting 50 watts or less 

LZ 2 100 35 39 Low voltage landscape lighting 50 watts or less 

LZ 3 250 100 70 
Landscape and facade lighting 100 watts or less; 
ornamental lighting on private drives of 39 watts 

and less 

LZ 4 450 150 150 

Landscape and facade lighting 250 watts or less; 
ornamental lights on private drives and lanterns 
70 watts or less; marquee lighting not employing 

medium based lamps 

[Table 7 amended by Ord. 682, 9/9/10; Ord. 688, 11/15/10] 

Table 8: Maximum Lighting Mounting Height In Feet 

Lighting 
Zone 

Lighting for private drives, 
driveways, parking, bus stops and 

other transit facilities 

Lighting for walkways, bikeways, 
plazas and other pedestrian areas 

All other 
lighting 

LZ 0 20 8 4 

LZ 1 25 12 4 

LZ 2 40 18 8 

LZ 3 40 18 16 

LZ 4 Height limit to be determined by Special Use Permit Only 

Lighting mounted onto buildings or other structures shall not exceed a mounting height greater than 4 feet higher than the 
tallest part of the building or structure at the place where the lighting is installed, nor higher than 33.33 percent of the 
horizontal distance of the light from the nearest property line, whichever is less. 
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Table 9: Performance Method 

Lighting 
Zone 

Maximum 
percentage of 
direct uplight 

lumens 

Maximum Light Level at Property Line 

Horizontal 
plane at grade 

(foot candles - fc) 

Vertical plane facing the site in question, 
from grade to mounting height of highest 

mounted luminaire (foot candles – fc) 

LZ 0 0 0.01 fc 0.02 fc 

LZ 1 1% 0.05 fc 0.1 fc 

LZ 2 5% 0.2 fc 0.4 fc 

LZ 3 10% 0.4 fc 0.8 fc 

LZ 4 20% 0.8 fc 1.6 fc 

 

Table 10: Curfew 

Lighting Zone Curfew Time 

LZ 0 
8:00 PM (2000 hours) 

LZ 1 

LZ 2 10:00 PM (2200 hours) 

LZ 3 
Midnight (2400 hours) 

LZ 4 

[Tables, above, renumbered by Ord. 688, 11/15/10 

174

Item 2.



 
 

74 

 

 

Figure 30: Lighting Overlay Zone Map 
[Amended by Ord. 821 adopted July 2, 2018] 

UNDERGROUND UTILITIES 

Section 4.300. General 

(.01) The City Council deems it reasonable and necessary in order to accomplish the orderly and 
desirable development of land within the corporate limits of the City, to require the underground 
installation of utilities in all new developments. 

(.02) After the effective date of this Code, the approval of any development of land within the City will 
be upon the express condition that all new utility lines, including but not limited to those required for 
power, communication, street lighting, gas, cable television services and related facilities, shall be placed 
underground. 

(.03) The construction of underground utilities shall be subject to the City's Public Works Standards and 
shall meet applicable requirements for erosion control and other environmental protection. 

Section 4.310. Exceptions 
Section 4.300 of this Code shall not apply to surface-mounted transformers, surface-mounted connection 
boxes, wireless communication facilities, and meter cabinets and other appurtenances which are 
reasonably necessary to be placed above ground, or to temporary utility service facilities during 
construction, or to high capacity electric and communication feeder lines, or to utility transmission lines 
operating at 50,000 volts or more. 
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Response: There are existing high voltage power lines running in a north-south orientation above the 
western edge of subject site. As excepted by this provision, the high voltage power lines will remain as 
is. New utilities are all proposed to be underground. This standard is met. 

Section 4.320. Requirements 

(.01) The developer or subdivider shall be responsible for and make all necessary arrangements with 
the serving utility to provide the underground services (including cost of rearranging any existing 
overhead facilities). All such underground facilities as described shall be constructed in compliance with 
the rules and regulations of the Public Utility Commission of the State of Oregon relating to the 
installation and safety of underground lines, plant, system, equipment and apparatus. 

(.02) The location of the buried facilities shall conform to standards supplied to the subdivider by the 
City. The City also reserves the right to approve location of all surface-mounted transformers. 

(.03) Interior easements (back lot lines) will only be used for storm or sanitary sewers, and front 
easements will be used for other utilities unless different locations are approved by the City Engineer. 
Easements satisfactory to the serving utilities shall be provided by the developer and shall be set forth on 
the plat. 
Response: Proposed utility system extensions and alignments have been prepared in consultation with 
City staff and service providers. The submitted plans demonstrate the feasibility of achieving 
compliance. Detailed plans will be submitted for permitting prior to construction. Condition(s) of 
approval can assure compliance in the permitting and construction process. 

Section 4.400. Purpose 

(.01) Excessive uniformity, inappropriateness or poor design of the exterior appearance of structures 
and signs and the lack of proper attention to site development and landscaping in the business, 
commercial, industrial and certain residential areas of the City hinders the harmonious development of 
the City, impairs the desirability of residence, investment or occupation in the City, limits the opportunity 
to attain the optimum use in value and improvements, adversely affects the stability and value of 
property, produces degeneration of property in such areas and with attendant deterioration of 
conditions affecting the peace, health and welfare, and destroys a proper relationship between the 
taxable value of property and the cost of municipal services therefor. 

(.02) The City Council declares that the purposes and objectives of site development requirements and 
the site design review procedure are to: 

A. Assure that Site Development Plans are designed in a manner that insures proper 
functioning of the site and maintains a high quality visual environment. 

B. Encourage originality, flexibility and innovation in site planning and development, 
including the architecture, landscaping and graphic design of said development; 

C. Discourage monotonous, drab, unsightly, dreary and inharmonious developments; 
D. Conserve the City's natural beauty and visual character and charm by assuring that 

structures, signs and other improvements are properly related to their sites, and to 
surrounding sites and structures, with due regard to the aesthetic qualities of the natural 
terrain and landscaping, and that proper attention is given to exterior appearances of 
structures, signs and other improvements; 

E. Protect and enhance the City's appeal and thus support and stimulate business and 
industry and promote the desirability of investment and occupancy in business, 
commercial and industrial purposes; 
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F. Stabilize and improve property values and prevent blighted areas and, thus, increase tax 
revenues; 

G. Insure that adequate public facilities are available to serve development as it occurs and 
that proper attention is given to site planning and development so as to not adversely 
impact the orderly, efficient and economic provision of public facilities and services. 

H. Achieve the beneficial influence of pleasant environments for living and working on 
behavioral patterns and, thus, decrease the cost of governmental services and reduce 
opportunities for crime through careful consideration of physical design and site layout 
under defensible space guidelines that clearly define all areas as either public, semi-
private, or private, provide clear identity of structures and opportunities for easy 
surveillance of the site that maximize resident control of behavior -- particularly crime; 

I. Foster civic pride and community spirit so as to improve the quality and quantity of 
citizen participation in local government and in community growth, change and 
improvements; 

J. Sustain the comfort, health, tranquility and contentment of residents and attract new 
residents by reason of the City's favorable environment and, thus, to promote and 
protect the peace, health and welfare of the City. 

Response: The applicant’s submitted plans in Exhibit F respond to applicable development standards. 
The plans demonstrate that the proposed development will function properly and will contribute to 
producing the high-quality visual environment desired along SW Wilsonville Road. The proposed 
development plan reflects the appropriate consideration the applicant’s design team has given to all the 
above purposes and objectives of the Site Design Review process. For most design issues, the project 
straightforwardly satisfies the standards the City has adopted to implement the above purposes and 
objectives; however, the application includes one (1) waiver request for which the applicant has 
provided appropriate findings of compliance with the intent of the regulations.  

Section 4.420. Jurisdiction and Powers of the Board 

(.01) Application of Section. Except for single-family or two-family dwellings in any residential zoning 
district, and in the Village zone, row houses or apartments, no Building Permit shall be issued for a new 
building or major exterior remodeling of an existing building, and no Sign Permit, except as permitted in 
Sections 4.156.02 and 4.156.05, shall be issued for the erection or construction of a sign relating to such 
new building or major remodeling, until the plans, drawings, sketches and other documents required for 
a Sign Permit application have been reviewed and approved by the Board. 
Response: The applicant is requesting DRB approval of the Stage II Final Plan Modification, Site 
Development Review, Waiver, Type B Tree Removal, and Type III Sign Master Plan Modification. This 
standard is met. 

(.02) Development in Accord with Plans. Construction, site development and landscaping shall be 
carried out in substantial accord with the plans, drawings, sketches and other documents approved by 
the Board, unless altered with Board approval. Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to prevent 
ordinary repair, maintenance and replacement of any part of the building or landscaping which does not 
involve a substantial change from the purpose of Section 4.400. If the Board objects to such proposed 
changes, they shall be subject to the procedures and requirements of the site design review process 
applicable to new proposals. 
Response: The applicant intends to construct a project that aligns with the general form and design 
depicted in the accompanying plans, subject to possible minor alterations that may arise during 
preparation of construction drawings for permit review. This standard is met. 
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(.03) Variances. The Board may authorize variances from the site development requirements, based 
upon the procedures, standards and criteria listed in Section 4.196. Variances shall be considered in 
conjunction with the site design review process. 
Response: No Variance is requested.  

Section 4.421. Criteria and Application of Design Standards 

(.01) The following standards shall be utilized by the Board in reviewing the plans, drawings, sketches 
and other documents required for Site Design Review. These standards are intended to provide a frame 
of reference for the applicant in the development of site and building plans as well as a method of review 
for the Board. These standards shall not be regarded as inflexible requirements. They are not intended to 
discourage creativity, invention and innovation. The specifications of one or more particular architectural 
styles is not included in these standards. (Even in the Boones Ferry Overlay Zone, a range of architectural 
styles will be encouraged.) 

A. Preservation of Landscape. The landscape shall be preserved in its natural state, insofar 
as practicable, by minimizing tree and soils removal, and any grade changes shall be in 
keeping with the general appearance of neighboring developed areas. 

Response: The proposed development site remains in a semi-natural state. The SROZ area and 
western portion of the property remains in a natural state whereas the central and eastern 
portion of the property has most recently been used as a staging area for a waterline project. 
The applicant has made significant adaptations of the proposed development plan in order to 
incorporate a significant open space area for the planting of vegetation on the western portion 
of the property (in the SROZ). The upland portion of the site is relatively flat, and will remain so 
as a result of the proposed site grading (see Sheet C1.20 of Exhibit F) This standard is met. 

B. Relation of Proposed Buildings to Environment. Proposed structures shall be located and 
designed to assure harmony with the natural environment, including protection of steep 
slopes, vegetation and other naturally sensitive areas for wildlife habitat and shall 
provide proper buffering from less intensive uses in accordance with Sections 4.171 and 
4.139 and 4.139.5. The achievement of such relationship may include the enclosure of 
space in conjunction with other existing buildings or other proposed buildings and the 
creation of focal points with respect to avenues of approach, street access or 
relationships to natural features such as vegetation or topography. 

Response: As noted above, the location of the building and constructed improvements is 
located on a portion of the site which has been previously used as a staging area. The proposed 
perimeter and interior landscaping will minimize the visual impacts of the building and parking 
area. The site’s principal environmental feature is the SROZ riparian corridor that will be 
protected and retained in the western part of the site. This standard is met. 

C. Drives, Parking and Circulation. With respect to vehicular and pedestrian circulation, 
including walkways, interior drives and parking, special attention shall be given to 
location and number of access points, general interior circulation, separation of 
pedestrian and vehicular traffic, and arrangement of parking areas that are safe and 
convenient and, insofar as practicable, do not detract from the design of proposed 
buildings and structures and the neighboring properties. 

Response: The applicant has proposed a one-driveway configuration (utilizing an existing 
driveway) because it achieves efficient access and circulation while minimizing conflicting 
movements among site users. Pedestrian walkways are separated from vehicular driveways for 
safety. These standards are met. 
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D. Surface Water Drainage. Special attention shall be given to proper site surface drainage 
so that removal of surface waters will not adversely affect neighboring properties of the 
public storm drainage system. 

Response: The proposed plans (see Exhibit F) include site grading for positive on-site drainage to 
surface facilities for stormwater facility, with discharge to Coffee Lake Creek. This standard is 
met.  

E. Utility Service. Any utility installations above ground shall be located so as to have a 
harmonious relation to neighboring properties and site. The proposed method of 
sanitary and storm sewage disposal from all buildings shall be indicated. 

Response: Utility service connections will be made underground as shown on Sheet C1.30 of 
Exhibit F. This standard is met.  

F. Advertising Features. In addition to the requirements of the City's sign regulations, the 
following criteria should be included: the size, location, design, color, texture, lighting 
and materials of all exterior signs and outdoor advertising structures or features shall 
not detract from the design of proposed buildings and structures and the surrounding 
properties. 

Response: This application incorporates the locations, general configurations, and sizing of 
proposed monument signage to identify the building tenant, as part of the overall composition 
and project design. This requirement is met in a way that will set the stage for the applicant to 
obtain over-the-counter permits to install tenant-specific compliant signs in the future. 

G. Special Features. Exposed storage areas, exposed machinery installations, surface areas, 
truck loading areas, utility buildings and structures and similar accessory areas and 
structures shall be subject to such setbacks, screen plantings or other screening methods 
as shall be required to prevent their being incongruous with the existing or contemplated 
environment and its surrounding properties. Standards for screening and buffering are 
contained in Section 4.176. 

Response: No exposed storage areas, exposed machinery installations, surface areas, truck 
loading areas, utility buildings and structures, and similar accessory areas and structures are 
proposed as part of this development. As shown on the L-series sheets of Exhibit F, the site will 
have perimeter landscaping that will soften the appearance of the vehicle parking area. The 
submitted materials meet this requirement.  

(.02) The standards of review outlined in Sections (a) through (g) above shall also apply to all 
accessory buildings, structures, exterior signs and other site features, however related to the major 
buildings or structures. 
Response: The submitted plans include all known features of the proposed development project, to 
support analysis consistent with this provision. 

(.03) The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such objectives shall serve as 
additional criteria and standards. 
Response: The applicant has responded to the Purpose statements in Section 4.400 above. 

(.04) Conditional application. The Planning Director, Planning Commission, Development Review 
Board or City Council may, as a Condition of Approval for a zone change, subdivision, land partition, 
variance, conditional use, or other land use action, require conformance to the site development 
standards set forth in this Section. 
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Response: The applicant is seeking Site Design Review approval as part of this application package, so no 
approval condition requiring conformance to site development standards is necessary. This standard 
does not apply. 

(.05) The Board may attach certain development or use conditions in granting an approval that are 
determined necessary to insure the proper and efficient functioning of the development, consistent with 
the intent of the Comprehensive Plan, allowed densities and the requirements of this Code. In making 
this determination of compliance and attaching conditions, the Board shall, however, consider the effects 
of this action on the availability and cost of needed housing. The provisions of this section shall not be 
used in such a manner that additional conditions either singularly or accumulatively have the effect of 
unnecessarily increasing the cost of housing or effectively excluding a needed housing type. 
Response: The applicant recognizes the DRB’s authority to impose conditions of approval necessary to 
ensure conformance to adopted Code standards; however, the proposed use and development are 
consistent with the subject property’s proposed PDI zoning, prior approval(s) and is compatible with the 
adjoining industrial zoning and uses. For these reasons, no imposition of additional conditions over and 
above Code standards is necessary or warranted to meet the intent of the Comprehensive Plan or to 
protect the best interests of the surrounding properties and neighborhoods, the City as a whole, and the 
intent of this Code. This criterion is met without additional conditions. 

(.06) The Board or Planning Director may require that certain paints or colors of materials be used in 
approving applications. Such requirements shall only be applied when site development or other land use 
applications are being reviewed by the City. 

A. Where the conditions of approval for a development permit specify that certain paints or 
colors of materials be used, the use of those paints or colors shall be binding upon the 
applicant. No Certificate of Occupancy shall be granted until compliance with such 
conditions has been verified. 

B. Subsequent changes to the color of a structure shall not be subject to City review unless 
the conditions of approval under which the original colors were set included a condition 
requiring a subsequent review before the colors could be changed. 

Response: The applicant requests DRB approval of the general color scheme illustrated in Exhibit E, 
Materials Perspectives (Colors and Materials panel); however, to allow flexibility to tailor final color 
selections to best meet the intent of the proposal while responding to the site’s real-world natural 
daylight conditions, and in recognition of the DRB’s discretion provided by this standard, the applicant 
requests that the DRB not impose conditions mandating use of those specific colors. This standard is 
met. 

Section 4.430. Location, Design and Access Standards for Mixed Solid Waste and Recycling Areas  

(.01) The following locations, design and access standards for mixed solid waste and recycling storage 
areas shall be applicable to the requirements of Section 4.179 of the Wilsonville City Code. 
Response: The proposed trash enclosure meets the requirements of Section 4.179 of the Wilsonville City 
Code. The applicant’s responses to individual criteria are provided in this narrative under Section 4.179.  

 (.02) Location Standards: 
A. To encourage its use, the storage area for source separated recyclables shall be co-

located with the storage area for residual mixed solid waste. 
B. Indoor and outdoor storage areas shall comply with Uniform Building and Fire Code 

requirements. 
C. Storage area space requirements can be satisfied with a single location or multiple 

locations and can combine with both interior and exterior locations. 
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D. Exterior storage areas can be located within interior side yard or rear yard areas. 
Minimum setback shall be three (3) feet. Exterior storage areas shall not be located 
within a required front yard setback, including double frontage lots. 

E. Exterior storage areas shall be located in central and visible locations on a site to 
enhance security for users. 

F. Exterior storage areas can be located in a parking area if the proposed use provides at 
least the minimum number of parking spaces required for the use after deducting the 
area used for storage. Storage areas shall be appropriately screened according to the 
provisions of Section 4.430 (.03), below. 

G. The storage area shall be accessible for collection vehicles and located so that the 
storage area will not obstruct pedestrian or vehicle traffic movement on the site or on 
public streets adjacent to the site. 

Response: The proposal includes a single storage area for recyclables and mixed solid waste. The 
storage area complies with Uniform Building and Fire Code requirements; see details in Exhibit F, Sheets 
C1.10 (location) and A5.10 (details). The storage area is not located in a setback or in a parking area. The 
storage area is in a visible location. The trash hauler, Republic Services, has provided a letter (pending 
Exhibit H). These standards are met. 

(.03) Design Standards. 
A. The dimensions of the storage area shall accommodate containers consistent with 

current methods of local collection. 
B. Storage containers shall meet Uniform Fire Code standards and be made of or covered 

with waterproof materials or situated in a covered area. 
C. Exterior storage areas shall be enclosed by a sight obscuring fence, wall or hedge at least 

six (6) feet in height. Gate openings for haulers shall be a minimum of ten (10) feet wide 
and shall be capable of being secured in a closed or open position. In no case shall 
exterior storage areas be located in conflict with the vision clearance requirements of 
Section 4.177. 

D. Storage area(s) and containers shall be clearly labeled to indicate the type of materials 
accepted. 

Response: The design of the storage area was provided to Republic Services who is the local hauler for 
review. They have provided their approval of the storage area. Storage containers will meet Uniform 
Fire Code standards and be clearly labeled to indicate the type of materials. Individual storage 
containers will be covered. The storage area will be enclosed by split face concrete block walls. See 
storage area details on Sheet A5.10 of Exhibit F. These standards are met.  

(.04) Access Standards. 
A. Access to storage areas can be limited for security reasons. However, the storage area 

shall be accessible to users at convenient times of the day and to collect service 
personnel on the day and approximate time they are scheduled to provide collection 
service. 

B. Storage areas shall be designed to be easily accessible to collection trucks and 
equipment, considering paving, grade and vehicle access. A minimum of ten (10) feet 
horizontal clearance and eight feet of vertical clearance is required if the storage area is 
covered. 

C. Storage areas shall be accessible to collection vehicles without requiring backing out of a 
driveway onto a public street. If only a single access point is available to the storage 
area, adequate turning radius shall be provided to allow collection vehicles to safely exit 
the site in a forward motion. 
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Response: The storage area will be accessible to users, and to collection personnel. The location and 
design of the storage area was provided for review to the trash hauler, Republic Services. Republic 
Services has provided a letter (pending Exhibit H). These standards are met.  

Section 4.440. Procedure 

(.01) Submission of Documents. A prospective applicant for a building or other permit who is subject 
to site design review shall submit to the Planning Department, in addition to the requirements of Section 
4.035, the following: 

A. A site plan, drawn to scale, showing the proposed layout of all structures and other 
improvements including, where appropriate, driveways, pedestrian walks, landscaped 
areas, fences, walls, off-street parking and loading areas, and railroad tracks. The site 
plan shall indicate the location of entrances and exits and direction of traffic flow into 
and out of off-street parking and loading areas, the location of each parking space and 
each loading berth and areas of turning and maneuvering vehicles. The site plan shall 
indicate how utility service and drainage are to be provided. 

B. A Landscape Plan, drawn to scale, showing the location and design of landscaped areas, 
the variety and sizes of trees and plant materials to be planted on the site, the location 
and design of landscaped areas, the varieties, by scientific and common name, and sizes 
of trees and plant materials to be retained or planted on the site, other pertinent 
landscape features, and irrigation systems required to maintain trees and plant 
materials. An inventory, drawn at the same scale as the Site Plan, of existing trees of 4" 
caliper or more is required. However, when large areas of trees are proposed to be 
retained undisturbed, only a survey identifying the location and size of all perimeter 
trees in the mass in necessary. 

C. Architectural drawings or sketches, drawn to scale, including floor plans, in sufficient 
detail to permit computation of yard requirements and showing all elevations of the 
proposed structures and other improvements as they will appear on completion of 
construction. Floor plans shall also be provided in sufficient detail to permit computation 
of yard requirements based on the relationship of indoor versus outdoor living area, and 
to evaluate the floor plan's effect on the exterior design of the building through the 
placement and configuration of windows and doors. 

D. A Color Board displaying specifications as to type, color, and texture of exterior surfaces 
of proposed structures. Also, a phased development schedule if the development is 
constructed in stages. 

E. A sign Plan, drawn to scale, showing the location, size, design, material, color and 
methods of illumination of all exterior signs. 

F. The required application fee. 
Response: The required documents listed above have been included in this application package as 
Exhibits E and F, with the exception of the fee which was paid separately. This standard is met. 

(.02) As soon as possible after the preparation of a staff report, a public hearing shall be scheduled 
before the Development Review Board. In accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.010(2) 
and 4.012, the Development Review Board shall review and approve, approve with conditions, or deny 
the proposed architectural, site development, landscaping or sign plans of the applicant. If the Board 
finds that additional information or time are necessary to render a decision, the matter may be 
continued to a date certain. The applicant shall be immediately notified in writing of any such 
continuation or delay together with the scheduled date of review. 
Response: This provision provides procedural guidance for implementation and requires no evidence 
within the applicant’s narrative. 
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Section 4.441. Effective Date of Decisions 
A decision of the Board shall become effective fourteen (14) calendar days after the date of the decision, 
unless the decision is appealed to, or called up by, the Council. If the decision of the Board is appealed to, 
or called up by, the City Council, the decision of the Council shall become effective immediately. 
Response: This provision provides procedural guidance for implementation and requires no evidence 
from the applicant. 

Section 4.442. Time Limit on Approval 
Site design review approval shall be void after two (2) years unless a building permit has been issued and 
substantial development pursuant thereto has taken place; or an extension is granted by motion of the 
Board. 
Response: The applicant intends to seek a building permit and begin construction within the timeframes 
outlined by Code. This standard is met. 

Section 4.443. Preliminary Consideration 
An applicant may request preliminary consideration by the Board of general plans prior to seeking a 
building permit. When seeking preliminary consideration, the applicant shall submit a site plan showing 
the proposed structures, improvements and parking, together with a general description of the plans. 
The Board shall approve or reject all or part of the applicant’s general plan within the normal time 
requirements of a formal application. Preliminary approval shall be deemed to be approval of the final 
plan to the extent that the final design contains the characteristics of the preliminary design. 
Response: The applicant has submitted for a Stage II Planned Development Modification Review 
pursuant to this Section. 

Section 4.450. Installation of Landscaping 

(.01) All landscaping required by this section and approved by the Board shall be installed prior to 
issuance of occupancy permits, unless security equal to one hundred and ten percent (110%) of the cost 
of the landscaping as determined by the Planning Director is filed with the City assuring such installation 
within six (6) months of occupancy. “Security” is cash, certified check, time certificates of deposit, 
assignment of a savings account or such other assurance of completion as shall meet with the approval 
of the City Attorney. In such cases the developer shall also provide written authorization, to the 
satisfaction of the City Attorney, for the City or its designees to enter the property and complete the 
landscaping as approved. If the installation of the landscaping is not completed within the six-month 
period, or within an extension of time authorized by the Board, the security may be used by the City to 
complete the installation. Upon completion of the installation, any portion of the remaining security 
deposited with the City shall be returned to the applicant. 
(.02) Action by the City approving a proposed landscape plan shall be binding upon the applicant. 
Substitution of plant materials, irrigation systems, or other aspects of an approved landscape plan shall 
not be made without official action of the Planning Director or Development Review Board, as specified 
in this Code. 
(.03) All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, weeding, pruning, 
and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as originally approved by the Board, unless altered with 
Board approval. 
(.04) If a property owner wishes to add landscaping for an existing development, in an effort to 
beautify the property, the Landscape Standards set forth in Section 4.176 shall not apply and no Plan 
approval or permit shall be required. If the owner wishes to modify or remove landscaping that has been 
accepted or approved through the City’s development review process, that removal or modification must 
first be approved through the procedures of Section 4.010. 
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Response: The applicant acknowledges the City’s authority under these provisions to require installation 
and maintenance of landscape features in accordance with construction plans after approval, and 
applicant accepts responsibility for care, maintenance, and procedures for approval of non-additive 
modifications to landscape features. 

Type C Tree Plan DRB Review 

Section 4.600.20. Applicability of Subchapter 

(.01) The provisions of this subchapter apply to the United States and the State of Oregon, and to their 
agencies and subdivisions, including the City of Wilsonville, and to the employees and agents thereof. 
(.02) By this subchapter, the City of Wilsonville regulates forest practices on all lands located within its 
urban growth boundary, as provided by ORS 527.722. 
(.03) The provisions of this subchapter apply to all land within the City limits, including property 
designated as a Significant Resource Overlay Zone or other areas or trees designated as protected by the 
Comprehensive Plan, City zoning map, or any other law or ordinance; except that any tree activities in 
the Willamette River Greenway that are regulated by the provisions of WC 4.500 - 4.514 and requiring a 
conditional use permit shall be reviewed by the DRB under the application and review procedures set 
forth for Tree Removal Permits. 
Response: This site is located in the City of Wilsonville. This subchapter is applicable.   

Section 4.600.30. Tree Removal Permit Required 
(.01) Requirement Established. No person shall remove any tree without first obtaining a Tree Removal 
Permit (TRP) as required by this subchapter. 
(.02) Tree Removal Permits will be reviewed according to the standards provided for in this subchapter, 
in addition to all other applicable requirements of Chapter 4. 
(.03) Although tree activities in the Willamette River Greenway are governed by WC 4.500 - 4.514, the 
application materials required to apply for a conditional use shall be the same as those required for a 
Type B or C permit under this subchapter, along with any additional materials that may be required by 
the Planning Department. An application for a Tree Removal Permit under this section shall be reviewed 
by the Development Review Board. 
Response: This application includes a request for a Type B Tree Removal Permit.  

Section 4.600.40. Exceptions  
[Detailed provisions omitted for brevity] 
Response: The applicant is not requesting an exemption for tree removal. 

Section 4.600.50. Application For Tree Removal Permit 

(.01) Application for Permit. A person seeking to remove one or more trees shall apply to the Director for 
a Tree Removal Permit for a Type A, B, C, or D permit, depending on the applicable standards as provided 
in this subchapter. 

(A) An application for a tree removal permit that does not meet the requirements of Type A may be 
submitted as a Type B application. 

(.02) Time of Application. Application for a Tree Removal Permit shall be made before removing or 
transplanting trees, except in emergency situations as provided in WC 4.600.40 (1)(B) above. Where the 
site is proposed for development necessitating siteplan or plat review, application for a Tree Removal 
Permit shall be made as part of the site development application as specified in this subchapter. 
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(.03) Fees. A person applying for a Tree Removal Permit shall pay a non-refundable application fee; as 
established by resolution of the City Council. 

A. By submission of an application, the applicant shall be deemed to have authorized City 
representatives to have access to applicant’s property as may be needed to verify the 
information provided, to observe site conditions, and if a permit is granted, to verify that 
terms and conditions of the permit are followed. 

Response: A total of 18 trees were inventoried, eight (8) trees on the subject property including three 
(3) within the SROZ, and 10 street trees around the perimeter of the site. (See Sheet L0.02 of Exhibit F). 
Due to site grading and activities subject to an exception in the SROZ (as explained in the Applicant’s 
response to Section 4.139.11), two (2) coniferous trees will be removed and mitigated for as shown on 
Sheet L1.11 of Exhibit F. The two (2) trees to be removed measure 6" and 7" d.b.h. As the trees to be 
removed are within the SROZ, the Applicant is requesting a Type B tree removal permit.  

Section 4.610.00. Application Review Procedure 

(.01) The permit applicant shall provide complete information as required by this subchapter in order for 
the City to review the application. 
Response: The applicant has submitted a complete application for the City’s review.  

(.02) Departmental Review. All applications for Tree Removal Permits must be deemed complete by the 
City Planning Department before being accepted for review. When all required information has been 
supplied, the Planning Department will verify whether the application is complete. Upon request of either 
the applicant or the City, the City may conduct a field inspection or review meeting. City departments 
involved in the review shall submit their report and recommendations to the Planning Director who shall 
forward them to the appropriate reviewing authority. 
Response: The applicant acknowledges the procedure for the determination of completeness and 
Departmental Review.  

(.03) Reviewing Authority. 

A. Type A or B. Where site plan review or plat approval by the Development Review Board is not required 
by City ordinance, the grant or denial of the Tree Removal Permit application shall be the responsibility of 
the Planning Director. The Planning Director has the authority to refer a Type B permit application to the 
DRB under the Class II administrative review procedures of this Chapter. The decision to grant or deny a 
permit shall be governed by the applicable review standards enumerated in WC 4.610.10. 
Response: As explained in the Applicant’s response to Section 4.610.20, a Type B tree removal permit is 
required. This site plan review is subject to review by the Development Review Board.  

(.06) Grant of a Tree Removal Permit. Whenever an application for a Type B, C or D Tree Removal Permit 
is granted, the reviewing authority shall:  

A. Conditions. Attach to the granting of the permit any reasonable conditions considered 
necessary by the reviewing authority including, but not limited to, the recording of any 
plan or agreement approved under this subchapter, to ensure that the intent of this 
Chapter will be fulfilled and to minimize damage to, encroachment on or interference 
with natural resources and processes within wooded areas;  

B. Completion of Operations. Fix a reasonable time to complete tree removal operations; 
and  
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C. Security. Require the Type C permit grantee to file with the City a cash or corporate 
surety bond or irrevocable bank letter of credit in an amount determined necessary by 
the City to ensure compliance with Tree Removal Permit conditions and this Chapter. 
1. This requirement may be waived by the Planning Director if the tree removal 

must be completed before a plat is recorded, and the applicant has complied 
with WC 4.264(1) of this Code. 

Response: As explained in the applicant’s response to Section 4.610.20, a Type B tree removal permit is 
required. The applicant acknowledges that the reviewing authority may apply conditions or other 
requirements when granting a Tree Removal Permit.  

Section 4.610.10. Standards For Tree Removal, Relocation Or Replacement  

(.01) Except where an application is exempt, or where otherwise noted, the following standards shall 
govern the review of an application for a Type A, B, C or D Tree Removal Permit:  

A. Standard for the Significant Resource Overlay Zone. The standard for tree removal in the 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone shall be that removal or transplanting of any tree is 
not inconsistent with the purposes of this Chapter. 

Response: The subject site is partially located in a Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ), so 
this standard applies. The two (2) trees proposed for removal are within the SROZ.  

B. Preservation and Conservation. No development application shall be denied solely 
because trees grow on the site. Nevertheless, tree preservation and conservation as a 
design principle shall be equal in concern and importance to other design principles. 

Response: The site layout, including planting of replacement trees, has been designed to 
mitigate for impacts associated with site development for commercial use by replanting trees 
throughout the site to the extent it is feasible to do so. See the Planting Plan (Sheets L1.10 and 
L1.11 of Exhibit F) for details.   

C. Developmental Alternatives. Preservation and conservation of wooded areas and trees 
shall be given careful consideration when there are feasible and reasonable location 
alternatives and design options on-site for proposed buildings, structures or other site 
improvements. 

Response: Preservation and conservation of natural areas and trees was given careful 
consideration in site planning and design; however, based on multiple site constraints (as 
discussed in the Introduction section above), the area where the two (2) trees are proposed for 
removal will be replaced with a vegetated stormwater facility. The building is located in the 
eastern part of the site, as far from the Coffee Lake Creek SROZ corridor as is practical. The 
design of stormwater management facility allows additional trees to be planted within the SROZ 
corridor along Coffee Lake Creek, further insulating and shading the vegetated corridor along 
the creek. This standard is met. 

D. Land Clearing. Where the proposed activity requires land clearing, the clearing shall be 
limited to designated street rights-of-way and areas necessary for the construction of 
buildings, structures or other site improvements. 

Response: Clearing and grading on the site will be limited to the extents of site improvement. 
Construction on the site will also be in alignment with the recommendations of the landscape 
architect to protect trees in the SROZ (See Sheet L0.02 of Exhibit F), and at other locations 
around the site’s perimeter to the extent feasible, during construction. This standard is met.  
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E. Residential Development. Where the proposed activity involves residential development, 
residential units shall, to the extent reasonably feasible, be designed and constructed to 
blend into the natural setting of the landscape. 

Response: The proposed development is not residential. This standard does not apply.  

F. Compliance With Statutes and Ordinances. The proposed activity shall comply with all 
applicable statutes and ordinances. 

Response: The applicant has submitted this application and narrative to show compliance with 
all applicable statutes and ordinances.  

G. Relocation or Replacement. The proposed activity shall include necessary provisions for 
tree relocation or replacement, in accordance with WC 4.620.00, and the protection of 
those trees that are not to be removed, in accordance with WC 4.620.10. 

Response: No tree relocation is proposed. Two (2) trees are subject to the Code’s provision for 
mitigation/replacement planting. Trees to remain within the site and adjacent to the site are to 
be protected by measures as outlined on Sheet L0.02 of Exhibit F.  

H. Limitation. Tree removal or transplanting shall be limited to instances where the 
applicant has provided completed information as required by this Chapter and the 
reviewing authority determines that removal or transplanting is necessary based on the 
criteria of this subsection. 
1. Necessary For Construction. Where the applicant has shown to the satisfaction 

of the reviewing authority that removal or transplanting is necessary for the 
construction of a building, structure or other site improvement, and that there is 
no feasible and reasonable location alternative or design option on-site for a 
proposed building, structure or other site improvement; or a tree is located too 
close to existing or proposed buildings or structures, or creates unsafe vision 
clearance. 

2. Disease, Damage, or Nuisance, or Hazard. Where the tree is diseased, damaged, 
or in danger of falling, or presents a hazard as defined in WC 6.208, or is a 
nuisance as defined in WC 6.200 et seq., or creates unsafe vision clearance as 
defined in this Code. 
(a) As a condition of approval of Stage II development, filbert trees must be 

removed if they are no longer commercially grown or maintained. 
3. Interference. Where the tree interferes with the healthy growth of other trees, 

existing utility service or drainage, or utility work in a previously dedicated right-
of-way, and it is not feasible to preserve the tree on site. 

4. Other. Where the applicant shows that tree removal or transplanting is 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

Response: The removal of trees at this site is necessary for the construction of the building and 
the dispersed stormwater facilities, as required by City Engineering. The site is constrained due 
to easements and the SROZ corridor which render approximately 42% of the site unbuildable. 
The site design balances the preservation of the Significant Resource, while accommodating a 
new office building and site improvements. This standard is met. 

I. Additional Standards for Type C Permits. 
Response: A Type B Tree Removal Permit is requested. This standard is not applicable.  

J. Exemption. Type D permit applications shall be exempt from review under standards D, 
E, H and I of this subsection. 
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Response: A Type B, not Type D, Tree Removal Permit is requested. This exemption is not 
applicable.   

Section 4.610.20. Type A Permit  
 

(.01) Approval to remove one to three trees within a 12 month period on any property shall be granted if 
the application meets all of the following requirements: 

A. The trees subject to removal are not located in the Significant Resource Overlay Zone; and 
B. The trees subject to removal are not located in the Willamette River Greenway; 
C. The trees subject to removal are not Heritage Trees. 
D. The trees subject to removal are not street trees; 
E. The trees subject to removal must not be retained as a condition of site development approval. 

Response: The two (2) trees proposed for removal are located within the SROZ; therefore, per 
4.610.20.02., the appropriate Tree Removal Permit is the Type B Permit.  

 
(.02) Where the City determines that an application to remove a tree or trees does not meet the criteria 
of 1(A)—(E) of this section, then the application may be submitted as a Type B application. 
Response: The two (2) trees proposed for removal are located within the SROZ; therefore, per 
4.610.20.02., this Type A Tree Removal Permit is submitted as a Type B Tree Removal Permit 
Application.  
 
(.03) An application for a Type A Permit shall contain the following information: 

A. A brief statement explaining why tree removal is necessary. 
B. A brief description of the trees proposed for removal or relocation, including common name, 
approximate height, diameter (or circumference) at four and one-half feet d.b.h. above grade, 
and apparent health. 
C. A drawing that depicts where trees are located and provides sufficient detail to indicate to a 
City reviewer where removal or relocation will occur. 
D. The name of the person who will perform the removal or transplanting, if known, and the 
approximate date of removal. 
E. Additional supporting information which the Planning Department requests, in order to 
determine whether an application meets the requirements of this section. 

Response: Compliance with the Submittal requirements of a Type B Tree Removal permit are addressed 
below in the Applicant’s responses to 4.610.30.02 

(.04) The City shall accept a Type A permit application under the following procedure: 
A. Review Period. Completed Type A permit applications shall be reviewed within ten working 
days. The grant or denial of the Tree Removal Permit application shall be the responsibility of the 
Planning Director. 
B. The Type A permit application shall be reviewed under the standards of Class I administrative 
review and applicable requirements of this subchapter. 

Response: The two (2) trees proposed for removal are located within the SROZ; therefore, per 
4.610.20.02., this Type A Tree Removal Permit is submitted as a Type B Tree Removal Permit 
Application. 

Section 4.610.30. - Type B Permit 
(.01) An applicant may apply for a Type B Permit based on the following criteria: 
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A. The applicant proposes to remove four or more trees on property not subject to site 
development review; or 
B. The applicant proposes major or minor changes in a condition or conditions of a development 
permit previously approved under the provisions of this Chapter; or 
C. The applicant is a homeowners' association that proposes to remove trees on property 
previously approved by the City for development. 

1. A Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan submitted for approval under (1)(C) of this 
subsection shall meet the following criteria: 

a. The Development Review Board shall review the Covenants, Conditions and 
Restrictions (CC&R's) to verify that the homeowners' association is designated 
and authorized by the CC&R's to review tree maintenance, removal, and 
planting requests. 
b. A request for tree removal shall indicate the reason for the request, as well as 
the location, size, species and health of tree. 
c. Decisions on requests and actions taken are documented and retained and 
shall be made available to the City's Development Review Board upon request. 
d. A replanting program is established and reviewed on an annual basis. Where 
such a program is approved, mitigation under this Chapter shall not be required.  

2. Any permit approved under this subsection shall require that all maintenance, 
planting, and removal be performed to the standards established in this subchapter and 
in Wilsonville Code. 
3.Failure of a homeowners' association to meet the requirements of this subsection shall 
be grounds for revocation of a Type B permit. 

Response: If the two (2) trees proposed for removal met the requirements of 4.610.20.01, a Type A Tree 
Removal permit would be required. As two (2) trees proposed for removal are located within the SROZ, 
per 4.610.20.02., this Type A Tree Removal Permit is submitted as a Type B Tree Removal Permit 
Application. 

(.02) Application for the Type B permit shall consist of the information required for a Type A Permit, as 
provided in WC 4.610.20, and a Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan, which shall contain the following 
information: 

A. An accurate topographical survey, subdivision map or plat map, that bears the signature of a 
qualified, registered surveyor or engineer, and which shows: 

1. the shape and dimensions of the property, and the location of any existing and 
proposed structure or improvement, 
2. the location of the trees on the site, and indicating species, approximate height, d.b.h. 
diameter, canopy spread and common name, 
3. the location of existing and proposed easements, as well as setbacks required by 
existing zoning requirements. 

Response: An existing conditions plan meeting the requirements of 4.610.02.A is included as 
Sheet C0.01 of Exhibit F. This standard is met. 

B. In lieu of the map or survey, an applicant proposing to remove trees under (1)(B) or (1)(C) of 
this subsection may provide aerial photographs with overlays, GIS documentation, or maps 
approved by the Planning Director, and clearly indicating the information required by (2)(A) of 
this subsection. 
Response: The Applicant has provided an existing conditions plan (Sheet C0.01 of Exhibit F) 
meeting the requirements of 4.610.02.A. This standard is not applicable.  
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C. Arborist Report. The report shall describe the health and condition of all trees subject to 
removal or transplanting, and shall include information on species, common name, diameter at 
four and one-half feet d.b.h., approximately height and age. 
Response: The enclosed tree inventory (Exhibit K), describes the size, health, and species for the 
two (2) trees to be removed. Both trees proposed for removal are Ponderosa Pine, measuring 5" 
and 6" d.b.h. respectively. The Applicant’s existing conditions show the trees proposed for 
removal at 6" and 7" d.b.h., respectively, which is attributed to the time of the tree survey 
compared to the tree inventory (1+ year). Additionally, many of the trees shown on the tree 
inventory were removed as part of the waterline project, so the existing conditions plan 
accurately reflects the remaining trees on site.  

D. Tree Protection. Unless specifically exempted by the Planning Director, a statement describing 
how trees intended to remain will be protected during tree removal, and how remaining trees 
will be maintained. 
Response: Tree protection details area shown on Sheet L0.02 of Exhibit F. Tree protection will 
be further detailed at time of permitting.  

E. Tree Identification. Unless specifically exempted by the Planning Director, a statement that 
any trees proposed for removal will be identified by a method obvious to a site inspector, such as 
tagging, painting, or flagging, in addition to clear identification on construction documents. 
Response: Tree identification will be further detailed at time of permitting. 

F. Replacement Trees. A description of the proposed tree replacement program with a detailed 
explanation including the number, size, and species, and cost. In lieu of replacing trees, the 
applicant may propose to pay into the City Tree Fund an amount equivalent to the value of the 
replacement trees after installation, as provided in this subchapter. 
Response: Replacement trees are proposed as shown on the L-Series sheets of Exhibit F. This 
standard is met.  

G. Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&R's). Where the applicant is proposing to remove 
trees on common areas, the applicant shall provide a copy of the applicable CC&R's, including 
any landscaping provisions. 
Response: The Applicant (property owner) has ownership of the entire property with no 
common areas. This standard is not applicable.   

H. Waiver of documentation. The Planning Director may waive an application document where 
the required information has already been made available to the City, or where the Director 
determines the information is not necessary to review the application. 
Response: The Applicant is not requesting a waiver of information for the tree removal permit.  

(.03) Review: 

A. The Type B permit application, including major or minor changes in a condition or conditions 
of a development permit previously approved under the provisions of this chapter, shall be 
reviewed under the standards of Class II administrative review and the requirements of this 
subchapter. Where site plan review or plat approval by the Development Review Board is not 
required by City ordinance, the grant or denial of the Type B permit shall be the responsibility of 
the Planning Director. The Planning Director has the authority to refer a Type B permit 
application to DRB under the Class II administrative review procedures of this Chapter. 
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B. The DRB shall review and render a decision on any application referred by the Planning 
Director within 60 days. The Planning Director shall review a completed permit application 
within 30 days. 
C. The decision to grant or deny a Type B permit shall be governed by the standards established 
in WC 4.610.10. 

Response: This application seeks site plan review approval for the proposed development.   

Section 4.620.00. Tree Relocation, Mitigation, Or Replacement 

(.01) Requirement Established. A Type B or C Tree Removal Permit grantee shall replace or relocate each 
removed tree having six (6) inches or greater d.b.h. within one year of removal. 

(.02) Basis For Determining Replacement. The permit grantee shall replace removed trees on a basis of 
one (1) tree replanted for each tree removed. All replacement trees must measure two inches (2”) or 
more in diameter. Alternatively, the Planning Director or Development Review Board may require the 
permit grantee to replace removed trees on a per caliper inch basis, based on a finding that the large size 
of the trees being removed justifies an increase in the replacement trees required. Except, however, that 
the Planning Director or Development Review Board may allow the use of replacement Oregon white 
oaks and other uniquely valuable trees with a smaller diameter. 
Response: Trees proposed for removal are subject to replacement planting requirements. As shown on 
Sheet L0.02 of Exhibit F, two (2) coniferous trees will be removed because their location conflicts with 
the proposed linear stormwater management facility; mitigation replanting will consist of planting two 
replacement trees close to the same location, consistent with grading changes and the stormwater 
facility, as depicted on Sheet L1.11. The proposed planting plan includes nine (9) trees: five (5) Acer 
circinatum/vine maple trees and four (4) Rhamnus purshiana/cascara trees; therefore, on-site plantings 
exceed the mitigation planting requirement and no contribution to the City Tree Fund pursuant to 
Section 4.620.00(.06) is required. This standard is met.  

(.03) Replacement Tree Requirements. A mitigation or replacement tree plan shall be reviewed by the 
City prior to planting and according to the standards of this subsection. 

A. Replacement trees shall have shade potential or other characteristics comparable to the 
removed trees, shall be appropriately chosen for the site from an approved tree species 
list supplied by the City, and shall be state Department of Agriculture Nursery Grade No. 
1 or better. 

B. Replacement trees must be staked, fertilized and mulched, and shall be guaranteed by 
the permit grantee or the grantee’s successors-in-interest for two (2) years after the 
planting date. 

C. A “guaranteed” tree that dies or becomes diseased during that time shall be replaced. 
D. Diversity of tree species shall be encouraged where trees will be replaced, and diversity 

of species shall also be maintained where essential to preserving a wooded area or 
habitat. 

Response: The L-Series sheets include tree planting specifications that satisfy these standards. Trees are 
to be staked, fertilized, mulched, and guaranteed. (See Sheet L0.01 in Exhibit F.) 

(.04) All trees to be planted shall consist of nursery stock that meets requirements of the American 
Association of Nurserymen (AAN) American Standards for Nursery Stock (ANSI Z60.1) for top grade. 
Response: All on-site tree planting will meet the ANSI Z60.1 standard. Compliance can be assured 
through a condition of approval.  
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(.05) Replacement Tree Location. 

A. City Review Required. The City shall review tree relocation or replacement plans in order 
to provide optimum enhancement, preservation and protection of wooded areas. To the 
extent feasible and desirable, trees shall be relocated or replaced on-site and within the 
same general area as trees removed. 

B. Relocation or Replacement Off-Site. When it is not feasible or desirable to relocate or 
replace trees on-site, relocation or replacement may be made at another location 
approved by the City. 

Response: Proposed tree plantings are located on-site. The mitigation trees will be planted adjacent to 
the proposed linear stormwater management facility, contributing to the natural character of the buffer 
adjacent to the SROZ along the west boundary of the site.  

(.06) City Tree Fund. Where it is not feasible to relocate or replace trees on site or at another approved 
location in the City, the Tree Removal Permit grantee shall pay into the City Tree Fund, which fund is 
hereby created, an amount of money approximately the value as defined by this subchapter, of the 
replacement trees that would otherwise be required by this subchapter. The City shall use the City Tree 
Fund for the purpose of producing, maintaining and preserving wooded areas and heritage trees, and for 
planting trees within the City. 

A. The City Tree Fund shall be used to offer trees at low cost on a first-come, first-serve 
basis to any Type A Permit grantee who requests a tree and registers with the City Tree 
Fund. 

B. In addition, and as funds allow, the City Tree Fund shall provide educational materials to 
assist with tree planting, mitigation, and relocation. 

Response: Proposed on-site planting of nine (9) trees exceeds the mitigation requirement associated 
with removal of two (2) trees. As noted above, the proposed number of trees to be planted exceeds the 
number of trees to be removed, so compliance is achieved without making a contribution to the City 
Tree Fund. This standard is met. 

(.07) Exception. Tree replacement may not be required for applicants in circumstances where the 
Director determines that there is good cause to not so require. Good cause shall be based on a 
consideration of preservation of natural resources, including preservation of mature trees and diversity 
of ages of trees. Other criteria shall include consideration of terrain, difficulty of replacement and impact 
on adjacent property. 
Response: The proposal satisfies tree replacement planting requirements, and the applicant does not 
request an exception from tree replacement standards of this Section.  

Section 4.620.10. Tree Protection During Construction 

(.01) Where tree protection is required by a condition of development under Chapter 4 or by a Tree 
Maintenance and Protection Plan approved under this subchapter, the following standards apply: 

A. All trees required to be protected must be clearly labeled as such. 
B. Placing Construction Materials Near Tree. No person may conduct any construction 

activity likely to be injurious to a tree designated to remain, including, but not limited to, 
placing solvents, building material, construction equipment, or depositing soil, or placing 
irrigated landscaping, within the drip line, unless a plan for such construction activity has 
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been approved by the Planning Director or Development Review Board based upon the 
recommendations of an arborist. 

C. Attachments to Trees During Construction. Notwithstanding the requirement of WC 
4.620.10(1)(A), no person shall attach any device or wire to any protected tree unless 
needed for tree protection. 

D. Protective Barrier. Before development, land clearing, filling or any land alteration for 
which a Tree Removal Permit is required, the developer shall erect and maintain suitable 
barriers as identified by an arborist to protect remaining trees. Protective barriers shall 
remain in place until the City authorizes their removal or issues a final certificate of 
occupancy, whichever occurs first. Barriers shall be sufficiently substantial to withstand 
nearby construction activities. 
Plastic tape or similar forms of markers do not constitute “barriers.” The most 
appropriate and protective barrier shall be utilized. Barriers are required for all trees 
designated to remain, except in the following cases:  
1. Right-of-Ways and Easements. Street right-of-way and utility easements may be 

cordoned by placing stakes a minimum of fifty (50) feet apart and tying ribbon, 
plastic tape, rope, etc., from stake to stake along the outside perimeters of areas 
to be cleared. 

2. Any property area separate from the construction or land clearing area onto 
which no equipment will venture may also be cordoned off as described in 
paragraph (D) of this subsection, or by other reasonable means as approved by 
the reviewing authority. 

Response: Tree protection measures are specified on Sheet L0.03 of Exhibit F. Additional details of tree 
protection measures will be demonstrated at time of permitting.  

Section 4.620.20. Maintenance And Protection Standards 
(.01) The following standards apply to all activities affecting trees, including, but not limited to, tree 
protection as required by a condition of approval on a site development application brought under this 
Chapter or as required by an approved Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan. 

A. Pruning activities shall be guided by the most recent version of the ANSI 300 Standards 
for Tree, Shrub, and Other Woody Plant Maintenance. Information on these standards 
shall be available upon request from the Planning Department. 

B. Topping is prohibited. 
1. Exception from this section may be granted under a Tree Removal Permit if 

necessary for utility work or public safety. 
Response: The applicant will perform maintenance and protection practices according to ANSI 300 
standards. This standard will be met.  

Section 4.630.00. Appeal 

(.01) The City shall not issue a Tree Removal Permit until approval has been granted by either the 
Planning Director or the DRB. Any applicant denied a Type A or B permit may appeal the decision as 
provided for in review of Class I Development Applications, or Class II Development Applications, 
whichever is applicable. Decisions by the Planning Director may be appealed to the DRB as provided in 
WC 4.022. Decisions by the DRB may be appealed to the City Council as provided in WC 4.022. 
Response: The applicant acknowledges this process and their right to appeal a denied permit.  

(.02) The City shall not issue a Tree Removal Permit approved by the Development Review Board until 
fifteen (15) calendar days have passed following the approval. The grant or denial of a Tree Removal 
Permit may be appealed to the City Council in the same manner as provided for in WC 4.022. An appeal 
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must be filed in writing, within the fifteen (15) calendar day period following the decision being 
appealed. The timely filing of an appeal shall have the effect of suspending the issuance of a permit 
pending the outcome of the appeal. The City Council, upon review, may affirm, reverse or modify the 
decision rendered by the Development Review Board based upon the same standards of review specified 
for the DRB in the Wilsonville Code. 
Response: The applicant acknowledges there is a 15-day appeal period between granting or denying a 
Tree Removal permit and issuance for an approved permit.  

Section 4.630.10. Display Of Permit; Inspection 

The Tree Removal Permit grantee shall conspicuously display the permit on-site. The permit grantee shall 
display the permit continuously while trees are being removed or replaced or while activities authorized 
under the permit are performed. The permit grantee shall allow City representatives to enter and inspect 
the premises at any reasonable time, and failure to allow inspection shall constitute a violation of this 
subchapter. 
Response: The permit will be conspicuously displayed on the job site. This standard will be met. 

Section 4.630.20. Variance For Hardship  
Any person may apply for a variance of this subchapter as provided for in Section 4.196 of this Chapter. 
Response: A variance is not requested.  

Section 4.630.30. Severability  

If any part of this ordinance is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, that part shall be 
severable and the remainder of this ordinance shall not be affected. 
Response: This provision requires no evidence from the applicant.   

Section 4.640.00. Violation; Enforcement  

(.01) The cutting, damaging, or removal of any individual tree without a permit as required by this 
ordinance constitutes a violation punishable as a separate infraction under WC 1.013. In addition, each 
violation of a condition or a violation of any requirement of this Chapter shall constitute a separate 
infraction. 
Response: The tree removal plan shall be followed. This standard will be met.  

(.02) Retroactive Permit. A person who removes a tree without obtaining a Type A or Type B permit may 
apply retroactively for a permit. In addition to all application requirements of this Chapter, the person 
must be able to demonstrate compliance with all requirements of this subchapter, in addition to paying a 
triple permit fee and a penalty per tree in an amount established by resolution of City Council. Mitigation 
requirements of this subchapter apply to all retroactive permits. 
Response: This application is not a request for a retroactive permit. This provision requires no evidence 
from the applicant.  

(.03) Nuisance Abatement. Removal of a tree in violation of this Chapter is a nuisance and may be abated 
as provided in Sections 6.230 to 6.244, 6.250, and 6.260 of the Wilsonville Code. 
Response: It is not the applicant’s intention to remove any tree in violation of this Chapter. This 
provision requires no evidence from the applicant.  

(.04) Withholding Certificate of Occupancy. The City Building Official has the authority to issue a stop-
work order, withhold approval of a final plat, or withhold issuance of a certificate of occupancy, permits 
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or inspections until the provisions of this Chapter, including any conditions attached to a Tree Removal 
Permit, have been fully met. 
Response: This provision requires no evidence from the applicant.  

(.05) Fines. Fines for a violation shall be imposed according to WC 1.012. 
Response: This provision requires no evidence from the applicant.  

(.06) Mitigation. The City shall require the property owner to replace illegally removed or damaged trees. 
The City may also require a combination of payment and tree replacement. 

A. The City shall notify the property owner in writing that a violation has occurred and 
mitigation is required. Within thirty (30) days of the date of mailing of the notice, the 
property owner shall provide a mitigation plan to the City. The plan shall provide for 
replacement of a tree of similar species and size taking into account the suitability of the 
site and nursery stock availability. 

B. Replacement will be on an inch-for-inch basis computed by adding the total diameter 
measured at d.b.h. in inches of the illegally removed or damaged trees. The City may use 
any reasonable means to estimate the tree loss if destruction of the illegally removed or 
damaged trees prevents exact measurement. All replaced trees must be a minimum two-
inch (2”) caliper. If the mitigation requirements cannot be completed on the property, 
the City may require completion at another approved location. Alternatively, the City 
may require payment into the City Tree Fund of the value of the removed tree as 
established by the Planning Department. 

Response: This application is for a Type II Tree Removal permit associated with new development. It is 
not in response to a notice of violation or other enforcement action. The above provisions are not 
applicable.   

Section 4.640.10. Alternative Enforcement  

(.01) In the event that a person commits more than one violation of WC 4.600.30 to WC 4.630.00, the 
following alternative sentence may be imposed:  

A. If a person has gained money or property through the commission of an offense under 
this section, then upon conviction thereof, the court, in lieu of imposing a fine, may 
sentence the person to pay an amount, fixed by the court, not to exceed double the 
amount of the gain from the commission of the offense. 

B. “Gain” is defined as the amount of money or value of property derived from the 
commission of the violation, less the amount of money or value of property seized by or 
surrendered to the City. “Value” shall be the greater of the market value or replacement 
cost as determined by a licensed professional in the tree, nursery, or landscape field. 

C. Any fines collected by the City under this section shall accrue to the City Tree Fund. 
Response: It is not the applicant’s intention to remove any tree in violation of this Chapter. This 
provision requires no evidence from the applicant and is acknowledged by the applicant.  

Section 4.640.20. Responsibility For Enforcement. 

Compliance with this Chapter shall be enforced by the City Attorney, the City Attorney’s designee, and 
Clackamas County or Washington County law enforcement officers. 
Response: This provision provides procedural guidance for enforcement actions and requires no 
evidence from the applicant. 
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3. Class III Master Sign Plan Modification 

Section 4.156. Sign Regulations  

Section 4.156.01. - Sign Regulations Purpose and Objectives. 

(.01) Purpose. The general purpose of the sign regulations are to provide one of the principal means of 
implementing the Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan by fostering an aesthetically pleasing, functional, and 
economically vital community, as well as promoting public health, safety, and well-being. The sign 
regulations strive to accomplish the above general purpose by meeting the needs of sign owners while 
maintaining consistency with the development and design standards elsewhere in Chapter 4. This Code 
regulates the design, variety, number, size, location, and type of signs, as well as the processes required 
to permit various types of signs. Sign regulations have one or more of the following specific objectives: 

A. Well-designed and aesthetically pleasing signs sufficiently visible and comprehensible 
from streets and rights-of-way that abut a site as to aid in wayfinding, identification and provide 
other needed information. 

B. Sign design and placement that is compatible with and complementary to the overall 
design and architecture of a site, along with adjoining properties, surrounding areas, and the 
zoning district. 

C. A consistent and streamlined sign review process that maintains the quality of sign 
development and ensures due process. 

D. Consistent and equitable application and enforcement of sign regulations. 

E. All signs are designed, constructed, installed, and maintained so that public safety, 
particularly traffic safety, are not compromised. 

F. Sign regulations are content neutral. 
Response: A location and dimensions for a ground-mounted sign were approved in 2010 under DB09-
0051 (in the DB09 – 0048-0053 approval package). The applicant proposes to install a free-standing sign 
consistent with that approved location, but also to add a second free-standing sign adjacent to the 
Kinsman Road frontage just north of the single driveway serving the site. The proposed sign locations 
are shown on Sheet C1.10 and details are provided on Sheet A5.14 of Exhibit F.  

Section 4.156.02. Sign Review Process and General Requirements. 

(.01) Permit Required. Unless exempt under Section 4.156.05, no sign, permanent or temporary, shall be 
displayed or installed in the City without first obtaining a sign permit. 
Response: This application includes a request to amend the previous Master Sign Plan approval (DB09-
0051) to allow an additional ground-mounted sign along the Kinsman Road property frontage.  

The applicant’s intent is to have all future particular signs comply, through Class I or II review, with the 
City’s applicable regulations regarding sign sizes, locations, materials, illumination, and other 
characteristics.   

For this Class III review, site plans (C-Series sheets in Exhibit F) and detail drawings (Sheet A5.17 in 
Exhibit F) show the proposed locations for tenant signage and sign configuration and dimensions. The 
icons represent conceptual signage locations, with future permit issuance to be based on demonstration 
that the proposed sign complies with applicable area limitations.  
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(.02) Sign Permits and Master Sign Plans. Many properties in the City have signs pre-approved through a 
Master Sign Plan. For the majority of applications where a Master Sign Plan has been approved the 
applicant need not consult the sign requirements for the zone, but rather the Master Sign Plan, copies of 
which are available from the Planning Division. Signs conforming to a Master Sign Plan require only a 
Class I Sign Permit. 
Response: This application is to amend the previous Master Sign Plan approval (DB09-0051).  

(.03) Classes of Sign Permits, Master Sign Plans, and Review Process. The City has three classes of sign 
permits for permanent signs: Class I, Class II, and Class III. In addition, non-residential developments with 
three or more tenants require a Master Sign Plan. Class I sign permits are reviewed through the Class I 
Administrative Review Process as outlined in Subsection 4.030(.01)(A.). Class II sign permits are reviewed 
through the Class II Administrative Review Process as outlined in Subsection 4.030 (.01)(B.). Class III Sign 
Permits and Master Sign Plans are reviewed by the Development Review Board (DRB) as outlined in 
Section 4.031. 
Response: This application includes a request to modify a previously approved and vested Class III 
Master Sign Plan approval (DB09-0051).  

(.07) Master Sign Plans. A Master Sign Plan is required for non-residential developments with three or 
more tenants. In creating a Master Sign Plan thought should be given to needs of initial tenants as well 
as the potential needs of future tenants. 

A. Master Sign Plan Submission Requirements. Applications for Master Sign Plans shall include ten 
paper and electronic copies of all the submission requirements for Class II and III Sign Permits and the 
following in addition to all required fees: 

2. A written explanation of the flexibility of the Master Sign Plan for different potential tenant 
space configurations over time; 

3. A written explanation of the extent to which different sign designs, including those 
incorporating logos, stylized letters, multiple lines of text, non-straight baselines, or different 
materials and illumination will be allowed and if allowed how the flexibility of the master 
sign plan will allow these different sign designs over time; 

4. A written explanation of how the sign plan provides for a consistent and compatible sign 
design throughout the subject development. 

B. Master Sign Plan Review Criteria. In addition to the review criteria for Class II and Class III Sign 
Permits, Master Sign Plans shall meet the following criteria: 

1. The Master Sign Plan provides for consistent and compatible design of signs throughout the 
development; and 

2. The Master Sign Plan considers future needs, including potential different configurations of 
tenant spaces and different sign designs, if allowed. 

C. Modifications of a Master Sign Plan. Modifications of a Master Sign Plan, other than Minor and 
Major Adjustments, shall be reviewed the same as a new Master Sign Plan. 

Response: The applicant is requesting review of this Master Sign Plan modification request in a 
consolidated procedure with the other applications, which require Type III public hearing procedure.  

A. Class III Sign Permit Submission Requirements: Ten (10) paper and electronic copies of the submission 
requirements for Class II Sign Permits plus information on any requested waivers or variances in addition 
to all required fees. 
Response: The applicant’s submittal package includes digital files and the number of paper copies 
requested by City staff.  
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B. Class III Sign Permit Review Criteria: The review criteria for Class II Sign Permits plus waiver or variance 
criteria when applicable. 

Section 4.156.02.(.05)E. Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria: Class II Sign Permits shall satisfy the 
sign regulations for the applicable zoning district and the Site Design Review Criteria in 
Sections 4.400 through 4.421, as well as the following criteria: 
1. The proposed signage is compatible with developments or uses permitted in the 

zone in terms of design, materials used, color schemes, proportionality, and 
location, so that it does not interfere with or detract from the visual appearance 
of surrounding development;  

2. The proposed signage will not create a nuisance or result in a significant 
reduction in the value or usefulness of surrounding development; and 

3. Special attention is paid to the interface between signs and other site elements 
including building architecture and landscaping, including trees. 

Response: The proposed signage plan change includes the locations and maximum sizes/proportions for 
two (2) ground-mounted free-standing signs, one each along the Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road 
property frontages. The sign locations and sizes are designed to be integrated with and to complement 
the form of the building, including its strong horizontal expression. The sign sizes and locations form part 
of an integrated whole approach to composition of site elements, including the building, site circulation 
and parking areas, and landscaping features, particularly along the SW Wilsonville Road and Kinsman 
Road frontages, which are the public realms from which the site will be visible to the public. As a result, 
the proposed signage plan satisfies the Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria cited above. No waiver or 
variance is requested with respect to signage. This requirement is met. 

(.07) Master Sign Plans. A Master Sign Plan is required for non-residential developments with three (3) or 
more tenants. In creating a Master Sign Plan thought should be given to needs of initial tenants as well 
as the potential needs of future tenants. (…) 
Response: The site is subject to a previously Master Sign Plan (DB09-0051). This application is a request 
to modify that approval with respect to this subject property and proposed development.  

(.08) Waivers and Variances. Waivers and variances are similar in that they allow deviation from 
requirements such as area, and height from ground. They differ in that waivers are granted by the DRB 
as part of a comprehensive review of the design and function of an entire site to bring about an 
improved design and variances are granted by either the Planning Director or DRB to relieve a specific 
hardship caused by the regulations. 

A. Waivers. The DRB may grant waivers for sign area, sign height from ground (no waiver 
shall be granted to allow signs to exceed thirty-five (35) feet in height), number of signs, 
or use of electronic changeable copy signs in order to better implement the purpose and 
objectives of the sign regulations as determined by making findings that all of the 
following criteria are met:  
1. The waiver will result in improved sign design, in regards to both aesthetics and 

functionality. 
2. The waiver will result in a sign or signs more compatible with and 

complementary to the overall design and architecture of a site, along with 
adjoining properties, surrounding areas, and the zoning district than signs 
allowed without the waiver. 

3. The waiver will result in a sign or signs that improve, or at least do not 
negatively impact, public safety, especially traffic safety. 

4. Sign content is not being considered when determining whether or not to grant a 
waiver. 
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B. Variances. 
1. Administrative Variance: In reviewing a Sign Permit the Planning Director may 

grant or deny a variance to relieve a hardship through the Class II Administrative 
Review process. Such a variance shall only be approved where the variance does 
not exceed twenty percent (20%) of area, height, or setback requirements. The 
Planning Director shall approve such a variance only upon finding that the 
application complies with all of the required variance criteria listed in Section 
4.196. 

2. Other Variances: In addition to the authority of the Planning Director to issue 
administrative variances as noted above, the Development Review Board may 
authorize variances from sign requirements of the Code, subject to the standards 
and criteria listed in Section 4.196. 

Response: The applicant is not requesting a waiver or variance from the sign standards.  

(.09) Temporary Sign Permits. Temporary sign permits shall be reviewed as follows:  
A. 30 days and less- Class I Administrative Review  
B. 31 days up to 120 days- Class II Administrative Review  
C. Submission Requirements: Applications for a temporary sign permit shall include the 

following in addition to the required application fee:  
1. Completed application form prescribed by the City and signed by the property 

owner or their authorized representative,  
2. Two (2) copies of sign drawings or descriptions showing all materials, sign area 

and dimensions used to calculate areas, number of signs, location and 
placement of signs, and other details sufficient to judge the full scale of the sign 
or signs,  

3. Information showing the proposed sign or signs conform with all applicable code 
requirements. 

D. Review Criteria: Temporary Sign Regulations in Section 4.156.09  
E. When a temporary sign permit request is submitted as part of the broader temporary 

use permit request of the same duration, the sign request shall not require an additional 
fee. 

Response: The applicant is not requesting a temporary sign permit.  

(.10) Waiver of Documentation. The Planning Director may, in his or her discretion, waive an application 
document for Class I, Class II, and temporary sign permits where the required information has already 
been made available to the City, or where the Planning Director determines the information contained in 
an otherwise required document is not necessary to review the application. 
Response: The application is for a Class III permit; a waiver is not requested or allowed.   

Section 4.156.03. Sign Measurement  

(.01) Sign Area:  

A. Cabinet Signs and Similar: The area for signs enclosed by cabinet, frame, or other 
background (including lighted surface) not otherwise part of the architecture of a 
building or structure shall be the area of a shape drawn around the outer dimension of 
the cabinet, frame, or background. 
1. If the cabinet, frame, or background is an irregular shape the signs perimeter 

shall be measured the same as an individual element sign under B. below. 
2. The sign area does not include:  
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a. Foundations, supports, and other essential structures that are not 
designed to serve as a backdrop or border to the sign; 

b. Architectural elements of a freestanding or ground mounted sign 
designed to match or complement the architectural design of buildings 
on the site not and otherwise meeting the definition of a sign;  

c. A pole or other structural support, unless such pole or structural support 
is internally illuminated or otherwise so designed to constitute a display 
device. 

B. Individual Element Signs: The area for signs constructed of individual elements (letters, 
figures, etc.) attached to a building wall or similar surface or structure shall be the 
summed area of up to three squares, rectangles , circles, or triangles drawn around all 
sign elements. 
1. The descender on the lower case letters “q, y, p g, or j.” shall not be included in 

sign area when the letter otherwise matches the font of other letters in the sign, 
the descender is no more than 1/2 the cap height of the font, and the descender 
is no wider than the main body of the letter. 

C. Round or Three-Dimensional Signs: The area of a round or three-dimensional sign shall 
be the maximum surface area visible from any one location on the ground measured the 
same as A. above except if the maximum surface area is an irregular shape the signs 
perimeter shall be measured the same as an individual element sign under B. above. 

D. Awning or Marquee Signs: The area of signs incorporated into awnings or marquees 
shall be the area of the entire panel containing the sign measured the same as A. above 
unless it is clear that part of the panel contains no sign-related display or decoration, 
other than the background color of the awning. 

E. Painted Wall Signs: The area of painted wall signs shall be determined as follows:  
1. If individual elements are painted without a background it shall be calculated in 

the manner indicated in B. above. 
2. If a background is painted it shall be calculated in the manner indicated in A. 

above. 
F. Temporary Signs: The area of temporary signs including banners, lawn signs, and rigid 

signs shall be calculated in the manner indicated in A. above. 
G. Unless otherwise specified, the sign area of a two-sided sign, with two matching sides, 

shall be considered to be the area of one side. For example, the sign area of a two-sided 
sign having thirty-two (32) square feet per sign face shall be considered to be thirty-two 
(32) square feet, unless this code specifies otherwise. 

Response: Specific sign type and size will be chosen in the future and approved through a Type I sign 
application that is not part of this application.  

(.02) Sign Height above Ground. 
A. The height above ground of a freestanding or ground-mounted sign is measured from 

the average grade directly below the sign to the highest point of the sign or sign 
structure except as follows:  
1. A freestanding or ground mounted sign on a man-made base, including a graded 

earth mound, shall be measured from the grade of the nearest pavement or top 
of any pavement curb to the highest point of the sign or sign structure. In all 
cases signs on a berm shall be allowed to be eight (8) feet in height from the top 
of the berm. 
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2. A freestanding or ground mounted sign placed below the elevation of the right-
of-way it fronts shall be measured from the lowest point in the right-of-way 
along the frontage to the highest point of the sign. 

Response: Two (2) ground mounted signs are proposed. The top of the signs will not exceed 8' above 
finished grade. Sign details are shown in Exhibit F, Sheet A5.17. 
(.03) Sign Height and Length. 

A. Height of a sign is the vertical distance between the lowest and highest points of the 
sign. 

B. Length of a sign is the horizontal distance between the furthest left and right points of 
the sign. 

Response: How the City determines sign height and length was used to calculate proposed sign height, 
width, and areas. Sign details are shown in Exhibit F, Sheet A5.17. 

(.04) Final Determination of Sign Measurement. The Planning Director shall be responsible for 
determining the area, height above ground and height and length of a sign, subject to appeal as 
specified in Section 4.022. Applicants for sign plans and permits shall provide the dimensions needed to 
calculate the area, height above ground, height, and length. 

Response: Sign size, height, and width dimensions are shown on the plans provided in Exhibit F, Sheet 
A5.17, and described in this narrative.  

Section 4.156.04. Non-Conforming Signs. 

(.01) Non-Conforming Signs. Non-conforming signs, which may be non-conforming structures or non-
conforming uses, are subject to the standards for non-conforming uses and non-conforming structures 
delineated in Sections 4.189 through 4.190. Except, however, that a non-conforming sign that is 
damaged beyond fifty percent (50%) of its value, as determined by the City Building Official, may only be 
reconstructed if the reconstructed sign meets all applicable zoning, structural, and electrical standards 
applicable at the time of reconstruction. Nothing in this Section is intended to impair any previously 
approved sign permit that has been issued by the City of Wilsonville, subject to state or federal law, or to 
require the removal of any sign that was legally erected or installed prior to the effective date of these 
regulations. In the event that a previously erected or installed sign no longer meets applicable City zoning 
standards it may remain in place, subject to the standards for non-conforming uses or nonconforming 
structures noted above. However, a sign that is required to be moved solely because of a public taking 
may be replaced on the site, and maintain its non-conforming status, subject to a Class II Sign Permit, 
provided the replacement sign is found to not increase in non-conformity to current code standards other 
than required setbacks. 
Response: This application is for new development. This standard does not apply.  

Section 4.156.05. Signs Exempt From Sign Permit Requirements. 
(.01) The following signs are exempt from the permit requirements of this code and do not require sign 
permits. Unless otherwise specified, the area of the exempted signs shall not be included in the 
calculations of sign area permitted on a given site:  

A. Traffic or other governmental or directional signs, as may be authorized by the City or 
other units of government having jurisdiction within the City. 

B. Signs installed by public utility companies indicating danger, or which serve as an aid to 
public safety, or which show the location of utilities or public facilities, including 
underground utilities. 
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C. Flags displayed from permanently-located freestanding or wall-mounted flagpoles that 
are designed to allow raising and lowering of flags. One site may have up to two (2) 
exempt flags; no exempt flag may be more than thirty (30) feet in height. 

Response: The proposed signs do not fall into an exempt sign category.  

(.02) Other Signs. No sign permit is necessary before placing, constructing or erecting the following signs. 
However, in all other particulars such signs shall conform to the requirements of applicable Building and 
Electrical Codes, as well as this Code. 

A. Signs inside a building except for prohibited signs listed in Section 4.156.06. 
B. Name Plates and Announcements. 

1. A sign identifying the name, street address, occupation and/or profession of the 
occupant of the premises in the aid of public health and safety. One name plate, 
not exceeding a total of three (3) square feet shall be allowed for each occupant. 
The name plate shall be affixed to the building. 

2. Announcements posted on a given property (e.g., no smoking, no parking, rules 
of conduct, etc.) and not intended to be read from off-site, are permitted to be 
located as needed. Such announcements shall not be considered to be part of 
the sign allotment for the property. 

C. Directional Signs. Designed for non-changing messages, directional signs facilitate the 
safe movement of the traveling public. Such signs are subject to the following standards 
and conditions:  
1. The sign area does not exceed three (3) square feet per sign face,  
2. The sign location is not within public rights-of-way and meets City vision 

clearance requirements;  
3. No sign lighting;  
4. No logo or a logo that does not exceed one (1) square foot in size; and  
5. No more than one (1) directional sign is located on the same tax lot. 

D. Changes of Copy Only, where the graphics contained on an existing sign are changed, 
but the sign itself is not structurally altered, and no building or electrical permit is 
required. 

E. Signs not visible from any off-site location. 
F. Holiday lights and decorations, in place between November 15 and January 15. 
G. Signs on scoreboards or ballfields located on public property. 
H. One small decorative banner per dwelling unit placed on site, in residential zones. 
I. Lawn Signs meeting the standards of Table S-1 and the following conditions:  

1. Such signs shall not be intentionally illuminated and shall not display movement. 
2. Such signs shall not obscure sight lines of the motoring public, obscure traffic or 

other government signs, or create a nuisance to the use or occupancy of any 
property. 

3. Lawn signs associated with temporary events may be posted no longer than 
sixty (60) days before the beginning of an event and must be removed at the 
event’s completion. 

4. Lawn signs not associated with temporary events may be posted for one period 
of up to sixty (60) days in a calendar year. 

5. Such signs may be up to six (6) feet in height. 
6. Such signs may be one (1) or two (2) sided. 

J. Rigid Signs meeting the standards of Table S-1 and the following conditions:  
1. Such signs shall not be intentionally illuminated and shall not display movement. 
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2. Such signs shall not obscure sight lines of the motoring public, obscure traffic or 
other government signs, or create a nuisance to the use or occupancy of any 
property. 

3. Such signs may be up to six (6) feet in height, except signs on lots with an active 
construction project (active building permit), which may be up to ten (10) feet in 
height. (Note that signs exceeding six (6) feet in height typically require building 
permits.)  

4. Such signs may be one (1), two (2), or three (3) sided. 
5. On Residential and Agriculture zoned lots:  

a. A rigid sign not associated with an ongoing temporary event may be 
displayed for no more than sixty (60) days each calendar year. 

b. A rigid sign associated with an ongoing temporary event may be 
displayed for the duration of that event. Note: Section 4.156.06 (.01) Q. 
of this Code prohibits signs associated with temporary events to remain 
posted after the completion of the event. 

6. On Commercial, Industrial, or Public Facility zoned lots:  
a. A rigid sign not associated with an ongoing temporary event may be 

displayed for no more than ninety (90) days each calendar year. 
b. A rigid sign associated with an ongoing temporary event may be 

displayed for the duration of that temporary event. Note: Section 
4.156.06(.01)(Q.) of this Code prohibits signs associated with temporary 
events to remain posted after the completion of the event. 

c. A temporary event must have an end, marked by the occurrence of a 
specifically anticipated date or happening. A temporary event may not 
be a part of a broader, continuing event or of related, serial events. 
Temporary events shall not be defined by content, but may include 
isolated merchandise sales or discounts, or availability of real estate for 
sale or lease. 

K. Signs allowed in Subsections 6.150 (1) and (2) Wilsonville Code for special events. 
Response: The proposed signs do not fall into a class of signs for which no permits are required. The 
applicant is aware that the sign types listed above do not require a permit.  

Section 4.156.06. Prohibited Signs  

(.01) Prohibited Signs. The following signs are prohibited and shall not be placed within the City:  
A. Search lights, strobe lights, and signs containing strobe lights or other flashing lights, 

unless specifically approved in a sign permit. 
B. Obstructing signs, a sign or sign structure such that any portion of its surface or supports 

will interfere in any way with the free use of any fire escape, exit, hydrant, standpipe, or 
the exterior of any window; any sign projecting more than twelve (12) inches from a 
wall, except projecting signs that are specifically permitted through the provisions of this 
Code. 

C. Changing image signs, including those within windows. 
D. Changeable copy signs that use lighting changed digitally, unless specifically approved 

through a waiver process connected with a Class III Sign Permit or Master Sign Plan. In 
granting a waiver for a digital changeable copy signs the DRB shall ensure the following 
criteria will be met:  
1. The sign shall be equipped with automatic dimming technology which 

automatically adjusts the sign’s brightness in direct correlation with ambient 
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light conditions and the sign owner shall ensure appropriate functioning of the 
dimming technology for the life of the sign. 

2. The luminance of the sign shall not exceed five thousand (5000) candelas per 
square meter between sunrise and sunset, and five hundred (500) candelas per 
square meter between sunset and sunrise. 

E. Roof signs - signs placed on the top of a building or attached to the building and 
projecting above the top of that building, unless specifically approved through the 
temporary sign permit procedures or the architectural design of a building makes the 
slope of the roof below the peak a practicable location of signs on a building and the 
general location of signs on the roof is approved by the DRB during Stage II Approval, as 
applicable, and Site Design Review. 

F. Signs obstructing vision clearance areas. 
G. Pennants, streamers, festoon lights, balloons, and other similar devices intended to be 

moved by the wind, unless specifically authorized in an approved sign permit. 
H. Signs attached to trees, public sign posts, or public utility poles, other than those placed 

by appropriate government agencies or public utilities. 
I. Signs using bare-bulb illumination or signs lighted so that the immediate source of 

illumination is visible, unless specifically authorized by the Development Review Board or 
City Council such as Digital Changeable Copy Signs. This is not intended to prohibit the 
use of neon or LED’s as a source of illumination. 

J. Signs that use flame as a source of light or that emit smoke or odors. 
K. Any sign, including a window sign, which is an imitation of or resembles an official traffic 

sign or signal; and which may include display of words or graphics that are likely to 
cause confusion for the public, such as “STOP,” “GO,” “SLOW,” “CAUTION,” “DANGER,” 
“WARNING,” etc. 

L. Any sign, including a window sign, which by reason of its size, location, movements, 
content, coloring or manner of illumination may be confused with, or construed as, a 
traffic control device, or which hides from view any traffic sign, signal, or device. 

M. Portable signs, exceeding six (6) square feet of sign area per side, other than those on 
vehicles or trailers. The display of signs on a vehicle or trailer is prohibited where the 
vehicle or trailer is not fully operational for use on public roads or where the primary 
function of the vehicle or trailer is advertising. Examples where the primary function of 
the vehicle or trailer is advertising include mobile billboards such as those on which 
advertising space is rented, sold, or leased. 

N. Signs located on public property in violation of Section 4.156.10. 
O. Signs placed on private property without the property owner’s permission. 
P. Signs erected or installed in violation of standards prescribed by the City of Wilsonville, 

State of Oregon or the U.S. government. 
Q. Signs associated with temporary events, after the temporary event is completed. 
R. Any private signs, including window signs, with a luminance greater than five thousand 

(5000) candelas per square meter between sunrise and sunset and five hundred (500) 
candelas per square meter between sunset and sunrise. 

S. Video Signs 
Response: The proposed signs are not prohibited signs.  

Section 4.156.06. Prohibited Signs. Section 4.156.07. Sign Regulations In Residential Zones. 
Response: The site is not in a residential zone. These standards do not apply. 

Section 4.156.08. Sign Regulations in the PDC, TC, PDI, and PF Zones. 
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(.01) Freestanding and Ground Mounted Signs:  
A. One freestanding or ground mounted sign is allowed for the first two-hundred (200) 

linear feet of site frontage. One additional freestanding or ground mounted sign may be 
added for through and corner lots having at least two-hundred (200) feet of frontage on 
one street or right-of-way and one-hundred (100) feet on the other street or right-of-
way. 

Response: Two (2) ground mounted frontage signs are allowed and two (2) are proposed. This 
standard is met.  

B. The allowed height above ground of a freestanding or ground mounted sign is twenty 
(20) feet except as noted in 1-2 below.1. The maximum allowed height above ground for 
signs along the frontage of Interstate 5, and parallel contiguous portions of streets, as 
identified in Figure S-4, associated with multiple tenants or businesses may be increased 
by three (3) feet for each tenant space of ten thousand (10,000) square feet or more of 
gross floor area up to a maximum of thirty-five (35) feet. 
2. The allowed height above ground for signs in the TC Zone, Old Town Overlay 

Zone, and PDI Zone is eight (8) feet, except those signs along the frontage of 
Interstate 5 and parallel contiguous portions of streets identified in Figure S-4. 

Response: The site is located in the PDI Zone and does not have I-5 frontage. Therefore, the 
signs can be up to 8' high. The proposed signs meet this standard. Sign details are shown in 
Exhibit F, Sheet A5.17, and sign location in Exhibit F, Sheet C1.10.  
C. The maximum allowed area for each freestanding or ground-mounted sign is determined 

based on gross floor area and number of tenant spaces:  
1. For frontages along streets other than those indicated in 2 below sign area 

allowed is calculated as follows:  

a. The sign area allowed for signs pertaining to a single tenant: 

Gross Floor Area in a Single Building Maximum Allowed Sign Area 

Less than 11,000 sq. ft.  32 sq. ft. 

11,000-25,999 sq. ft. 

 

32 sq. ft. + 2 sq. ft. per 1000 sq. ft. of floor area 
greater than 10,000 rounded down to the nearest 
1,000 sq. ft.  

26,000 sq. ft. or more  64 sq. ft. 

i. For PF (Public Facility) zoned properties adjacent to residential 
zoned land the maximum allowed area is thirty-two (32) square 
feet. 

b. The maximum allowed sign area for signs pertaining to multiple tenants 
or businesses is thirty-two (32) square feet plus the following for each 
tenant space: 

Gross Floor Area of Tenant Space Additional Allowed Sign Area for Tenant Space 

Less than 1,000 sq. ft.  3 sq. ft. 
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1,000-10,999 sq. ft. 

 

3 sq. ft. + 3 sq. ft. per 1,000 sq. ft. of floor area 
rounded down to the nearest 1,000 sq. ft. 

11,000 sq. ft. or more  32 sq. ft. 

i. The total sign area shall not exceed two hundred (200) square 
feet, except in the TC Zone, Old Town Overlay Zone, and PDI 
Zone the total sign area shall not exceed eighty (80) square feet. 

ii. Though the maximum allowed sign area is calculated based on 
number of tenant spaces and their size, the content of the sign 
and area used for different content is at the discretion of the 
sign owner, except for required addressing. 

Response: The proposed building is anticipated to have one (1) tenant, with Gross Floor Area of 
approximately 15,700 SF. Per the table in subparagraph a, freestanding/ground-mounted sign area of up 
to 42 SF is allowed for each of two (2) signs, one on each street frontage. The proposed signs comply 
with this standard. Sign details are shown on Sheet A5.17 of Exhibit F.  

D. Pole or sign support placement shall be installed in a full vertical position. 
Response: The sign will be placed on a concrete vertical base, as shown on Sheet A5.17, in Exhibit F. This 
standard is met.  

E. Freestanding and ground mounted signs shall not extend into or above public rights-of-
way, parking areas, or vehicle maneuvering areas. 

Response: The signs are not located within a public right of way, parking area, or vehicle maneuvering 
area. The sign locations are shown in Exhibit F, Sheet C1.10. This standard is met.  

F. The location of free standing or ground mounted signs located adjacent to or near the 
Public Right-of-Way shall be in compliance with the City’s Public Works Standards for 
sight distance clearance. Prior to construction, the location of the sign shall be approved 
by the City of Wilsonville Engineering Division. 

Response: The signs have been placed to meet sight distance clearance requirements. Sign locations are 
shown in Exhibit F, Sheet C1.10. This standard is met.  

G. Freestanding and ground mounted signs shall be designed to match or complement the 
architectural design of buildings on the site. 

Response: The proposed monument sign base forms are designed to complement the architectural 
design of the building and extend the use of its forms, materials, and colors close to the edge of the 
street. This standard is met.  

H. For freestanding and ground mounted signs greater than eight (8) feet in height, the 
width of the sign shall not exceed the height. 

Response: The signs are not greater than 8' in height. This standard is met.  

I. Along street frontages in the TC Zone and Old Town Overlay Zone monument style signs 
are required. 

Response: The site is not located in the TC Zone or Old Town Overlay Zone. This standard does not 
apply. 
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J. Freestanding and ground mounted signs shall be no further than fifteen (15) feet from 
the property line and no closer than two (2) feet from a sidewalk or other hard surface in 
the public right-of-way. 

Response: The proposed ground mounted signs will be located close to property boundaries and at least 
2' from sidewalks in Wilsonville Road and Kinsman Road. Sign locations are shown in Exhibit F, Sheet 
C1.10. This standard is met.  

K. Except for those signs fronting Interstate 5, freestanding and ground mounted signs shall 
include the address number of associated buildings unless otherwise approved in writing 
by the City and the Fire District. 

Response: At least one (1) of the ground mounted signs will include the site address number. This 
standard will be met.  

L. When a sign is designed based on the number of planned tenant spaces it shall remain a 
legal, conforming sign regardless of the change in the number of tenants or 
configuration of tenant spaces. 

Response: The signage is designed based on the building having a single tenant.  

(.02) Signs on Buildings. 

A. Sign Eligible Facades: Building signs are allowed on a facade of a tenant space or single 
tenant building when one or more of the following criteria are met:  
1. The facade has one or more entrances open to the general public;  
2. The facade faces a lot line with frontage on a street or private drive with a cross 

section similar to a public street, and no other buildings on the same lot obstruct 
the view of the building facade from the street or private drive; or  

3. The facade is adjacent to the primary parking area for the building or tenant. 
Response: No wall-mounted signage is proposed. The proposed building is designed to have a single 
tenant, with a single principal entrance open to the general public centrally located on the south 
building façade. The building’s north façade, facing Wilsonville Road, measures 174' and its east façade, 
facing Kinsman Road, measures 94.58' (see Sheet C1.10 in Exhibit F), but neither façade has a public 
entrance. All on-site parking is located south and west of the building; a pedestrian path extends east 
from the public entrance to connect to the sidewalk in SW Kinsman Road.  

B. Sign Area Allowed: [detailed provisions omitted for brevity]  
Response: As noted above under subparagraph A.1-3, no wall signage is proposed.  

(.03) Additional signs. Notwithstanding the signs allowed based on the site in (.01) and (.02) above, the 
following signs may be permitted, subject to standards and conditions in this Code:  

A. Directional Signs: In addition to exempt directional signs allowed under Subsection 
4.156.05 (.02) C. freestanding or ground mounted directional signs six (6) square feet or 
less in area and four (4) feet or less in height:  
1. The signs shall be designed to match or complement the architectural design of 

buildings on the site; 
2. The signs shall only be placed at the intersection of internal circulation drives; 

and  
3. No more than one (1) sign shall be placed per intersection corner with no more 

than two (2) signs per intersection. 
B. Planned Development Signs. Up to thirty (32) square feet of the allowed sign area for 

freestanding signs in a planned development may be used for a separate on-site 
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monument sign or off-site monument sign on an adjacent parcel identifying the Planned 
Development project. 

C. Blade Signs. To aid in pedestrian wayfinding, one (1) blade sign, not to exceed six (6) 
square feet, per facade eligible for building signs. Blade signs over pedestrian accessible 
areas shall provide a minimum of eight (8) feet of clearance from the ground. 

D. Fuel or Service Station Price Signs. In addition to the freestanding or ground mounted 
signs allowed, changeable copy signs shall be allowed for the purpose of advertising fuel 
prices, subject to the following standards and conditions:  
1. The signs shall have a maximum of eleven (11) square feet in area per face per 

type of fuel sold and shall be permanently affixed to the building or a 
freestanding sign. 

2. The signs shall not be considered in calculating the sign area or number of signs 
allowed. 

3. Signs on fuel pumps shall be permitted, providing that they do not project 
beyond the outer edge of the pump in any direction. 

Response: No additional signs are proposed at this time. The applicant acknowledges that any future 
signage proposals will be subject to approval under separate applications and review procedures.  

Section 4.156.09. Temporary Signs In All Zones. 

The following temporary signs may be permitted in addition to the permanent signs allowed in different 
zones and exempt temporary signs unless specifically prohibited in a master sign plan or other sign 
approval:  

(.01) General Allowance. Except as noted in subsection (.02) below up to two (2) temporary signs not 
exceeding a combined total of twenty four (24) square feet may be permitted per lot or non-residential 
tenant. Such signs may be banners, rigid signs, lawn signs, portable signs, or other signs of similar 
construction. 

(.02) Opening Banner for a New Business or Housing Development. A banner corresponding with the 
opening of a new business or housing development may be permitted, subject to the following standards 
and conditions:  

A. One such banner shall be allowed either from the date of issuance of Building Permits 
until four (4) weeks after issuance of Certificates of Occupancy, or if no Building Permit is 
issued, for four (4) weeks after occupancy of a new business. 

B. Such banner may be two-sided but shall not exceed thirty-two (32) square feet per face. 
C. Such signs shall not be permitted at the same time as general allowance signs in (.01) 

above. 

(.03) Annual Event Signs. Up to ten (10) lawn signs may be permitted to be located in the public right-of-
way for up to fourteen (14) days if all of the following are met:  

A. Signs will not be located in the areas listed in Subsection 4.156.10 (.01) A. 4. 
B. The applicant or event has not been issued a permit for and placed signs in the public 

right-of-way in the previous six (6) months;  
C. Not more than one (1) other permit has been issued for lawn signs in the right-of-way 

during the time period the applicant is requesting;  
D. The event to which the signs pertain is expected to attract two hundred fifty (250) or 

more people;  
E. The request is not in addition to exempt lawn signs for large special events allowed for in 

Section 6.150; and  
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F. The applicant has indicated on a map the exact locations the signs will be placed and has 
submitted an application along with the required fee. 

(.04) Inflatable Signs. Inflatable signs may be permitted for a maximum of fifteen (15) days of display use 
in any calendar year subject to the following standards and conditions:  

A. Does not exceed ten (10) feet in overall height; and  
B. If attached to a building in any manner, it meets applicable building code requirements 

including consideration of wind loads. 
Response: No additional signs are proposed at this time. The applicant acknowledges that any future 
signage proposals will be subject to approval under separate applications and review procedures.  

Section 4.156.10. Signs on City and ODOT Right-Of-Way. 
Response: No signs are proposed on City or ODOT Right-Of-Way. This standard does not apply.  

Section 4.156.11. Sign Enforcement. 
Response: This section provides direction for enforcement of sign regulations and requires no evidence 
submittal by the applicant.  
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IV. CONCLUSION 

 
Based on the information presented and discussed in this narrative and the attached supporting plans 
and documentation, this application meets applicable standards necessary for land use approval. The 
proposed development complies with all applicable standards of the Wilsonville Planning and Land 
Development Ordinance. The applicant respectfully requests approval by the City.  
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Zoning Map (excerpt)
(Source: City of Wilsonville GIS)
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Fidelity National Title - Oregon

Preliminary Report

Fidelity National Title - Oregon File No.: 45142303033

Introducing LiveLOOK

LiveLOOK title document delivery system is designed to provide 24/7 real-time access
to all information related to a title insurance transaction.

Access title reports, exception documents, an easy-to-use summary page, and more,
at your fingertips and your convenience.

To view your new Fidelity National Title LiveLOOK report, Click Here

Effortless, Efficient, Compliant, and Accessible
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PUBLIC RECORD REPORT
FOR NEW SUBDIVISION

OR LAND PARTITION

Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Partition
(Ver. 20161024)

THIS REPORT IS ISSUED BY THE ABOVE-NAMED COMPANY (“THE COMPANY”) FOR THE EXCLUSIVE
USE OF THE FOLLOWING CUSTOMER:

Fidelity National Title - Builder Services
Phone No.: (503)796-6654

Date Prepared: April 25, 2023
Effective Date: April 21, 2023 / 08:00 AM
Charge: $350.00
Order No.: 45142303033
Reference: Egger in Wilsonville

The information contained in this report is furnished to the Customer by Fidelity National Title Company of Oregon
(the "Company") as an information service based on the records and indices maintained by the Company for the
county identified below.  This report is not title insurance, is not a preliminary title report for title insurance, and is
not a commitment for title insurance.  No examination has been made of the Company’s records, other than as
specifically set forth in this report ("the Report").  Liability for any loss arising from errors and/or omissions is
limited to the lesser of the fee paid or the actual loss to the Customer, and the Company will have no greater
liability by reason of this report.  This report is subject to the Definitions, Conditions and Stipulations contained in it.

REPORT

A. The Land referred to in this report is located in the County of Clackamas, State of Oregon, and is described as
follows:

As fully set forth on Exhibit "A" attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof.

B. As of the Effective Date, the tax account and map references pertinent to the Land are as follows:

As fully set forth on Exhibit "B" attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof.

C. As of the Effective Date and according to the Public Records, we find title to the land apparently vested in:

As fully set forth on Exhibit "C" attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof.

D. As of the Effective Date and according to the Public Records, the Land is subject to the following liens and
encumbrances, which are not necessarily shown in the order of priority:

As fully set forth on Exhibit "D" attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof.
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Fidelity National Title Company of Oregon
Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Land Partition
Order No. 45142303033

EXHIBIT "A"
(Land Description)

Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Partition
(Ver. 20161024)

For APN/Parcel ID(s): 00818716
For Tax Map ID(s): 31W23B 00100

Parcel 1, PARTITION PLAT NO. 2012-057, recorded December 5, 2012, Document No. 2012-080104, in the City
of Wilsonville, Clackamas County, Oregon.

EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion deeded to the City of Wilsonville in deed recorded February 9, 2021 as
No. 2021-013778.
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Fidelity National Title Company of Oregon
Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Land Partition
Order No. 45142303033

EXHIBIT "B"
(Tax Account and Map)

Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Partition
(Ver. 20161024)

APN/Parcel ID(s) 00818716 as well as Tax/Map ID(s) 31W23B 00100
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Fidelity National Title Company of Oregon
Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Land Partition
Order No. 45142303033

EXHIBIT "C"
(Vesting)

Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Partition
(Ver. 20161024)

CIS Trust, an intergovernmental entity operating under ORS Chapter 190 as a self-insurance trust created under
the authority of ORS 30.282(2)
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Fidelity National Title Company of Oregon
Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Land Partition
Order No. 45142303033

EXHIBIT "D"
(Liens and Encumbrances)

Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Partition
(Ver. 20161024)

SPECIFIC ITEMS AND EXCEPTIONS:

1. The subject property is under charitable organization ownership and is exempt from ad valorem taxation.
Any change in ownership prior to delivery of the assessment roll may result in tax liability.

Tax Account No.: 00818716
Map No.: 31W23B 00100
Levy Code: 003-023

2. City Liens, if any, in favor of the City of Wilsonville.

3. The Land lies within the Wilsonville West side Urban Renewal Area and is subject to the terms and
provisions thereof.

4. Rights and easements for navigation and fishery which may exist over that portion of said Land lying
beneath the waters of unnamed stream and Seeley Ditch.

5. Rights of the public, riparian owners and governmental bodies as to the use of the waters of Seeley Ditch
and the natural flow thereof on and across that portion of the subject land lying below the high water line of
said waterway.

6. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto, as granted in a document:

Granted to: United States of America
Purpose: Transmission line
Recording Date: February 8, 1957
Recording No: Book 521, Page 669
Affects: Westerly portion of subject property-also delineated on plat

7. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto, as granted in a document:

Granted to: The public
Purpose: Public utility
Recording Date: February 4, 2003
Recording No: 2003-014486
Affects: Northwesterly portion of subject property

8. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto, as granted in a document:

Granted to: City of Wilsonville
Purpose: Public utility easement
Recording Date: September 19, 2012
Recording No: 2012-060556
Affects: North 21 feet -also delineated on plat
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Fidelity National Title Company of Oregon
Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Land Partition
Order No. 45142303033

EXHIBIT "D"
(Liens and Encumbrances)

 (continued)

Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Partition
(Ver. 20161024)

9. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto, as granted in a document:

Granted to: City of Wilsonville
Purpose: Pipeline and Bicycle/Pedestrian Public Access Easements
Recording Date: September 19, 2012
Recording No: 2012-060557
Affects: Westerly portion as described therein -also delineated on plat

10. Restrictions, but omitting restrictions, if any, based upon race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation,
familial status, marital status, disability, handicap, national origin, ancestry, or source of income, as set
forth in applicable state or federal laws, except to the extent that said restriction is permitted by applicable
law, as shown on that certain plat

Name of Plat:   Partition Plat No. 2012-057
Recording Date:   December 5, 2012
Recording No:   2012-080104

11. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as delineated or as offered for
dedication, on the map of said tract/plat;

Purpose: Public utility and sidewalk easement
Affects: 8.00 feet along Kinsman Road frontage

12. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as delineated or as offered for
dedication, on the map of said tract/plat;

Purpose: Access easement for the benefit of City of Wilsonville
Affects: A strip 15 feet in width, as shown on plat

13. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as delineated or as offered for
dedication, on the map of said tract/plat;

Purpose: Storm drainage
Affects: Southerly portion of subject property

14. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as delineated or as offered for
dedication, on Partition Plat No. 2012-057;

Sanitary Sewer
Affects: 15  feet wide as delineated on plat

Stormwater
Affects: Most Southerly portion as delineated on plat

Pedestrian Ingress and egress
Affects: 20.00 feet wide
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Fidelity National Title Company of Oregon
Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Land Partition
Order No. 45142303033

EXHIBIT "D"
(Liens and Encumbrances)

 (continued)

Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Partition
(Ver. 20161024)

15. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto, as granted in a document:

Granted to: City of Wilsonville
Purpose: Street tree easement
Recording Date: December 5, 2012
Recording No: 2012-080105
Affects: A strip 20 feet in width along Kinsman Road as delineated on plat

16. An unrecorded lease with certain terms, covenants, conditions and provisions set forth therein as
disclosed by the document

Entitled: Memorandum of Lease
Lessor: PNWP, LLC #5
Lessee: O'Reilly Automotive Stores, Inc.
Recording Date: January 31, 2013
Recording No: 2013-007292
Affects: Additional property also

17. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto, as granted in a document:
Granted to: Willamette Water Supply System Commission, an Oregon intergovernmental entity
organized under ORS Chapter 190
Purpose: Temporary Construction Easement
Recording Date: October 30, 2019
Recording No: 2019-068704
Affects: as described therein

18. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto, as granted in a document:

Granted to: City of Wilsonville
Purpose: Temporary Construction Easement
Recording Date: February 9, 2021
Recording No: 2021-013779

19. Any rights, interests, or claims which may exist or arise by reason of the following matters disclosed by
survey,

Job No.: 470
Dated: December 3, 2021
Last Revised:                 December 20, 2021
Prepared by: Northwest Surveying, Inc.
Matters shown:

A. A ditch inlet is located outside of the storm drainage easement in the Southerly portion of the property
up to 2.1 feet.

20. Please be advised that our search did not disclose any open Deeds of Trust of record.  If you should have
knowledge of any outstanding obligation, please contact the Title Department immediately for further
review.
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Fidelity National Title Company of Oregon
Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Land Partition
Order No. 45142303033

EXHIBIT "D"
(Liens and Encumbrances)

 (continued)

Public Record Report for New Subdivision or Partition
(Ver. 20161024)

21. Existing leases and tenancies, if any, and any interests that may appear upon examination of such leases.

22. Personal property taxes, if any.

BOUNDARY DOCUMENTS
Partition Plat No. 1990-92
Deed 2001-009218
Deed 2010-40436
Deed 2022-043313
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DEFINITIONS, CONDITIONS AND STIPULATIONS

1. Definitions.  The following terms have the stated meaning when used in this report:
(a) "Customer":  The person or persons named or shown as the addressee of this report.
(b) "Effective Date":  The effective date stated in this report.
(c) "Land":  The land specifically described in this report and improvements affixed thereto which by law constitute real

property.
(d) "Public Records":  Those records which by the laws of the state of Oregon impart constructive notice of matters

relating to the Land.
2. Liability of Company.

(a) This is not a commitment to issue title insurance and does not constitute a policy of title insurance.
(b) The liability of the Company for errors or omissions in this public record report is limited to the amount of the charge

paid by the Customer, provided, however, that the Company has no liability in the event of no actual loss to the
Customer.

(c) No costs (including without limitation attorney fees and other expenses) of defense, or prosecution of any action, is
afforded to the Customer.

(d) In any event, the Company assumes no liability for loss or damage by reason of the following:
(1) Taxes or assessments which are not shown as existing liens by the records of any taxing authority that levies

taxes or assessments on real property or by the Public Records.
(2) Any facts, rights, interests or claims which are not shown by the Public Records but which could be ascertained

by an inspection of the land or by making inquiry of persons in possession thereof.
(3) Easements, liens or encumbrances, or claims thereof, which are not shown by the Public Records.
(4) Discrepancies, encroachments, shortage in area, conflicts in boundary lines or any other facts which a survey

would disclose.
(5) (i) Unpatented mining claims; (ii) reservations or exceptions in patents or in Acts authorizing the issuance

thereof; (iii) water rights or claims or title to water.
(6) Any right, title, interest, estate or easement in land beyond the lines of the area specifically described or referred

to in this report, or in abutting streets, roads, avenues, alleys, lanes, ways or waterways.
(7) Any law, ordinance or governmental regulation (including but not limited to building and zoning laws, ordinances

or regulations) restricting, regulating, prohibiting or relating to (i) the occupancy, use or enjoyment of the land;
(ii) the character, dimensions or location of any improvement now or hereafter erected on the land; (iii) a
separation in ownership or a change in the dimensions or area of the land or any parcel of which the land is or
was a part; or (iv) environmental protection, or the effect of any violation of these laws, ordinances or
governmental regulations, except to the extent that a notice of the enforcement thereof or a notice of a defect,
lien or encumbrance resulting from a violation or alleged violation affecting the land has been recorded in the
Public Records at the effective date hereof.

(8) Any governmental police power not excluded by 2(d)(7) above, except to the extent that notice of the exercise
thereof or a notice of a defect, lien or encumbrance resulting from a violation or alleged violation affecting the
land has been recorded in the Public Records at the effective date hereof.

(9) Defects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims or other matters created, suffered, assumed, agreed to or
actually known by the Customer.

3. Report Entire Contract.  Any right or action or right of action that the Customer may have or may bring against the
Company arising out of the subject matter of this report must be based on the provisions of this report.  No provision or
condition of this report can be waived or changed except by a writing signed by an authorized officer of the Company.  By
accepting this form report, the Customer acknowledges and agrees that the Customer has elected to utilize this form of
public record report and accepts the limitation of liability of the Company as set forth herein.

4. Charge.  The charge for this report does not include supplemental reports, updates or other additional services of the
Company.
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LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY
"CUSTOMER" REFERS TO THE RECIPIENT OF THIS REPORT.

CUSTOMER EXPRESSLY AGREES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT IS EXTREMELY DIFFICULT, IF NOT
IMPOSSIBLE, TO DETERMINE THE EXTENT OF LOSS WHICH COULD ARISE FROM ERRORS OR
OMISSIONS IN, OR THE COMPANY’S NEGLIGENCE IN PRODUCING, THE REQUESTED REPORT, HEREIN
"THE REPORT."  CUSTOMER RECOGNIZES THAT THE FEE CHARGED IS NOMINAL IN RELATION TO THE
POTENTIAL LIABILITY WHICH COULD ARISE FROM SUCH ERRORS OR OMISSIONS OR NEGLIGENCE.
THEREFORE, CUSTOMER UNDERSTANDS THAT THE COMPANY IS NOT WILLING TO PROCEED IN THE
PREPARATION AND ISSUANCE OF THE REPORT UNLESS THE COMPANY’S LIABILITY IS STRICTLY
LIMITED.  CUSTOMER AGREES WITH THE PROPRIETY OF SUCH LIMITATION AND AGREES TO BE
BOUND BY ITS TERMS

THE LIMITATIONS ARE AS FOLLOWS AND THE LIMITATIONS WILL SURVIVE THE CONTRACT:

ONLY MATTERS IDENTIFIED IN THIS REPORT AS THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT ARE WITHIN ITS
SCOPE.  ALL OTHER MATTERS ARE OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF THE REPORT.

CUSTOMER AGREES, AS PART OF THE CONSIDERATION FOR THE ISSUANCE OF THE REPORT AND TO
THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, TO LIMIT THE LIABILITY OF THE COMPANY, ITS
LICENSORS, AGENTS, SUPPLIERS, RESELLERS, SERVICE PROVIDERS, CONTENT PROVIDERS AND ALL
OTHER SUBSCRIBERS OR SUPPLIERS, SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES, EMPLOYEES, AND
SUBCONTRACTORS FOR ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, LIABILITIES, CAUSES OF ACTION, LOSSES, COSTS,
DAMAGES AND EXPENSES OF ANY NATURE WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING ATTORNEY’S FEES, HOWEVER
ALLEGED OR ARISING, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THOSE ARISING FROM BREACH OF
CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, THE COMPANY’S OWN FAULT AND/OR NEGLIGENCE, ERRORS, OMISSIONS,
STRICT LIABILITY, BREACH OF WARRANTY, EQUITY, THE COMMON LAW, STATUTE OR ANY OTHER
THEORY OF RECOVERY, OR FROM ANY PERSON’S USE, MISUSE, OR INABILITY TO USE THE REPORT
OR ANY OF THE MATERIALS CONTAINED THEREIN OR PRODUCED, SO THAT THE TOTAL AGGREGATE
LIABILITY OF THE COMPANY AND ITS AGENTS, SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES, EMPLOYEES, AND
SUBCONTRACTORS SHALL NOT IN ANY EVENT EXCEED THE COMPANY’S TOTAL FEE FOR THE
REPORT.
CUSTOMER AGREES THAT THE FOREGOING LIMITATION ON LIABILITY IS A TERM MATERIAL TO THE
PRICE THE CUSTOMER IS PAYING, WHICH PRICE IS LOWER THAN WOULD OTHERWISE BE OFFERED
TO THE CUSTOMER WITHOUT SAID TERM.  CUSTOMER RECOGNIZES THAT THE COMPANY WOULD
NOT ISSUE THE REPORT BUT FOR THIS CUSTOMER AGREEMENT, AS PART OF THE CONSIDERATION
GIVEN FOR THE REPORT, TO THE FOREGOING LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND THAT ANY SUCH
LIABILITY IS CONDITIONED AND PREDICATED UPON THE FULL AND TIMELY PAYMENT OF THE
COMPANY’S INVOICE FOR THE REPORT.

THE REPORT IS LIMITED IN SCOPE AND IS NOT AN ABSTRACT OF TITLE, TITLE OPINION, PRELIMINARY
TITLE REPORT, TITLE REPORT, COMMITMENT TO ISSUE TITLE INSURANCE, OR A TITLE POLICY, AND
SHOULD NOT BE RELIED UPON AS SUCH.  THE REPORT DOES NOT PROVIDE OR OFFER ANY TITLE
INSURANCE, LIABILITY COVERAGE OR ERRORS AND OMISSIONS COVERAGE.  THE REPORT IS NOT TO
BE RELIED UPON AS A REPRESENTATION OF THE STATUS OF TITLE TO THE PROPERTY.  THE
COMPANY MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS AS TO THE REPORT’S ACCURACY, DISCLAIMS ANY
WARRANTY AS TO THE REPORT, ASSUMES NO DUTIES TO CUSTOMER, DOES NOT INTEND FOR
CUSTOMER TO RELY ON THE REPORT, AND ASSUMES NO LIABILITY FOR ANY LOSS OCCURRING BY
REASON OF RELIANCE ON THE REPORT OR OTHERWISE.
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IF CUSTOMER (A) HAS OR WILL HAVE AN INSURABLE INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT REAL PROPERTY,
(B) DOES NOT WISH TO LIMIT LIABILITY AS STATED HEREIN AND (C) DESIRES THAT ADDITIONAL
LIABILITY BE ASSUMED BY THE COMPANY, THEN CUSTOMER MAY REQUEST AND PURCHASE A POLICY
OF TITLE INSURANCE, A BINDER, OR A COMMITMENT TO ISSUE A POLICY OF TITLE INSURANCE.  NO
ASSURANCE IS GIVEN AS TO THE INSURABILITY OF THE TITLE OR STATUS OF TITLE.  CUSTOMER
EXPRESSLY AGREES AND ACKNOWLEDGES IT HAS AN INDEPENDENT DUTY TO ENSURE AND/OR
RESEARCH THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION OBTAINED FROM THE COMPANY OR ANY PRODUCT
OR SERVICE PURCHASED.

NO THIRD PARTY IS PERMITTED TO USE OR RELY UPON THE INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THE
REPORT, AND NO LIABILITY TO ANY THIRD PARTY IS UNDERTAKEN BY THE COMPANY.

CUSTOMER AGREES THAT, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, IN NO EVENT WILL THE
COMPANY, ITS LICENSORS, AGENTS, SUPPLIERS, RESELLERS, SERVICE PROVIDERS, CONTENT
PROVIDERS, AND ALL OTHER SUBSCRIBERS OR SUPPLIERS, SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES, EMPLOYEES
AND SUBCONTRACTORS BE LIABLE FOR CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, PUNITIVE,
EXEMPLARY, OR SPECIAL DAMAGES, OR LOSS OF PROFITS, REVENUE, INCOME, SAVINGS, DATA,
BUSINESS, OPPORTUNITY, OR GOODWILL, PAIN AND SUFFERING, EMOTIONAL DISTRESS,
NON-OPERATION OR INCREASED EXPENSE OF OPERATION, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION OR DELAY,
COST OF CAPITAL, OR COST OF REPLACEMENT PRODUCTS OR SERVICES, REGARDLESS OF
WHETHER SUCH LIABILITY IS BASED ON BREACH OF CONTRACT, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, THE
COMPANY’S OWN FAULT AND/OR NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY, BREACH OF WARRANTIES, FAILURE
OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE, OR OTHERWISE AND WHETHER CAUSED BY NEGLIGENCE, ERRORS,
OMISSIONS, STRICT LIABILITY, BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, THE COMPANY’S
OWN FAULT AND/OR NEGLIGENCE OR ANY OTHER CAUSE WHATSOEVER, AND EVEN IF THE COMPANY
HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE LIKELIHOOD OF SUCH DAMAGES OR KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN OF
THE POSSIBILITY FOR SUCH DAMAGES.

END OF THE LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY
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June 2nd, 2022 
 
PlanB Consultancy International, LLC 
Mike DiPasquale 
Between Industrial Way and SW Kinsman Road, 97070 
971-284-1907 
mdipasquale@planbconsult.net 
 
 
RE: Tree inventory for the lot located between Industrial Way and SW Kinsman Road, 97070. 
 
 
The information gathered in the site visit and discussed in the enclosed document will provide the 
necessary tree inventory information.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this proposal, please contact me at (503) 710-0815. 
Thank you for choosing Arbor Pro!  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Leigh Bourgeois 
 
ISA Certified Arborist PN 8449A 
Tree Risk Assessment Qualified 
Member ISA – International Society of Arboriculture 
Mailing Address: 121 Foothills Rd, Lake Oswego, OR 97034 
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Tree Inventory List:  
 
On May 26th, 2022, I visited the property located between Industrial Way and SW Kinsman Road, off 
SW Wilsonville Road, 97070. This is a vacant lot at the time being. The following is a conclusion of my 
findings. Most of the trees onsite are in good to fair condition, only needing annual pruning. Tree 
number 16 is in poor health, with a declining canopy. The rest of the trees are in good to fair 
condition.  
 
Tree Number Common Name Species DBH 

(Inches) 
Condition 

1 Red maple  Acer rubrum 1.5 Good  
2 Red maple   2 Fair 
3 Red maple   6 Good 
4 Red maple   5.5 Good 
5 Willow  Salix scouleriana 6 Good 
6 Red oak  Quercus rubra 2 Good 
7 Red maple   7 Good 
8 Red maple   3.5 Good 
9 Red maple   3 Good 

10 Red maple   4 Good 
11 Red maple   2.5 Good 
12 Red maple   4.75 Good 
13 Magnolia  Magnolia grandiflora 3.5 Good 
14 Magnolia   4 Good 
15 Douglas fir  Pseudotsuga menziesii 1.5 Good 
16 Red maple   3 Poor 
17 Douglas fir   1 Good 
18 Douglas fir   2 Good 
19 Red maple   3 Poor 
20 Douglas fir   3 Good 
21 Magnolia   5 Good 
22 Magnolia   5.5 Good 
23 Norway Maple  Acer platanoides 9 Good 
24 Norway maple   6.5 Good 
25 Norway maple   6 Good 
26 Norway maple   6.5 Fair 
27 Norway maple   6 Fair 
28 Norway maple   7 Good 
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29 Norway maple   5 Good 
30 Norway maple   6 Good 
31 Ponderosa pine  Pinus ponderosa 6.5 Good 
32 Ponderosa pine   5 Good 
33 Ponderosa pine   5 Good 
34 White oak  Quercus alba 3 Good 
35 Ponderosa pine   5 Good 
36 Ponderosa pine   6 Good 
37 Red alder  Alnus rubra 1 Good 
38 Red alder   1 Good 
39 Western red cedar  Thuja plicata 1 Good 
40 Western red cedar  1 Good 
41 Red alder   1 Good 
42 Red maple   3 Fair 
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Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 
 

1. Any legal description provided to the consultant is assumed to be correct.  Titles and 
ownerships to property are assumed to be good and marketable.   No responsibility is 
assumed for legal matters.  

 
2. Care has been taken to obtain all information from reliable sources. All data has been 

verified insofar as feasible; however, the consultant can neither guarantee nor be 
responsible for the accuracy of information provided by others. 

 
3. The consultant shall not be required to give testimony or attend court by reason of this 

report unless subsequent contractual arrangements are made, including additional fees. 
 

4. This report, and any values expressed herein, represents the opinion of the consultant, and 
the consultant fee is in no way contingent upon the reporting of a specified value, a 
stipulated result, the occurrence of a subsequent event, nor upon any finding to be 
reported. 

 
5. Sketches, drawings, and photographs in this report are intended as visual aids and are 

probably not to scale. The reproduction of information generated by other consultants is for 
coordination and ease of reference. Inclusion of such information does not constitute a 
representation by the consulting arborist, as to the sufficiency or accuracy of the 
information. 

 
6. Unless expressed otherwise, information in this report covers only items that were 

examined and reflects the condition of those items at the time of inspection. The inspection 
is limited to visual examination of accessible items without laboratory analysis, dissection, 
excavation, probing, or coring, unless otherwise stated. 

 
7. There is no warranty or guarantee, expressed or implied, that problems or deficiencies of 

the plants or property in question may not arise in the future. 
 

8. This report is the completed work product. Any additional work, including production of a 
site plan, addenda and revisions, construction of tree protection measure, tree work, or 
inspection of tree protection measures, for example, must be contracted separately. 

 
Loss or alteration of any part of this report invalidates the entire report. 
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SIGNATURE PAGE 
The information in this report was compiled and prepared under the supervision and 
direction of the undersigned. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Annie Jean Rendleman 
Biologist 
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INTRODUCTION  

Ecological Land Services, Inc. (ELS) was contracted by CIS to complete a critical areas report on 
property in Wilsonville, Oregon. The site consists of Tax Lot 31W23B00100. The site is 
approximately 2.04 acres and is located at 9770 SW Wilsonville Rd., in Wilsonville, Oregon. The 
site is in Section 23, Township 3 South, and Range 1 West of the Willamette Meridian (Figure 1). 
This critical areas report was completed for the purpose of developing a headquarters facility for 
CIS on the site. Field work was conducted on January 25, 2022. This report summarizes ELS’s 
findings in accordance with Wilsonville Municipal Code (WMC) Section 4.139.00 Significant 
Overlay Resource Zone (2023). 
 
A) LANDSCAPE SETTING AND LAND USE  

The project site is situated north of the Willamette River and west of Interstate-5. Coffee Lake 
Creek flows southward along the western site boundary. The site is located within Hydrologic Unit 
Code (HUC) 170900070402, Coffee Lake Creek-Willamette River. 
 
The site and tax lots to the north and east are zoned PDI (Planned Development Industrial). Tax 
lots are zoned R (Residential) to the west, FDAHI (Future Development Agricultural Holding 
Industrial) to the south, and PDC (Planned Development Commercial) to the east. The Willamette 
River lies approximately 0.5 miles south of the site. Southwest Wilsonville Road borders the site 
to the north, SW Industrial Way borders the site to the west, and SW Kinsman Road borders the 
site to the east (Figure 5). The site can be accessed via SW Kinsman Road in the southeastern 
portion of the site. One wetland, Wetland A, was delineated in the northern portion of the site. 
Coffee Lake Creek borders the site to the west and flows from north to south. An existing outfall 
structure and channel lies in the southwestern portion of the site. The site was historically used as 
a filbert orchard. No known structures have ever been onsite, other than the existing impervious 
surface (site access) in the southern portion of the site. 
 
Vegetation 
Vegetation found within test plots are documented on the attached wetland determination data 
forms (Appendix B). The indicator status, which follows the scientific names of species within the 
test plots, indicates the likelihood of the species to be found in wetlands. A description of the 
indicator status categories is listed in Appendix D. 
 
Uplands 
Onsite upland test plots were dominated by trees: Ponderosa pine (Pinus ponderosa, FACU); 
herbs: hairy cat’s-ear (Hypochaeris radicata, FACU), Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis, FAC), 
tall fescue (Festuca arundinacea, FAC), reed canary grass (Phalaris arundinacea, FACW), 
creeping buttercup (Ranunculus repens, FAC), dove foot geranium (Geranium molle, UPL), 
bedstraw (Galium aparine, FACU), English plantain (Plantago lanceolata, FACU), scotch broom 
(Cytisus scoparius, UPL), and common vetch (Vicia sativa, UPL); and woody vines: Himalayan 
blackberry (Rubus armeniacus, FAC). 
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Wetland 
Onsite wetland test plots were dominated by herbs: tall fescue (Festuca arundinacea, FAC), reed 
canary grass (Phalaris arundinacea, FACW), bedstraw (Galium aparine, FACU), and soft rush 
(Juncus effusus, FACW). 
 
Soils 
The U.S.D.A. Natural Resource Conservation Service Soil Survey website (NRCS 2023A) 
designates the soils onsite as Latourell loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes (53B), and Willamette silt loam, 
gravelly substratum, 0 to 3 percent slopes (87A; Figure 4). Both soil profiles are characterized as 
well-drained soils with an average depth to water table of more than 80 inches below ground 
surface (BGS). Both soil profiles are generally found on terraces. A typical profile of Latourell 
loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes, consists of loam from 0 to 48 inches BGS and gravelly sandy loam 
from 48 to 60 inches BGS. A typical profile of Willamette silt loam, gravelly substratum, 0 to 3 
percent slopes, consists of silt loam from 0 to 36 inches BGS, silty clay loam from 36 to 40 inches 
BGS, and very gravelly loam from 40 to 60 inches BGS. Neither soil profile is considered to be 
hydric (NRCS 2023B). 
 
Evaluated soils consisted of loam, silty loam, and loamy peat. The primary hydric soil indicator 
Depleted Matrix was found in Test Plots 2 and 6. The attached wetland determination data forms 
can be found in Appendix B. 
 
B) SITE ALTERATIONS  

The site is zoned as PDI (Planned Development Industrial). The majority of the site consists of 
open field, with Coffee Lake Creek bordering the site to the west. An existing outfall and 
stormwater structure are located in the southern portion of the site. Per the City of Wilsonville, the 
existing outfall and stormwater structure will be used for this development. One small wetland, 
Wetland A, was delineated in the northern portion of the site. Wetland A is depressional, emergent, 
and totals 768 square feet. The site was historically used as a filbert farm, and no standing 
structures onsite. 
 
C) PRECIPITATION DATA AND ANALYSIS  

Precipitation data was gathered from the WETS Station in Oregon City and is summarized in the 
table below from data in Appendix D. Rainfall in October of 2021 was notably high, at 73 percent 
above the monthly average. Please note that the data shown in the table below for January 2022 
includes the entire month, although the site visit was conducted on January 25th. 
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Table 1. Precipitation Data. 

Date of 
Site Visit 

Precipitation 

2 Weeks Prior 
(inches) 

3 Months Prior 
Deviation from 

Average 

Average 
30% Below 

(inches) 

Average 
30% Above 

(inches) Month 
Monthly 
Average1 

(inches) 

Monthly Total 
(inches) 

1/25/22 0.18 

10/2021 4.20 7.26 +73% 2.68 5.06 

11/2021 6.29 5.92 -6% 4.36 7.48 

12/2021 7.14 6.64 -7% 5.11 8.44 

01/2022 6.25 6.06 -3% 4.29 7.45 

1 Based on 1992-2022 data. 
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D) METHODS  

Field work was conducted on January 25, 2022, following the Routine Determination Method 
according to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Wetland Delineation Manual (Environmental 
Laboratory 1987) and the Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation 
Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region (Version 2.0) (U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers 2010). Vegetation, soils, and hydrology data were collected from 8 test plots to verify 
the presence or absence of wetlands. Test plot locations were selected based on soil survey data, 
historic aerial photographs, and changes in topography and vegetation. ELS field data can be found 
on the attached wetland determination data forms (Appendix B). ELS delineated the OHWM of a 
portion of the eastern side of Coffee Lake Creek onsite using guidance from the Washington State 
Department of Ecology (Ecology) publication Determining the Ordinary High Water Mark for 
Shoreline Management Act Compliance in Washington State (Ecology Publication No. 16-06-
029). ELS flagged and mapped the test plot, wetland boundary, and ordinary high water mark 
(OHWM) locations with a hand-held GPS unit that achieves sub-meter accuracy under ideal 
conditions. Flags were subsequently professionally surveyed by Mackenzie Inc. 
 
E) DESCRIPTION OF ALL WETLANDS AND OTHER NON-WETLAND WATERS  

Wetland A 
One wetland, Wetland A, was delineated in the northern portion of the site. Wetland A is an 
emergent, depressional wetland totaling 768 square feet. 
 
Coffee Lake Creek 
Coffee Lake Creek borders the site to the west and flows from north to south. It originates in the 
Tualatin-Sherwood area and flows south through Wilsonville to the Willamette River. The portion 
of Coffee Lake creek onsite as observed during the site visit was 1 to 3 feet deep with a cobble 
creek bed and ranged from 4 to 12 feet wide. 
 
According to Wilsonville Municipal Code (WMC) Section 4.139.00 Significant Overlay Resource 
Zone (2023), Coffee Lake Creek is a primary protected water feature. Primary protected water 
features include all perennial streams and streams draining greater than 100 acres, Title 3 wetlands, 
and natural lakes and springs. Because Coffee Lake Creek has adjacent slopes of less than 25 
percent, a vegetated corridor of 50 feet is required (WMC Section 4.139.00, Table NR-1: Metro 
Water Quality Resource Area Slope Calculations). According to WMC 4.139.5, an additional 25-
foot impact area is designated adjacent to the outer boundary of the SROZ (Figures 5 and 6). 
 
F) DEVIATION FROM NWI AND LWI  

Figure 3A shows the National Wetlands Inventory (NWI) mapping for the site and surrounding 
area (USFWS 2023). There is an offsite channel to the west of the site that loosely follows Coffee 
Lake Creek mapped by NWI as a Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland - palustrine, forested, broad-
leaved deciduous, and seasonally flooded (PFO1C). Figure 3B shows the City of Wilsonville 
wetland mapping which also shows an offsite channel to the west of the site that loosely follows 
Coffee Lake Creek and is marked as a Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) Stream and 
Significant Wetland. ELS’s assessment partially differs from these maps as the OHWM of the east 
side of Coffee Lake Creek was delineated onsite. 

236

Item 2.



CIS Headquarters – Critical Areas Report  Ecological Land Services, Inc. 
CIS - 7 - November 2023 

H) ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

Precipitation data, vegetation information, and wetland determination methodology are located in 
Appendix D. 
 
I) RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS  

ELS biologists delineated one wetland, Wetland A onsite. The proposed plan avoids impacts to 
Wetland A, as grading and development will occur outside the wetland boundary. 
 
Coffee Lake Creek is located on the western site boundary and has a 50-foot SROZ with an 
additional 25-foot impact area (WMC 4.139.00; Figure 5). The southernmost portion of the onsite 
impact area consists of existing impervious surface. The remainder of the onsite impact area 
consists of open field dominated by invasive plant species, particularly Himalayan blackberry and 
reed canary grass. Trees and shrubs will not be removed from the impact area. Because of the lack 
of interspersion of plant communities, lack of habitat features, and limited hydrologic functions, 
the onsite impact area is considered to have low ecological value. 
 
The grading required to create the stormwater swale will result in disturbance within the 50-foot 
SROZ. Disturbance is expected to be minimal and appropriate best management practices will be 
implemented, such as installing silt fencing and other measures to control sedimentation and 
additional ground disturbance. All exposed areas will be immediately reseeded with native plant 
species. Installed plants within the swale will increase sediment trapping and particulate retention 
functions. Overall, the stormwater swale will improve onsite infiltration and flood storage 
functions compared to the existing conditions and will, therefore, serve as mitigation for the 
disturbance within the SROZ. 
 
J) DISCLAIMER  

This report documents the investigation, best professional judgment, and conclusions of Ecological 
Land Services, Inc.  It is correct and complete to the best of our knowledge. It should be considered 
a Preliminary Jurisdictional Determination of wetlands and other waters, and used at your own 
risk until it has been reviewed and approved in writing by the Oregon Department of State Lands 
in accordance with OAR 141-090-0005 through 141-090-0055.
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NOTE(S):
1. Map provided on-line by US Fish & Wildlife Service at web address:

https://www.fws.gov/program/national-wetlands-inventory/wetlands-mapper11
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NOTE(S):
1. Map provided on-line by the State of Oregon at web address: https://www.oregon.gov/dsl/ww/pages/inventories.aspx11
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NOTE(S):
1. Map provided on-line by NRCS at web address:

http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/
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Applicant/Owner: State:

Investigator(s):

Landform (hillside, terrace, etc.): 3-8

Subregion (LRR): Lat:

Soil Map Unit Name:

X

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.

Yes X No

Yes No X Yes X

Yes No X

)

1.

2. (A)

3.

4. (B)

Sapling/Shrub Stratum (A/B)

1.

2.

3.

4. x 1 =

5. x 2 =

x 3 =

x 4 =

1. x 5 =

2. Column Totals: (A) (B)

3.

4.

5.

6.

7. X

8.

9.

10.

11.

Woody Vine Stratum

1.

2.

Yes X

Tree Stratum

Is the Sampled Area

within a Wetland? No

100

5 No

15'

Remarks:

Indicator 

Status

2

2

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants.

(If no, explain in Remarks.) 

Hydric Soil Present? 

Wetland Hydrology Present?

30'

naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

(Plot size:

Yes

Number of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

(Plot size:

Remarks:

FACU species

FAC species

OBL species

UPL

5

2 - Dominance Test is >50%

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation
1
 (Explain)

0

5 - Wetland Non-Vacular Plants
1

4 - Morphological Adaptations
1
(Provide supporting

=Total Cover

)

Hydrophytic 

Vegetation 

Present? No

    data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

(Plot size:

No

Phalaris arundinacea

No

FAC

FAC

Herb Stratum

30 Yes

Festuca arundinacea

Ranunculus repens FAC

10

Total % Cover of:

=Total Cover

1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Multiply by:

Prevalence Index  = B/A =

3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.0
1

FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators:

Datum:-122.778534

Latourell loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes None

Long:

UPL species

FACW species

100.0%

)

15' )

40

Prevalence Index worksheet:

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 

S23, T3S, R1W

WA TP1

Convex

Section, Township, Range:

Sampling Date:

Sampling Point:

Slope (%):Local relief (concave, convex, none):

1/25/2022

CIS

Huffman, Coli

Terrace

WilsonvilleCity/County:

NoAre climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?

Project/Site: CIS Headquarters

LRR A

NWI classification:

Dominant 

Species?

45.3022082 NAD83

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?

significantly disturbed?

TP1 was located in the southeast section of the parcel. Because all three indicators were not met, the test plot is considered to be within uplands.

(Plot size:

=Total Cover

10

No

FACW

Yes

5'

Percent of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Total Number of Dominant Species 

Across All Strata:

Dominance Test worksheet:

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum

Absolute 

% Cover

=Total Cover

Geranium lucidum

Hypochaeris radicata

Poa pratensis

1
Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 

be present, unless disturbed or problematic.

US Army Corps of Engineers      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0
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Sampling Point:

% % Type
1

Loc
2

70

30

Type:

Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No X

Primary Indicators (minimum of one is required; check all that apply)                                          

X

Surface Water Present? Yes X

Water Table Present? Yes X

Saturation Present? Yes X    Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes No X

TP1SOIL

Remarks

Drainage Patterns (B10)

Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)

Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)

Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except

Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)

Remarks:

HYDROLOGY

Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
3
:

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Geomorphic Position (D2)

Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)Surface Soil Cracks (B6)

Sediment Deposits (B2)

Drift Deposits (B3)

Water Marks (B1)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4)

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:

Salt Crust (B11)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2

Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)Other (Explain in Remarks)

FAC-Neutral Test (D5)Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)

Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)

Iron Deposits (B5)

Saturation (A3)

Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Color (moist)

0-16

Surface Water (A1)

Loamy/Clayey

Matrix

Texture

Redox FeaturesDepth

(inches) Color (moist)

10YR 3/4

10YR 3/3

Redox Dark Surface (F6)

Depleted Dark Surface (F7)

Redox Depressions (F8)

3
Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and

wetland hydrology must be present,

unless disturbed or problematic.Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

Remarks:

Field Observations:

(includes capillary fringe)

No

No

No

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

High Water Table (A2)      MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)      4A, and 4B)

2
Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.

Restrictive Layer (if observed):

2 cm Muck (A10)

Red Parent Material (F21)

Very Shallow Dark Surface (F22)

Other (Explain in Remarks)

Histosol (A1)

Histic Epipedon (A2)

Black Histic (A3)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)

Thick Dark Surface (A12)

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)

2.5 cm Mucky Peat or Peat (S2) (LRR G)

Sandy Redox (S5)

Stripped Matrix (S6)

Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)

Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)

Depleted Matrix (F3)

1
Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.
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Applicant/Owner: State:

Investigator(s):

Landform (hillside, terrace, etc.): 0-3

Subregion (LRR): Lat:

Soil Map Unit Name:

X

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.

Yes X No

Yes X No Yes X

Yes X No

)

1.

2. (A)

3.

4. (B)

Sapling/Shrub Stratum (A/B)

1.

2.

3.

4. x 1 =

5. x 2 =

x 3 =

x 4 =

1. x 5 =

2. Column Totals: (A) (B)

3.

4.

5.

6.

7. X

8.

9.

10.

11.

Woody Vine Stratum

1.

2.

Yes X

Tree Stratum

Is the Sampled Area

within a Wetland? No

95

15'

Remarks:

Indicator 

Status

1

1

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants.

(If no, explain in Remarks.) 

Hydric Soil Present? 

Wetland Hydrology Present?

30'

naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

(Plot size:

Yes

Number of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

(Plot size:

Remarks:

FACU species

FAC species

OBL species

2 - Dominance Test is >50%

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation
1
 (Explain)

5

5 - Wetland Non-Vacular Plants
1

4 - Morphological Adaptations
1
(Provide supporting

=Total Cover

)

Hydrophytic 

Vegetation 

Present? No

    data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

(Plot size:

Juncus effusus

FACU

FACW

Herb Stratum

10 No

Phalaris arundinacea

5

Total % Cover of:

=Total Cover

1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Multiply by:

Prevalence Index  = B/A =

3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.0
1

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators:

Datum:-122.7790506

Willamette silt loam, gravelly substratum, 0 to 3 percent slopes None

Long:

UPL species

FACW species

100.0%

)

15' )

80

Prevalence Index worksheet:

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 

S23, T3S, R1W

WA TP2

Concave

Section, Township, Range:

Sampling Date:

Sampling Point:

Slope (%):Local relief (concave, convex, none):

1/25/2022

CIS

Huffman, Coli

Terrace

WilsonvilleCity/County:

NoAre climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?

Project/Site: CIS Headquarters

LRR A

NWI classification:

Dominant 

Species?

45.3027847 NAD83

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?

significantly disturbed?

TP2 was located in the northern section of the site, in Wetland A. Because all three indicators were met, the test plot is considered to be within a 

wetland.

(Plot size:

=Total Cover

No

FACW

Yes

5'

Percent of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Total Number of Dominant Species 

Across All Strata:

Dominance Test worksheet:

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum

Absolute 

% Cover

=Total Cover

Galium aparine

1
Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 

be present, unless disturbed or problematic.
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Sampling Point:

% % Type
1

Loc
2

100

100

92 8

X

Type:

Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No

Primary Indicators (minimum of one is required; check all that apply)                                          

X

X

Surface Water Present? Yes X

Water Table Present? Yes X

Saturation Present? Yes X    Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No

TP2SOIL

Remarks

Loamy/Clayey

Drainage Patterns (B10)

Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)

Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)

Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except

Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)

Remarks:

HYDROLOGY

Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
3
:

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

6-10

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Geomorphic Position (D2)

Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)Surface Soil Cracks (B6)

Sediment Deposits (B2)

Drift Deposits (B3)

Water Marks (B1)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4)

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:

Salt Crust (B11)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2

Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)Other (Explain in Remarks)

FAC-Neutral Test (D5)Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)

Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)

Iron Deposits (B5)

Saturation (A3)

Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Color (moist)

7.5YR 4/6

0-6

Surface Water (A1)

Loamy/Clayey

10YR 5/1

Matrix

Texture

10-16 Loamy/Clayey

Redox FeaturesDepth

(inches) Color (moist)

10YR 4/1

10YR 3/2

Redox Dark Surface (F6)

Depleted Dark Surface (F7)

Redox Depressions (F8)

3
Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and

wetland hydrology must be present,

unless disturbed or problematic.Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

Remarks:

15

0

Field Observations:

(includes capillary fringe)

No

No

No

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

High Water Table (A2)      MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)      4A, and 4B)

2
Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.

Restrictive Layer (if observed):

2 cm Muck (A10)

Red Parent Material (F21)

Very Shallow Dark Surface (F22)

Other (Explain in Remarks)

Histosol (A1)

Histic Epipedon (A2)

Black Histic (A3)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)

Thick Dark Surface (A12)

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)

2.5 cm Mucky Peat or Peat (S2) (LRR G)

Sandy Redox (S5)

Stripped Matrix (S6)

Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)

Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)

Depleted Matrix (F3)

1
Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.
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Applicant/Owner: State:

Investigator(s):

Landform (hillside, terrace, etc.): 0-3

Subregion (LRR): Lat:

Soil Map Unit Name:

X

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.

Yes X No

Yes No X Yes X

Yes No X

)

1.

2. (A)

3.

4. (B)

Sapling/Shrub Stratum (A/B)

1.

2.

3.

4. x 1 =

5. x 2 =

x 3 =

x 4 =

1. x 5 =

2. Column Totals: (A) (B)

3.

4.

5.

6.

7. X

8.

9.

10.

11.

Woody Vine Stratum

1.

2.

Yes X

Tree Stratum

Is the Sampled Area

within a Wetland? No

100

5 No

15'

Remarks:

Indicator 

Status

3

3

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants.

(If no, explain in Remarks.) 

Hydric Soil Present? 

Wetland Hydrology Present?

30'

naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

(Plot size:

Yes

Number of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

(Plot size:

Remarks:

FACU species

FAC species

OBL species

FACU

2 - Dominance Test is >50%

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation
1
 (Explain)

0

5 - Wetland Non-Vacular Plants
1

4 - Morphological Adaptations
1
(Provide supporting

=Total Cover

)

Hydrophytic 

Vegetation 

Present? No

    data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

(Plot size:

Phalaris arundinacea

No

FAC

FAC

Herb Stratum

30 Yes

Festuca arundinacea

20

Total % Cover of:

=Total Cover

1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Multiply by:

Prevalence Index  = B/A =

3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.0
1

UPL Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators:

Datum:-122.7790475

Willamette silt loam, gravelly substratum, 0 to 3 percent slopes None

Long:

UPL species

FACW species

100.0%

)

15' )

40

Prevalence Index worksheet:

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 

S23, T3S, R1W

WA TP3

Convex

Section, Township, Range:

Sampling Date:

Sampling Point:

Slope (%):Local relief (concave, convex, none):

1/25/2022

CIS

Huffman, Coli

Terrace

WilsonvilleCity/County:

NoAre climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?

Project/Site: CIS Headquarters

LRR A

NWI classification:

Dominant 

Species?

45.3027594 NAD83

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?

significantly disturbed?

TP3 was located in the northern section of the site, upslope of Test Plot 2. Because all three indicators were not met, the test plot is considered to be 

upland.

(Plot size:

=Total Cover

5

Yes

FACW

Yes

5'

Percent of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Total Number of Dominant Species 

Across All Strata:

Dominance Test worksheet:

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum

Absolute 

% Cover

=Total Cover

Galium aparine

Geranium molle

Poa pratensis

1
Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 

be present, unless disturbed or problematic.
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Sampling Point:

% % Type
1

Loc
2

100

95 5 C M

Type:

Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No X

Primary Indicators (minimum of one is required; check all that apply)                                          

X

Surface Water Present? Yes X

Water Table Present? Yes X

Saturation Present? Yes X    Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes No X

TP3SOIL

Remarks

Loamy/Clayey

Drainage Patterns (B10)

Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)

Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)

Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except

Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)

Remarks:

HYDROLOGY

Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
3
:

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

12-16

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Geomorphic Position (D2)

Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)Surface Soil Cracks (B6)

Sediment Deposits (B2)

Drift Deposits (B3)

Water Marks (B1)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4)

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:

Salt Crust (B11)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2

Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)Other (Explain in Remarks)

FAC-Neutral Test (D5)Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)

Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)

Iron Deposits (B5)

Saturation (A3)

Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Color (moist)

7.5YR 5/6

0-12

Surface Water (A1)

Loamy/Clayey

Matrix

Texture

Redox FeaturesDepth

(inches) Color (moist)

10YR 3/3

10YR 3/3

Redox Dark Surface (F6)

Depleted Dark Surface (F7)

Redox Depressions (F8)

3
Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and

wetland hydrology must be present,

unless disturbed or problematic.Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

Remarks:

Field Observations:

(includes capillary fringe)

No

No

No

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

High Water Table (A2)      MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)      4A, and 4B)

2
Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.

Restrictive Layer (if observed):

2 cm Muck (A10)

Red Parent Material (F21)

Very Shallow Dark Surface (F22)

Other (Explain in Remarks)

Histosol (A1)

Histic Epipedon (A2)

Black Histic (A3)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)

Thick Dark Surface (A12)

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)

2.5 cm Mucky Peat or Peat (S2) (LRR G)

Sandy Redox (S5)

Stripped Matrix (S6)

Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)

Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)

Depleted Matrix (F3)

1
Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.
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Applicant/Owner: State:

Investigator(s):

Landform (hillside, terrace, etc.): 3-8

Subregion (LRR): Lat:

Soil Map Unit Name:

X

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.

Yes X No

Yes No X Yes X

Yes No X

)

1.

2. (A)

3.

4. (B)

Sapling/Shrub Stratum (A/B)

1.

2.

3.

4. x 1 =

5. x 2 =

x 3 =

x 4 =

1. x 5 =

2. Column Totals: (A) (B)

3.

4.

5.

6.

7. X

8.

9.

10.

11.

Woody Vine Stratum

1.

2.

Yes X

Tree Stratum

Is the Sampled Area

within a Wetland? No

100

5 No

15'

Remarks:

Indicator 

Status

3

3

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants.

(If no, explain in Remarks.) 

Hydric Soil Present? 

Wetland Hydrology Present?

30'

naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

(Plot size:

Yes

Number of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

(Plot size:

Remarks:

FACU species

FAC species

OBL species

UPL

5

2 - Dominance Test is >50%

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation
1
 (Explain)

0

5 - Wetland Non-Vacular Plants
1

4 - Morphological Adaptations
1
(Provide supporting

=Total Cover

)

Hydrophytic 

Vegetation 

Present? No

    data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

(Plot size:

No

Poa pratensis

No

FACW

FAC

Herb Stratum

30 Yes

Festuca arundinacea

Plantago lanceolata FACU

20

Total % Cover of:

=Total Cover

1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Multiply by:

Prevalence Index  = B/A =

3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.0
1

FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators:

Datum:-122.7793146

Latourell loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes None

Long:

UPL species

FACW species

100.0%

)

15' )

30

Prevalence Index worksheet:

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 

S23, T3S, R1W

WA TP4

Convex

Section, Township, Range:

Sampling Date:

Sampling Point:

Slope (%):Local relief (concave, convex, none):

1/25/2022

CIS

Huffman, Coli

Terraces

WilsonvilleCity/County:

NoAre climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?

Project/Site: CIS Headquarters

LRR A

NWI classification:

Dominant 

Species?

45.3027383 NAD83

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?

significantly disturbed?

TP4 was located in the northwestern section of the site. Because all three indicators were not met, the test plot is considered to be upland.

(Plot size:

=Total Cover

10

Yes

FAC

Yes

5'

Percent of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Total Number of Dominant Species 

Across All Strata:

Dominance Test worksheet:

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum

Absolute 

% Cover

=Total Cover

Geranium lucidum

Galium aparine

Phalaris arundinacea 

1
Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 

be present, unless disturbed or problematic.
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Sampling Point:

% % Type
1

Loc
2

100

99 1 C M

Type:

Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No X

Primary Indicators (minimum of one is required; check all that apply)                                          

X

Surface Water Present? Yes X

Water Table Present? Yes X

Saturation Present? Yes X    Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes No X

TP4SOIL

Remarks

Loamy/Clayey

Drainage Patterns (B10)

Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)

Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)

Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except

Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)

Remarks:

HYDROLOGY

Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
3
:

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

12-16

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Geomorphic Position (D2)

Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)Surface Soil Cracks (B6)

Sediment Deposits (B2)

Drift Deposits (B3)

Water Marks (B1)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4)

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:

Salt Crust (B11)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2

Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)Other (Explain in Remarks)

FAC-Neutral Test (D5)Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)

Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)

Iron Deposits (B5)

Saturation (A3)

Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Color (moist)

10YR 4/6

0-12

Surface Water (A1)

Loamy/Clayey

Matrix

Texture

Redox FeaturesDepth

(inches) Color (moist)

10YR 3/2

10YR 3/2

Redox Dark Surface (F6)

Depleted Dark Surface (F7)

Redox Depressions (F8)

3
Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and

wetland hydrology must be present,

unless disturbed or problematic.Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

Remarks:

Field Observations:

(includes capillary fringe)

No

No

No

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

High Water Table (A2)      MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)      4A, and 4B)

2
Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.

Restrictive Layer (if observed):

2 cm Muck (A10)

Red Parent Material (F21)

Very Shallow Dark Surface (F22)

Other (Explain in Remarks)

Histosol (A1)

Histic Epipedon (A2)

Black Histic (A3)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)

Thick Dark Surface (A12)

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)

2.5 cm Mucky Peat or Peat (S2) (LRR G)

Sandy Redox (S5)

Stripped Matrix (S6)

Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)

Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)

Depleted Matrix (F3)

1
Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.
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Applicant/Owner: State:

Investigator(s):

Landform (hillside, terrace, etc.): 3-8

Subregion (LRR): Lat:

Soil Map Unit Name:

X

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.

Yes X No

Yes No X Yes X

Yes No X

)

1.

2. (A)

3.

4. (B)

Sapling/Shrub Stratum (A/B)

1.

2.

3.

4. x 1 =

5. x 2 =

x 3 =

x 4 =

1. x 5 =

2. Column Totals: (A) (B)

3.

4.

5.

6.

7. X

8.

9.

10.

11.

Woody Vine Stratum

1.

2.

Yes X

Percent of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Total Number of Dominant Species 

Across All Strata:

Dominance Test worksheet:

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum

Absolute 

% Cover

Yes

=Total Cover

Rubus armeniacus

Poa pratensis

1
Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 

be present, unless disturbed or problematic.

(Plot size:

Pinus ponderosa Yes

=Total Cover

No

FACW

Yes

5'

NoAre climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?

Project/Site: CIS Headquarters

LRR A

NWI classification:

Dominant 

Species?

20

20 FACU

45.3026543 NAD83

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?

significantly disturbed?

TP5 was located in the northwestern section of the site. Because all three indicators were not met, the test plot is considered to be upland.

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 

S23, T3S, R1W

WA TP5

Convex

Section, Township, Range:

Sampling Date:

Sampling Point:

Slope (%):Local relief (concave, convex, none):

1/25/2022

CIS

Huffman, Coli

Terrace

WilsonvilleCity/County:

Datum:-122.7793226

Latourell loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes None

Long:

UPL species

FACW species

75.0%

)

15' )

55

Prevalence Index worksheet:

Total % Cover of:

=Total Cover

1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Multiply by:

Prevalence Index  = B/A =

3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.0
1

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators:

Phalaris arundinacea

FAC

FAC

Herb Stratum

30 Yes

Festuca arundinacea

15

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation
1
 (Explain)

0

5 - Wetland Non-Vacular Plants
1

4 - Morphological Adaptations
1
(Provide supporting

=Total Cover

)

Hydrophytic 

Vegetation 

Present? No

    data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

(Plot size:

(Plot size:

Remarks:

15

FACU species

FAC species

OBL species

FAC

2 - Dominance Test is >50%

Indicator 

Status

3

4

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants.

(If no, explain in Remarks.) 

Hydric Soil Present? 

Wetland Hydrology Present?

30'

naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

(Plot size:

Yes

Number of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Tree Stratum

Is the Sampled Area

within a Wetland? No

100

15'

15

Remarks:
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Sampling Point:

% % Type
1

Loc
2

40

60

50

50

Type:

Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No X

Primary Indicators (minimum of one is required; check all that apply)                                          

Surface Water Present? Yes X

Water Table Present? Yes X

Saturation Present? Yes X    Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes No X

High Water Table (A2)      MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)      4A, and 4B)

2
Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.

Restrictive Layer (if observed):

2 cm Muck (A10)

Red Parent Material (F21)

Very Shallow Dark Surface (F22)

Other (Explain in Remarks)

Histosol (A1)

Histic Epipedon (A2)

Black Histic (A3)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)

Thick Dark Surface (A12)

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)

2.5 cm Mucky Peat or Peat (S2) (LRR G)

Sandy Redox (S5)

Stripped Matrix (S6)

Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)

Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)

Depleted Matrix (F3)

1
Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

Remarks:

Field Observations:

(includes capillary fringe)

No

No

No

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Redox Dark Surface (F6)

Depleted Dark Surface (F7)

Redox Depressions (F8)

3
Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and

wetland hydrology must be present,

unless disturbed or problematic.Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)

Surface Water (A1)

Loamy/Clayey

10YR 3/3

Matrix

10YR 3/4

Texture

10-16 Loamy/Clayey

Redox FeaturesDepth

(inches) Color (moist)

10YR 3/2

10YR 3/3

Color (moist)

0-10

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Geomorphic Position (D2)

Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)Surface Soil Cracks (B6)

Sediment Deposits (B2)

Drift Deposits (B3)

Water Marks (B1)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4)

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:

Salt Crust (B11)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2

Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)Other (Explain in Remarks)

FAC-Neutral Test (D5)Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)

Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)

Iron Deposits (B5)

Saturation (A3)

Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Drainage Patterns (B10)

Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)

Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)

Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except

Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)

Remarks:

HYDROLOGY

Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
3
:

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

TP5SOIL

Remarks
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Applicant/Owner: State:

Investigator(s):

Landform (hillside, terrace, etc.): 3-8

Subregion (LRR): Lat:

Soil Map Unit Name:

X

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.

Yes X No

Yes X No Yes X

Yes X No

)

1.

2. (A)

3.

4. (B)

Sapling/Shrub Stratum (A/B)

1.

2.

3.

4. x 1 =

5. x 2 =

x 3 =

x 4 =

1. x 5 =

2. Column Totals: (A) (B)

3.

4.

5.

6.

7. X

8.

9.

10.

11.

Woody Vine Stratum

1.

2.

Yes X

Percent of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Total Number of Dominant Species 

Across All Strata:

Dominance Test worksheet:

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum

Absolute 

% Cover

=Total Cover

Juncus effusus

1
Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 

be present, unless disturbed or problematic.

(Plot size:

=Total Cover

Yes

FAC

Yes

5'

NoAre climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?

Project/Site: CIS Headquarters

LRR A

NWI classification:

Dominant 

Species?

45.3027719 NAD83

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?

significantly disturbed?

TP6 was located in the northern section of the site, in Wetland A. Because all three indicators were met, the test plot is considered to be within a 

wetland.

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 

S23, T3S, R1W

WA TP6

Concave

Section, Township, Range:

Sampling Date:

Sampling Point:

Slope (%):Local relief (concave, convex, none):

1/25/2022

CIS

Huffman, Coli

Terrace

WilsonvilleCity/County:

Datum:-122.7792243

Latourell loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes None

Long:

UPL species

FACW species

100.0%

)

15' )

40

Prevalence Index worksheet:

Total % Cover of:

=Total Cover

1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Multiply by:

Prevalence Index  = B/A =

3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.0
1

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators:

Festuca arundinacea

FACW

FACW

Herb Stratum

35 Yes

Festuca arundinacea

20

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation
1
 (Explain)

5

5 - Wetland Non-Vacular Plants
1

4 - Morphological Adaptations
1
(Provide supporting

=Total Cover

)

Hydrophytic 

Vegetation 

Present? No

    data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

(Plot size:

(Plot size:

Remarks:

FACU species

FAC species

OBL species

2 - Dominance Test is >50%

Indicator 

Status

3

3

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants.

(If no, explain in Remarks.) 

Hydric Soil Present? 

Wetland Hydrology Present?

30'

naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

(Plot size:

Yes

Number of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Tree Stratum

Is the Sampled Area

within a Wetland? No

95

15'

Remarks:
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Sampling Point:

% % Type
1

Loc
2

100

45

50 5 C M

X

Type:

Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No

Primary Indicators (minimum of one is required; check all that apply)                                          

X

X

X

Surface Water Present? Yes X

Water Table Present? Yes X

Saturation Present? Yes X    Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No

High Water Table (A2)      MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)      4A, and 4B)

2
Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.

Restrictive Layer (if observed):

2 cm Muck (A10)

Red Parent Material (F21)

Very Shallow Dark Surface (F22)

Other (Explain in Remarks)

Histosol (A1)

Histic Epipedon (A2)

Black Histic (A3)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)

Thick Dark Surface (A12)

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)

2.5 cm Mucky Peat or Peat (S2) (LRR G)

Sandy Redox (S5)

Stripped Matrix (S6)

Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)

Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)

Depleted Matrix (F3)

1
Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

Remarks:

0

Field Observations:

(includes capillary fringe)

No

No

No

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Redox Dark Surface (F6)

Depleted Dark Surface (F7)

Redox Depressions (F8)

3
Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and

wetland hydrology must be present,

unless disturbed or problematic.Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)

Surface Water (A1)

Loamy/Clayey

10YR 4/1

Matrix

Texture

Redox FeaturesDepth

(inches) Color (moist)

10YR 3/1

10YR 3/1

Color (moist)

10YR 4/6

0-12

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Geomorphic Position (D2)

Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)Surface Soil Cracks (B6)

Sediment Deposits (B2)

Drift Deposits (B3)

Water Marks (B1)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4)

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:

Salt Crust (B11)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2

Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)Other (Explain in Remarks)

FAC-Neutral Test (D5)Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)

Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)

Iron Deposits (B5)

Saturation (A3)

Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Drainage Patterns (B10)

Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)

Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)

Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except

Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)

Remarks:

HYDROLOGY

Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
3
:

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

12-16

TP6SOIL

Prominent redox concentrations

Remarks

Loamy/Clayey
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Applicant/Owner: State:

Investigator(s):

Landform (hillside, terrace, etc.): 3-8

Subregion (LRR): Lat:

Soil Map Unit Name:

X

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.

Yes X No

Yes No X Yes X

Yes No X

)

1.

2. (A)

3.

4. (B)

Sapling/Shrub Stratum (A/B)

1.

2.

3.

4. x 1 =

5. x 2 =

x 3 =

x 4 =

1. x 5 =

2. Column Totals: (A) (B)

3.

4.

5.

6.

7. X

8.

9.

10.

11.

Woody Vine Stratum

1.

2.

Yes X

Percent of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Total Number of Dominant Species 

Across All Strata:

Dominance Test worksheet:

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum

Absolute 

% Cover

=Total Cover

1
Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 

be present, unless disturbed or problematic.

(Plot size:

=Total Cover

UPL

Yes

5'

NoAre climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?

Project/Site: CIS Headquarters

LRR A

NWI classification:

Dominant 

Species?

45.3025288 NAD83

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?

significantly disturbed?

TP7 was located in the northwestern section of the site. Because all three indicators were not met, the test plot is considered to be upland.

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 

S23, T3S, R1W

WA TP7

Convex

Section, Township, Range:

Sampling Date:

Sampling Point:

Slope (%):Local relief (concave, convex, none):

1/25/2022

CIS

Huffman, Coli

Terrace

WilsonvilleCity/County:

Datum:-122.7793974

Latourell loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes None

Long:

UPL species

FACW species

100.0%

)

15' )

100

Prevalence Index worksheet:

Total % Cover of:

=Total Cover

1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Multiply by:

Prevalence Index  = B/A =

3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.0
1

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators:

Cytisus scoparius

FACW

Herb Stratum

5 No

Phalaris arundinacea

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation
1
 (Explain)

0

5 - Wetland Non-Vacular Plants
1

4 - Morphological Adaptations
1
(Provide supporting

=Total Cover

)

Hydrophytic 

Vegetation 

Present? No

    data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

(Plot size:

(Plot size:

Remarks:

FACU species

FAC species

OBL species

2 - Dominance Test is >50%

Indicator 

Status

1

1

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants.

(If no, explain in Remarks.) 

Hydric Soil Present? 

Wetland Hydrology Present?

30'

naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

(Plot size:

Yes

Number of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Tree Stratum

Is the Sampled Area

within a Wetland? No

105

15'

Remarks:
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Sampling Point:

% % Type
1

Loc
2

100

Type:

Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No X

Primary Indicators (minimum of one is required; check all that apply)                                          

Surface Water Present? Yes X

Water Table Present? Yes X

Saturation Present? Yes X    Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes No X

High Water Table (A2)      MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)      4A, and 4B)

2
Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.

Restrictive Layer (if observed):

2 cm Muck (A10)

Red Parent Material (F21)

Very Shallow Dark Surface (F22)

Other (Explain in Remarks)

Histosol (A1)

Histic Epipedon (A2)

Black Histic (A3)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)

Thick Dark Surface (A12)

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)

2.5 cm Mucky Peat or Peat (S2) (LRR G)

Sandy Redox (S5)

Stripped Matrix (S6)

Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)

Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)

Depleted Matrix (F3)

1
Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

Remarks:

Field Observations:

(includes capillary fringe)

No

No

No

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Redox Dark Surface (F6)

Depleted Dark Surface (F7)

Redox Depressions (F8)

3
Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and

wetland hydrology must be present,

unless disturbed or problematic.Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)

Surface Water (A1)

Loamy/Clayey

Matrix

Texture

Redox FeaturesDepth

(inches) Color (moist)

10YR 2/1

Color (moist)

0-16

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Geomorphic Position (D2)

Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)Surface Soil Cracks (B6)

Sediment Deposits (B2)

Drift Deposits (B3)

Water Marks (B1)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4)

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:

Salt Crust (B11)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2

Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)Other (Explain in Remarks)

FAC-Neutral Test (D5)Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)

Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)

Iron Deposits (B5)

Saturation (A3)

Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Drainage Patterns (B10)

Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)

Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)

Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except

Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)

Remarks:

HYDROLOGY

Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
3
:

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

TP7SOIL

Remarks
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Applicant/Owner: State:

Investigator(s):

Landform (hillside, terrace, etc.): 0-3

Subregion (LRR): Lat:

Soil Map Unit Name:

X

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No

Are Vegetation , Soil , or Hydrology

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.

Yes X No

Yes No X Yes X

Yes No X

)

1.

2. (A)

3.

4. (B)

Sapling/Shrub Stratum (A/B)

1.

2.

3.

4. x 1 =

5. x 2 =

x 3 =

x 4 =

1. x 5 =

2. Column Totals: (A) (B)

3.

4.

5.

6.

7. X

8.

9.

10.

11.

Woody Vine Stratum

1.

2.

Yes X

Tree Stratum

Is the Sampled Area

within a Wetland? No

100

15'

10

Remarks:

Indicator 

Status

3

3

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants.

(If no, explain in Remarks.) 

Hydric Soil Present? 

Wetland Hydrology Present?

30'

naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

(Plot size:

Yes

Number of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

(Plot size:

Remarks:

10

FACU species

FAC species

OBL species

FAC

UPL

2 - Dominance Test is >50%

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation
1
 (Explain)

0

5 - Wetland Non-Vacular Plants
1

4 - Morphological Adaptations
1
(Provide supporting

=Total Cover

)

Hydrophytic 

Vegetation 

Present? No

    data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

(Plot size:

Poa pratensis

No

UPL

FAC

Herb Stratum

20 Yes

Festuca arundinacea

10

Total % Cover of:

=Total Cover

1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Multiply by:

Prevalence Index  = B/A =

3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.0
1

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators:

Datum:-122.7785711

Willamette silt loam, gravelly substratum, 0 to 3 percent slopes None

Long:

UPL species

FACW species

100.0%

)

15' )

60

Prevalence Index worksheet:

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 

S23, T3S, R1W

WA TP8

Convex

Section, Township, Range:

Sampling Date:

Sampling Point:

Slope (%):Local relief (concave, convex, none):

1/25/2022

CIS

Huffman, Coli

Terrace

WilsonvilleCity/County:

NoAre climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?

Project/Site: CIS Headquarters

LRR A

NWI classification:

Dominant 

Species?

45.3026002 NAD83

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?

significantly disturbed?

TP8 was located in the northeastern section of the site. Because all three indicators were not met, the test plot is considered to be upland.

(Plot size:

=Total Cover

10

No

FAC

Yes

5'

Percent of Dominant Species That 

Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

Total Number of Dominant Species 

Across All Strata:

Dominance Test worksheet:

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum

Absolute 

% Cover

Yes

=Total Cover

Rubus armeniacus

Vicia sativa

Geranium molle

1
Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 

be present, unless disturbed or problematic.
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Sampling Point:

% % Type
1

Loc
2

100

Type:

Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No X

Primary Indicators (minimum of one is required; check all that apply)                                          

Surface Water Present? Yes X

Water Table Present? Yes X

Saturation Present? Yes X    Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes No X

TP8SOIL

Remarks

Drainage Patterns (B10)

Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)

Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)

Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except

Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)

Remarks:

HYDROLOGY

Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
3
:

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Geomorphic Position (D2)

Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)Surface Soil Cracks (B6)

Sediment Deposits (B2)

Drift Deposits (B3)

Water Marks (B1)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4)

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:

Salt Crust (B11)

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2

Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)Other (Explain in Remarks)

FAC-Neutral Test (D5)Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)

Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)

Iron Deposits (B5)

Saturation (A3)

Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Color (moist)

0-16

Surface Water (A1)

Loamy/Clayey

Matrix

Texture

Redox FeaturesDepth

(inches) Color (moist)

10YR 3/3

Redox Dark Surface (F6)

Depleted Dark Surface (F7)

Redox Depressions (F8)

3
Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and

wetland hydrology must be present,

unless disturbed or problematic.Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

Remarks:

Field Observations:

(includes capillary fringe)

No

No

No

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

Depth (inches):

High Water Table (A2)      MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)      4A, and 4B)

2
Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.

Restrictive Layer (if observed):

2 cm Muck (A10)

Red Parent Material (F21)

Very Shallow Dark Surface (F22)

Other (Explain in Remarks)

Histosol (A1)

Histic Epipedon (A2)

Black Histic (A3)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)

Thick Dark Surface (A12)

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)

2.5 cm Mucky Peat or Peat (S2) (LRR G)

Sandy Redox (S5)

Stripped Matrix (S6)

Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)

Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)

Depleted Matrix (F3)

1
Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.
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APPENDIX C – GROUND LEVEL COLOR PHOTOGRAPHS  
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1157 3rd Ave., Suite 220A 

Longview, WA 98632 

Phone: (360) 578-1371 

Fax: (360) 414-9305 

DATE: 11/8/2023 
DWN: AJR 

PRJ. MGR: AJR 
PROJ #: 3688.02 

Photoplate 
Site Photos 

CIS Headquarters 
CIS 

Wilsonville, Oregon 
Section 23, Township 3S, Range1W, W.M. 

Photo 1. Coffee Lake Creek at the southern portion of the site, facing 

north. 

 

Photo 4. Wetland A, facing west. Photo 3. Typical upland conditions onsite. 

Photo 2. Existing stormwater facility in the southern portion of the 

site. 
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APPENDIX D: ADDITIONAL TABLES AND INFORMATION  
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Vegetation Wetland Indicator Status 

The indicator status, following the scientific names, indicates the likelihood of the species 
to be found in wetlands.  Listed from most likely to least likely to be found in wetlands, 
the indicator status categories are: 
 
▪ OBL (obligate wetland) - occur almost always under natural conditions in wetlands. 
▪ FACW (facultative wetland) - usually occur in wetlands, but occasionally found in 

non-wetlands. 
▪ FAC (facultative) - equally likely to occur in wetlands or non-wetlands. 
▪ FACU (facultative upland) - usually occur in non-wetlands, but occasionally found in 

wetlands. 
▪ UPL (obligate upland) - occur almost always under natural conditions in non-wetlands. 
▪ NI (no indicator) - insufficient data to assign to an indicator category. 
 
Routine Wetland Determination Methodology 
The wetland delineation followed the Routine Determination Method according to the U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers, Wetland Delineation Manual (Environmental Laboratory 1987) 
and the Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: 
Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region (Version 2.0) (U.S. Army Engineer 
Research and Development Center 2010).   
 
The Routine Determination Method examines three parameters—vegetation, soils, and 
hydrology—to determine if wetlands exist in a given area. Hydrology is critical in 
determining what is wetland, but is often difficult to assess because hydrologic conditions 
can change periodically (hourly, daily, or seasonally). Consequently, it is necessary to 
determine if hydrophytic vegetation and hydric soils are present, which would indicate that 
water is present for long enough duration to support a wetland plant community. By 
definition, wetlands are those areas that are inundated or saturated by surface or ground 
water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal 
circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated 
soil conditions.  Wetlands are regulated as “Waters of the United States” by the US Army 

Corps of Engineers, as “Waters of State” by the Oregon Department of State Lands, and 

locally by the City of Wilsonville, Oregon. 
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Precipitation Information  
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I .  PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

This report documents the stormwater management calculations and design approach carried out by 

Mackenzie to manage stormwater runoff for the CIS Collaboration Center project compliant with 

applicable code(s). The proposed project is located at the SW corner of the intersection of SW Wilsonville 

Road and SW Kinsman Road in Wilsonville, Oregon (see Figure 1, Vicinity Map). The project site is on Tax 

Lot 100 of Tax Map 3-1W-23B, is approximately 2.05 acres, and will be addressed as 30125 SW Kinsman 

Road. 

In pursuit of this project, the applicant (or their contractor(s)) is applying for the following permits: 

Development, Commercial Building, Mechanical, Plumbing, Clackamas County Electrical, Grading, Fire 

Alarm, Fire Sprinkler, DEQ 1200-C, and Tree Removal permits as required. No right-of-way permits or 

environmental/regulatory permits are expected to be required at this time.   

 

 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map  
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Existing Conditions 

The existing site consists of a generally open grassy area bounded by Coffee Lake Creek (identified as a 

wetland) on the property side of SW Industrial Way to the west, SW Wilsonville Road to the north, and 

SW Kinsman Road to the east and south.  Figure 2 provides a simplified graphical depiction of the existing 

conditions. 

Stormwater that falls onsite generally either infiltrates into the grassy area or drains in a predominantly 

westerly direction over shallow sloped ground and into Coffee Lake Creek to the west.  There are no 

identifiable upstream drainage basins to consider in design. 

SW Kinsman Rd and SW Wilsonville Rd are fully improved roads with their own public drainage system. 

Soil  Conditions 

A geotechnical investigation was conducted by Northwest Geotech, Inc to fully evaluate the soil conditions 

on-site. The site has a fill layer that extends to depths ranging from 3 to 6 feet. The existing fill consists of 

poorly compacted soil with debris and organics. The native soil below the fill consists of medium stiff to 

stiff, slightly sandy, and clayey silt. Field infiltration testing was conducted in the native fill at two locations 

onsite. These test results indicate a rate of 0.1-0.2 inches per hour and that Type C soils exist onsite.  

Please see the Geotechnical Report in Appendix C. 

Hydrologic Analysis (Existing) 

The hydrologic analysis of the existing conditions was performed using the Water Environment Services 

(WES) BMP Sizing Tool. For the purposes of hydrologic modeling, the WES BMP Sizing Tool models the 

historical vegetation which existed onsite prior to development. Please see the WES BMP Sizing Report, 

Appendix A, for details on the hydrologic pre-developed conditions onsite. 

 

 

 

278

Item 2.



 

H:\Projects\222009800\Production\Calcs\Civil\Storm\098 - Storm Report.docx  

 
3 

 

  

Figure 2: Existing Conditions 
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I I .  DEVELOPED CONDITIONS 

The proposed development consists of the construction of a 15,744 square foot (footprint) commercial 

building with an associated drive aisles and parking, an exterior trash enclosure, and associated utility 

services to the building and site. Although the site area is 2.05 acres, the area to be developed is 

substantially less due to the utility easements and critical areas encumbering 42% of the project site.  The 

total site area being developed is 1.20 acres. Figure 3 provides a simplified graphical depiction of the 

developed conditions.  

See the Basin Map (DMA) Map in Appendix A that provides a breakdown of impervious and pervious areas 

within each DMA/subbasin. 

 

 

Figure 3: Developed Conditions 
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Water Quality Standard 

Water quality facilities shall be designed to capture and treat 80% of the average annual runoff volume to 

the Maximum Extent Practicable (MEP) with the goal of 70% total suspended soils (TSS) removal.  In this 

context, MEP means less effective treatment may not be substituted when it is practicable to provide 

more effective treatment. This treatment volume equates to a design storm of 1.0 inch over 24 hours.  

The BMP Sizing Tool addresses these water quality requirements to size stormwater management 

facilities.  

Hydrodynamic separators, when used as a sole method of stormwater treatment, do not meet the MEP 

requirement for stormwater treatment effectiveness with regard to these stormwater standards.  

Flow Control Standard  

The duration of peak flow rates from post-development conditions shall be less than or equal to the 

duration of peak flow rates from pre-development conditions for all peak flows between 42% of the 2-

year storm peak flow rate up to the 10-year peak flow rate.   

Hydrologic Analysis (Proposed) 

Water Quality 

In order to meet the goals of Low Impact Development, a rain garden and vegetative swale have been 

selected as the proposed BMPs to provide water quality treatment for this project. Although the project 

site has low infiltration rates (0.1-.02 inches per hour) , the BMP facilities are not proposed to be lined in 

order to promote any amount of infiltration that may still occur. The stormwater facilities are dispersed 

throughout the site at strategic locations for capture of runoff, upon which underground piping collects 

the water and routes it to an existing outfall to Coffee Lake Creek for discharge.   

Please refer to the DMA Map and WES BMP Sizing Report (Appendix A) for facility sizes and impervious 

areas that are conveyed to each facility.  Appendix B contains the Operations & Maintenance Manual for 

the proposed facilities. 

Flow Control 

As noted in the Water Quality section, a rain garden and vegetative swale have been selected as the 

proposed BMP which will meet both treatment and flow control requirements. 

Please refer to the Drainage Management Area (DMA) Map and WES BMP Sizing Report, Appendix A, for 

further detail. Appendix B contains the Operations & Maintenance Manual for the proposed facilities. 

Hydraulic Design Computations 

The proposed underground storm drainage system for this project has been designed to collect and 

convey the runoff from a 25-year storm event per the City of Wilsonville 2015 Stormwater & Surface 

Water Design & Construction Standards. The peak flow has been calculated using the Santa Barbara Urban 

Hydrograph (SBUH) for Autodesk Civil3D software. The peak flow from the 25-year event over the project 

site has then been calculated for the various drainage management areas (DMA’s)/subbasins throughout 
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the site.  Underground piping has then been sized accordingly using Hydraflow software. Please refer to 

the DMA Map and Hydraflow report, in Appendix A. In the occurrence of a storm event in excess of the 

design storm, adequate overland flow has been provided to Coffee Lake Creek to prevent flooding of 

habitable structures. 

Downstream Analysis 

The existing drainage system downstream of the development has been analyzed to verify that it has the 

capacity to convey the 25-year design storm.  The analysis is intended to extend downstream to a point 

in the drainage system where the proposed development site constitutes 10% or less of the total tributary 

drainage flow. The site is adjacent to Coffee Lake Creek and has a direct overflow to the creek. The 

proposed discharge is significantly less than the 10% of the tributary flow of Coffee Lake Creek and 

therefor the downstream requirement is achieved.  

  

282

Item 2.



 

\\grp.mck\Projects\Projects\222009800\Production\Calcs\Civil\Storm\098 - Storm Report.docx  

 
1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A – 

HYDRAULIC DESIGN 

COMPUTATIONS AND 

DMA MAP 

 

 

 

283

Item 2.



                                    WES BMP Sizing Software Version 1.6.0.2, May 2018

WES BMP Sizing Report

Project Information

Project Name CIS Oregon

Project Type Commercial

Location 9770 SW Wilsonville
Road

Stormwater
Management Area

52069

Project Applicant

Jurisdiction CCSD1NCSA

Drainage Management Area

Name Area (sq-ft) Pre-Project
Cover

Post-Project
Cover

DMA Soil Type BMP

DMA 01
(Impervious) -
Central

14,534 Grass ConventionalCo
ncrete

C BMP - Central

DMA 02 (Roof) -
Central

15,744 Grass Roofs C BMP - Central

DMA 03
(Landscape) -
Central

5,047 Grass LandscapeCsoil C BMP - Central

DMA 04
(Impervious) -
West

13,404 Grass ConventionalCo
ncrete

C BMP - West

DMA 05
(Landscape) -
West

3,340 Grass LandscapeCsoil C BMP - West

LID Facility Sizing Details

LID ID Design
Criteria

BMP Type Facility Soil
Type

Minimum
Area (sq-ft)

Planned
Areas (sq-ft)

Orifice
Diameter (in)

BMP -
Central

FlowControlA
ndTreatment

Rain Garden
- Filtration

C3 1,640.1 2,606.0 1.6

BMP - West FlowControlA
ndTreatment

Vegetated
Swale -
Filtration

C3 904.4 907.0 1.2

Pond Sizing Details

1. FCWQT = Flow control and water quality treatment, WQT = Water quality treatment only
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2. Depth is measured from the bottom of the facility and includes the three feet of media (drain rock, separation
layer and growing media).

3. Maximum volume of the facility. Includes the volume occupied by the media at the bottom of the facility.

4. Maximum water storage volume of the facility. Includes water storage in the three feet of soil media assuming a
40 percent porosity.
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Hydrograph Summary Report

1

Hyd. Hydrograph Peak Time Time to Hyd. Inflow Maximum Total Hydrograph

No. type flow interval Peak volume hyd(s) elevation strge used Description

(origin) (cfs) (min) (min) (cuft) (ft) (cuft)

1 SBUH Runoff 0.198 2 474 2,837 ------ ------ ------ Site Basin 1

2 SBUH Runoff 0.133 2 474 1,874 ------ ------ ------ Site Basin 2

3 SBUH Runoff 0.367 2 474 5,153 ------ ------ ------ Site Basin 3

4 SBUH Runoff 0.064 2 474 931 ------ ------ ------ Roof Basin 1

5 SBUH Runoff 0.037 2 474 532 ------ ------ ------ Roof Basin 2

6 SBUH Runoff 0.027 2 474 399 ------ ------ ------ Roof Basin 3

7 SBUH Runoff 0.046 2 474 665 ------ ------ ------ Roof Basin 4

8 SBUH Runoff 0.055 2 474 798 ------ ------ ------ Roof Basin 5

9 SBUH Runoff 0.046 2 474 665 ------ ------ ------ Roof Basin 6

10 SBUH Runoff 0.055 2 474 798 ------ ------ ------ Roof Basin 7

Basin Areas.gpw Return Period: 25 Year Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021
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Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 1

Site Basin 1

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.198 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  2,837 cuft
Drainage area =  0.220 ac Curve number =  97*
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a

* Composite (Area/CN) = [(0.180 x 98) + (0.040 x 80)] / 0.220

2
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Hyd No. 1
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Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 2

Site Basin 2

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.133 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  1,874 cuft
Drainage area =  0.160 ac Curve number =  94*
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a

* Composite (Area/CN) = [(0.120 x 98) + (0.040 x 80)] / 0.160

3
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Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 3

Site Basin 3

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.367 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  5,153 cuft
Drainage area =  0.440 ac Curve number =  94*
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a

* Composite (Area/CN) = [(0.330 x 98) + (0.110 x 80)] / 0.440

4
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Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 4

Roof Basin 1

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.064 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  931 cuft
Drainage area =  0.070 ac Curve number =  98*
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a

* Composite (Area/CN) = [(0.080 x 98) + (0.010 x 80)] / 0.070
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Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 5

Roof Basin 2

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.037 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  532 cuft
Drainage area =  0.040 ac Curve number =  98*
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a

* Composite (Area/CN) = [(0.150 x 98) + (0.100 x 80)] / 0.040
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Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 6

Roof Basin 3

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.027 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  399 cuft
Drainage area =  0.030 ac Curve number =  98*
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a

* Composite (Area/CN) = [(0.100 x 98) + (0.020 x 80)] / 0.030
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Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 7

Roof Basin 4

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.046 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  665 cuft
Drainage area =  0.050 ac Curve number =  98*
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a

* Composite (Area/CN) = [(0.130 x 98) + (0.040 x 80)] / 0.050

8

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26

Q (cfs)

0.00 0.00

0.01 0.01

0.02 0.02

0.03 0.03

0.04 0.04

0.05 0.05

0.06 0.06

0.07 0.07

0.08 0.08

0.09 0.09

0.10 0.10

Q (cfs)

Time (hrs)

Roof Basin 4

Hyd. No. 7 -- 25 Year

Hyd No. 7

293

Item 2.



Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 8

Roof Basin 5

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.055 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  798 cuft
Drainage area =  0.060 ac Curve number =  98*
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a

* Composite (Area/CN) = [(0.080 x 98) + (0.010 x 80)] / 0.060
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Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 9

Roof Basin 6

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.046 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  665 cuft
Drainage area =  0.050 ac Curve number =  98
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a
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Hydrograph Report

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Hyd. No. 10

Roof Basin 7

Hydrograph type =  SBUH Runoff Peak discharge =  0.055 cfs
Storm frequency =  25 yrs Time to peak =  7.90 hrs
Time interval =  2 min Hyd. volume =  798 cuft
Drainage area =  0.060 ac Curve number =  98
Basin Slope =  0.0 % Hydraulic length =  0 ft
Tc method =  User Time of conc. (Tc) =  5.00 min
Total precip. =  3.90 in Distribution =  Type IA
Storm duration =  24 hrs Shape factor =  n/a

11
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Hydraflow Rainfall Report
12

Hydraflow Hydrographs Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. v2021 Thursday, 10 / 26 / 2023

Return Intensity-Duration-Frequency Equation Coefficients (FHA)
Period

(Yrs) B D E (N/A)

1 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 --------

2 69.8703 13.1000 0.8658 --------

3 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 --------

5 79.2597 14.6000 0.8369 --------

10 88.2351 15.5000 0.8279 --------

25 102.6072 16.5000 0.8217 --------

50 114.8193 17.2000 0.8199 --------

100 127.1596 17.8000 0.8186 --------

File name: SampleFHA.idf

Intensity = B / (Tc + D)^E

Return Intensity Values (in/hr)
Period

(Yrs) 5 min 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60

1 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

2 5.69 4.61 3.89 3.38 2.99 2.69 2.44 2.24 2.07 1.93 1.81 1.70

3 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

5 6.57 5.43 4.65 4.08 3.65 3.30 3.02 2.79 2.59 2.42 2.27 2.15

10 7.24 6.04 5.21 4.59 4.12 3.74 3.43 3.17 2.95 2.77 2.60 2.46

25 8.25 6.95 6.03 5.34 4.80 4.38 4.02 3.73 3.48 3.26 3.07 2.91

50 9.04 7.65 6.66 5.92 5.34 4.87 4.49 4.16 3.88 3.65 3.44 3.25

100 9.83 8.36 7.30 6.50 5.87 5.36 4.94 4.59 4.29 4.03 3.80 3.60

Tc = time in minutes. Values may exceed 60.

Rainfall Precipitation Table (in)

Precip. file name: G:\Design\Stormwater\Hydraflow\CWS.pcp

Storm
Distribution 1-yr 2-yr 3-yr 5-yr 10-yr 25-yr 50-yr 100-yr

SCS 24-hour 1.25 2.50 0.00 3.10 3.45 3.90 4.20 4.50

SCS 6-Hr 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Huff-1st 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Huff-2nd 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Huff-3rd 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Huff-4th 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Huff-Indy 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Custom 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
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Pipe Sizing Calculation
 

(Flows calculated in "Hydraflow")

  

Project: CIS Collaboration Center

By: CTL

Checked: GIM

Date: 10/31/2023

Job: 2220098.00

Mannings n= 0.012

Pipe Incremental Total Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe

Flow Flow Slope Diameter Capacity Velocity

 Storm Input Descriptions (cfs) (cfs) (%) (inches) (cfs) (fps) Capacity

1 RB2 0.037 0.037 0.3 6 0.33 0.19 11%

2 #1 + RB1 0.198 0.198 0.3 6 0.33 1.01 60%
3 #2 + RB5 0.055 0.253 0.3 6 0.33 1.29 76%

4 #3 + RB6 0.046 0.299 0.3 6 0.33 1.52 90%

5 #4 + #10 0.128 0.427 2.48 6 0.96 2.18 45%

6 #5 + SB3 0.367 0.794 2.81 8 2.19 2.28 36%

7 #6 + SB1+ SB2 0.331 1.125 2.8 8 2.19 3.22 51%

8 RB3 0.027 0.027 0.3 6 0.33 0.14 8%

9 #8+RB4 0.046 0.073 0.3 6 0.33 0.37 22%

10 #9+RB7 0.055 0.128 2.48 6 0.96 0.65 13%

Basin 25yr Peak Flow

Site Basin 1 0.198

Site Basin 2 0.133

Site Basin 3 0.367

Roof Basin 1 0.064

Roof Basin 2 0.037

Roof Basin 3 0.027

Roof Basin 4 0.046

Roof Basin 5 0.055

Roof Basin 6 0.046

Roof Basin 7 0.055

Based on SCS flow inputs

#
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I. GENERAL- SITE DESCRIPTION, ASSUMPTIONS AND GENEREAL SYSTEM DESCRIPTION 

This plan was developed to provide a basis for maintenance of stormwater facilities for the CIS 

Collaboration Center project located in Wilsonville, Oregon. The proposed development consists of the 

construction of a 15,744 square foot (footprint) commercial building with an associated drive aisles and 

parking, an exterior trash enclosure, and associated utility services to the building and site. 

Runoff from the site sheets flows to curb curbs and into the proposed vegetative swale. Roof runoff is 

collected via hard pipe and routed to the proposed rain garden.   

This Operations and Maintenance Plan generally provides maintenance requirements of the stormwater 

collection and treatment system. Best Management Practices (BMPs) related to maintenance of the 

facilities shall include regular maintenance and upkeep of the parking and landscape areas. 

II. GENERAL MAINTENANCE AND FACILITY-SPECIFIC MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS 

The CIS Collaboration Center Facilities Manager shall be responsible for regular inspections and 

maintenance of the storm drainage system and related facilities. Inspections shall include observations of 

the landscaping, parking areas, curb cut inlets for debris, loose soil or sediment that may enter the system. 

Inspection of the collection system includes observation of the inlets, and conveyance lines. General 

maintenance requirements of those facilities include removal of sediment and debris, repair of damaged 

components and general maintenance of mechanical systems. 

Facility-specific maintenance requirements shall also be the responsibility of the CIS Collaboration Center 

Facilities Manager. Inspections shall include documentation of observations and maintenance or repairs 

of each of the drainage system facilities. This would include: 

 

• Landscape areas 

• Parking areas 

• Curb cut inlets 

• Cleanouts 

• Conveyance pipes 

• Treatment devices 

• Detention elements 
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Operations and Maintenance Contact 

CIS Collaboration Center – Facilities Manager 

 

Steve Norman 

503.763.3890 

snorman@cisoregon.com 

III. GENERAL MAINTENANCE ACTIVITIES 

Maintenance of stormwater system components is the key to a successful stormwater plan. Most 

stormwater systems can fail in the first few years due to lack of adequate maintenance. The following 

guidelines will be used for general maintenance of the stormwater system. 

1. Dry sweeping of the parking area to reduce accumulation of sediments and debris in the 

facilities will be conducted regularly.  

2. Quarterly visual inspection of the curb cut inlets for debris and obstructions. All curb cut inlets 

or other structures shall be kept clear of sediment, debris or other obstructions that may 

affect the flow or treatment of stormwater. 

3. Visually inspect the rain gardens and vegetative swale after all major storm events for 

evidence of system problems. Look for ponded water, debris, erosion, or any other signs of 

system problems. 

4. Annually inspect the spill kit to ensure all supplies are available and have not deteriorated or 

expired (Note: each tenant shall have a separate spill kit or access to a shared spill kit). Check 

with city staff to stay aware of newly available products or spill containment procedures. 

Become familiar with the spill control plan (included with this O&M Plan) and ensure that at 

least one employee during each work shift is familiar with the plan (always have someone on-

site who is aware of the spill containment kit and procedures). 

IV. SITE PLAN SHOWING LOCATION OF FACILITY COMPONENTS 

The attached O&M Facility Map shows the general location of the facility components. The site utility “As-

built” drawings should be consulted for further information regarding facility locations, sizes or details. 
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V. INSPECTION PROGRAM – PERFORMANCE MEASURES FOR MAINTENANCE ACTIVITIES 

Objective 

The objective of this manual is to help the property owner to maintain the storm sewer system for CIS 

Collaboration Center so it can continue to operate as designed. 

Requirements 

Conduct inspections with the as-built plans in hand. Inspect the facility on a quarterly basis for the first 3 

years from construction, and a minimum or semi-annually thereafter. Additional inspections will be 

necessary after long dry periods, large storms or spills. Immediately remove spilled material, taking the 

appropriate safety and disposal precautions. 

Keep inspection records to track the progressive development of the system over time. The inspection 

records shall include: 

 

1. Sediment condition and depth in curb inlets 

2. Water elevation/observations (sheen, smell, etc.) 

3. Conditions of the inlet and outlet pipes, and remaining storage capacity 

4. Unscheduled maintenance needs 

5. Components that do not meet performance criteria and require immediate maintenance 

6. Common problem areas, solutions, and general observations 

7. Aesthetic conditions 
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Collection System 

The collection system consists of underground pipes and sheet flow. 

Storm Sewer Pipes 

The storm sewer pipes are plastic with associated fittings. The pipes need to be inspected and cleaned 

quarterly (if necessary) following major storm events. Cleanouts and manholes are provided for access to 

the pipe system. The pipes need to be inspected for sediment buildup and cleaned out, if necessary, using 

a vactor truck so that sediment is removed. 

Rain Gardens 

Refer to attached City of Wilsonville 2012 Manual for the Operation & Maintenance of Privately Owned 

Stormwater Facilities. 

Vegetative Swale 

Refer to attached City of Wilsonville 2012 Manual for the Operation & Maintenance of Privately Owned 

Stormwater Facilities. 
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Maintenance Schedule 

Summer:  Make structural  repairs;  c lean gutters and downspouts;  remove any build-up 

of weeds or organic debris .     

Fal l :  Replant exposed soi l  and replace dead plants.  Remove sediment and plant debr is .  

Winter:  C lear gutters and downspouts.  

Spr ing:  Remove sediment and plant debr is.  Replant exposed soi l  and replace dead 

plants.  

Al l  season: Weed as necessary.  

Maintenance Record 

All  fac i l ity  operators are required to keep an inspection and maintenance log. Record 

date,  descr ipt ion, and contractor ( i f  appl icable)  for  al l  repairs,  landscape maintenance,  

and faci l ity  c leanout  activ it ies .  Keep work orders and invoices on f i le and make 

avai lable upon request of the City inspector.  

Access  

Maintain ingress/egress per design standards.  

Vector (Mosquitoes and Rats)  

Faci l it ies  must  not harbor mosquito larvae or rodents.  Record the t ime/date,  weather,  

and site  condit ions when vector act iv ity is  observed.  Record when vector abatement  

started and ended.  
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VI. O&M INSPECTION SCHEDULE 

• Quarterly inspection of the curb cut inlets and drainage system for accumulation of sediments or 

oils 

• Annual inspection of the emergency spill kit to ensure that all supplies are available and have not 

deteriorated or expired 

• Quarterly inspection of the swale for proper landscape maintenance, removal of trash or 

sediment and repair of erosion 

• Materials removed from the pipes shall be disposed of in accordance with state law 

Employee and Public Education 

Employees will be trained upon hiring and thereafter annually, when new requirements are published or 

when there are any changes to the system equipment. Employee training will include: 

• Reading this Stormwater Management Plan 

• Familiarity of all components and locations for materials indicated in the SWMP 

• Spill response and Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

• Documentation requirements 

VII. MAINTENANCE EQUIPMENT 

Hand tools or other specialized equipment may be necessary to maintain the facilities. Suggested 

maintenance equipment is listed in the Inspection Checklist. The Facility Manager shall be responsible to 

maintain on-site, or be able to make available, all required equipment. 

Suggested Maintenance Equipment and Materials 

• Push broom 

• Rake 

• Shovel 

• Spill kit 

• Manhole lid puller 

• General landscape tools (weed cutters, pruning clippers, leak rake, etc.) 

• Vactor Truck 
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VIII. SEDIMENT STORAGE, TESTING, AND DISPOSAL 

Maintenance of the storm drainage facilities may include removal of oils, sediments or debris that requires 

specialized testing or disposal. All removed oils, sediments or other debris shall be disposed of in 

accordance with applicable regulations. The Facility Manager shall be responsible to retain a qualified 

company to dispose of this material or otherwise comply with the applicable regulations. The Facility 

Manager should contact the City of Wilsonville Public Works to verify current regulations or requirements. 

Local companies providing testing, storage and disposal services: 

Clearwater Environmental Services in Wilsonville: (503) 582-1951 

River City Environmental in Portland: (503) 252-6144 

Bravo Environmental in NW Portland: (503) 261-9800 

IX. EMERGENCY CONTACTS 

Emergency Contacts 

 

Steve Norman 

503.763.3890 

snorman@cisoregon.com 

Maintenance Responsibilities 

The Facility Manager shall be responsible to inspect, maintain or otherwise repair the stormwater 

facilities. Regular inspections shall occur, and documentation of the inspections, maintenance or repairs 

kept on-site for a minimum of three years from the date of the activity. 

X. SPILL PREVENTION AND CONTROL PLAN 

Spill prevention is an important factor in the successful operation of a stormwater management system. 

All employees will be trained to this plan so that they are certain of the location of materials, who to notify 

in case of a spill, and how to initially contain the spill of hazardous materials. Employees shall never dump 

water materials into the stormwater collection/treatment system. Employees shall be observant of other 

potential contamination occurrences. All employees will review the following page regarding detailed spill 

response steps.  

This data will be posted in an accessible area. 
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WHAT TO DO IN CASE OF A SPILL 

 

1. The spill kit is located at the stand up shelter near the site entry 

2. Get the spill kit (and spill kit instructions when provided) 

a. If possible, determine visually what type of fluids have been spilled 

b. Put on gloves and glasses or any other necessary Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

c. Get the absorbent material provided in the kit and drain block cover (pig) 

d. Place the absorbent material in the path of the spill 

e. Remove any debris from the vicinity of the curb inlets in the parking lot 

f. Unroll the drain blocker, and place is snugly over the curb inlet 

g. Verify the cover has full contact with the opening of the curb inlet 

h. Use snakes, pillow or pigs to completely contain the areas 

3. Notify the following personnel immediately: 

City of Wilsonvi l le Public  Works:    (503) 682-4092 

       After Hours:    (866) 252-3614 

Department of Environmental  Qual ity:   (800) 452-0311 

(800) 452-4011 

(503) 229-5263 

 

 

Note:  Only dry cleanup methods may be employed to clean up spills (i.e. no use of water to wash 

spilled materials from pavement will be conducted).  
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XI. ADDITIONAL MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR INITIAL ESTABLISHMENT PERIOD  

Initial maintenance of landscape vegetation may require additional attention to ensure that landscaping, 

groundcover and erosion control measures are established or maintained as intended. Proper 

landscaping and groundcover are an important feature of a successful storm drainage system. 

1. During the initial 3-year establishment period, remove undesired vegetation using minimal (or 

preferably no) use of toxic herbicides and pesticides at least 3 times a year. Replace plants that 

die during this period. 

2. Irrigate as necessary to establish site landscaping 

3. Replenish mulch at least annually. Make sure that all exposed soil is covered with mulch or other 

groundcover 

4. Do not use excessive fertilizers, herbicides or pesticides for vegetation maintenance 

5. Use replacement plants that conform to the initial planting list 

312

Item 2.



6x7 6x7

6x7 6x7

6x7 6x7

6x7 6x7

6x7 6x7

6x7 6x7

VAN

C
C

C
C

C
C

C
C

C

C

C
C

C
C

C
C

C

C
C

C

C

C

EV
EV

SW WILSONVILLE ROAD

SW
 K

IN
SM

AN
 R

O
AD

COFFEE LAKE CREEK

RAIN GARDEN
VEG

ETATIVE SW
ALE

PROPOSED BUILDING

O&M SITE PLAN1
EX-3

FLOW CONTROL
MH (TYP)

STORM PIPE (TYP)

313

Item 2.



CITY OF WILSONVILLE • COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
29799 SW Town Center Loop East www.ci.wilsonville.or.us Phone 503-682-4960 

Fax 503-682-7025 Wilsonville, OR 97070 info@ci.wilsonville.or.us 

City of Wilsonville 

Annual Stormwater Facility Inspection and Maintenance Report 

Name of Development: 

Location/Site Address: 

Contact Name: 

Telephone: 

Email: 

Mailing Address (if different from Site Address): 

Facilities to be Maintained: 

 Catch Basin(s) 

 Pretreatment Manhole(s) 

 Flow Control Manhole(s) 

 Detention Pond(s) # of inlets 

# of outlets 

 Rain Garden(s)   # of inlets 

#of outlets 

 Stormwater Planter(s)  # of inlets 

# of outlets 

 Vegetated Swale(s)  # of inlets 

# of outlets 

 All Other Facilities as Described on Plans: 

Inspection Date: 

Describe Inspection, Maintenance, Repair, or Replanting Activities (attach invoices for 
work performed): 

Owner or Representative Signature Date 
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The Owner(s) or Owner's designee shall be responsible for annually conducting inspections 

and performing maintenance on the above stormwater management facilities annually, in 

conformance with Section 301.13.00, "Operation and Maintenance Requirements," of the 

City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards.  This requirement pertains to all Stormwater 

Facilities, including but not limited to: catch basins, pipes, treatment manholes, manholes, 

trash racks, vegetated swales, and detention ponds. 

 

For vegetated stormwater facilities, particular attention will be given to: 

• Examine inlets, outlets, and curb cuts for sediment buildup.  Remove sediment as    

necessary to maintain flow into and out of facility. 

• Inspect facility for erosion, gullies, and slope slippage. Repair if present. 

• Check for evidence of ponding or slow draining soil media.  If necessary, remove and 

clean or replace the clogged soil media.  

• Remove weeds manually.  

• Ensure that all plants are healthy.  Replace all dead or dying plants with approved 

plantings. 

• Remove trash and excess debris. 

• Ensure overflow covers are in place. 

 

For structural facilities and components, particular attention will be given to: 

• Remove sediment at least once a year or when basin is half full of sediment. 

• Remove trash, oils, and debris. 

• Ensure facility is structurally sound by repairing or replacing cracked, loose, askew, or 

damaged pipes. 

• Access covers, trash racks, and metal grates shall be kept free of trash and debris, 

closed, and in good working order. 

• Maintain filter cartridges and other proprietary systems according to manufacturer’s 

recommendations.  

 

 

Spring  Summer   Fall  Winter  

Remove sediment 
Remove trash 
Remove weeds 
Fix erosion 
Plant 
Prune grasses 
Check irrigation 

Remove sediment 
Remove trash 
Remove weeds 
Fix erosion 
Check irrigation 
Water plants 
Structural repairs 

Remove sediment 
Remove trash 
Remove weeds 
Fix erosion 
Plant 
Drain irrigation 
Structural repairs 

Remove sediment 
Remove trash 
Fix erosion  
Prune trees & 
shrubs 

 

 

 

 

The Owner(s) or Owner's designee shall be responsible for annually conducting inspections 

and performing maintenance on the above stormwater management facilities annually, in 

conformance with Section 301.13.00, "Operation and Maintenance Requirements," of the 

City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards.  This requirement pertains to all Stormwater 

Facilities, including but not limited to: catch basins, pipes, treatment manholes, manholes, 

trash racks, vegetated swales, and detention ponds. 

 

For vegetated stormwater facilities, particular attention will be given to: 

• Examine inlets, outlets, and curb cuts for sediment buildup.  Remove sediment as    

necessary to maintain flow into and out of facility. 

• Inspect facility for erosion, gullies, and slope slippage. Repair if present. 

• Check for evidence of ponding or slow draining soil media.  If necessary, remove and 

clean or replace the clogged soil media.  

• Remove weeds manually.  

• Ensure that all plants are healthy.  Replace all dead or dying plants with approved 

plantings. 

• Remove trash and excess debris. 

• Ensure overflow covers are in place. 

 

For structural facilities and components, particular attention will be given to: 

• Remove sediment at least once a year or when basin is half full of sediment. 

• Remove trash, oils, and debris. 

• Ensure facility is structurally sound by repairing or replacing cracked, loose, askew, or 

damaged pipes. 

• Access covers, trash racks, and metal grates shall be kept free of trash and debris, 

closed, and in good working order. 

• Maintain filter cartridges and other proprietary systems according to manufacturer’s 

recommendations.  

 

 

Spring  Summer   Fall  Winter  

Remove sediment 
Remove trash 
Remove weeds 
Fix erosion 
Plant 
Prune grasses 
Check irrigation 

Remove sediment 
Remove trash 
Remove weeds 
Fix erosion 
Check irrigation 
Water plants 
Structural repairs 

Remove sediment 
Remove trash 
Remove weeds 
Fix erosion 
Plant 
Drain irrigation 
Structural repairs 

Remove sediment 
Remove trash 
Fix erosion  
Prune trees & 
shrubs 
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City  of  Wilsonvi l le  
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clean waters and healthy 
rivers. 

A MANUAL FOR THE   

OPERATION & MAINTENANCE  
OF PRIVATELY OWNED  
STORMWATER FACILITIES 

City of Wilsonville 
Natural Resources Program 

(503) 682-4960 
www.ci.wilsonville.or.us 

 

Working together... 

towards a common goal... 
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A Manual for the Operation & Maintenance
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CARING FOR YOUR 
STORMWATER FACILITY 

THANK YOU 
As the owner of a stormwater management 
facility, you are making a meaningful contribu-
tion to the health of Wilsonville’s streams, wet-
lands and the Willamette River. This handbook 
will help you maintain your facility to make 
sure it performs the work it is designed to    
accomplish. 

PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSIBILITIES 
Federal, state and local agencies created management regulations and guidelines so as to improve stormwater 
quality and protect watersheds, rivers, streams and drinking water resources.  The City of Wilsonville has a 
Stormwater Maintenance and Access Easement that includes the following requirements: 
• Annual maintenance on storm drainage facilities in conformance with City of Wilsonville’s Public Works 

Standards. For more information go to: www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/Index.aspx?page=127 Go to Important 
Links at the bottom of the page and click on Public Works Construction Standards 2006 (section 
301.6.00 Operations and Maintenance Req.)  

• Removal of debris, leaves and sediment from manholes, detention outlet structures, and catch basins.  
• Disposal of all oils, sediment and debris in an approved dumpsite. 
• Replacement of all dead or dying plants in ponds and swales. Maintenance of original plantings.  
• Removal of trash from ditches, swales, catch basins, or any stormwater conveyance.  
 
The steps we take today will greatly influence Wilsonville’s environmental health and quality of life for years 
to come. Individual actions can make a big difference. Thank you for the significant part you and your 
stormwater management facility are playing. 
* For information or questions about your facility, call the Natural Resources Program at (503) 682-4960 

WHAT ARE STORMWATER  FACILITIES? 
Stormwater facilities are any combination of landscape and structural 
features that slow, filter, or infiltrate (absorb) runoff on your property 
after a rainfall. Types of facilities include vegetated systems (planters, 
swales, ponds, created wetlands, etc.), and structural systems (ecoroofs, 
porous pavement and manufactured facilities). Piping, inlets and catch 
basins are also important components that need adequate maintenance 
to assure facility function. All of these serve a common purpose: control-
ling the quality and quantity of stormwater runoff from your site to help 
safeguard our valuable water resources. 
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INSPECTING AND MAINTAINING  
YOUR FACILITY 

Page 6  

 
PROTECTING YOUR RESOURCES 
 

It is essential to maintain your facility so it functions as 
intended and limits off-site environmental impacts. You 
are required to inspect your facility at a minimum of once 
a year to determine maintenance needs. Routine inspection 
and maintenance can help keep overall maintenance costs 
low by detecting problems early and avoiding large repair 
or replacement costs. This section identifies general guide-
lines on what to look for and how to maintain your facility. 
It also notes non-routine maintenance that may require 
professional assistance. If you are unsure of what type 
of facility you have, call the City of Wilsonville’s     
Natural Resources Program at (503) 682-4960. 

 
LEGAL REQUIREMENTS: OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE PLAN 
 

As a property owner, you are legally required to follow all of the maintenance tasks and schedules outlined in your 
recorded maintenance and access easement. An Annual Inspection and Maintenance Report must be submitted to 
the City of Wilsonville no later than May 1 each year (see sample form on page 7). Pictures included with the re-
port are very helpful.  Include copies of invoices of work performed by contractors. While inspecting your facility, 
please keep in mind that it will be necessary for you to refer to your landscape plan in order to maintain your facil-
ity as it was originally designed.  
 
INSPECTION SCHEDULE: HOW OFTEN 
 

It is recommended that you inspect your facility at least:: 

• Quarterly for the first two years 

• Once a year there after, and  

• Within 48 hours of major rainfall events (more than one inch of rain over a 24-hour period). 
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SAMPLE REPORTING FORM  
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SEDIMENT REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL 

Page 8  

 
FACILITIES AND SYSTEM COMPONENTS THIS                                                       
APPLIES TO 
 

Vegetated Facilities: ecoroofs, infiltration basins, planters, ponds,   
swales, trees, vegetated filters, and created wetlands. 
 

Structural Facilities: catch basins, curb cuts, inlets, manufactured     
facilities, piping, sedimentation manholes, and vaults.  
 

Pervious Pavement: porous concrete or asphalt, permeable pavers. 
 

IMPACT ON FACILITY PERFORMANCE 
The purpose of a stormwater treatment facility is to remove pollutants, including suspended solids, by capturing 
sediment. Sediment can include dirt, leaves, and litter. These materials can restrict or clog the facility. Timely re-
moval of sediment will improve infiltration rates, water quality, and help prevent clogging and flooding. 
 

WHAT TO LOOK FOR 
Check the depth of accumulated sediments.                                                                                                        
Sediment markers can be placed in the facility to                                                                                                        
help identify depths. Remove sediment when: 
 

Vegetated Facilities:  

• Sediment is 4” deep,  
• Sediment depth is damaging or killing vegetation,        

or 
• Sediment is preventing the facility from draining                                                                                         

within a 24-48 hour period.  
 

Structural Facilities:  

• At least once a year, or  

• When the basin is half full of sediment.   
 

Pervious Pavement:  

• Sediment is preventing the facility from draining          
in 24 hours. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WHAT TO DO 
Often sediment can be removed by hand. Large     
facilities and underground facilities will need to be 
cleaned with heavy equipment by trained profession-
als.  
• Remove sediment during dry months when it is 

easier to remove, weighs less, and creates fewer 
secondary environmental impacts (such as wet 
sediment running off the site). 

NOTE: It is illegal to hose sediments through 
your system. 

 

Doing it yourself 
Vegetated Facilities:  

• Use rakes and shovels to dig out accumulated  
sediment. 

• Avoid damage to existing vegetation. 
• If sediment is deep, plants may need to be        

removed in order to excavate sediment. 
• Reseed and mulch disturbed areas to prevent   

erosion. 

• Excavate sand or gravel and clean or replace. 
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Doing it yourself  (continued) 
 

Structural Facilities, Dispersion Trenches and Pervious Pavement:  

• Catch Basins: Clean debris off the grate and bars. Lift the grate and use a bucket to remove water and a shovel 
to dig out sediment. 

• Curb cuts, piping and other conveyance facilities: Use a shovel, router, air hose or other dry method to clear 
sediment and debris. 

• Dispersion Trenches: Excavate sand or gravel and clean or replace. 
• Pervious Pavement: Remove accumulated sediment from the surface with a dry broom, vacuum system, or 

other hand tools. 

 
Hiring Professionals 
Cleaning certain facilities will require professional assistance. 
• Underground facilities such as manholes, and manufac-

tured facilities must be cleaned by a vactor truck. Do   
not enter these facilities. They are defined by the        
Oregon Occupational Safety and Health Division as   
confined spaces and require proper certification to enter. 

• Certain components such as collection basins, piping or  
pervious pavement systems may require vacuuming with 
a vactor truck or street sweeping equipment. 

 

 
DISPOSAL 
When deciding how to dispose of sediment, you need to consider the types of activities and pollutants on site. 
Sediment from commercial or industrial sites is usually not considered hazardous waste. However, as the generator 
of this waste you are responsible for deciding how to properly manage the removed solids. 
 

Contaminated  Water and Sediment 
Catch basins and stormwater facilities in areas used for chemical or hazardous waste storage, material handling or 
equipment maintenance may collect the chemicals used in these activities from spills or via stormwater runoff. If 
you observe an oily sheen, odors, discoloration, or other signs of pollution, hire a professional laboratory or sam-
pling firm to assess whether the material needs specialized hauling, treatment or disposal to comply with Oregon 
State Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) rules. If you need assistance deciding whether the solids 
should be managed as hazardous waste, contact DEQ. 
 

Non-Contaminated  Water and Sediment 
If the pollutant load is non-hazardous, water may be spread across vegetation onsite. Let the solids dry out, then 
properly dispose of them. Temporary erosion control measures may be needed to contain the material onsite. Dry 
materials may be reused elsewhere on your site, may be eligible for reuse by others, or can be disposed of at a des-
ignated solid waste facility. 

322

Item 2.



City  of  Wi lsonvi l le  Page 10  

REDUCING SEDIMENT ACCUMULATION AND 
POLLUTION IN YOUR FACILITY 
• Minimize outside sources of sediment, such as eroding soil up-

stream of your facility. 

• Sweep paved areas on your property regularly. 
• Make sure chemical and waste storage areas are not exposed to rain-

fall and stormwater runoff. 
• Don’t let water from washing vehicles or equipment drain to your 

stormwater facility. 
 

RESOURCES 
City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards: www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/Index.aspx?page=127                                            
Go to Important Links at the bottom of the page and click on Public Works Construction Standards 2006 (section 
301.6.00 Operations and Maintenance Req.)  

Environmental Protection Agency: www.cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/home.cfm?program_id=6 

Department of Environmental Quality: www.oregon.gov/DEQ 

Private Maintenance Companies  (listed below are just a few examples of companies that provide maintenance 
services, more companies are available)  

• Clearwater Environmental Services in Wilsonville (503) 582-1951 

• River City Environmental in Portland (503) 252-6144 

• Bravo Environmental NW in Portland (503) 261-9800 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Stormwater runoff  has substantial  
impacts on the water quality and 

habitat that fish depend on.       
By  reducing those impacts, we 

are taking direct  action on behalf  
of  threatened species as well as        

other fish and wildlife                     
that are under stress.   
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VEGETATION MANAGEMENT 
 

FACILITIES THIS APPLIES TO 
 

Vegetated Facilities: ecoroofs, infiltration basins, planters, ponds, swales, trees, vegetated filters, and created 
wetlands. 
 

IMPORTANCE TO FACILITY PERFORMANCE 
Plants play an important role in stormwater facilities. They absorb water, improve infiltration rates of soil, prevent 
erosion by stabilizing soil, cool water, and capture pollutants. Plants create habitat for birds and other wildlife and 
provide aesthetic value to a property. Proper maintenance of vegetation improves the appearance and perfor-
mance of your facility. Your facility must be kept in accordance with the original landscape design.  
 

WHAT TO LOOK FOR 
When identifying maintenance needs it is helpful to have a copy of your landscape plan, this shows the plants you 
are required to have in your facility. Facilities should be checked for maintenance needs quarterly for the first two 
years and once a year after that. 
Facility needs maintenance when: 

• Areas of soil are bare. 

• Vegetation is buried by sediment. 

• Vegetation appears unhealthy or has died. 

• Nuisance and invasive plants are present. 
• Vegetation is compromising the facility’s structure by blocking inlets 

or outlets, or roots are intruding into a component of the facility. 

• Dropped leaves and other debris are contributing to sediment accumulation or are blocking inlets or outlets. 
 

WHAT TO DO 
Maintenance activities can easily be incorporated into existing site landscape maintenance contracts. Vegetation 
can be maintained with a formal or more natural appearance depending on your preference. 
General Maintenance 
• Remove dropped leaves, dead plants, and grass and other plant clippings. Plant debris adds nutrient pollution 

as it breaks down, and can clog facility piping and reduce infiltration. 
• Avoid using fertilizers, herbicides, or pesticides in the facility. These products add to the pollution problems 

the facilities are designed to remedy. 
• Use mulch to inhibit weed growth, retain moisture, and add nutrients. Replenish when needed. Ensure mulch 

does not inhibit water flow.  

• Irrigate all new plantings as needed for the first two years. 
 

Caring for wanted vegetation 
Facility owners are responsible for maintaining healthy vegetation and must replace any plants that have died or 
been removed. 
• You are required to maintain vegetation to the density approved on your landscape plans or specified in the 

City’s Public Works Standards. 
• Replant with vegetation approved for use in the original planting plan or from the recommended plant list in 

the City’s Public Works Standards. 
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Caring for wanted vegetation (continued) 
• Plant in late fall or early spring so plant roots can establish 

during the cool, rainy seasons, before summer.  
• Amend and aerate compacted soils before replanting by 

adding compost to increase nutrients and enhance soil tex-
ture. 

• If plants are not surviving, determine the reason for the 
plant die-off. Survivability may be improved by planting 
vegetation better suited for the site conditions or by irrigat-
ing more. You may need to test planting bed soils for pH, 
moisture, and other factors such as nutrient levels, soil 
structure, and organic matter content. 

Mowing 

• Grassy facilities are designed for routine mowing. Mow at least twice a year. 
• Grass should be mowed to keep it 4” to 9” tall. Grass that is at least 4” tall captures more pollutants and is 

hardier. Do not allow grass to become a fire hazard. 
Nuisance and unwanted vegetation 
• Remove nuisance and invasive vegetation, such as Himalayan blackberry, English ivy and reed canarygrass, 

before it goes to seed in the spring. Do additional weeding in the fall. A list of nuisance plants can be found in 
the Portland Plant List (see below). 

• Immediately remove vegetation that is clogging or impeding flow into the facility. 
• Remove potentially large and deep-rooted trees or bushes when they might impede the flow path or compro-

mise facility structures. 

• Provide ground cover on any dirt exposed by vegetation removal. 
Wildlife 
Vegetated facilities create habitat, especially for birds. The Migratory Bird Treaty Act protects all native bird spe-
cies. Birds and other animals will generally adjust to human activity. However, there are simple measures that 
should be taken to avoid disturbance: 
• Avoid maintenance during bird nesting season from early March to late July. Prune and mow during late sum-

mer. Many baby birds will spend some time on the ground after leaving a nest. 
• Walk the site before you do maintenance. Look for nests, burrows and animals in the facility. Reroute around 

animal areas by at least a few yards. 

 
RESOURCES 
Clackamas County Resources: 
Clackamas County Soil and Water Conservation District: www.conservationdistrict.org 
Plant Identification: 
Native Plant Society: www.npsoregon.org 

Master Gardeners: www.extension.oregonstate.edu/mg 
Native Plant Nurseries: 
Native Plant Nursery: www.plantnative.org 
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EROSION,  BANK FAILURE,  
CHANNEL FORMATION 

FACILITIES THIS APPLIES TO 
Vegetated Facilities: ecoroofs, infiltration basins, planters, ponds, swales, trees, vegetated filters, and created 
wetlands. 
 

IMPORTANCE TO FACILITY PERFORMANCE        

Stormwater flowing through a facility can cause erosion. Erosion can increase sediment build up, clog outlets, re-
duce water quality benefits, add to pollution and cause facility components to fail. Eroded channels create an easy 
path for water to travel down reducing the ability of the facility to filter pollutants and infiltrate water. 
 

WHAT TO LOOK FOR 
Any area with erosion more than two inches deep needs maintenance. Signs of erosion and common locations: 
• The formation of flow restricting channels in the bottom of the facility, around inlet pipes and curb cuts, or at 

overflows. 

• Undercutting, scouring, and slumping along banks or berms.  
• Channels and undercutting through check dams. (check dams are small berms built across a facility to slow 

water and create small areas of ponding). 
 

WHAT TO DO 
• Fill the eroded area with soil, compact it lightly, and cover with mulch, compost, seed, sod, or other erosion 

prevention materials. 

• Plant banks with deep or heavily rooted plants to permanently stabilize soil. 
• Install or repair structures designed to dissipate energy and spread flow, such as splash blocks on downspouts, 

or riprap around inlet pipes and curb cuts. See the City’s Public Works Standards for requirements. 

• If erosion continues to be a problem, consult a professional to determine the cause and a solution. 

• Replant in accordance with the landscape plan. 
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FACILITIES THIS APPLIES TO 
Most stormwater facilities have some structural         
components. Some facilities such as vaults, drywells,   
and sediment manholes are completely structural. In         
vegetated facilities, structural   components often control 
how water enters, travels through, or exits a facility. 
Common structural components include: 

• Inflow and outflow pipes, curb cuts, and trenches. 

• Valves, orifices, trash racks, and pipes. 
• Concrete, metal, and plastic structures and compo-

nents such as curbs, retaining walls, and manholes.  

• Manufactured devices such as filter cartridges.  
• Earthworks such as embankments, check dams, 

dikes, berms and side slopes. 

• Riprap and other flow spreading elements. 

• Access roads, gates and signs. 
 

IMPORTANCE TO FACILITY PERFORMANCE 
These elements need to be in good working order to route flows into a facility and for the facility to function 
properly. 
 

WHAT TO LOOK FOR 
Look at the general condition of these elements. Do they need repair or replacement? Are they still properly 
aligned? Look for: 

• cracks, scratches, dents, rust, or other conditions of wear. 

• loose fittings, broken or missing components. 

• insufficient oil/grease for moving parts. 

• appropriate gravel cover or bedding to support the structures. 

• misaligned parts or other impediments to the component’s ability to still pass flow. 
 

MAINTENANCE 
• Immediately repair or replace any major damage to prevent catastrophic failure. This includes any structural 

component that is cracked, loose or askew. You may need to consult a professional engineer or hire a trained 
contractor to design and perform any repairs. Refer to page 10 for a list of resources.  

• Minor damage such as dents, or rust spots may not need immediate replacement but should be monitored. 
• Maintain access to the facility by keeping the access route open and structurally sound, fence gates and vault 

lids oiled and locks functioning. Access must be available in an emergency. 

STRUCTURAL DEFICIENCIES 
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FACILITIES THIS APPLIES TO 
Vegetated Facilities: dry ponds, infiltration basins, planters, rain gardens, sand filters, swales, created wetlands, 
and vegetated filter strips. 
 

Structural Facilities: manufactured facilities and pervious pavement.  
 

NOTE: Some facilities are specifically designed to always hold water such as: wet ponds, spill control 
manholes, and sedimentation manholes. 
 

IMPORTANCE TO FACILITY PERFORMANCE 
Most facilities are designed to drain in a certain amount of time. This varies from 2 to 48 hours depending on the 
type of facility. This time is stated in the Operations and Maintenance plan for the type of facility. Ponding water 
is usually a sign that the facility’s outlet is clogged or it is not infiltrating properly. 
 

WHAT TO LOOK FOR 
• clogging of overflows or outlets with debris, trash or other obstructions. 
• fine sediments filtering into the soil or other filtration media (like sand or gravel) that can prevent proper infil-

tration. 
• water that has remained ponded for more than 48 

hours. 

MAINTENANCE 
• For surface facilities, first try raking the top few inches 

of soil to break up clogged sections and restore water 
flow. 

• Clean out overflows and outlets with hand tools, if pos-
sible. Difficult or hard to access blockages may require a 
professional contractor. 

• Identify sources of sediment and debris to prevent them 
from entering the facility. Simple actions like sweeping a 
parking lot regularly can keep sediment out of facilities. 

• Make sure the facility has enough vegetation. Vegetation absorbs water and roots help keep soil loose so it can 
infiltrate water. 

 

For more thorough instructions on removing sediment, see the “Sediment Removal and Disposal” section of this 
handbook. Sediment accumulated in stormwater facilities may be considered hazardous waste and must be han-
dled and disposed of properly. 
 

If ponding still occurs, contact a landscape architect, professional engineer or trained contractor for more         
assistance. 
 

 
 
 

PONDING WATER 
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FACILITIES THIS APPLIES TO 
All types of stormwater facilities 
 

IMPORTANCE TO FACILITY PERFORMANCE 
Mosquitoes can breed in ponded or other stagnant water. Vegetated areas 
can be attractive habitat for rats, nutria, beaver, and a variety of birds and amphibians. While some species are de-
sirable, others can be public health or nuisance concerns. In particular, mosquitoes and rats can breed quickly and 
cause a public health hazard if not removed. The presence of pests does not necessarily impact the ability of your 
facility to treat and manage stormwater but may indicate maintenance needs, such as lack of proper infiltration. 
 

WHAT TO LOOK FOR 
• Check for mosquito larvae in any system with open, slow, or non-moving waters - especially during warmer 

weather. Larvae look like tiny wiggling sticks floating perpendicular to the water’s surface. 
• Look for nutria, rat, and other animal droppings year round. Also check for structural indicators such as bea-

ver dams and rodent holes and burrows. 
 

WHAT TO DO 
Mosquitos 

• The best way to avoid breeding mosquitoes is to prevent ponding water. Mosquitoes need standing water to 
lay their eggs, and for their larvae and pupae to develop. Most stormwater facilities are designed to drain in at 
least 48 hours. If your facility is not draining properly see the “Ponding Water” and “Sediment Removal and 
Disposal” sections of this handbook. 

• As a temporary control for mosquitoes, the county or other licensed professionals can apply pesticides to kill 
mosquito larvae in the water or adult insects in the air.   

Rats 

Rats need shelter, food and water to survive. 

• Remove plant debris that may provide shelter for rats from the facility.  

• Remove fruits and nuts that fall to the ground. 

• Fill in burrows. 

• Trap and remove individual animals. 
 

Other Wildlife Other non-native and invasive animal species may take up residence in your facility. Contact the 
Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife (ODFW) to help identify these species and suggest removal processes. 
Permits from ODFW are required to capture and relocate native wildlife. Some common non-native species are: 
• Opossum    • Fox squirrel    • Snapping turtle 
• Eastern gray squirrel   • Eastern cottontail 
• Nutria    • Egyptian goose 
• Bullfrog    • Red-eared slider turtle 
 

                         PESTS 

Nutria photo by NDomer 
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PEST RESOURCES  
Rats and mosquitoes: 
Clackamas County Vector Control (includes Washington County)                                                
www.clackamas.us\vector                                                                                                                                  
(503) 655-8394 
 

Other pest issues:                                                                                                                                                    
Look in yellow pages or on the internet under “Pest Control” 
 

Other Wildlife:                                                                                                                                                                          
Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife                                                                                        
www.dfw.state.or.us/wildlife/                                                                                                                                
(503) 947-6000 or (800) 720-6339 
 

 
 

POLLUTION YOU CAN SEE OR SMELL   

FACILITIES THIS APPLIES TO 
All types of stormwater facilities. 
 

IMPORTANCE TO FACILITY PERFORMANCE 
Stormwater facilities often collect a variety of trash and debris. Trash and debris, especially floating debris, can 
clog pipes or treatment media. It can also cause odors through decay or by collecting spilled or dumped materials. 
Stormwater facilities are designed to help prevent pollutants from entering rivers and streams. Any visible water 
quality pollutants may wash out of the facility spreading the pollution problem. 
 

WHAT TO LOOK FOR 
• Check monthly for Trash and debris. 
 

Any unusual or unpleasant smells from sources such as:  

• Natural plant decay. 

• Dying plants trapped under sediment. 

• A spill or a leak (e.g., gasoline or sewage). 
 

Visible pollution such as: 

• Sheens 

• Turbid (cloudy) water 

• Discoloration, or 

• Other pollutants on the surface of the water. 
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WHAT TO DO 

• Regularly remove trash and plant debris. 

• Remove accumulated sediment (see “Sediment Removal and Disposal” in this manual). 

• Make sure inlets and outlets are not clogged. 

• Identify the source of trash, debris or pollutant, such as a spill, leak, or illicit discharge. 
• If there is evidence of a spill or leak, contact a professional laboratory or sampling firm to assess whether the 

material needs specialized removal, treatment, and disposal. Use trained professional staff for any cleanup and 
remediation. 

SAFETY 

Pollution You Can See And Smell (continued) 

In addition to keeping the facility in good working order, maintenance should also strive to meet safety and aes-
thetic goals that benefit the community and protect your site workers. Consider establishing maintenance triggers 
and practices that respond to the following issues below. Keep in mind the safety of both the employees who 
maintain your facility and the general public.  
 

WHAT TO LOOK FOR 
Site Conditions 
Conditions, such as steep slopes, slick surfaces, and vegetation debris, can create a falling hazard to employees and 
visitors. 
 

Public Safety 
Some stormwater facilities, such as ponds and created wetlands, can be “attractive nuisances” attracting undesira-
ble activity, vandalism, or use that could be harmful to public safety. Consider the safety features now in place at 
your facility. 
 

WHAT TO DO 
• Use barrier plantings or fencing to bar entry into the facility area. 

• Install road bollards, lighting, and signage to discourage illegal dumping. 
• Avoid maintaining facilities in wet weather to reduce the risk of injuries from slipping. Always make sure that 

appropriate safety gear (e.g., harness, gloves, face shields, safety line) is used. 
• For underground facilities, avoid entering anything defined as a confined space. Vaults, deep ponds, manufac-

tured facilities or manholes are examples of confined spaces. These areas require special permits, training and 
entry techniques. Some can be inspected and cleaned from above without entering. Always use caution when 
working with underground facilities. You are legally required to meet Oregon Occupational Safety and Health 
Division (OR-OSHA) requirements for such activities. 

 

 

RESOURCES 
Confined space entry: 
OR-OSHA (confined space entry requirements)                                            
www.orosha.org/subjects/confined_spaces.html                                                                                                        
(503) 229-5910 
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Specific maintenance costs depend on the characteristics of the facility, the site, and the area draining to the facili-
ty. The general rule of thumb is that annual maintenance costs will be 5 to 10% of the facility’s total capital cost. 
Routine, scheduled maintenance can help keep overall costs down by addressing problems before they require ma-
jor attention. Contact your stormwater system manufacturer for information about your system.  
 

FINANCING MAINTENANCE 
You need to determine how you will finance your maintenance needs. A facility maintenance fund is recommend-
ed for both capital maintenance procedures (e.g., facility replacement and non-routine maintenance, such as sedi-
ment removal, facility component repair or replacement, major replanting, or safety structure construction) and 
operating maintenance procedures (routine activities such as facility inspection, debris removal, and vegetation 
management). For homeowner associations, this could be a portion of homeowner fees or a specific assessment. 
 

HOW MUCH TO SAVE 
• An average 5 to 10% per year of the facility’s capital cost for annual routine maintenance. 
• A percentage of the non-routine maintenance costs per year (i.e. for sediment removal, vegetation replace-

ment) based on the needed frequency. For example, if the facility is designed to need mechanical sediment re-
moval every five years, 20% of the total cost should be put aside each year. 

• An additional 3 to 5% of the facility’s capital cost per year for eventual facility replacement (based on the facil-
ity’s life expectancy). Most of these facilities have a life expectancy of 25 to 50 years. 

 

VEGETATED FACILITIES 
• Most required routine maintenance (excluding major repair and replacement) is estimated to have an annual 

cost of $200 to $600 dollars per acre of facility, above current landscape maintenance costs. Costs can vary 
depending on the types and level of maintenance practices used. 

• The cost and intensity of maintenance activities are usually higher during the two-year plant establishment pe-
riod. During this time, plants will need additional watering and plants that die will need to be replaced. 

 
 

 

PAYING FOR MAINTENANCE 
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WHERE TO GET MORE ASSISTANCE 

City of Wilsonville Natural Resources Program                                                      
www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/Index.aspx?page=91                                                                              
(503) 682-4960 
 

City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards:                                                                            
www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/Index.aspx?page=127 Go to Important Links at the bottom of 
the page and click on Public Works Construction Standards 2006 (section 301.6.00 Opera-
tions and Maintenance Req.)                                                                                            
(503) 682-4092 

 

 
HIRING CONTRACTORS 
Professional maintenance services phone book/internet references:                                                           
Vegetation Management:  

• “Landscape Contractors” 
 

Sediment Removal and Disposal: 

• “Sewage,” or 

• “Waste Disposal” 
 

Facility Alterations: 

• “Landscape Architects” or 

• “Engineers - Civil” 
 

Manufactured Facilities: 

• Find the specific manufacturer 
 

 
CONFINED SPACE ENTRY 
Oregon Occupational Safety and Health Division (OR-OSHA):               
www.orosha.org/subjects/confined_spaces.html                                                                                              
(503) 229-5910 
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PEST RESOURCES  
Rats and mosquitoes: 
Clackamas County Vector Control (includes Washington County)                                                
www.clackamas.us\vector                                                                                                                                  
(503) 655-8394 
 

Other pest issues:                                                                                                                                                    
Look in yellow pages or on the internet under “Pest Control” 
 

Other Wildlife:                                                                                                                                                                          
Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife                                                                                        
www.dfw.state.or.us/wildlife/                                                                                                                                
(503) 947-6000 or (800) 720-6339 
 

Portland Audubon Wildlife Care Center                                                                                                                 
Help with injured animals and animal identification questions:                                                          
www.audubonportland.org                                                                                                                                          
(503) 292-0304 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
VEGETATION 
Clackamas County Resources: 
Clackamas County Soil and Water Conservation District:                                                        
www.conservationdistrict.org 
 

Plant Identification: 
Native Plant Society:                                                                                                                              
www.npsoregon.org 
Master Gardeners:                                                                                                              
www.extension.oregonstate.edu/mg 
 

Native Plant Nurseries: 
Native Plant Nursery:                                                                                                                          
www.plantnative.org 

 
 
 
 

 

The Audubon Wildlife Care Center is 
the oldest and busiest wildlife         

rehabilitation facility in Oregon.    
Each year they treat over 3,000 wild 

animals for release back to the wild and 
respond to more than 15,000 wildlife 

related inquiries. 
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29799 SW Town Center 
Loop E 

City  of  
Wilsonvi l le  

Phone: 503-682-4960 
Fax: 503-682-7025 
 
www.ci.wilsonville.or.us 

This brochure was prepared by 
the City of Wilsonville’s Natural 
Resources Program staff.   
March 2012                                 
NOTE: A considerable amount 
of information was obtained 
from the City of Portland’s 
Stormwater Management Facili-
ties Operations and Mainte-
nance for Private Property 
Owners guide.  

OTHER WAYS TO PROTECT OUR STREAMS AND THE 
WILLAMETTE RIVER 
 

In Your Home or Business 

• Use nontoxic cleaners. 

• Properly dispose of hazardous materials. 
• Conserve energy: switch to compact fluorescent bulbs, turn down the heat, do 

the laundry with cold water, purchase energy-efficient appliances. 
• Use water wisely: fix leaks, use low-flow showerheads, use only the water you 

need. 
 

In Your Yard 

• Plant native vegetation. 

• Consider planting perennials versus annuals. 

• Sweep instead of hose. 

• Cover bare soil with mulch or plants. 

• Compost yard debris. 

• Disconnect downspouts (where appropriate). 

• Use drip irrigation. 
 

In and Out of Your Car 

• Properly maintain vehicles. 

• Wash vehicles where water is recycled. 

• Drive less: use transit, bike, walk, or carpool. 

• Recycle motor oil. 

• Clean up spills or leaks. 
 

In Your Community 

• Volunteer for tree planting, cleanup, stream restoration, or invasive plant species 
removal projects. 

• Report spills and illegal dumping (call 503-823-7180). 

• Don’t litter, and pick up litter when you see it. 

• Pick up pet waste and put it in the garbage or toilet. 
 

In Parks and Natural Areas 

• Stay on designated hiking trails and biking areas. 
• Keep dogs on leashes and away from the streambanks and water. Pick up pet 

Printed on recycled paper. 

THANK YOU  
for helping keep Wilsonville clean, healthy       

and sustainable and for stewarding this                                   
beautiful place that we all share.  
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June 26, 2023 
Proposal No. 00-231391-0 

Citycounty Insurance Services 
Attention: Steve Norman 
15875 Boones Ferry Road, #1469 
Lake Oswego, Oregon 97035 
 
Attention: c/o Mr. Mark A. Galusha 
  Cumming Group 
 
Subject: Geotechnical Investigation 

Proposed Building and Site Improvements 
Citycounty Insurance Services 
9990 SW Wilsonville Road 
Wilsonville, Oregon 

 
Dear Mr. Galusha: 
 
As requested, Northwest Geotech, Inc. (NGI) has completed a geotechnical investigation in 
support of the design and construction of the proposed Citycounty Insurance Services office 
development. Our work consisted of subsurface exploration, field infiltration testing, engineering 
analysis, and preparation of this report which summarizes our findings and presents specific 
recommendations for design and construction of the project. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 

The subject site is located at 9990 SW Wilsonville Road in Wilsonville, Oregon. The 2.05-acre 
site is bounded by SW Wilsonville Road to the north, SW Kinsman Road to the southeast, and 
Coffee Lake Creek and its associated wetland to the west. The location of the site is shown on 
the attached Figure 1. The site is undeveloped and consists of an open grass field. The majority 
of the site is relatively flat and sloping gently down to the Coffee Creek drainage to the west. At 
the time of our work, temporary construction access was allocated for the construction of a water 
transmission line along the easterly portion of the site which included a bore pit for the bore 
crossing beneath SW Wilsonville Road. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The development is planned to consist of constructing a roughly 15,500 square foot single story 
office building in the northeasterly quadrant of the property.  In addition, access drives and 
approximately 46 parking spaces are proposed to the south and west building.  A vegetated 
stormwater facility is also planned to be located in the southerly portion of the property. 
 
SUBSURFACE EXPLORATION 

The subsurface exploration consisted of drilling four geotechnical borings and two combination 
geotechnical-infiltration borings at the site. The borings were drilled using a small trailer mounted 
drill rig with solid stem auger tooling with the exception of boring B-4 which was performed with a 
hand auger. The geotechnical borings were drilled to practical refusal at depths of 4 to 12 feet, 
and the combination geotechnical borings were advanced to depths of 6.5 and 10 feet (practical 
refusal). The approximate locations of the exploratory borings are shown on the Site Plan,       
Figure 2.  
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The borings were logged by a geologist from our office who visually classified the subsurface soils 
in general accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS). Standard penetration 
testing (SPT) and Cal modified sampling were performed at closely spaced intervals.  Dynamic 
cone penetrometer (DCP) tests were conducted within borings B-3 and B-4. Detailed logs of the 
borings are presented in Appendix A. The results of the DCP tests are also shown on the boring 
logs.  
  
FIELD INFILTRATION TESTING 

Field infiltration testing was conducted at two locations within the proposed vegetated stormwater 
facility location at depths of 6.0 feet and 10.0 feet (practical refusal). The infiltration tests were 
performed by installing a 6-inch diameter temporary PVC casing to the depth of the test. Clean 
water was then introduced into the casing and allowed to stand overnight to presoak the soils. 
The infiltration tests were conducted the following day by measuring the drop in head over time. 
 
SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS 

Based on the subsurface explorations, the site is mantled by existing fill to depths ranging from 3 
to 6 feet. The existing fill is considered to be poorly compacted and laden with debris and organics 
at the locations of borings B-4, I-1 and I-2.  The depths of the existing fill soils at each boring 
location are shown on the Site Plan, Figure 2. 
 
Below the fill, native deposits of medium stiff to stiff, slightly sandy, clayey silt was encountered 
extending to depths of 8 to 9 feet. Below the clayey silt deposit, dense deposits of sandy gravel, 
with cobbles, and boulders in a clayey silt matrix were encountered extending to the maximum 
depth explored of 11.5 feet. 
 
Groundwater was not encountered during our subsurface exploration; however, groundwater 
levels are expected to fluctuate seasonally. 
 
FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

From a geotechnical engineering standpoint, the site is considered to be suitable for the proposed 
development provided the recommendations presented below are incorporated into the design 
and construction of the project. 
 
The fill that mantles the site to depths of 3 to 6 feet is considered to be poorly compacted and 
appeared to be laden with debris and organics in three of the borings. The existing fill is 
considered to be unsuitable for direct support of building structures; however, the existing fill may 
be suitable for surface improvements if the poor compaction issue is mitigated as discussed 
below. The following building foundation and pavement area recommendations are tailored to the 
fill removal and replacement option; however, alternative recommendations are provided for 
consideration.  
  
Building Structures 
 
For the building envelope, options available to mitigate the existing fill issue include over-
excavation and replacement with engineered fill within the building footprint, or shallow drilled pier 
foundations combined with a structural slab supported by the pier/grade-beam system.  Geopiers 
on a closely spaced grid or other proprietary systems may also be an option. 
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Surface Improvements  

For the paved surface improvement areas, alternatives are also available and listed below in order 
of decreasing risk: 
 

 scarification, moisture conditioning and re-compaction of the upper 12 inches of 
subgrade, followed by proof-rolling 

 cement treating of the subgrade in the upper 12 inches 

 removal and replacement with engineered fill to the full depth of the fill  
 
It should be understood that without the full removal and replacement of the non-engineered fill, 
risk of poor performance such as pavement warpage and bird baths are anticipated.  In our 
opinion, the cement treated subgrade option may provide an acceptable degree of both 
performance and owner risk. 
 
SITE EARTHWORK RECOMMENDATIONS 

Site Preparation 

Prior to grading, the portions of the site to be developed should be cleared of vegetation, sod and 
root balls, and any surface or buried obstructions.  For estimating purpose, we anticipate the sod 
stripping depths on the order of 4 to 6 inches be utilized.  Water wells to be removed (if any) 
should be capped below finished site grades and abandoned in accordance with local and state 
guidelines.  Stripping depths will need to be confirmed by the geotechnical engineer’s 
representative.  
  
Materials for Fill 

The existing fill soils are not generally recommended for reuse as structural fill. Accordingly, the 
use of imported granular fill such as clean sand, pit run gravel, or crushed aggregate (containing 
less than 5 percent material passing the No. 200 sieve) is recommended. (See Wet Weather 
Grading/Erosion Control section below). 
 
Representative samples of the materials to be used for structural fill will need to be approved by 
NGI and tested in our laboratory to determine the maximum density and optimum moisture 
content. 
 
Structural Fill 

All fill materials placed within the building footprint should be moisture conditioned to near 
optimum moisture and compacted to a density that is not less than 92 percent of the maximum 
dry density as determined in accordance with ASTM D1557 (modified Proctor).   Unless otherwise 
specified, the fill materials should be placed in layers that, when compacted, do not exceed 8 
inches in thickness.  Structural fill will need to be tested by the geotechnical engineer’s 
representative during construction. 
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Trench Backfill 

Trench backfill should consist of a clean crushed aggregate (or other suitable granular material) 
containing less than 7 percent fine materials passing the No. 200 sieve.  Appropriate bedding 
materials should be placed beneath pipes to ensure no point or concentrated loading.  All trench 
backfill within the building footprint should be compacted by mechanical means to at least 92 
percent of the maximum dry density as determined in accordance with ASTM D1557 (modified 
Proctor).  Trench backfill outside of the building footprint and above the pipe zone may be 
compacted to 90% of the modified Proctor.  Structural fill will need to be tested by the geotechnical 
engineer’s representative during construction.   
 
Protection of Exposed Ground 

Excavation and construction operations may expose the near-surface moisture sensitive soils to 
inclement weather conditions.  The exposed soils will likely rapidly deteriorate due to precipitation 
and/or the action of repetitive heavy construction equipment.  Accordingly, walls and floors of 
excavations should be protected from the elements and from the action of repetitive construction 
traffic.  
  
NGI has provided the following wet weather geotextile and aggregate thickness recommendations 
for construction of access roads and staging areas, and these should be considered minimum 
sections to be used in conjunction with track-mounted equipment. 
 
Wet Weather Grading/Erosion Control 

Wet weather grading of the near surface, moisture-sensitive soils is generally not 
recommended.  If wet weather grading is unavoidable due to construction schedules, stabilization 
of the subgrade soils with a geotextile and aggregate (or by other means such as amendment 
with Portland cement) will become necessary.  Based on selected alternatives beneath paved 
areas discussed previously, construction traffic or haul routes may require over-filling with crushed 
aggregate to protect prepared subgrades.  Up to a total of 14 inches of crushed aggregate may 
be necessary to protect compacted subgrades; the Contractor should be made responsible for 
protecting prepared subgrades.  Erosion control measures will need to be undertaken to meet 
Clackamas County, City of Wilsonville, and project requirements. 
 
Excavations 

Based on the subsurface exploration, it is anticipated that excavations can be accomplished using 
conventional heavy earthmoving equipment.  Temporary excavations in excess of 5 feet in depth 
will require shoring or sloping of the sidewalls to provide for worker safety.  At the time of the  
subsurface exploration in May 2023, groundwater was not encountered; however, groundwater 
conditions are expected to fluctuate seasonally and perched groundwater may be present at times 
and may seep into open excavations, particularly during periods of prolonged wet weather.  Any 
water that accumulates in excavations should be removed by pumping or other suitable means. 
 
Large cobbles and boulders are present at the site and were reportedly encountered during the 
excavation for the adjacent waterline improvements. Accordingly, large boulders may require 
splitting or other techniques to reduce the material to manageable size. 
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SEISMIC CONSIDERATIONS 

Based on the subsurface exploration and the 2018 IBC as modified by the 2019 OSSC and 
applicable provisions of ASCE 7-16, the following seismic design parameters are recommended 
for the project.   
 

Mapped Spectral Acceleration for Short Periods: Ss = 0.82 

Mapped Spectral Acceleration for a 1-Second Period: S1 = 0.38 

Site Class: D 

Site Coefficients: Fa = 1.2  

Design Spectral Response Acceleration at Short Periods: SDS = 0.65 
 

Based on the subsurface explorations, the potential for seismic induced soil liquefaction is 
considered to be low.  
 
Based on the USGS Earthquake Hazard Program Quaternary Fault Inventory of Oregon, the 
nearest mapped fault traces are the Canby-Molalla fault located approximately 6.5 miles east of 
the site and the Newberg fault located approximately 8.6 miles west of the site.  Generally, the 
risk of surface displacement is considered to be low if a site is more than 1,000 feet from a mapped 
fault trace. 
 
BUILDING FOUNDATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

Building loads may be supported on individual and/or continuous spread footings bearing on 
undisturbed native soils at depth or compacted structural fill.  Spread footings may be designed 
for an allowable dead plus live load bearing capacity of 2,000 pounds per square foot.  As an 
alternative to removing and replacing the fill present beneath the building footprint, drilled piers 
on the order of 24 inches in diameter and founded on the medium dense to dense gravel could 
be utilized.  An allowable dead plus live load pier bearing pressure of 4000 psf may be utilized 
and in our opinion, either the spread footings or pier bearing pressures may be increased by 50% 
for short term wind or seismic loads.  Settlement under static loading is anticipated to be within 
typical construction tolerances of one inch of total settlement and one-quarter to one-half inch of 
differential settlement. 
 
Footings should be embedded a minimum of 18 inches below the lowest adjacent finished 
grade.  Continuous and/or individual spread footings should be a minimum of 18 inches in the 
least dimension.  A 2 to 3-inch thick layer of clean crushed aggregate should be placed and seated 
by mechanical means to help avoid deterioration of the bearing soils if footing excavations are 
exposed to seepage or wet weather conditions. 
 
Lateral loads can be resisted by passive pressures acting against footings and by frictional 
resistance between foundation elements and supporting soils.  A passive resistance of 250 
pounds per square foot per foot of embedment depth and a friction factor of 0.30 may be used for 
design.  Where unusual loading patterns result in large differential loads, combined footings, 
eccentrically loaded footings, or other special foundation requirements, this office should be 
consulted.  
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CONCRETE FLOOR AND GRADE SLABS   

Concrete floor slabs or other grade slabs bearing on engineered fill should be at least 5.0 inches 
in thickness and underlain by a minimum of 8 inches of clean, free-draining, crushed rock 
compacted to a minimum of 95 percent of the maximum dry density as determined in accordance 
with ASTM D1557 (modified Proctor). 
 
Interior floor slabs should also be underlain by a suitable moisture barrier covered with a protective 
layer of clean sand.  Alternatively, proprietary moisture barrier systems may be utilized without 
the protective sand layer if specified by the designers.  Actual slab thickness and reinforcing 
should be determined in accordance with structural considerations. 
  
SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE DRAINAGE RECOMMENDATIONS 

Temporary Construction Drainage 

Surface water should be diverted from excavations by means of temporary drainage facilities.  
Excavations should be dewatered as necessary by pumping or other suitable methods.  Ponding 
of surface water in structural areas should also be prevented to the extent practical utilizing 
temporary drainage facilities. 
 
Permanent Site Drainage 

Surface water should be diverted from foundations by grading the ground surface a minimum of 
2 percent away from walls and carrying the runoff from roofs to a suitable gravity outlet.   
 
Permanent subsurface drainage of the building perimeter is recommended to prevent potential 
subjection of foundations and slabs to hydrostatic pressures.  Construction of a continuous 
subdrain system which surrounds the building perimeter and is sloped (minimum 0.5 percent) to 
a suitable gravity outlet is recommended. A suitable subdrain system would consist of a 4-inch 
diameter, perforated PVC pipe (typical) embedded below and adjacent to the bottom of footings 
and backfilled with approved drain rock. The type of PVC pipe to be utilized may depend on 
building agency requirements and should be verified prior to construction. In addition, to prolong 
the life of the subdrain system, NGI recommends lining the trench excavation with a geotextile 
filter such as Mirafi 140N (or equivalent). The subdrain excavation should be constructed in a 
manner to prevent undermining of any foundation or slab component or disturbance of supporting 
soils.  
  
In the event that the perimeter subdrains are tied into the rain (roof) drain system, an approved 
backflow device will be required.  If backflow devices are not allowed, these systems should be 
run independently. 
 
Infiltration Facilities 

The field infiltration testing yielded the following measured infiltration rates: 

 Location Depth  Measured Infiltration Rate  

 Boring I-1 6.0 feet 0.1 inches per hour 

 Boring I-2 10.0 feet 0.2 inches per hour 
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The above measured infiltration rates do not include a safety factor for loss of efficiency over time 
due to siltation and biologic growth. 
 
Generally, the minimum infiltration rate for infiltration facilities to be considered feasible is 0.5 
inches per hour. Even then the systems can become impractically large. 
 
Accordingly, based on the infiltration test results, the subject site is not considered to be feasible 
for infiltration as the best management practice for mitigation of stormwater.  NGI recommends 
that other alternate practices, such as detention with metered outfall to existing facilities, be 
evaluated. 
 
PAVEMENT THICKNESS DESIGN 

Although no specific traffic information has been provided, we have prepared the following 
pavement section recommendations based on our experience with similar projects. 
 
Cars, Light Trucks, and up to 4 Trucks per Week 

 3.0 Inches of Asphaltic Concrete Pavement 

 8.0 Inches of Crushed Aggregate Base 
 

As discussed in the Surface Improvement section previously in this report, the upper 12 inches of 
exposed subgrade should be scarified, moisture conditioned, and compacted to at least 90 
percent of maximum dry density by ASTM D1557 (Modified Proctor), followed by proof-rolling with 
a loaded dump truck.  A geotextile such as Mirafi 500X (or equivalent) is recommended to be 
placed between the subgrade and baserock section.   
 
In order to reduce long term pavement performance risk associated with building on the existing 
fill to more acceptable levels, cement treatment of the existing subgrade soils for a depth of 12 
inches is recommended.  If the alternative of cement treating is preferred, a 4 inch reduction in 
the thickness of aggregate base identified above is acceptable.  Additional laboratory testing will 
be necessary to identify the minimum percent of cement amendment by weight prior to developing 
final plans and specifications.  Alternatively, the no-risk option of removing and replacing all 
existing fill beneath pavements may also be considered.   
 
Aggregate base for paved areas should be compacted to a minimum of 95 percent ASTM D1557. 
Asphaltic concrete pavements should be compacted to a minimum of 91 percent of the theoretical 
maximum density per ASTM D2041 (Rice Gravity).  Aggregate base and asphaltic concrete 
materials should meet the requirements as outlined in the current Oregon Department of 
Transportation Standard Specifications. 
 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
Design Review 

This geotechnical report pertains to a specific site and development.  It is not applicable to 
adjacent sites nor is it valid for types of developments other than that to which it refers.  Any 
variation from the site or development necessitates a geotechnical review in order to determine 
the validity of the design concepts evolved herein. 
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Additionally, a geotechnical review of final plans and specifications is necessary to determine 
whether our recommendations have been properly interpreted and incorporated in the design and 
construction documents. 
 
Construction Monitoring 

Because of the judgmental character of soil and foundation engineering, as well as the potential 
for adverse circumstances arising from construction activity, observations during site preparation, 
excavation, and construction will need to be carried out by the geotechnical engineer or his 
representative.  These observations then may serve as a basis for confirmation and/or alteration  
of geotechnical recommendations or design guidelines presented herein to the benefit of the 
project. Moreover, field engineering observations become increasingly important should 
earthwork proceed during adverse weather conditions. 
 
LIMITATIONS 

Within the limitations of scope, schedule, and budget, our services have been completed in 
accordance with the General Conditions with our Client and accepted geotechnical practices in 
this area at the time this report was prepared.  One copy of our General Conditions is included in 
Appendix B of this report. No warranty is expressed or implied.  This report was prepared for the 
exclusive use of NGI’s client for the specific project and NGI does not authorize the segmented 
use of the advice herein nor the reliance upon the report by third parties without written 
authorization of NGI. The boring logs and related information depict generalized subsurface 
conditions only at these specific locations and at the particular time the subsurface exploration 
was completed.  Soil and groundwater conditions at other locations may differ from the conditions 
at these boring locations. Also, the passage of time may result in a change in the soil and 
groundwater conditions at the site.  This report pertains to the subject site only, and is not 
applicable to adjacent sites nor is it valid for types of development other than that to which it 
refers.  Unless explicitly addressed in this report, slope stability analyses and seismic site hazard 
evaluation have not been included. If you would like NGI to complete these services, please 
contact our office. 
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This opportunity to be of service is sincerely appreciated.  Please call if you have any questions. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
NORTHWEST GEOTECH, INC. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wayne R. Olsen, P.E., G.E. Thomas S. Ginsbach, P.E., G.E.  
Project Engineer Regional Vice President  
                          
Copies: (1) Addressee (E-mail only)  
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PROJECT NO. 00-231391 FIGURE NO. A-1
CITYCOUNTY INSURANCE SERVICES

9990 SW WILSONVILLE ROAD
WILSONVILLE, OREGON

RIG: LITTLE BEAVER

ELEVATION: DROP:  30 INCHES HAMMER WEIGHT:  140 LBSBORING DIAMETER:  4.0 INCHES
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DARK BROWN, MOIST, POORLY COMPACTED, LOW PLASTICITY, CLAYEY
SILT (FILL)

B-1
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50/5"

4-6 INCHES OF SOD

BROWN WITH GRAY MOTTLING, MOIST, MEDIUM STIFF TO STIFF, LOW
PLASTICITY, SLIGHTLY SANDY, CLAYEY SILT (NATIVE)

ML

BROWN, MOIST, DENSE, SUBROUNDED TO SUBANGULAR, SANDY
GRAVEL WITH COBBLES TO BOULDERS IN CLAYEY SILT MATRIX
(NATIVE)

GM

TOTAL DEPTH: 10.9 FEET
PRACTICAL DRILLING REFUSAL

NO GROUNDWATER ENCOUNTERED
SPT SAMPLER

SHELBY SAMPLER

15

PUSH
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PROJECT NO. 00-231391 FIGURE NO. A-2
CITYCOUNTY INSURANCE SERVICES

9990 SW WILSONVILLE ROAD
WILSONVILLE, OREGON

RIG: LITTLE BEAVER

ELEVATION: DROP:  30 INCHES HAMMER WEIGHT:  140 LBSBORING DIAMETER:  4.0 INCHES
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DARK BROWN, MOIST, POORLY COMPACTED, LOW PLASTICITY,
SLIGHTLY SANDY, CLAYEY SILT (FILL)
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6 INCHES OF SOD

BROWN WITH GRAY MOTTLING, MOIST, MEDIUM STIFF TO STIFF,
CLAYEY SILT (NATIVE)

BECOMES SLIGHTLY SANDY

ML

BROWN, MOIST, DENSE, SUBROUNDED TO SUBANGULAR, SANDY
GRAVEL WITH COBBLES AND BOULDERS IN CLAYEY SILT MATRIX
(NATIVE)

GM

TOTAL DEPTH: 11.5 FEET
PRACTICAL DRILLING REFUSAL

NO GROUNDWATER ENCOUNTERED

SPT SAMPLER

SHELBY SAMPLER
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PROJECT NO. 00-231391 FIGURE NO. A-3
CITYCOUNTY INSURANCE SERVICES

9990 SW WILSONVILLE ROAD
WILSONVILLE, OREGON

RIG: LITTLE BEAVER

ELEVATION: DROP:  30 INCHES HAMMER WEIGHT:  140 LBSBORING DIAMETER:  4.0 INCHES
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DRILLING COMPANY:  DAN FISCHER
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DARK BROWN, MOIST, POORLY COMPACTED, LOW PLASTICITY,
SLIGHTLY SANDY, CLAYEY SILT WITH TRACE ROUNDED GRAVEL (FILL)

B-3

9
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BROWN WITH GRAY MOTTLING, MOIST, MEDIUM STIFF TO STIFF,
CLAYEY SILT (NATIVE)

BECOMES SLIGHTLY SANDY
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BROWN, MOIST, DENSE, SUBROUNDED TO SUBANGULAR, SANDY
GRAVEL WITH COBBLES TO BOULDERS IN CLAYEY SILT MATRIX (NATIVE)

GM

TOTAL DEPTH: 10.0 FEET
PRACTICAL DRILLING REFUSAL

NO GROUNDWATER ENCOUNTERED
SPT SAMPLER
SHELBY SAMPLER
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PROJECT NO. 00-231391 FIGURE NO. A-4
CITYCOUNTY INSURANCE SERVICES

9990 SW WILSONVILLE ROAD
WILSONVILLE, OREGON
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BROWN, DAMP, POORLY COMPACTED, LOW PLASTICITY, SLIGHTLY
SANDY, CLAYEY SILT WITH SOME ROUNDED AND ANGULAR GRAVEL,
SCATTERED COBBLES, WOOD DEBRIS (FILL)
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3 INCHES OF SOD

TOTAL DEPTH: 4.0 FEET
PRACTICAL DRILLING REFUSAL

NO GROUNDWATER ENCOUNTERED
GRAB SAMPLE

BROWN, MOIST, POORLY COMPACTED, SILTY SAND WITH SOME
ROUNDED AND ANGULAR GRAVEL, SCATTERED COBBLES (FILL)
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COPY

353

Item 2.



DATE:  05/24/2023

D
R

IV
E 

SA
M

PL
E

BL
O

W
S/

FO
O

T

PROJECT NO. 00-231391 FIGURE NO. A-5
CITYCOUNTY INSURANCE SERVICES

9990 SW WILSONVILLE ROAD
WILSONVILLE, OREGON

RIG: LITTLE BEAVER
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DARK BROWN, MOIST, POORLY COMPACTED, LOW PLASTICITY,
SLIGHTLY SANDY, CLAYEY SILT WITH TRACE ROUNDED GRAVEL (FILL)
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10
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TOTAL DEPTH: 6.5 FEET
NO GROUNDWATER ENCOUNTERED

SPT SAMPLER

SHELBY SAMPLER

CONCRETE, BRICK AND GLASS DEBRIS AT 2.5' TO 4.0'

BROWN WITH GRAY MOTTLING, MOIST, MEDIUM STIFF TO STIFF, LOW
PLASTICITY, SLIGHTLY SANDY, CLAYEY SILT (NATIVE)

ML
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PROJECT NO. 00-231391 FIGURE NO. A-6
CITYCOUNTY INSURANCE SERVICES

9990 SW WILSONVILLE ROAD
WILSONVILLE, OREGON

RIG: LITTLE BEAVER

ELEVATION: DROP:  30 INCHES HAMMER WEIGHT:  140 LBSBORING DIAMETER:  8.0 INCHES
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T)

D
EP

TH
 

BORING NO.
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DRILLING COMPANY:  DAN FISCHER

BORING LOG
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DARK BROWN, MOIST, POORLY COMPACTED, LOW PLASTICITY,
SLIGHTLY SANDY, CLAYEY SILT (FILL)

CONCRETE DEBRIS AT 2.5-4.0 FEET

I-2
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79

6 INCHES OF SOD

TOTAL DEPTH: 10.0 FEET
PRACTICAL DRILLING REFUSAL

NO GROUNDWATER ENCOUNTERED
SPT SAMPLER

SHELBY SAMPLER

BROWN WITH GRAY MOTTLING, MOIST, MEDIUM STIFF TO STIFF, LOW
PLASTICITY, SLIGHTLY SANDY, CLAYEY SILT (NATIVE)

ML

BROWN, MOIST, DENSE, SUBROUNDED TO SUBANGULAR, SANDY
GRAVEL WITH COBBLES TO BOULDERS IN CLAYEY SILT MATRIX
(NATIVE)

GM

D/M SAMPLER
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GENERAL CONDITIONS 
GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 

 

 

1. PARTIES AND SCOPE OF WORK:  Northwest Geotech, Inc., an RMA 
Group Company (NGI) shall include said company, its engineers, employees, 
insurers, or authorized representatives.  "Work" means the service(s) 
performed by NGI for Client or at Client's direction. This "Agreement” consists 
of NGI's proposal, NGI's Schedule of Fees and Services, Client's written 
acceptance, NGI’s signed acceptance, and these General Conditions.  "Client" 
refers to the individual or business entity executing this Agreement. The 
individual executing this Agreement represents and warrants that he/she is the 
duly authorized agent of the Client.  Client may choose representatives for the 
purpose of ordering and directing the Work and in such case the term "Client" 
also includes the principal for whom the Work is being performed and the 
Client’s representatives.  Prices quoted and charged by NGI for its Work are 
predicated upon the conditions and the allocations of risks and obligations 
expressed in this Agreement.  Unless this Agreement specifically provides that 
NGI is to perform its Work pursuant to specified Federal, State, or local 
regulations, Client assumes sole responsibility for determining whether the 
quantity and the nature of the Work ordered by Client is adequate and sufficient 
for Client's intended purpose. Client shall communicate this Agreement 
including these General Conditions to each and every third party to whom 
Client transmits any part of NGI’s Work or to whom Client sells, transfers, or 
assigns an interest in the site or project.  NGI shall have no duty or obligation 
to any third party greater than that set forth in this Agreement.  Executing this 
Agreement or ordering Work from NGI shall constitute acceptance of the terms 
of these General Conditions.  NGI shall be under no obligation to inform other 
parties of its activities or discoveries, but shall not be negligent if it does so. 
 
2. PAYMENT FOR SERVICES: Invoices will be submitted monthly for 
services and Client agrees that the invoice amount is due when received unless 
otherwise agreed.  A service charge of one and one-half percent (1-½%) per 
month (but not exceeding the maximum allowable by law) will be added to any 
account not paid within 30 days after billing.  In the event that any portion of the 
account remains unpaid 30 days after billing, NGI may immediately discontinue 
services on any and all projects for Client and/or demand prepayment of fees 
at NGI’s option. Client shall pay all costs incurred by NGI in collecting any 
delinquent amount, including staff time, court costs and attorney fees at trial 
and appeal.  In the event that NGI obtains a judgment against Client and must 
execute upon that judgment, Client agrees to pay all attorney fees and costs 
associated with the execution.  If Client objects to all or any portion of any 
invoice, Client shall notify NGI in writing of the same within ten (10) days from 
the date of receipt of said invoice and shall pay that portion of the invoice not 
in dispute, and the parties shall immediately make every effort to settle the 
disputed portion of the invoice. Failure to make payment within sixty (60) days 
of invoice shall constitute a release of NGI from any and all claims which Client 
may have, either in tort or contract, and whether known or unknown at the time. 
These General Conditions are notice that a construction lien may be claimed 
for all material, labor and services furnished. 
 
3. SITE CONDITIONS:  Client will grant or obtain free access to the site for 
all personnel and equipment required for NGI to perform the Work. NGI shall 
take reasonable measures and precautions to minimize damage to each site 
and any improvements located thereon as the result of its Work and the use of 
its equipment; however, NGI has not included in its fee the cost of restoration 
of damage which may occur.  If Client or the possessor of any interest in any 
site desires or requires NGI to restore site to its former conditions, upon written 
request, NGI will perform such additional work as is necessary and Client 
agrees to pay to NGI the cost thereof.  While NGI will take reasonable 
precautions to minimize damage to site, Client is responsible for identifying 
underground structures and agrees to defend, indemnify and hold NGI 
harmless from all loss, liability, costs (including attorney fees at trial and on 
appeal), and damage resulting from underground structures not properly 
located and marked, and from all third party suits for trespass. 
 
4. DISCLOSURE:  Client agrees to provide NGI all information in its 
possession that may be pertinent to the scope of Work, including any 
information concerning actual or possible presence of hazardous materials.  
Client agrees that the discovery of unanticipated hazardous materials 
constitutes a changed condition mandating a re-negotiation of the scope of 
Work or termination of services.  Client agrees to compensate NGI for all  costs 
incident to the discovery of unanticipated hazardous materials.  NGI will  
 

immediately inform Client of the detection of unanticipated hazardous 
materials.  Client will defend, indemnify, and hold NGI harmless from any claim, 
liability, costs (including attorney fees at trial and on appeal), or injury, including 
delay of the project associated with the discovery of unanticipated hazardous 
materials or any disclosure of these conditions as required by governing law or 
regulation.  All hazardous materials, including samples taken for testing will 
remain the property and responsibility of Client. 
 
5. ENVIRONMENTAL INDEMNITY:  To the fullest extent permitted by law 
Client agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless NGI from any loss, 
costs, damage, expense (including attorney fees and costs at trial and appeal), 
or any theory of liability arising out of or in connection with NGI's exacerbation 
of existing environmental pollution or contamination or any newly caused 
pollution or contamination. 
 
6. THIRD PARTY INDEMNITY:  To the fullest extent permitted by law Client 
agrees to defend, indemnify and hold NGI harmless from any claims, demands, 
suits, charges, expense (including attorney fees and costs at trial and appeal), 
and/or allegations of responsibility by any and all third parties including but not 
limited to contractors, subcontractors, agents, employees, assignees, 
transferees, successors, invitees, neighbors, and the public relating to 
conditions on or about the project, except to the extent that a claim is the result 
of negligence of NGI.  Client shall notify any third party who may perform work 
on the project or to whom Client sells, transfers, or assigns an interest in the 
site or project of the standard of care being undertaken by NGI pursuant hereto 
and of the limitations of liability contained herein.  Client shall require as a 
condition to the performance of any such third party a like indemnity and 
limitation of liability on their part against NGI. 
 
7. CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITY:  Our duties do not include 
supervising the Client’s contractors or overseeing, or providing the means and 
methods of their work.  NGI shall have no authority to control any contractor or 
other entity regarding their work or their safety practices.  The purpose of NGI’s 
Work shall be to provide our Client with a greater degree of confidence that the 
work will meet specifications, not to control or guarantee the work of the 
contractor.  NGI has no duty to inspect or correct health and safety deficiencies 
of the Client, contractors, or other entities except for NGI personnel.  We will 
not be responsible for the failure of the Client’s contractors to perform in 
accordance with their undertakings and the providing of our services shall not 
relieve others of their responsibilities to the Client or to others.  NGI reserves 
the right to report to the Client any unsafe condition observed at the project 
without altering the foregoing. 
 
8. FEE SCHEDULE:  Where NGI’s services are quoted or estimated on the 
basis of the current fee schedule, should the project extend beyond the end of 
the calendar year, the fee schedule then in use shall apply unless otherwise 
negotiated in advance. 
 
9. LIMITATIONS OF PROCEDURES:  Information obtained from 
inspections, analysis and testing of sample materials shall be accurately 
reported in reports.  However, variations between inspected or tested discrete 
locations may occur and the risk of such occurrence is understood and 
accepted by Client.  If conditions different than are indicated in our report come 
to your attention after you receive the report, it is recommended that you 
contact NGI immediately to authorize appropriate further investigation and to 
inform NGI completely on what you have discovered.  If NGI completes borings 
or test pits in the performance of its Work there is the possibility that settlement 
of the backfill will occur.  Client agrees to accept all responsibility for conditions 
related to backfill settlement.  Unless explicitly addressed in NGI’s proposals or 
reports our services do not include seismic or slope stability evaluation. 
 
10. SCHEDULES AND DELAYS:  All promises of services time are 
approximations by NGI and are subject to the Client and contractor's 
schedules, weather conditions, traffic conditions, disputes with workmen or 
parties, accidents, strikes, natural disasters or other causes.  In no event shall 
NGI be responsible for any damage or expense due to delays from any cause, 
other than to the extent the damage or expense is caused by NGI’s own 
negligence after having been warned in writing by the Client of the damage or 
expense which may result from the delay.   
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11. USE OF CONSULTING ADVICE: NGI’s reports, notes, calculations, and 
other documents are instruments of our service to the Client and are only 
applicable for immediate use on this project.  Such documents remain the 
property of NGI.  We agree to provide our reports for the Client’s use only for 
the purposes disclosed to us.  The Client agrees not to transfer our reports to 
others or to use them for a purpose for which they were not prepared without 
our prior written approval. On the Client’s written request, NGI may provide 
endorsements to others of our reports or letters of reliance, but only if those 
others agree in writing to be bound by the conditions of our Agreement 
including these General Conditions in full and only if we are paid an additional 
fee which will be quoted upon request.  Client may not assign this Agreement 
or any portion thereof to any other person or entity without the express written 
consent of NGI. 
 
12. SAMPLES:  All samples of soil and rock may be disposed after 30 days 
from the date of submission of our report unless otherwise directed by the 
Client.  On request, we will deliver samples to the Client.  Shipping charges 
shall be collect on delivery, or we will store samples for an agreed charge. 
 
13. CONTINUITY OF SERVICES:  It is customary for the consultant that 
provides construction recommendations to be retained to provide observation 
and confirmation of design parameters during construction.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by law if NGI is not retained to confirm that the construction is 
in substantial compliance with our conclusions and recommendations, the 
Client agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold NGI harmless from all claims, 
losses, and expenses, including attorney fees and costs at trial and on appeal, 
arising out of NGI’s Work including any interpretations, clarifications, 
substitutions, or modifications of NGI’s Work provided by the Client or others. 
 
14. TERMINATION AND SURVIVAL:  This Agreement may be terminated 
by either party on written notice.  In the event of termination, NGI shall be 
compensated by Client for all services performed up to and including the 
termination date, including reimbursable expenses, and for the completion of 
such services as are necessary to place NGI’s files in order and/or protect its 
professional reputation.  The Payment for Services, Environmental Indemnity, 
Third Party Indemnity, Limitations of Procedures, Use of Consulting Advice, 
Continuity of Services, Mutual Waiver, Witness Fees, State Law/Venue, 
Standard of Care, and Limitation of Liability provisions of this Agreement shall 
survive any termination or completion of this Agreement. 
 
15. WITNESS FEES:  NGI's employees shall not be retained as expert 
witnesses except by separate written agreement.  Client agrees to pay NGI’s 
legal expenses, administrative costs, staff time, and fees pursuant to NGI’s 
current fee schedule for NGI to respond to any subpoena. 
 
16. STATE LAW/VENUE:  This Agreement shall be interpreted and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon.  Exclusive of lien 
claims, any action or proceeding brought to enforce or otherwise arising out of 
or relating to this Agreement shall be brought in the Circuit Court of Clackamas 
County, Oregon.  
 
17. STANDARD OF CARE:  NGI will perform the contracted services in a 
manner consistent with the skill and care ordinarily exercised under similar 
circumstances by members of our profession practicing in the same locality, at 
the same time, and performing similar services.  No warranty, expressed or 
implied, is made or intended in our proposals, reports or contracts.  No action 
or claim, whether in tort, contract, or otherwise, may be brought against NGI, 
arising from or related to NGI’s Work, more than two years after the cessation 
of NGI’s Work hereunder.  NGI will not be liable to Client unless Client has 
notified us in writing of the discovery of the claimed negligent act, error, or 
omission within 30 days of the date of its discovery and unless Client has given 
us an opportunity to investigate and to recommend ways of mitigating Client’s 
damages. 
 
18. PROVISIONS SEVERABLE: Any provision or part of the Agreement held 
to be void or unenforceable under any laws or regulations shall be deemed 
stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding 
upon Client and NGI, who agree that the Agreement shall be reformed to 
replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable 
provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the 
stricken provision. 

19.  MUTUAL WAIVER: To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client and NGI 
waive against each other any and all claims for or entitlement to special, 
incidental, indirect, consequential, delay, punitive, or similar losses or damages 
arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to the project. 
 
20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Agreement comprises the final and 
complete understanding between Client and NGI. It supersedes all prior or 
contemporaneous communications, representations, or agreements, whether 
oral or written, relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. Execution of 
this Agreement signifies that each party has read the document thoroughly, has 
had any questions explained by independent counsel, and is satisfied. Any 
additional provisions contained in any Client purchase order, acknowledgment, 
or other form previously or subsequently submitted by Client shall not operate 
to modify this Agreement.  Amendments to these General Conditions shall not 
be binding unless made in writing and signed by both Client and NGI.  This 
Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original having identical legal effect.  
 
21. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY:  In recognition of the fees charged by NGI, 
the relative risks and benefits of this project to both Client and NGI, Client, all 
parties claiming through Client, and all parties claiming to have in any way 
relied on NGI’s Work, agree that to the fullest extent permitted by law, NGI’s 
total liability arising out of or in any way related to NGI’s Work, the project or 
this Agreement, from any cause or causes, including but not limited to NGI’s 
employees or agents negligent acts, errors, omissions, design defect, breach 
of contract or any other theory of liability shall be limited to Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($50,000.00) or NGI’s fees, whichever is more.  NGI agrees to waive 
the limit of liability provided for in this provision up to Two Hundred Fifty 
Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00), provided that Client agrees to pay an 
additional amount equal to four percent (4%) of the services fee, or $200.00, 
whichever is greater.   
 
PLEASE INITIAL YOUR PREFERENCE: 

 
 Client agrees to limit NGI’s liability to NGI’s fee or $50,000.00, 

whichever is greater, as stated above and understands that this 
limitation applies to all causes of actions under any legal theory 
Client may have against NGI. 

OR 

 Client does not agree to limit NGI’s liability to NGI’s fee or 
$50,000.00, whichever is greater.  Client agrees to pay an 
additional amount equal to four percent (4%) of the services fee, 
or $200.00, whichever is greater, in order to extend NGI’s liability 
to $250,000.00.  This increased fee is not the purchase of 
insurance.  It is agreed that NGI’s maximum liability for any 
cause or causes of action, including any cause of action arising 
from design defect, error, omission, professional negligence, 
breach of contract or any other theory of liability shall be no 
more than $250,000.00.  Only one such amount shall apply to any 
project. 

 
 

CLIENT: Citycounty Insurance Services 
c/o Cumming Group 
6000 Meadows Road, Suite 410 
Lake Oswego, Oregon 97035 
 
 

CLIENT SIGNATURE:  
      
    
DATE:  
 
 
PROJECT: Geotechnical Services 
 Proposed Building and Site Improvements 

Citycounty Insurance Services 
9990 SW Wilsonville Road 
Wilsonville, Oregon 

x

May 5, 2023
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EASEMENT DESCRIPTIONS

11
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16
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10

THE PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND EXCEPTIONS ARE PER A PRELIMINARY REPORT
PREPARED BY FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE COMPANY OF OREGON WITH ORDER NO.
45142127220 WITH AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF SEPTEMBER 24, 2021 AT 08:00 AM.

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO, AS GRANTED IN A DOCUMENT:

GRANTED TO: UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
PURPOSE: TRANSMISSION LINE
RECORDING DATE: FEBRUARY 8, 1957
RECORDING NO: BOOK 521, PAGE 669
AFFECTS: WESTERLY PORTION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO, AS GRANTED IN A DOCUMENT:

GRANTED TO: THE PUBLIC
PURPOSE: PUBLIC UTILITY, WATER, BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN EASEMENTS
RECORDING DATE: FEBRUARY 4, 2003
RECORDING NO: 2003-014486
AFFECTS: NORTHWESTERLY PORTION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

SURVEYOR'S NOTE: THE EXCEPTION IS A DEED FOR ADJACENT PROPERTY AND
DOES NOT CONTAIN EASEMENTS.  IT IS NOT PLOTTED.

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO, AS GRANTED IN A DOCUMENT:

GRANTED TO: CITY OF WILSONVILLE
PURPOSE: PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
RECORDING DATE: SEPTEMBER 19, 2012
RECORDING NO: 2012-060556
AFFECTS: NORTH 21 FEET

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO AS DELINEATED OR AS OFFERED FOR DEDICATION, ON THE MAP OF SAID
TRACT/PLAT;

PURPOSE: PUBLIC UTILITY AND SIDEWALK EASEMENT
AFFECTS: 8.00 FEET ALONG KINSMAN ROAD FRONTAGE

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO AS DELINEATED OR AS OFFERED FOR DEDICATION, ON THE MAP OF SAID
TRACT/PLAT;

PURPOSE: ACCESS EASEMENT FOR THE BENEFIT OF CITY OF WILSONVILLE
AFFECTS: A STRIP 15 FEET IN WIDTH, AS SHOWN ON PLAT

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO AS DELINEATED OR AS OFFERED FOR DEDICATION, ON THE MAP OF SAID
TRACT/PLAT;

PURPOSE: STORM DRAINAGE
AFFECTS: SOUTHERLY PORTION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO AS DELINEATED OR AS OFFERED FOR DEDICATION, ON THE MAP OF SAID
TRACT/PLAT;

AFFECTS:  VARIOUS OTHER EASEMENTS AS SHOWN ON PLAT

SURVEYOR'S NOTE: THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO
A WATER, BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN EASEMENT PER CLACKAMAS COUNTY
VERDICT NO. 0103186 DATED APRIL 7, 2003.

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO, AS GRANTED IN A DOCUMENT:

GRANTED TO: CITY OF WILSONVILLE
PURPOSE: STREET TREE EASEMENT
RECORDING DATE: DECEMBER 5, 2012
RECORDING NO: 2012-080105
AFFECTS: A STRIP 20 FEET IN WIDTH - SEE PLAT FOR EXACT LOCATION

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO, AS GRANTED IN A DOCUMENT:

GRANTED TO: WILLAMETTE WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM COMMISSION, AN OREGON
INTERGOVERNMENTAL ENTITY
ORGANIZED UNDER ORS CHAPTER 190
PURPOSE: TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
RECORDING DATE: OCTOBER 30, 2019
RECORDING NO: 2019-068704

SURVEYOR'S NOTE: THE DOCUMENT INCLUDES A PERMANENT EASEMENT IN
ADDITION TO THE TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT.

EASEMENT(S) FOR THE PURPOSE(S) SHOWN BELOW AND RIGHTS INCIDENTAL
THERETO, AS GRANTED IN A DOCUMENT:

GRANTED TO: CITY OF WILSONVILLE
PURPOSE: TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
RECORDING DATE: FEBRUARY 9, 2021
RECORDING NO: 2021-013779

9
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KEYNOTES

SITE DATA

PARKING DATA

AREA (SF) AREA (AC) COVERAGE
GROSS PROPERTY AREA 89,235 2.05
UNDEVELOPABLE AREA 37,091 0.85 42%
NET BUILDABLE AREA 52,144 1.20 58%
AREA OF DISTURBANCE 62,604 1.44 70.2%
IMPERVIOUS AREA
   BUILDING AREA 15,744 0.36 17.6%
   PAVED AREA 26,898 0.62 30.1%
TOTAL IMPERVIOUS AREA 42,642 0.98 47.8%

LANDSCAPE AREA* 19,962 0.46 31.9%

PARKING AREA 23,073 0.53
PARKING AREA LANDSCAPE 5,213 0.12 22.6%

REQUIRED STALLS PROVIDED STALLS
PARKING TYPE MINIMUM MAXIMUM
   STANDARD 0 NONE 38
   COMPACT 0 26 24
   ACCESSIBLE 0 3 3
TOTAL PARKING 0 NONE 65
PARKING RATIO (SPACES/1,000 SF) 0 4.1 4.1

BICYCLE PARKING REQUIRED SPACES PROVIDED SPACES
  SHORT TERM (1/5,000 SF, 2 MIN.) 4 - 4
  LONG TERM 0 - 0
TOTAL BICYCLE PARKING 4 4

32-01 ASPHALT PAVEMENT PER PAVING LEGEND ON C0.01
32-02 CONCRETE SIDEWALK PER 2/C5.10
32-03 VERTICAL CURB PER 3/C5.10
32-04 MOUNTABLE CURB PER 4/C5.10
32-05 VERTICAL CURB AND GUTTER PER 5/C5.10
32-06 BIKE RACK PER 1/C5.10
32-07 CURB BREAK PER 6/C5.10
32-08 RIP RAP PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE STD DWG ST-6020 & ST-6045
32-09 PRECAST WHEEL STOP PER 8/C5.10
32-10 CORNER CURB RAMP PER 9/C5.10
32-11 PARALLEL CURB RAMP PER 10/C5.10
32-12 ACCESSIBLE PARKING STALL PER 11/C5.10
32-13 PARKING STALL STRIPING PER 12/C5.10
32-14 TRASH ENCLOSURE PER ARCHITECTURAL PLANS
32-15 LANDSCAPE AREA PER LANDSCAPE PLANS
32-16 ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION PER ELECTRICAL PLANS
32-17 MONUMENT SIGN PER ARCHITECTURAL PLANS
32-18 PROPOSED CITY OF WILSONVILLE ACCESS EASEMENT
32-19 RECESS SIDEWALK THICKNESS AS REQUIRED TO ACCOMMODATE WALK OFF MAT

AT BUILDING ENTRANCE PER ARCHITECTURAL PLANS
32-20 THICKENED SLAB EDGE ON ALL SIDES OF PATIO SLAB PER 7/C5.10
32-21 SAWCUT PER 13/C5.10
32-22 DEEPENED VERTICAL CURB PER 14/C5.10

33-01 UTILITY STRUCTURE PER UTILITY PLAN
33-02 STORM FACILITY PER GRADING AND UTILITY PLANS
33-03 SITE LIGHT PER ELECTRICAL PLANS
33-04 TRANSFORMER WITH PROTECTIVE BOLLARD PER PGE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS

XX-XX

*INCLUDES NON-BUILDABLE AREA
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KEYNOTES
32-01 CURB BREAK PER SITE PLAN
32-02 RIP RAP FOR STORMWATER OUTFALL PER SITE PLAN
33-01 CONNECT TO EXISTING WATER SERVICE LATERAL PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE 

STD DWG WT-3025 & WT-3045
33-02 DOMESTIC WATER LINE, UTILITY TRENCH EXCAVATION PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE

STD DWG S-2145. REPLACE ROAD STRIPING IN KIND PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
PAVEMENT MARKING STANDARDS

33-03 FIRE WATER LINE, UTILITY TRENCH EXCAVATION PER 1/C5.11
33-04 IRRIGATION WATER LINE, UTILITY TRENCH EXCAVATION PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE

STD DWG S-2145. REPLACE ROAD STRIPING IN KIND PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
PAVEMENT MARKING STANDARDS

33-05 WATER METER BOX AND LID PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE STD DWG WT-3050 & WT-3051
33-06 BACKFLOW PREVENTER PER 2/C5.11 (DCV) OR 3/C5.11 (DDC)
33-07 FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION PER 4/C5.11
33-08 CONNECT TO BUILDING PLUMBING
33-09 CONNECT TO EXISTING SANITARY LATERAL
33-10 SANITARY LINE, UTILITY TRENCH EXCAVATION PER 1/C5.11
33-11 CLEANOUT PER 7/C5.11, SEE UTILITY NOTE 3 ON C0.01
33-12 SANITARY DRAIN PER PLUMBING PLANS
33-13 CONNECT TO EXISTING STORM LATERAL
33-14 STORM LINE, UTILITY TRENCH EXCAVATION PER 1/C5.11
33-15 BEEHIVE OVERFLOW INLET PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE STD DWG ST-6120
33-16 RAIN GARDEN PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE STD DWG ST-6020
33-17 VEGETATED SWALE PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE STD DWG ST-6045
33-18 JOIN BUILDING DOWNSPOUT PER 8/C5.11
33-19 BACKWATER VALVE PER 6/C5.11. JOIN PROPOSED STORM DRAIN SYSTEM
33-20 4" FOUNDATION DRAIN PER 5/C5.11
33-21 SITE LIGHT PER ELECTRICAL PLANS
33-22 TRANSFORMER AND PROTECTIVE BOLLARDS PER PGE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS

XX-XX

CROSS SECTION AT SE BLDG CORNER3
C1.30 HORIZ: 1" = 10'

VERT: 1" = 10'

CROSS SECTION AT NE BLDG CORNER2
C1.30 HORIZ: 1" = 10'

VERT: 1" = 10'
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PER CITY OF WILSONVILLE STORMWATER AND SURFACE WATER DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS - SECTION 3 - PUBLIC WORKS STANDARDS (2015)

LANDSCAPE  PLAN FACILITY AREA CALCULATIONS INCLUDE TOP OF FREEBOARD. CIVIL
PLAN FACILITY AREA CALCULATIONS REPORT TO TOP OF OVERFLOW INLET, EXCLUDING
THE FREEBOARD.

PROVIDE AT LEAST 50% EVERGREEN PLANTS AND AT LEAST 2
SPECIES OF HERBACEOUS AND SMALL SHRUBS/GROUNDCOVER PLANT COMMUNITIES.

MOIST (ZONE A) VEGETATION TYPE QUANTITY SIZE
GROUNDCOVER PLANTS 115/100 SF #1 CONTAINER
SMALL SHRUBS 4/100 SF #1 CONTAINER
LARGE SHRUBS / SMALL TREES 3/100 SF 30" HEIGHT

DRY (ZONE B) VEGETATION TYPE QUANTITY SIZE           
GROUNDCOVER PLANTS 115/100 SF #1 CONTAINER
SMALL SHRUBS 4/100 SF #1 CONTAINER
LARGE SHRUBS / SMALL TREES 3/100 SF 30" HEIGHT
TREE (DECIDUOUS) OR 1/100 SF 1" CALIPER
TREE (EVERGREEN) 1/100 SF 6' HEIGHT

STORMWATER PLANT SCHEDULE
1. PLANTING SCHEDULE: CONTAINERIZED  STOCK SHALL BE INSTALLED ONLY FROM FEBRUARY 1

THROUGH MAY 1 AND OCTOBER 1 THROUGH NOVEMBER 15. BARE ROOT STOCK SHALL BE
INSTALLED ONLY FROM DECEMBER 15 THROUGH APRIL 15. SEEDING SHALL OCCUR ONLY BETWEEN
MARCH 1 THROUGH MAY 15 AND SEPTEMBER 1 THROUGH OCTOBER 15.

2. EROSION CONTROL: GRADING, SOIL PREPARATION, AND SEEDING SHALL BE PERFORMED DURING
OPTIMAL WEATHER CONDITIONS AND AT LOW FLOW LEVELS TO MINIMIZE SEDIMENT IMPACTS.
BIODEGRADABLE FABRICS SUCH AS BURLAP MAY BE USED TO SECURE PLANT PLUGS IN PLACE
AND TO DISCOURAGE FLOATING UPON INUNDATION. NO PLASTIC MESH THAT CAN ENTANGLE
WILDLIFE IS PERMITTED.

3. GROWING MEDIUM INSTALLATION:

3.1. PROTECT GROWING MEDIUM FROM ALL SOURCES OF CONTAMINATION, INCLUDING WEED
SEEDS, WHILE AT THE SUPPLIER, IN CONVEYANCE, AND AT THE PROJECT SITE.

3.2. PLACE MEDIUM IN LOOSE LIFTS, NOT TO EXCEED 8-INCHES AND EACH LIFT SHALL BE
COMPACTED WITH A WATER-FILLED LANDSCAPE ROLLER. THE MATERIAL SHALL NOT
OTHERWISE BE MECHANICALLY COMPACTED.

3.3. WEATHER PERMITTING, PLANTS SHALL BE INSTALLED AS SOON AS POSSIBLE AFTER PLACING
AND GRADING THE GROWING MEDIUM IN ORDER TO MINIMIZE EROSION AND FURTHER
COMPACTION.

3.4. TEMPORARY EROSION CONTROL MEASURES ARE REQUIRED UNTIL PERMANENT STABILIZATION
MEASURES ARE FUNCTIONAL, INCLUDING PROTECTION OF OVERFLOW STRUCTURES.

3.5. IN ALL CASES, THE FACILITY MUST BE PROTECTED FROM FOOT AND EQUIPMENT TRAFFIC THAT
IS UNRELATED TO THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE FACILITY. TEMPORARY FENCING OR
WALKWAYS SHOULD BE INSTALLED AS NEEDED TO KEEP WORKERS, PEDESTRIANS, AND
EQUIPMENT OUT OF THE FACILITY. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHOULD MATERIALS AND
EQUIPMENT BE STORED IN THE FACILITY.

3.6. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES SHALL BE KEPT CLEAN AND SHALL NOT BE USED AS
EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL STRUCTURES DURING CONSTRUCTION.

3.7. PLACEMENT OF THE GROWING MEDIUM WILL NOT BE ALLOWED WHEN THE GROUND IS FROZEN
OR SATURATED OR WHEN THE WEATHER IS DETERMINED TO BE TOO WET.

4. MULCHING FOR STORMWATER FACILITIES SHALL BE PER SECTION A.3.7. USE OF MULCH IN
FREQUENTLY INUNDATED AREAS SHALL BE LIMITIED TO AVOID ANY POSSIBLE WATER QUALITY
IMPACTS INCLUDING THE LEACHING OF TANNINS AND NUTRIENTS, ANFD THE MIGRATION OF MULCH
INTO WATER WAYS. MULCHES SHALL BE STABLE AND INERT MATTER OF SUFFICIENT MASS AND
DENSITY THAT IT WLL NOT FLOAT IN STANDARD FLOWS, MULCH COVER SHOULD BE MAINTAINED
THROUGHOUT THE LIFE OF THE FACILITY WITH MINIMUM THICKNESS OF 2-INCHES IN DEPTH.

5. PLANT PROTECTION FROM WILDLIFE: DEPENDING ON SITE CONDITIONS, APPROPRIATE MEASURES
SHALL BE TAKEN TO LIMIT WILDLIFE-RELATED DAMAGE. IF BEAVERS OR NUTRIA ARE PRESENT,
PROTECT THE MAIN STEM OF ALL TREES WITHIN 100' OF THE EDGE OF WATER WITH 36" OF WIRE
MESH.

6. FERTILIZER SHOULD GENERALLY BE AVOIDED IN STORMWATER FACILITIES. FERTILIZE ALL PLANTS
DURING ESTABLISHMENT AS NEEDED WITH SLOW RELEASE, ORGANIC (LOW YIELD) MATERIAL.

7. IRRIGATION: A CITY APPROVED IRRIGATION SYSTEM MAY BE USED DURING THE 2-YEAR
ESTABLISHMENT PERIOD. WATERING SHALL BE AT A RATE TO MAINTAIN ALL PLANTINGS IN A
HEALTHY THRIVING CONDITION DURING ESTABLISHMENT. OTHER IRRIGATION TECHNIQUES, SUCH
AS DEEP WATERING, MAY BE ALLOWED WITH PRIOR APPROVAL BY THE CITY'S AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE.

8. MAINTENANCE: CHECK FOR WEEDS REGULARLY. CHECK MULCH REGULARLY AND MAINTAIN EVEN
COVERAGE. REPLANT BARE PATCHES AS NECESSARY TO COMPLY WITH THE FACILITY'S COVERAGE
REQUIREMENTS AND MAINTENANCE PLAN. IMPLEMENT ALL OF THE REQUIRED MAINTENANCE
ACTIVITIES LISTED IN THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE VEGETATED STORMWATER MANAGEMENT
FACILITY DETAILS.

STORMWATER NOTES SHEET INDEX
L0.01 LANDSCAPE GENERAL INFORMATION
L0.02 LANDSCAPE CODE PLAN
L0.03 TREE AND VEGETATION PROTECTION PLAN
L1.10 PLANTING PLAN - NORTH
L1.11 PLANTING PLAN - SOUTH
L5.10 DETAILS

GENERAL

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFIRM ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK.

2. CALL BEFORE YOU DIG. CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY INVERT ELEVATIONS OF ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITIES
AND NOTIFY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IF THERE ARE ANY DISCREPANCIES WITH PLANTING ROOT ZONES. TO
REQUEST LOCATES FOR PROPOSED EXCAVATION CALL 1-800-332-2344 (OR 811) IN OREGON.

3. NOTIFY THE OWNER OR OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY DISCREPANCIES OR CONFLICTS WITH EXISTING
CONDITIONS PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF ANY WORK.

4. LOCATION OF EXISTING TREES SHALL BE VERIFIED IN THE FIELD BY THE CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK.

5. DAMAGE TO EXISTING CONCRETE CURB, ASPHALT PAVING, OR OTHER STRUCTURE SHALL BE REPAIRED OR
REPLACED TO PRE CONSTRUCTION CONDITIONS.

6. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH THE OWNER ANY DISRUPTION TO VEHICULAR CIRCULATION PRIOR TO
COMMENCEMENT OF ANY WORK.

PLANTING

1. ALL EXISTING TREES, PLANTS, AND ROOTS SHALL BE PROTECTED FROM DAMAGE FROM ANY CONSTRUCTION
PREPARATION, REMOVAL OR INSTALLATION ACTIVITIES WITHIN AND ADJACENT TO PROJECT LIMITS.

2. SHRUBS ADJACENT TO PARKING AREAS SHALL BE PLANTED 2 FT MINIMUM AWAY FROM THE BACK OF CURB.
SHRUBS AND GROUNDCOVER ALONG OTHER PAVEMENT EDGES SHALL BE PLANTED A MINIMUM OF ONE HALF
THEIR ON CENTER SPACING AWAY FROM PAVEMENT EDGE.

3. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE HEALTHY NURSERY STOCK, WELL BRANCHED AND ROOTED, FULL FOLIAGE,
FREE FROM INSECTS, DISEASES, WEEDS, WEED ROT, INJURIES AND DEFECTS WITH NO LESS THAN MINIMUMS
SPECIFIED IN AMERICAN STANDARDS FOR NURSERY STOCK, ANSI Z60.1-2004.

4. TREES IN THE RIGHT OF WAY SHALL BE TALL ENOUGH TO BE LIMBED UP TO AT LEAST 8 FT ABOVE DRIVE
SURFACE GRADE WHILE MAINTAINING ENOUGH BRANCHES TO SUPPORT HEALTHY GROWTH.

5. DO NOT PLANT TREES ABOVE WATERLINES, UTILITIES, OR OTHER UNDERGROUND PIPING.

6. IF DISTURBANCE IS NECESSARY AROUND EXISTING TREES, CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT THE CROWN AND
ALL WORK WITHIN THE TREE DRIPZONE SHALL BE LIMITED TO THE USE OF HAND TOOLS AND MANUAL
EQUIPMENT ONLY.

7. REPLACE, REPAIR AND RESTORE DISTURBED LANDSCAPE AREAS DUE TO GRADING, TRENCHING OR OTHER
REASONS TO PRE-CONSTRUCTION CONDITION AND PROVIDE MATERIAL APPROVED BY THE OWNER AND
OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE.

8. EXISTING AREAS PROPOSED FOR NEW PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE CLEARED AND LEGALLY DISPOSED UNLESS
SO NOTED.

9. A SOILS ANALYSIS, BY AN INDEPENDENT SOILS TESTING LABORATORY RECOGNIZED BY THE STATE
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, SHALL BE USED TO RECOMMEND AN APPROPRIATE PLANTING SOIL AND/OR
SPECIFIED SOIL AMENDMENTS.

10. TOPSOIL SHALL BE AMENDED AS RECOMMENDED BY AN INDEPENDENT SOILS TESTING LABORATORY AND AS
OUTLINED IN THE SPECIFICATION.

11. ALL LANDSCAPED AREAS SHALL BE COVERED BY A LAYER OF ORGANIC MULCH TO A MINIMUM DEPTH OF
2-INCHES.

IRRIGATION

1. UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED, ALL NEW LANDSCAPE AREAS TO BE IRRIGATED WITH A FULLY AUTOMATIC
UNDERGROUND IRRIGATION SYSTEM. PROVIDE LOOP SYSTEM FOR OPTIMUM EFFICIENCY.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT SHOP DRAWINGS (IRRIGATION PLANS) TO LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION. DRAWINGS TO INDICATE HEAD TYPE, GALLONS PER MINUTE, LATERAL LINES, AND BE AT
MINIMUM SCALE OF 1"=20'

3. CONTRACTOR TO DETERMINE STATIC WATER PRESSURE AT THE P.O.C. PRIOR TO PREPARING SHOP
DRAWINGS.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL ESTABLISH MINIMUM PRESSURE AND MAXIMUM DEMAND REQUIREMENTS FOR
IRRIGATION SYSTEM DESIGN, AND PROVIDE INFORMATION IN AN IRRIGATION SCHEDULE.

5. IRRIGATION SYSTEM AS DESIGNED AND INSTALLED SHALL PERFORM WITHIN THE TOLERANCES AND
SPECIFICATIONS OF THE SPECIFIED MANUFACTURERS.

6. SYSTEM SHALL BE DESIGNED TO SUPPLY MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFIED MINIMUM OPERATING PRESSURE TO
FARTHEST EMITTER FROM WATER METER.

7. SYSTEM SHALL PROVIDE HEAD TO HEAD COVERAGE WITHOUT OVERSPRAY ONTO BUILDING, FENCES,
SIDEWALKS, PARKING AREAS, OR OTHER NON-VEGETATED SURFACES.

8. ALL IRRIGATION PIPE MATERIAL AND INSTALLATION SHALL CONFORM TO APPLICABLE CODE FOR PIPING AND
COMPONENT REQUIREMENTS.

9. PROVIDE SLEEVING AT ALL AREAS WHERE PIPE TRAVELS UNDER CONCRETE OR HARD SURFACING.

10. VALVES SHALL BE WIRED AND INSTALLED PER MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDED INSTALLATION
PROCEDURES AND CONNECTED TO THE IRRIGATION CONTROLLER.

11. ZONE THE FOLLOWING AREAS SEPARATELY: STORMWATER AREAS, STREAM BUFFER AREAS, PERMANENT
LANDSCAPE AREAS, AND TREES.

12. QUICK COUPLERS TO BE PLACED EVERY 150 LINEAR FEET MAX.INCLUDE QUICK COUPLER ADJACENT TO TRASH
ENCLOSURE.

13. IRRIGATION SHALL BE WINTERIZED THROUGH LOW PRESSURE, HIGH VOLUME AIR BLOWOUT CONNECTION
THROUGH QUICK COUPLER.

14. PROVIDE SPRAY IRRIGATION WITHIN STREAM BUFFER, STORMWATER FACILITIES, AND AT NORTH END OF
PARKING LOT WITHIN GROUNDCOVER AT WATER UTILITY ACCESS. PROVIDE DRIP IRRIGATION AROUND
BUILDING, IN PLANTERS, AND WITHIN PARKING AREA.

LANDSCAPE NOTES

PLANT SCHEDULE

STREAM BUFFER PLANT SCHEDULE

STREAM BUFFER (4,704 SF)

PLANT SPECIES PERCENTAGE QTY. SIZE SPACING

TREES:
ACER CIRCINATUM / VINE MAPLE --- 5 1" CAL. AS SHOWN
RHAMNUS PURSHIANA / CASCARA --- 4 1" CAL. AS SHOWN

LARGE SHRUBS:
HOLODISCUS DISCOLOR / OCEANSPRAY 5% (236 SF) 13 #2 48" OC
OEMLERIA CERASIFORMIS / INDIAN PLUM 5% (236 SF) 13 #2 48" OC
PHYSOCARPUS CAPITATUS / PACIFIC NINBARK 5% (236 SF) 13 #2 48" OC
RIBES SANGUINEUM / RED FLOWERING CURRANT 5% (236 SF) 13 #2 48" OC
SPIRAEA DOUGLASII / WESTERN SPIREA 5% (235 SF) 13 #2 48" OC

SMALL SHRUBS:
GAULTHERIA SHALLON / SALAL 15% (705 SF) 72 #1 36" OC
MAHONIA AQUIFOLIUM / OREGON GRAPE 15% (705 SF) 72 #1 36" OC
MAHONIA REPENS / CREEPING OREGON GRAPE 15% (705 SF) 72 #1 36" OC
POLYSTICHUM MUNITUM / WESTERN SWORD FERN 15% (705 SF) 72 #1 36" OC
SYMPHORICARPOS ALBUS / SNOWBERRY 15% (705 SF) 72 #1 36" OC

MATURE H x W

15' x 15'

50' x 50'

25' x 20'

---

30' x 25'

---

45' x 30'

MATURE H x W

3' x 3'

5' x 2'

4' x 4'

4' x 4'

2' x 3'

6' x 4'

3' x 4'

5' x 5'

3' x 3'

2' x 1.5'

4' x 4'

3' x 3'

2' x 3'

3' x 4'

PLANT LIST

FACILITY A  /  RAIN GARDEN
PLANT NAME SIZE SPACING EVER-

GREEN
ZONE A ZONE B

1,928 SF 571 SF

REQUIRED HERBACEOUS / GROUND COVER PLANTS (115 PER 100 SF) 2217 657

ARCTOSTAPHYLOS UVA-URSI / KINNIKINNICK #1 12" OC YES 357

CAREX OBNUPTA / SLOUGH SEDGE #1 12" OC YES 740

FRAGARIA CHILOENSIS / BEACH STRAWBERRY #1 12" OC YES 150

JUNCUS PATENS / SPREADING RUSH #1 12" OC YES 740

POLYSTICHUM MUNITUM / WESTERN SWORD FERN #1 12" OC YES 737 150

REQUIRED SMALL SHRUBS (4 PER 100 SF) 77 23

CORNUS SERCIA 'KELSEYI' / KELSEY DOGWOOD #2 36" NO 37 10

MAHONIA AQUIFOLIUM / OREGON GRAPE #2 36" YES 40

SYMPHORICARPOS ALBUS / SNOWBERRY #1 36" NO 13

REQUIRED LARGE SHRUBS / SMALL TREES (3 PER 100 SF) 58 17

HOLODISCUS DISCOLOR / OCEANSPRAY 30" HT 48" NO 18

RIBES SANGUINEUM / RED FLOWERING CURRANT 30" HT 48" NO 20 9

SPIREA DOUGLASII / WESTERN SPIREA 30" HT 48" NO 20 8

REQUIRED TREES (1 PER 100 SF) 0 6

CORNUS NUTTALII / PACIFIC DOGWOOD 1" CAL AS SHOWN NO 3

ACER CIRCINATUM / VINE MAPLE 1" CAL AS SHOWN NO 3

TOTAL PLANTS IN FACILITY 3,055

TOTAL EVERGREEN PLANTS 2,914

% EVERGREEN IN FACILITY 95.4%

PLANT LIST

FACILITY B  /  SWALE
PLANT NAME SIZE SPACING EVER-

GREEN
ZONE A ZONE B

294 SF 989 SF

REQUIRED HERBACEOUS / GROUND COVER PLANTS (115 PER 100 SF) 338 1,137

ARCTOSTAPHYLOS UVA-URSI / KINNIKINNICK #1 12" OC YES 617

CAREX OBNUPTA / SLOUGH SEDGE #1 12" OC YES 114

FRAGARIA CHILOENSIS / BEACH STRAWBERRY #1 12" OC YES 260

JUNCUS PATENS / SPREADING RUSH #1 12" OC YES 114

POLYSTICHUM MUNITUM / WESTERN SWORD FERN #1 12" OC YES 110 260

REQUIRED SMALL SHRUBS (4 PER 100 SF) 12 40

CORNUS SERCIA 'KELSEYI' / KELSEY DOGWOOD #2 36" NO 6 20

MAHONIA AQUIFOLIUM / OREGON GRAPE #2 36" YES 6

SYMPHORICARPOS ALBUS / SNOWBERRY #1 36" NO 20

REQUIRED LARGE SHRUBS / SMALL TREES (3 PER 100 SF) 9 30

HOLODISCUS DISCOLOR / OCEANSPRAY 30" HT 48" NO 3

RIBES SANGUINEUM / RED FLOWERING CURRANT 30" HT 48" NO 3 15

SPIREA DOUGLASII / WESTERN SPIREA 30" HT 48" NO 3 15

REQUIRED TREES (1 PER 100 SF) 0 10

CORNUS NUTTALII / PACIFIC DOGWOOD 1" CAL AS SHOWN NO 5

ACER CIRCINATUM / VINE MAPLE 1" CAL AS SHOWN NO 5

TOTAL PLANTS IN FACILITY 1,576

TOTAL EVERGREEN PLANTS 1,481

% EVERGREEN IN FACILITY 93.9%

IMPACT AREA PLANT SCHEDULE

IMPACT AREA MITIGATION PLANTING (280 SF)

PLANT SPECIES PERCENTAGE QTY. SIZE SPACING

LARGE SHRUBS:
RIBES SANGUINEUM / RED FLOWERING CURRANT 5% (14 SF) 1 #2 48" OC

SMALL SHRUBS:
GAULTHERIA SHALLON / SALAL 30% (84 SF) 9 #1 36" OC
MAHONIA REPENS / LOW OREGON GRAPE 20% (56 SF) 6 #1 36" OC
POLYSTICHUM MUNITUM / WESTERN SWORD FERN 25% (70 SF) 8 #1 36" OC
SYMPHORICARPOS ALBUS / SNOWBERRY 20% (56 SF) 6 #1 36" OC

3' x 4'

1' x 4'

---

60' x 40'
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SECTION 4.176(.02)

D. LOW SCREEN LANDSCAPING STANDARD
ONE TREE PER 30 LF, 3-FT HT EVERGREEN HEDGE, AND GROUNDCOVER TO FULL COVERAGE.

APPLIES ALONG SW WILSONVILLE ROAD FRONTAGE
FRONTAGE 312 LF
TREES REQUIRED (1 PER 30 LF) 11 TREES

EXISTING 0 TREES
ADDTL. PROVIDED 11 TREES
TOTAL 11 TREES

APPLIES ALONG SW KINSMAN ROAD FRONTAGE
FRONTAGE 380 LF
TREES REQUIRED (1 PER 30 LF) 13 TREES

EXISTING 9 TREES
ADDTL. PROVIDED 4 TREES
TOTAL 13 TREES

SECTION 4.176(.03)
LANDSCAPING AREA
NOT LESS THAN 15% OF TOTAL LOT AREA  INCLUDING 10% OF PARKING AREA, IS LOCATED IN THREE SEPARATE
AND DISTINCT AREAS OF THE LOT. LANDSCAPING IS PROVIDED ALONG THE FRONTAGE, THE FULL PERIMETER,
WITHIN THE PARKING LOT, AND ADJACENT THE BUILDING.

SECTION 4.176(.06)
A. SHRUBS AND GROUNDCOVER
SHRUBS ARE 2-GAL OR BETTER. WHERE FEASIBLE NATIVE TOPSOIL WILL BE STOCKPILED OFFSITE, REUSED, AND
AMENDED WITH COMPOST.  GROUNDCOVER IS SIZED TO PROVIDE AT LEAST 80% COVERAGE WITHIN 3 YEARS.
TURF OR LAWN COVERS LESS THAN 10% OF LANDSCAPE AREA AND IRRIGATION DRAINAGE SHALL BE RETAINED
WITHIN LAWN AREA.
B. TREES
TREES SHOULD BE WELL BRANCHED AND TYPICAL OF THEIR TYPE AS DESCRIBED IN THE CURRENT AMERICAN
ASSOCIATION OF NURSERYMEN (AAN) STANDARDS AND SHALL BE BALLED AND BURLAPPED. TREES SHOULD BE
GROUPED AS FOLLOWS:

1. PRIMARY TREES, WHICH DEFINE, OUTLINE, OR ENCLOSE MAJOR SPACES, SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF 2"
CALIPER.

2. SECONDARY TREES, WHICH DEFINE, OUTLINE, OR ENCLOSE INTERIOR AREAS, SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF
1-3/4" CALIPER.

3. ACCENT TREES, WHICH ARE USED TO ADD COLOR, VARIEGATION, AND ACCENT TO ARCHITECTURAL
FEATURES, SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF 1-3/4" CALIPER.

4. LARGE CONIFER TREES ARE 8-FOOT TALL OR BETTER.
5. MEDIUM CONIFER TREES ARE 5-FOOT TALL OR BETTER.

C. LARGER PLANT MATERIAL
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT IS LARGER THAN 24-FEET IN HEIGHT. AT MATURITY TREES WILL BE AT LEAST 50% THE
HEIGHT OF THE BUILDING. DECIDUOUS TREES SHALL BE AT LEAST 10-FEET TALL AND 2-INCH CALIPER.
EVERGREEN TREES MUST BE AT LEAST 12-FEET IN HEIGHT. LARGER PLANT MATERIAL HAS BEEN PROVIDED
ALONG THE FRONTAGE.
D. STREET TREES
NO STREET TREES PROPOSED
E. PLANT SPECIES
THE LANDSCAPE CONSISTS OF EXISTING LANDSCAPING AND/OR NATIVE VEGETATION TO BE PROTECTED AND
MAINTAINED DURING CONSTRUCTION AND NATIVE AND DROUGHT TOLERANT PLANT MATERIAL. PLANT MATERIAL
PROVIDED HAS BEEN CROSS-REFERENCED WITH THE CITY'S LIST OF PROHIBITED PLANT MATERIALS.
F. TREE CREDITS
NO TREE CREDITS ARE REQUESTED

SECTION 4.176(.07)
INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE
SEE PLANTING NOTES L0.01. PLANT MATERIAL REQUIRED BY CODE SHALL BE CONTINUOUSLY MAINTAINED BY
OWNER AND REPLACED IN KIND WITHIN ONE GROWN SEASON IF DEAD.

IRRIGATION
SEE IRRIGATION NOTES L0.01. PERMANENT SYSTEM TO BE A DEFERRED SUBMITTAL PROVIDED BY LANDSCAPE
CONTRACTOR.

SECTION 4.176(.09)
PLANT MATERIAL LIST
SEE PLANT SCHEDULE L0.01.

CONDITION OF EXISTING PLANTINGS
ONLY TREES ARE PROPOSED FOR RETENTION. SEE TABLE FOR RETAINED TREES ON L0.03 FOR CONDITION.

WATER USAGE
THE LANDSCAPE CONSISTS OF NATIVE AND DROUGHT TOLERANT PLANT MATERIAL. THE FULL SITE FALLS WITHIN
THE LOW WATER USAGE CATEGORY C REQUIRING LESS THAN ONE INCH PER WEEK.

ZONING COMPLIANCE

CODE LEGEND
LOW SCREEN LANDSCAPING
ALONG SW WILSONVILLE RD

PARKING LOT LANDSCAPE

LOW SCREEN LANDSCAPING
ALONG SW KINSMAN RD

EXISTING MITIGATION
PLANTING AREA (2,514 SF)

EXISTING MITIGATION
PLANTING IMPACT AREA

(226 SF)

MITIGATION PLANTING
REPLACEMENT AREA (226 SF)

STORMWATER
FACILITY A

STORMWATER FACILITY

EXISTING MITIGATION PLANTING
IMPACT AREA

MITIGATION PLANTING
REPLACEMENT AREA

STO
RM

W
ATER FACILITY B

PRIMARY TREE

TRASH ENCLOSURE

SECONDARY TREE
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COFFEE LAKE CREEK

TREE SCHEDULE NOTES
1. REFERENCE PLANTING PLAN FOR NEW TREE PLANTINGS.

2. ALL EROSION CONTROL MEASURES AND TREE PROTECTION FENCING ARE
TO BE INSTALLED PRIOR TO ANY DEMOLITION ACTIVITIES.

3. PROTECT EXISTING LANDSCAPING TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT
PRACTICABLE.

4. PROTECT ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITY SERVICES AND CONDUIT UNLESS
NOTED OTHERWISE.

5. CRITICAL ROOT ZONES AND TREE PROTECTION FENCING ONLY SHOWN
FOR TREES AFFECTED BY DEVELOPMENT.

6. ARBORIST MONITORING: ARBORIST SHALL BE ON SITE DURING
EXCAVATION WITHIN CRITICAL ROOT ZONES OF EXISTING TREES.

7. TREES REMOVED WITHIN THE SROZ WILL BE REPLANTED AT A 1:1 RATIO.

8. NO ACTIVITY MAY BE CONDUCTED WITHIN ANY DESIGNATED TREE
PROTECTION AREA INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO PARKING EQUIPMENT,
PLACING SOLVENTS, STORING MATERIALS AND SOIL DEPOSITS, DUMPING
CONCRETE WASHOUT, OR OTHER DEBRIS, OR ANY EXCAVATION OR
COMPACTION WORK.

9. DURING CONSTRUCTION NO OBJECTS SHALL BE ATTACHED TO ANY TREE
DESIGNATED TO BE RETAINED AND PROTECTED.

10. PROPOSED TRENCHING AND EXCAVATION AROUND TREES SHALL BE
COORDINATED WITH CONSULTING ARBORIST.

11. WHERE TRENCHING IS REQUIRED WITHIN CRITICAL ROOT ZONE, TUNNEL
UNDER OR AROUND ROOTS BY HAND DIGGING OR BORING. DO NOT CUT
MAIN LATERAL ROOTS OR TAP ROOTS. CLEANLY CUT/SEVER SMALLER
ROOTS. RELOCATE ROOTS IN BACKFILL AREAS WHEREVER POSSIBLE.

12. DO NOT ALLOW EXPOSED ROOTS TO DRY OUT BEFORE PERMANENT
BACKFILL IS PLACED, PROVIDE TEMPORARY EARTH COVER, OR PACK WITH
PEAT MOSS AND WRAP WITH BURLAP. WATER AND MAINTAIN MOIST
CONDITION UNTIL RELOCATED AND COVERED WITH BACKFILL.

13. FOR TREES TO BE PROVIDED UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT: IF TREES ARE
INSTALLED PRIOR TO SITE WORK FOR THIS PROJECT, PROVIDE TREE AND
VEGETATION PROTECTION AS SHOWN.

X

DECIDUOUS TREE TO REMAIN

CONIFEROUS TREE TO REMAIN

ROOT PROTECTION ZONE

TREE PROTECTION FENCING

TREES QTY

CONIFEROUS TREE TO REMAIN 1

CONIFEROUS TREE TO REMOVE 2

ON-SITE DECIDUOUS TREE TO REMAIN 5

ON-SITE DECIDUOUS TREE TO REMOVE 1

OFF-SITE DECIDUOUS TREE TO REMAIN 10

OFF-SITE DECIDUOUS TREE TO REMOVE 0

TREE BY OTHER PERMIT TO REMAIN 7

TREE BY OTHER PERMIT TO RELOCATE 1

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

SCALE: NTS
ROOT PROTECTION ZONE

ENCROACHMENTS SHALL
OCCUPY NO MORE THAN 25% OF

THE TOTAL AREA IN THE ROOT
PROTECTION ZONE

DIAMETER OF TREE AT 4.5'
ABOVE GRADE IS 12 INCHES

ENCROACHMENTS SHALL BE
NO CLOSER THAN THE
DRIPLINE OF THE CANOPY
WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL
BY CITY AND ARBORIST.

ROOT PROTECTION ZONE IS
A 12 FOOT RADIUS CIRCLE
(24' DIAMETER)

4'
-6

"

3

X

X

TREE TO REMOVE

TREE PROTECTION FENCING
SCALE: NTS2

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

TREE TO BE PROVIDED UNDER SEPARATE PERMITSP

SP

SP

SP

SP

SP

SP

SP

TREE BY OTHER PERMIT, TO BE RELOCATED
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NOTES
1. SEE L0.01 FOR PLANT SCHEDULES

KEY MAP
SCALE: NTS

L1.10

L1.11

SW WILSONVILLE RD

PROPOSED
BUIDLING

SW
 K

IN
SM

AN
 R

D

COFFEE LAKE CREEK

EXISTING LANDSCAPE
TO REMAIN

PGE EASEMENT

STREAM BUFFER (SROZ)

LIGHT POLE, TYP.
SEE ELEC.

FUTURE MONUMENT SIGN

TRANSFORMER

GRASSPAVE

STORMWATER FACILITY B

BICYCLE RACK,
SEE CIVIL

BACKWATER VALVE, TYP.

1
L3.10

2
L3.10

ELECTRIC VEHICLE
CHARGING STATION,
SEE ELEC.
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DRIP IRRIGATION SYSTEM.

(4) BOUTELOUA GRACILIS 'BLONDE AMBITION'
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BY TOURNESOL (QTY. 2) CONNECT TO AUTOMATIC

DRIP IRRIGATION SYSTEM.

(4) NANDINA DOMESTICA 'LEMON-LIME'
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CRUSHED ROCK SURFACING,
1/4" CLEAN, NO FINES, COMPACTED.
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NOTES
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INSTALLING TOPSOIL AND TILL INTERFACE OF SUBGRADE AND
TOPSOIL.

3. TILL TOPSOIL AND SOIL AMENDMENTS TO A MIN. 12" DEPTH.
4. SUBMIT SAMPLE OF MULCH & TOPSOIL FOR ACCEPTANCE

PRIOR TO PLACEMENT.

EXISTING SUBGRADE
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FINISH GRADE. ESTABLISH AT
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PAVING SURFACES
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CONCRETE THRUST BLOCK

IRRIGATION SUPPLY FROM METER

INSTALL BACKFLOW PREVENTOR PER CODE AND
REQUIREMENTS OF PREVAILING JURISDICTIONS.
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COMMON TRENCH, OVER EXCAVATE TRENCH 2 INCHES
MIN AND BACKFILL WITH SPECIFIED BEDDING
MATERIAL.

4. LOCATE ALL WIRING NOT IN COMMON TRENCHES
ACCURATELY ON RECORD DRAWINGS.
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PVC SCH 40 TEE OR ELL
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LOCKABLE LID

NOTES:
1. PVC ADAPTER AND FITTINGS TO BE SAME SIZE

AS ISOLATION VALVE

FINISH GRADE

MALE ADAPTER /
REDUCER, BOTH SIDES

MAIN LINE

ISOLATION / GATE VALVE,
EQUIPPED FOR KEYED
OPERATION

DRAIN ROCK,
4-INCH  DEPTH MIN

BRICK OR CONC. BLOCK

SCALE: NTS
ISOLATION / GATE VALVE10 ROCK MULCH MAINTENANCE BAND

SCALE: NTS

2'-0" MIN.

4"

FINISH GRADE

FILTER FABRIC

1-2" WASHED
DRAIN ROCK

BUILDING WALL

PLANTING, SEE
LANDSCAPE PLANS

11

30
" D

E
P

TH
 M

IN
.

5'
-6

" M
IN

.
1. PLANT ALL TREES AT LEAST 32 INCHES FROM THE END OF HEAD-IN PARKING

SPACES TO PREVENT DAMAGE FROM CAR OVERHANGS.
2. ALL ROOTS MUST BE COMPLETELY COVERED. BACKFILL SHOULD BE

THOROUGHLY WATERED AS IT IS PLACED AROUND THE ROOTS.
3. SCARIFY AND ROUGHEN BOTTOM OF PLANTING PIT PRIOR TO PLACING TREE

AND TOPSOIL. SLOPE BOTTOM TO DRAIN TO SIDES.
4. THE ENTIRE WIDTH OF THE PLANTING ISLAND SHALL CONTAIN ONLY

SOIL/COMPOST PLANTING MIX AND BE FREE OF ALL DEBRIS INCLUDING
GARBAGE, CONCRETE, GRAVEL OR OTHER FOREIGN MATERIALS.

5. ALL TREES SHALL CONFORM TO MOST RECENT ANSI Z60.1 AMERICAN
STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK. FIRST LIMBS OF DECIDUOUS TREES IN
PARKING LOTS AND ALONG STREETS AND SIDEWALKS SHALL BE 5 FEET ABOVE
GROUND OR HIGHER.

6. EXCAVATE HOLE INTO PREPARED SOIL TO ONE INCH LESS THAN HEIGHT OF
ROOTBALL AND TWO TIMES THE WIDTH OF THE ROOTBALL. TAMP BOTTOM OF
PIT UNDER ROOTBALL THOROUGHLY TO KEEP TREE FROM SETTLING.
BUTTRESS AT THE BOTTOM OF THE PIT NO LESS THAN THREE FEET WIDE IF
NEEDED TO REINFORCE LATERAL SUPPORT.

7. DO NOT DAMAGE THE ROOTBALL WHEN PLANTING. REMOVE ALL WIRE, STRING
AND BURLAP FROM TOP AND SIDES OF ROOTBALL ONLY AFTER PLACING IN THE
HOLE.

8. SET TREE STRAIGHT ON TAMPED SOIL.
9. BACKFILL HOLE WITH APPROVED PLANTING MEDIUM MIX TO HALF DEPTH. TAMP

SOIL TO STABILIZE ROOTBALL. FINISH BACKFILLING AND TAMP AGAIN.
10. STAKE TREES OUTSIDE OF ROOTBALL AND PARALLEL TO PLANTING ISLAND

CURBS WITH TREE STAKES. USE ONE INCH HEAVY CHAINLOCK TREE TIES OR
SIMILAR. REMOVE AFTER ONE YEAR.

11. WATER IMMEDIATELY AND THOROUGHLY, TWICE PER WEEK DURING THE FIRST
MONTH, THEN ONCE PER WEEK THROUGH THE REMAINDER OF THE DRY
SEASON. WATER A MINIMUM OF ONCE PER MONTH DURING THE SECOND
SUMMER SEASON.

12. ALL PLANTING BEDS CONTAINING TREES AND SHRUBS AND SURFACE DRAINAGE
SHALL BE PREPARED SIMILAR TO THIS LANDSCAPE TREE PLANTING AND
DRAINAGE DETAIL.

NOTES

BUILD UP ADDITIONAL 3" MOUND
OF MULCH AROUND THE TREE
TO FORM A BASIN TO CATCH
AND RETAIN WATER

SET CROWN OF ROOT BALL 2"
ABOVE ADJACENT GRADES, KEEP
MULCH 4" CLEAR OF TRUNK BASE

WOOD STAKES SET OUTSIDE
ROOT BALL - SEE SPECS
(REMOVE AFTER ONE YEAR)

"CINCH-TIE", "GRO-STRAIT", OR
EQUAL FLEXIBLE RUBBER TREE TIES
IN FIGURE EIGHT FASHION, ATTACH
TO STAKE W/ TWO GALV. ROOFING
NAILS

LESS THAN 8'-0" -
ADD ROOT BARRIER

MORE THAN 8'-0" -
NO ROOT BARRIER

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING DETAIL

SOIL MIX -
1 PART SOIL AMENDMENT
2 PARTS NATIVE SOIL

IF CENTER OF TREE IS WITHIN
8'-0" OF A PAVED SURFACE OR
UNDERGROUND UTILITY, ADD
ROOT BARRIER WITH 18" DEPTH

FINISH GRADE OF SOIL 1 1/2"
BELOW GRADE OF ADJACENT
SURFACE

WRAP TRUNK WITH 6" WIDE
STRIPS OF MEDIUM WEIGHT
BURLAP FABRIC - SEE SPECS
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C. REFER TO A1.13 FOR FINISH SCHEDULE

D. REFER TO FINISH PLAN FOR CASEWORK AND RELATED FINISH INFORMATION

E. EQUIPMENT & FURNITURE SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY

F. REFER TO A6.10 FOR DOOR TYPES & DOOR SCHEDULE

G. ALL PENETRATIONS IN THE WALL INCLUDING OUTLETS, DUCTS AND PIPING SHOULD BE CAULKED 
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H. INTERIOR PARTITION CONTROL JOINTS PER DETAIL

I. ALL INTERIOR PARTITIONS TO BE P1A UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
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INTERIOR GLAZING

INTERIOR PARTITION - REFER TO A1.20 FOR 
WALL HEIGHTS

CONCRETE TILT PANEL WITH INTERIOR 
FURRING PER 3/A0.02

EXTERIOR FIBER CEMENT RAINSCREEN 
WALL PER 1/A5.11
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KEYNOTES

03-01 CONCRETE SEAT WALL

05-08 STEEL FRAMING PER STRUCT.

06-11 CEDAR SOFFIT FINISH CONTINUES DOWN FACE OF WALL

09-06 3FORM SPECIALTY WALL PANEL, RP-2.  CHANNEL SET AT FLOOR AND CEILING. REFER TO
ELEVATION 15/A4.21.
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CALCULATED BY MAIN FACE. SIGN 
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A. MAINTAIN ¼” PER FOOT MINIMUM SLOPE THROUGHOUT ROOF. ADD CRICKETS AS REQUIRED TO 
PROVIDE POSITIVE SLOPE TO DRAIN AT MINIMUM 1/4" PER FOOT AT ENTIRE ROOF, TYPICAL. 

B. ALL ROOF ELEVATIONS TO BOTTOM OF DECK.
C. WALKWAY PADS ARE SHOWN SCHEMATICALLY. WALKWAY PADS SHOULD BE PROVIDED AT AREAS 

SHOWN AND TO INCLUDE ALL EQUIPMENT INSTALLATIONS, DOORWAYS, STAIR/LADDER LANDINGS, 
AND OTHER AREAS REQUIRING REGULAR MAINTENANCE.

D. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE COVERS, ENCLOSURES, AND/OR SEALANTS AT ALL ROOF 
PENETRATIONS, PIPES, CURBS, DUCTS, AND CONNECTIONS. COORDINATE AND REFER TO 
MECHANICAL/ELECTRICAL DISCIPLINES FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

E. SEE DETAIL 13/A5.14 FOR ELECTRICAL CONDUIT PENETRATIONS
F. SEE DETAILS 11-12/A5.14 FOR PIPE PENETRATIONS
G. SEE DETAILS 5/10A5.14 FOR MECHANICAL UNIT CURBS

GENERAL NOTES

LEGEND                                                        

CONCRETE TILT PANELS  - SHERWIN WILLIAMS "SNOWBOUND"

CONCRETE TILT PANELS  - FORMLINER PATTERN PER SPEC -
PAINT SHERWIN WILLIAMS "SNOWBOUND"

CONCRETE TILT PANELS - SHERWIN WILLIAMS "GAUNTLET GREY"

FIBER CEMENT PANEL - FC-1: "ARGENT GREY" 

FIBER CEMENT PANEL - FC-2: "CHALK"

METAL SCREEN, REFER TO DETAIL

PAINTED CONCRETE REVEALS

METAL INFILL PANEL PER SPECS

PANEL JOINT - REFER TO STRUCUTRALPJ
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CIS
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3 EAST ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"A2.10

2 NORTH ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"A2.10

6 WEST ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"A2.10

1 SOUTH ELEVATION

KEYNOTES

03-01 CONCRETE SEAT WALL

03-03 VERTICAL REVEALS TO ALIGN WITH WINDOW MULLIONS BELOW, TYP. U.N.O.

03-04 REVEAL "A" AT JAMBS OF OPENINGS AT BUMP-OUT, TYP.

03-05 REVEAL "B" VERTICAL ALONG ADJACENT DOOR JAMB

05-03 METAL SCREEN WALL AT ROOFTOP UNITS. SEE EXTERIOR DETAILS.

05-07 ROOF TIE-OFFS. SEE HIGH ROOF PLAN FOR LOCATIONS

06-11 CEDAR SOFFIT FINISH CONTINUES DOWN FACE OF WALL

07-03 METAL GUTTER

07-04 METAL DOWNSPOUT - RECTANGULAR PROFILE, 4"X3"

08-02 CLERESTORY GLAZING PER ELEVATIONS AND EXTERIOR GLAZING SCHEDULE.

08-03 INTEGRAL STOREFRONT SHADE DEVICES. FINISH TO MATCH MULLION SYSTEM
OF ASSOCIATED OPENING.

08-04 PROVIDE ACOUSTIC GLAZING, FRAMES AND SEALS AT NORTH STOREFRONT
OPENINGS

10-16 BUILDING ADDRESS SIGN

REVISION SCHEDULE

Delta Issued As Issue Date

1/8" = 1'-0"A2.10

7 SOUTHWEST ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"A2.10

4 PATIO ELEVATION - NORTH
1/8" = 1'-0"A2.10

5 PATIO ELEVATION - SOUTH
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CURB (2 SIDES) W/ REBAR 
DRIVEN THRU PREDRILLED 
HOLES. TYP. 

FUTURE CONTAINER

ROOF SUPPORT BY 
DESIGN-BUILD VENDOR

SLOPE TO DRAIN

180 DEGREE HINGES 
MOUNTED TO OUTSIDE 
FACE OF ENCLOSURE, 
BOTH SIDES

SPLIT-FACE 8" CMU
WALLS WITH INTEGRAL 
COLOR -  SEE ELEVATIONS

A5.17

5

FOOTING BELOW

"NO PARKING" SIGN, 
TYP. EACH GATE

2" VINYL-COATED CHAIN
LINK GATE ASSEMBLY BY
DESIGN-BUILD 
CONTRACTOR - COLOR:
BLACK

HEAVY DUTY 180 DEGREE 
HINGES MOUNTED TO 
OUTSIDE FACE OF 
ENCLOSURE, BOTH SIDES

6

A5.17

TRASH ENCLOSURE ROOF AND 
FRAMING BY DESIGN-BUILD 
VENDOR. ALL STEEL TO BE 
GALVANIZED AND PAINTED. 
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SPLIT-FACE CMU WALL, 
INTEGRAL COLOR

6
' -

 8
"

TRASH ENCLOSURE ROOF AND 
FRAMING BY DESIGN-BUILD 
VENDOR. ALL STEEL TO BE 
GALVANIZED AND PAINTED. 

CMU WALL BEYOND, 
TYP. 

C
L

R
.

1
2

' -
 0

"

7

A5.17

HINGE ATTACHMENT 
PER DETAIL 5/A5.17
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, MARCH 25, 2024 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
Board Member Communications: 
3. Results of the March 11, 2024 DRB Panel A meeting 
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City of Wilsonville 

Development Review Board Panel A Meeting 
Meeting Results 

DATE:    MARCH 11, 2024 
LOCATION:  29799 SW TOWN CENTER LOOP EAST, WILSONVILLE, OR 
TIME START:      6:30 P.M. TIME END: 8:01 P.M.  

ATTENDANCE LOG 

BOARD MEMBERS STAFF 
Jean Svadlenka Daniel Pauly 
Rob Candrian Stephanie Davidson 
Clark Hildum Kimberly Rybold 
Jordan Herron Amy Pepper 
 Georgia McAlister 
 Sarah Pearlman 
 Amanda Guile-Hinman 
 Miranda Bateschell 
 Shelley White 

 
AGENDA RESULTS 

AGENDA ACTIONS 
CITIZENS’ INPUT  
 None 
CONSENT AGENDA  

1. Approval of minutes of the February 12, 2024 DRB Panel A meeting 1. Unanimously approved as 
presented. 

PUBLIC HEARING  
2. Resolution No. 422. ParkWorks Industrial Building and Partition. The 

applicant is requesting approval of a Stage I Preliminary Plan, Stage 2 
Final Plan, Site Design Review, Type C Tree Removal Plan and 
Tentative Partition Plat for development of an industrial spec building 
with accessory office space and associated road and site 
improvements at 26600 SW Parkway Avenue 
 
Case Files: 
DB22-0009 ParkWorks Industrial Building and Partition 
-Stage 1 Preliminary Plan (STG122-0007) 
-Stage 2 Final Plan (STG222-0009) 
-Site Design Review (SDR22-0009) 
-Type C Tree Removal Plan (TPLN22-0007) 
-Tentative Partition Plat (PART22-0002) 
 
This item was continued to this date certain at the February 12, 2024 
DRB Panel A meeting. 
 
 

2. Resolution No. 422 was adopted 
along with the amended Staff 
report by a 3 to 1 vote with Clark 
Hildum opposed. 
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3.  Resolution No. 430. Boeckman Creek Primary School Readerboard.    
The applicant is requesting approval of a Class 3 Sign Permit and 
Waiver for a new electronic reader board sign at Boeckman Creek 
Primary School. 

 
Case Files: 
DB23-0009 Boeckman Creek Primary School Reader Board 
-Class 3 Sign Permit (SIGN23-0009) 
-Waiver (WAIV23-0002) 

3. Resolution No. 430 was 
unanimously approved with the 
Staff report as presented. 

 

BOARD MEMBER COMUNICATIONS  
4. Results of the February 26, 2024 DRB Panel B meeting 
5. Recent City Council Action Minutes 

4. No comments. 
5. No comments. 

STAFF COMMUNICATIONS  
 Staff inquired about Panel A 

members’ availability to potentially 
serve at the March 25th DRB Panel B 
meeting. 
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, MARCH 25, 2024 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Board Member Communications: 
4. Recent City Council Action Minutes 
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City Council Meeting Action Minutes 
February 22, 2024 

Page 1 of 3 

 
COUNCILORS PRESENT 
Mayor Fitzgerald 
Council President Akervall 
Councilor Linville 
Councilor Berry 
Councilor Dunwell 
 
STAFF PRESENT 
Amanda Guile-Hinman, City Attorney  
Andrew Barrett, Capital Projects Eng. Manager  

Bill Evans, Communications & Marketing Manager 
Bryan Cosgrove, City Manager  
Chris Neamtzu, Community Development Director  
Kerry Rappold, Natural Resources Manager 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
Mark Ottenad, Public/Government Affairs Director  
Robert Wurpes, Chief of Police  
Stephanie Davidson, Assistant City Attorney  
Zach Weigel, City Engineer 
Zoe Mombert, Assistant to the City Manager

 
AGENDA ITEM ACTIONS 

WORK SESSION START: 5:01 p.m.  
A. Draft Stormwater Master Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B. Public Contracting Code Update 
 

Staff sought the Council’s feedback on a draft 
of the Stormwater Master Plan Update, 
developed to identify and prioritize capital 
needs, and to present strategies aimed at 
maintaining, restoring, and enhancing local 
watersheds and meeting engineering, 
environmental and land use needs. 
 
Staff shared an update on a project to review 
the City’s public contracting code, and sought 
the Council’s direction on several changes 
under consideration to make the City’s 
procurement of goods and services more 
efficient, less confusing, more equitable, and 
in alignment with current public contracting 
laws. 
 

REGULAR MEETING  
Mayor’s Business 

A. Declaration of 35th Anniversary of Sister City 
Relationship 

 
 
 
 
B. Upcoming Meetings 

 
 
 

 
The Mayor read a declaration of the 35th 
anniversary of the Sister City relationship of 
Wilsonville, Oregon and Kitakata, Japan. 
Council 5-0 ratified the declaration. 
 
Upcoming meetings were announced by the 
Council President as well as the regional 
meetings she attended on behalf of the City. 
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Page 2 of 3 

C. Appointment of Council Member to Willamette 
Valley Commuter Rail Advisory Committee 
 

 

Council asked to consider appointed to the 
Willamette Valley Commuter Rail Advisory 
Committee. 

Communications 
A. Crime Stats 

 

 
 

The Wilsonville Police Chief provided a 
summary of data on the volume and types of 
crimes taking place in Wilsonville. Chief 
Wurpes noted a decline in property-related 
crimes in 2023. 
 
Following the presentation Council discussed 
and moved to accept the Measure 110. 
Legislative House Bill (HB) 4002-24 pre 
booking diversion letter. Passed 5-0. 
 

Consent Agenda 
A. Resolution No. 3114 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing 
The City Manager To Execute A Professional Services 
Agreement With Brown And Caldwell, Inc. For 
Engineering Consulting Services For The Boeckman 
Creek Flow Mitigation Project (Capital Improvement 
Project No. 7068) 
 

B. Minutes of the January 18, 2024 Council Meeting. 
 

The Consent Agenda was approved 5-0. 

New Business 
A. Resolution No. 3123 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Amending 
Resolution No. 3046 To Further Phase-In The 
Implementation Of The Parks System Development 
Charge For Single-Family Residential Development. 
 

B. Resolution No. 3124 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Adopting The 
Findings And Recommendations Of The 2023 Solid 
Waste Collection Rate Report, Amended January 
2024, And Modifying The Republic Services Rate 
Schedule For Collection And Disposal Of Solid Waste, 
Recyclables, Organic Materials And Other Materials, 
Effective February 1, 2024, Amended On February 22, 
2024. 
 
 
 

 
Resolution No. 3123 was adopted, 5-0. 
 
 
 
 
 
Resolution No. 3124 was adopted, 5-0. 
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Page 3 of 3 

C. Resolution No. 3125 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Referring To 
The Electors Of The City Of Wilsonville The Question 
Of Amending The City Charter To Refine Mayoral 
Term Limits In Certain Circumstances. 
 

D. Resolution No. 3126 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Referring To 
The Electors Of The City Of Wilsonville The Question 
Of Amending The City Charter To Clarify The 
Calculation Of Years Of Service Relating To Term 
Limits. 
 

Resolution No. 3125 was amended and 
adopted, 5-0. 
 
 
 
 
 
Resolution No. 3126 was amended and 
adopted, 5-0. 

Continuing Business 
 

A. Ordinance No. 886 
An Ordinance Of The City Of Wilsonville Annexing 
Approximately 5.00 Acres Of Property Located At 
7252 SW Frog Pond Lane For Development Of A 17-
Lot Residential Subdivision. 
 

B. Ordinance No. 887 
An Ordinance Of The City Of Wilsonville Approving A 
Zone Map Amendment From The Clackamas County 
Rural Residential Farm Forest 5-Acre (RRFF-5) Zone 
To The Residential Neighborhood (RN) Zone On 
Approximately 5.00 Acres Located At 7252 SW Frog 
Pond Lane For Development Of A 17-Lot Residential 
Subdivision. 
 

 
 
Ordinance No. 886 was adopted on second 
reading by a vote of 5-0. 
 
 
 
 
Ordinance No. 887 was adopted on second 
reading by a vote of 5-0. 
 

Public Hearing 
A. None. 

 

 

City Manager’s Business 
 

The City Manager shared staff had no contact 
with the Village at Main Center new property 
owners. 
 

Legal Business 
 

No report. 

ADJOURN 10:28 p.m. 
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City Council Meeting Action Minutes 
March 4, 2024 

Page 1 of 4 

 
COUNCILORS PRESENT 
Mayor Fitzgerald 
Council President Akervall 
Councilor Linville 
Councilor Berry 
Councilor Dunwell 
 
STAFF PRESENT 
Amanda Guile-Hinman, City Attorney  
Andrea Villagrana, Human Resource Manager 
Anne MacCracken, Transit Management Analyst 
Beth Wolf, Senior Systems Analyst 

Bryan Cosgrove, City Manager  
Dan Pauly, Planning Manager 
Delora Kerber, Public Works Director 
Dwight Brashear, Transit Director 
Jeanna Troha, Assistant City Manager 
Katherine Smith, Assistant Finance Director 
Keith Katko, Finance Director 
Kimberly Rybold, Senior Planner 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
Mark Ottenad, Public/Government Affairs Director  
Zach Weigel, City Engineer 

 
AGENDA ITEM ACTIONS 

WORK SESSION START: 5:01 p.m.  
A. SMART Annual Rider Survey Results 
 
 
B. Housing Our Future 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C. French Prairie Road Pathway Options 
 

Council heard the results of the 2023 SMART 
Annual Rider Survey. 
 
Staff shared data from public outreach 
activities informing the Housing Our Future 
project. The project to analyze the City’s 
future housing needs and capacity is 
continuing with a Housing Needs and Capacity 
Analysis (HNCA) to yield an understanding of 
housing needs for the next 20 years and to 
confirm if there is sufficient land area for the 
City to accommodate these needs. 
 
Staff summarized steps taken toward the 
delivery of better walking and biking facilities 
along the length of French Prairie Road. The 
City was seeking solutions that would provide 
safer facilities for residents while addressing 
the liability and maintenance 
 

URBAN RENEWAL MEETING  
Consent Agenda 

A. URA Resolution No. 340 
A Resolution Of The Urban Renewal Agency Of The 
City Of Wilsonville Authorizing The Assignment Of 
The Facilities Lease With Wilsonville Community 
Sharing. 
 

The URA Consent Agenda was approved 5-0. 
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B. Minutes of the January 18, 2024 Urban Renewal 
Agency Meeting. 
 

NEW BUSINESS  
A. None. 

 
 

CONTINUING BUSINESS  
A. None. 

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING   
A. Resolution No. 349 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Urban 
Renewal Agency Authorizing A Supplemental Budget 
Adjustment For Fiscal Year 2023-24. 

 

URA Resolution No. 349 was adopted by a 
vote of 5-0. 

REGULAR MEETING  
Mayor’s Business 

A. Upcoming Meetings 
 
 
 

B. Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Committee 
Appointment 
 

 

 
Upcoming meetings were announced by the 
Council President as well as the regional 
meetings she attended on behalf of the City. 
 
Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI) 
Committee – Appointment 
Appointment of Elisabeth Garcia Davidson to 
the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Committee 
for a term beginning 3/4/2024 to 12/31/2025. 
Passed 5-0. 
 

Communications 
A. Clackamas Community College Bond  

 

 
 

Consent Agenda 
A. Resolution No. 3106 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing 
The City Manager To Execute A First Amendment To 
The Intergovernmental Agreement On Broadband 
Services And Infrastructure Sharing Between The City 
Of Wilsonville And The City Of Sherwood. 
 

B. Resolution No. 3115 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Granting An 
Exemption From Property Taxes Under ORS 307.540 
To ORS 307.548 For Autumn Park Apartments, A Low-
Income Apartment Development Owned And 
Operated By Northwest Housing Alternatives, Inc. 
 
 

The Consent Agenda was approved 5-0. 
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Page 3 of 4 

 
 

C. Resolution No. 3116 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Granting An 
Exemption From Property Taxes Under ORS 307.540 
To ORS 307.548 For Charleston Apartments, A Low-
Income Apartment Development Owned And 
Operated By Northwest Housing Alternatives, Inc. 
 

D. Resolution No. 3117 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Granting An 
Exemption From Property Taxes Under ORS 307.540 
To ORS 307.548 For Creekside Woods LP, A Low-
Income Apartment Development Owned And 
Operated By Northwest Housing Alternatives, Inc. 
 

E. Resolution No. 3118 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Granting An 
Exemption From Property Taxes Under ORS 307.540 
To ORS 307.548 For Rain Garden Limited Partnership, 
A Low-Income Apartment Development Owned And 
Operated By Caritas Community Housing 
Corporation. 
 

F. Resolution No. 3119 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Granting An 
Exemption From Property Taxes Under ORS 307.540 
To ORS 307.548 For Wiedemann Park, A Low-Income 
Apartment Development Owned And Operated By 
Accessible Living, Inc. 
 

G. Resolution No. 3127 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing 
The City Manager To Accept Assignment Of And 
Amend The Facilities Lease With Wilsonville 
Community Sharing. 
 

H. Resolution No. 3128 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Supporting A 
2024 Grant Application To The Oregon State Parks, 
Local Government Grant Program For The Memorial 
Park Playground Replacement Project. 
 

I. Minutes of the February 22, 2024 City Council 
Meeting. 
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New Business 
A. Resolution No. 3112 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing A 
Preliminary Engineering Report To Consider Possible 
Formation Of A Local Improvement District For Public 
Improvements To SW Parkway Avenue And SW 
Printer Parkway. 
 

 
Resolution No. 3112 was adopted, 5-0. 

Continuing Business 
B. None. 

 

 
 
 

Public Hearing 
A. Resolution No. 3120 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing A 
Supplemental Budget Adjustment For Fiscal Year 
2023-24. 
 

B. Ordinance No. 889 
An Ordinance Of The City Of Wilsonville Amending 
The Text Of The Development Code To Make Minor 
Modifications To The Coffee Creek Industrial Design 
Overlay District Standards. 
 

 
Resolution No. 3129 was adopted by a vote of 
5-0. 
 
 
 
Ordinance No. 889 was adopted on first 
reading by a vote of 5-0. 
 

City Manager’s Business 
 

No report. 

Legal Business 
 

No report. 

ADJOURN 8:54 p.m. 
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